
1

COUNCIL SUMMONS

To Members of the Metropolitan Borough Council

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a Meeting of the Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council to 

be held on Thursday 20th April, 2017 at 6.30 pm at the Town Hall, Southport to 

transact the business set out on the agenda overleaf.

Yours sincerely,

Chief Executive

Town Hall,
Southport

Monday 10 April 2017

Please contact Steve Pearce,Democratic Services Manager 
on 0151 934 2046 or e-mail steve.pearce@sefton.gov.uk

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

This page is intentionally left blank.



3

A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested to give notice of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest, which is not already included in their 
Register of Members' Interests and the nature of that interest, 
relating to any item on the agenda in accordance with the 
Members Code of Conduct, before leaving the meeting room 
during the discussion on that particular item.
 

3.  Minutes of Previous Meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2017
 

(Pages 7 - 26)

4.  Mayor's Communications

Public Session

5.  Matters Raised by the Public
To deal with matters raised by members of the public 
resident within the Borough, of which notice has been given 
in accordance with the procedures relating to public 
questions, motions or petitions set out in Paragraph 36 to 46 
of the Council and Committee Procedure Rules in Chapter 4 
of the Council Constitution.
 

Council Business Session

6.  Questions Raised by Members of the Council
To receive and consider questions to Cabinet Members, 
Chairs of Committees or Spokespersons for any of the Joint 
Authorities upon any matter within their portfolio/area of 
responsibility, of which notice has been given by Members of 
the Council in accordance with Paragraph 48 to 50 of the 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules, set out in Chapter 
4 of the Council Constitution.
 

7.  Adoption of the Sefton Local Plan
Report of the Head of Regeneration and Housing
 

(Pages 27 - 
202)

8.  Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Policies
Report of the Head of Locality Services - Commissioned
 

(Pages 203 - 
250)

9.  Capital Budget Update 2016/17
Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

(Pages 251 - 
254)



4

 
10.  Review of Orthopaedic Services - Issue of Substantial 

Reconfiguraion Proposals
Report of the Head of Regulation and Compliance
 

(Pages 255 - 
276)

11.  Local Government Act 1972 - Section 85 - Attendance at 
Meetings
Report of the Head of Regulation and Compliance
 

(Pages 277 - 
280)

12.  Membership of Committees 2016/17
To consider any changes to the Membership of any 
committees etc.
 

13.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Brennan
To consider the following Motion submitted by Councillor 
Brennan:

“That this Council supports the Royal British Legion 
campaign to include Armed Forces status within the next 
census.

Currently there are no official figures that Health, Housing or 
Employment services can use to identify the number of 
people from the Armed Forces community living in our area.

Therefore there is no way of monitoring whether the Armed 
Forces Community actually have equality of access to the 
services that are provided.

This Council supports the RBL campaign and believes that 
having a benchmark figure from the Census for the number 
of Veterans, Regulars or Reservists in the population will 
help Housing, Health and Employment Services monitor 
equality of access, by comparing the percentage of Armed 
Forces Community actually accessing services against the 
percentage within the population.”
 

14.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Shaw
To consider the following Motion submitted by Councillor 
Shaw:

“This Council notes:

(1) that, due to factors including:

 Increases in Employers’ NI contribution rates for 
‘contracted out’ employees



5

 Increases in Employers’ Pension contribution rates 
for both the Teachers’ Pension Scheme and the 
Local Government Pension Scheme

 Introduction of Apprenticeship Levy the impact of 
the Government freeze on school budgets will be 
that schools will see an average effective real 
terms cut of 8% in their funding by 2019/20 as 
compared to 2015/16.

(2) that the proposed introduction of the National Funding 
Formula (NFF), in combination with the above, will see 
every school in the Borough suffer significant real 
terms cuts in funding by 2019/20 which, according to 
schoolscuts.org.uk, will amount to a total of £17.776 
million a year across all Sefton schools, and, for 
individual schools, as much as:

 £348,000 a year cut per school (£419 per pupil) in 
local primary schools

 £649,000 year cut per school (£568 per pupil) in 
local secondary schools

This Council believes that real term cuts of this magnitude 
are simply unachievable, and that, if implemented, would 
have a severe negative impact on the education of children in 
this Borough.

This Council therefore resolves:

(1) To write to the Secretary of State for Education 
expressing our serious concerns and requesting that 
the Government reviews its policies to cash limit 
school budgets and to impose inequitable changes 
through its proposed National Funding Formula; and

(2) To write to the Borough’s three MPs seeking their 
support for this resolution.”

 

http://schoolscuts.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

61

COUNCIL

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor Brodie - Browne) in the Chair

Councillors Ashton, Atkinson, David Barton, 
Jo Barton, Bliss, Booth, Bradshaw, Burns, Byrom, 
Carr, Carragher, Linda Cluskey, Cummins, Dams, 
Dodd, Dutton, Fairclough, Friel, Gannon, Grace, 
Hands, Hardy, Jamieson, Jones, John Kelly, 
John Joseph Kelly, Lappin, Daniel Lewis, 
Dan T. Lewis, Maher, McCann, McGinnity, McGuire, 
McKinley, Moncur, Murphy, Brenda O'Brien, 
Michael O'Brien, O'Hanlon, Owens, Page, Pitt, 
Preece, Pullin, Robinson, Roche, Roscoe, Sayers, 
Shaw, Spencer, Thomas, Anne Thompson, 
Lynne Thompson, Tweed, Veidman, Weavers, 
Webster and Bill Welsh

78. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ball, Bennett, 
Brennan, Kevin Cluskey, Dawson, Keith and Marianne Welsh. 

79. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

In accordance with Paragraph 9 of the Council’s Code of Conduct, the 
following declaration of personal interest was made and the Officer 
concerned left the room during the consideration of the item:

Officer

Margaret 
Carney, Chief 
Executive

Minute No.

88 – Budget and 
Medium Term 
Financial Plan 
2018/19 – 2019/20

Nature of Interest

Personal interest in the 
amendment submitted by 
Councillor McGuire

80. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2017 be approved as 
a correct record.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

62

81. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS 

Mayoral Charity Cabaret Dinner – 1 April 2017

The Mayor reminded Members that the Mayoral Charity Dinner will be held 
on Saturday 1 April 2017 at the Floral Hall, Southport Theatre and 
Convention Centre and the proceeds from the event would be distributed 
to Mayoral Charities. Tickets and further details of the event were available 
from the Mayor’s office in Bootle Town Hall.

Extra-ordinary Council Meeting – 20 June 2017

The Mayor advised Members that an Extra-ordinary Council Meeting 
would be held on Tuesday, 20 June 2017 at 6.30pm in Bootle Town Hall to 
confer the Freedom of the Borough on the Duke of Lancaster’s Regiment, 
which would be followed by a Freedom March by the Regiment and a Civic 
Reception for the Regiment.

82. MATTERS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC 

The Mayor reported that no matters had been raised by Members of the 
Public.

83. QUESTIONS RAISED BY MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

The Council considered a schedule setting out the written questions 
submitted by:

 Councillor David Barton  to the Cabinet Member – Locality Services 
(Councillor Fairclough)

 Councillor Preece to the Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Skills 
(Councillor Atkinson)

 Councillor Bradshaw to the Leader of the Council (Councillor Maher)

together with the responses given. A supplementary question was 
responded to by the Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Skills.

84. CAPITAL STRATEGY 2017 - 2020 

The Council considered the report of the Head of Regeneration and 
Housing which provided details of the revised Capital Strategy for 2017-
2020.

It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough:

“That the Capital Strategy for 2017-2020 be approved.”

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

63

An amendment was moved by Councillor Daniel Lewis, seconded by 
Councillor Weavers that the Motion be amended by the addition of the 
following text:

“Subject to the addition of the words “relevant Area Committees for 
consultation and the” after the words “and presented to the” on agenda 
page 25 under the paragraph headed ‘Appraisal Process.”

On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that amendment was lost by 35 
votes to 23.

A further amendment was moved by Councillor Dutton, seconded by 
Councillor Jamieson that the Motion be amended by the addition of the 
following text:

“Subject to the membership of the Strategic Capital Investment Group set 
out in Appendix A of the Strategy on agenda page 48 being amended to 
include Opposition Group Members.”

On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that amendment was lost by 36 
votes to 23.

Thereafter, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that Motion was 
carried by 36 votes to 23 and it was 

RESOLVED:

That the Capital Strategy for 2017-2020 be approved

85. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 2017/18 

Further to Minute No. 85 of the Cabinet Meeting held on 16 February 
2017, the Council considered the report of the Head of Corporate 
Resources which provided details of the proposed procedures and 
strategy to be adopted in respect of the Council’s Treasury Management 
Function in 2017/18.

It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough and

RESOLVED:

That approval be given to:

(1) the Treasury Management Policy Document for 2017/18 as set out 
in Annex A of the report; 

(2) the Treasury Management Strategy Document for 2017/18 as set 
out in Annex B of the report; and

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

64

(3) the basis to be used in the calculation of the Minimum Revenue 
Provision for Debt Repayment in 2016/17 as set out in Annex C of 
the report.

86. THE PRUDENTIAL CODE FOR CAPITAL FINANCE IN LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES - PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2017/18 

Further to Minute No. 86 of the Cabinet Meeting held on 16 February 
2017, the Council considered the report of the Head of Corporate 
Resources on proposals to establish the Prudential Indicators required 
under the Prudential Code of Capital Finance in Local Authorities. This 
would enable the Council to effectively manage its Capital Finance 
Activities and comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy Prudential Code of Capital Finance in Local Authorities.

It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough and

RESOLVED: That 

(1) the Prudential Indicators as detailed in the report, and summarised 
in Annex A of the report, be approved as the basis for compliance 
with The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities;

(2) approval be given to the relevant Prudential Indicators being 
amended, should any changes to unsupported borrowing be 
approved as part of the 2017/18 Revenue Budget;

(3) it be noted that estimates of capital expenditure may change as 
grant allocations are received, as indicated in paragraph 2.2 of the 
report; and

(4) the Head of Corporate Resources be granted delegated authority in 
conjunction with the Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance 
and Corporate Services to manage the Authorised Limit and 
Operational Boundary for external debt as detailed in Section 5 of 
the report.

87. ROBUSTNESS OF THE 2017/18 BUDGET ESTIMATES AND THE 
ADEQUACY OF RESERVES - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003, 
SECTION 25 

The Council considered the report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
which provided an assessment of the robustness of the estimates and the 
tax setting calculations, the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves 
and the production of longer term revenue and capital plans, based on the 
proposals set out in the report on the Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2017/18 - 2019/20 (Minute No. 88 below refers).

It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough and 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

65

RESOLVED: 

That the matters raised in the report be noted and taken into account 
during the determination of the Budget for 2017/18.

88. BUDGET 2017/18 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
2018/19 - 2019/20 

Further to Minute No. 73 of the Cabinet Meeting held on 12 January 2017, 
the Council considered the report of the Chief Executive and Head of 
Corporate Resources which provided details of the development of a 3 
year financial strategy for the period 2017/18 – 2019/20 (the budget plan 
period) which reflected the current financial challenges facing the Council 
during the period, the proposed approach to meeting those challenges and 
how they reflect the Council’s statutory requirement to remain financially 
sustainable and the desire to deliver the Sefton 2030 Vision and the 
Councils Core Purpose.

Given the scale of the financial and service challenges facing the Council, 
this was a complex and detailed report, which provided for a financial 
balanced budget, but this would require major and difficult decisions on 
how the council delivers it services, the level at which it continues to 
deliver them and Council Tax implications.

The report presented a financially balanced strategy and some areas of 
change were more specific than others. Where possible the change was 
explained at the detailed budget level and where this was not possible a 
budget planning assumption had been made based on the best available 
information. This was sufficiently robust to approve the budget and 
associated policy changes, whilst recognising that the details would 
continue to be refined over the period of the strategy.

This report set out the detailed approach to the strategy, which included: 

 The national and local financial context  within which the Council is 
operating;

 The funding gap facing the Council for the three year period 2017/18 to 
2019/20;

 The approach to delivering both the aspirations of the Sefton 2030 
Vision and a financially sustainable council;

 The financial, service and community impact of the Budget including 
the reserves position of the Council; and,

 The draft capital programme for the 3 year period.

The Cabinet on 12 January 2017 (Minute No. 73 refers) had considered 
these items, and the report provided additional information and updates on 
the specific Public Sector Reform Projects and Service Delivery Options, 
including some changes to the financial assumptions. In addition, there 
were some further revisions to the Medium Term Financial Plan. The 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

66

report indicated that after these minor changes, a financially balanced 
budget strategy for the forthcoming 3 year period was presented for 
consideration by the Council.

The report requested the Council to consider and determine the following 
issues:

 the Budget for 2017/18 and the three-year financial plan 2017/18 to 
2019/20;

 the Council Tax increase for Sefton Council for 2017/18; and,
 the overall Council Tax resolution.

The Council also considered the draft Council Tax resolution for 2017/18 
which had been prepared by the Head of Corporate Resources and 
circulated to Members of the Council in the supplementary agenda.

It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough:

That:

(1) the update of the Medium Term Financial Plan for the period 
2017/18 to 2019/20, which included the implications of the 
provisional local government settlement be noted;

Delivery of the Framework for Change

(2) approval be given to the budget proposals within the report, as 
described in Chapter 5 of Appendix A to the report; the risks, PSED 
information and the mitigating actions within the decisions be noted 
and taken into account and approval be given to the 
commencement of all appropriate activity as detailed, including for 
example, consultation with employees and engagement with 
partners and contractual changes;

(3) approval be given to the current levels of trade union facility time 
and associated arrangements for the whole period of the budget 
plan;

(4) it be noted that officers will comply with agreed HR policies and 
procedures including relevant consultation with Trade Unions and 
reports to the Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance & 
Corporate Services;

(5) approval be given to the programme management and governance 
arrangements in relation to the Framework for Change being 
delegated to the Chief Executive in conjunction with the Leader of 
the Council;

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

67

Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2019/20

(6) approval be given to the inclusion within the Capital Programme of 
the Capital schemes to be funded from school and transport grants, 
2017/18 to 2019/20 as outlined in Paragraphs 8.2.2 and 8.3.2 of the 
report;

(7) approval be given to the inclusion within the Capital Programme of 
the fully grant funded schemes as detailed in Paragraphs 8.5.1 of 
the report;

Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 
2019/20

(8) approval be given to the budget for 2017/18 and the three-year 
financial plan covering the years 2017/18 to 2019/20; and officers 
be authorised to undertake the necessary actions relating to the 
implementation associated with the recommendations, such 
necessary actions are described under each proposal in Chapter 5 
of Appendix A in the report;

(9) approval be given to the Fees and Charges as proposed in the draft 
Council budget and set out in Appendix D of the report;

(10) approval be given to the use of one-off resources of £4.65m in 
2017/18 to smooth the impact of the required savings over the 
budget plan period as set out in Paragraph 3.2 of Chapter 4 of 
Appendix A to the report; and to the funding of the one off 
investment to secure an economic legacy from the Open Golf 
Championship as referred to in Paragraph 3.3 of Chapter 4 to the 
report,.

(11) approval be given to the development of the Cost of Change budget 
with a value of £8.5m as set out in Paragraph 3.4 of Chapter 4 of 
Appendix A of the report;

(12) approval be given to a Council Tax increase in 2017/18 of 1.99%;

(13) approval be given to a Social Care Council Tax Precept of 3% in 
2017/18 resulting in an overall increase in Council Tax for Sefton of 
4.99% in 2017/18;

(14) approval be given to the allocation of specific grants as detailed in 
Paragraphs 10.3 to 10.20 of the report;

(15) the Schools’ Forum decisions on the Dedicated Schools Grant and 
Individual School Budgets as set out in Appendix B to the report be 
noted;

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

68

(16) approval be given to the approach and delegated authorities set out 
in paragraph 10.21 of the report, as permanent “business as usual” 
arrangements for setting Adult Social Care fees; and

(17) subject to above, the overall Council Tax resolution including a 
Social Care Precept, Police and Fire and Parish Precepts, as set 
out in the supplementary agenda be approved.

Councillors Maher, McGuire, Dutton and Gannon each gave a statement 
expressing the views of their political groups on the content of the report. 

Following debate on the report, an amendment was moved by Councillor 
Hands, seconded by Councillor Pullin that the Motion be amended as 
follows:

“That the budget proposals set out in the report be amended by utilising 
£2m from the Transforming Sefton Reserve into 5 new earmarked funds 
for community use that will support the delivery of the Sefton 2030 Vision.
  
These 5 funds will be:-

 School and Education Improvement Community Fund
 Social Care Assistance Community Fund
 Dementia Accessibility Community Fund
 Autism Assistance and Early Intervention Community Fund; and
 Environmental Improvement Community Fund

These one-off funds will be £400,000 each that individuals and 
organisations can bid for in order to deliver specific schemes. Schemes 
must be for the benefit of the Sefton Community and have measurable 
outcomes that will contribute to the delivery of the Sefton 2030 Vision.

The net impact of the proposed amendment will still ensure that the 
Councils three year budget remains balanced.”

The Mayor reported that the Head of Corporate Resources and Section 
151 Officer had indicated that the amendment if carried, would not affect 
his opinion set out in his robustness report considered under Minute No. 
87 above. 

Following debate and in accordance with Rule 96 of Chapter 4 in the 
Constitution, the voting on the Amendment was recorded and the 
Members of Council present at the time, voted as follows:

FOR THE AMENDMENT:

Councillors Ashton, David Barton, Jo Barton, Bliss, Booth, Dodd, Dutton, 
Gannon, Hands, Jamieson, Jones, Daniel Lewis, McCann, McGuire, 
O’Hanlon, Pitt, Preece, Pullin, Shaw, Lynne Thompson, Weavers, Bill 
Welsh and The Mayor.

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

69

AGAINST THE AMENDMENT:

Councillors Atkinson, Bradshaw, Burns, Byrom, Carr, Carragher, Linda 
Cluskey, Cummins, Dams, Fairclough, Friel, Grace, Hardy, John Kelly, 
John Joseph Kelly, Lappin, Dan T. Lewis, Maher, McGinnity, McKinley, 
Moncur, Murphy, Brenda O’Brien, Michael O’Brien, Owens, Page, 
Robinson, Roche, Roscoe, Sayers, Spencer, Thomas, Anne Thompson, 
Tweed, Veidman and Webster. 

The Mayor declared that the Amendment was lost by 36 votes to 23

Following debate, a further amendment was moved by Councillor 
McGuire, seconded by Councillor Booth that the Motion be amended as 
follows:

“The proposed Tourism saving be reduced by £300,000 with the cost 
being met through corresponding reductions in the Council’s senior 
management staffing budget i.e. Head of Service and above. This 
proposal will ensure that an appropriate budget continues to exist in order 
that the economic benefits from the tourism sector can be realised.

The net impact of the proposed amendment will still ensure that the 
Council’s three year budget remains balanced.”

At this point, The Mayor requested that the Meeting be adjourned for a 
short period of time, to enable the Members and Chief Executive to 
consider the implications of the amendment. 

The Meeting reconvened after a ten minute adjournment and the Chief 
Executive indicated that she had a personal interest in the amendment 
and would leave the Council Chamber during the consideration of the 
amendment.

The Council then debated the amendment and in accordance with Rule 96 
of Chapter 4 in the Constitution, the voting on the amendment was 
recorded and the Members of Council present at the time, voted as 
follows:

FOR THE AMENDMENT:

Councillors Ashton, Booth, Dodd, Hands, Daniel Lewis, McGuire, Preece, 
Pullin, Shaw, Lynne Thompson, Weavers, Bill Welsh and The Mayor.

AGAINST THE AMENDMENT:

Councillors Atkinson, Bradshaw, Burns, Byrom, Carr, Carragher, Linda 
Cluskey, Cummins, Dams, Dutton, Fairclough, Friel, Gannon, Grace, 
Hardy, Jamieson, John Kelly, John Joseph Kelly, Lappin, Dan T. Lewis, 
Maher, McCann, McGinnity, McKinley, Moncur, Murphy, Brenda O’Brien, 
Michael O’Brien, O’Hanlon, Owens, Page, Pitt, Robinson, Roche, Roscoe, 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

70

Sayers, Spencer, Thomas, Anne Thompson, Tweed, Veidman and 
Webster. 

ABSTENTIONS:

Councillors David Barton, Bliss and Jones.

The Mayor declared that the Amendment was lost by 42 votes to 13 with 3 
abstentions.

The Chief Executive re-entered the Council Chamber at this point.

Following further debate and in accordance with Rule 96 of Chapter 4 in 
the Constitution, the voting on the Motion was recorded and the Members 
of Council present at the time, voted as follows:

FOR THE MOTION:

Councillors Atkinson, David Barton, Bliss, Bradshaw, Burns, Byrom, Carr, 
Carragher, Linda Cluskey, Cummins, Dams, Dutton, Fairclough, Friel, 
Gannon, Grace, Hardy, Jamieson, Jones, John Kelly, John Joseph Kelly, 
Lappin, Dan T. Lewis, Maher, McCann, McGinnity, McKinley, Moncur, 
Murphy, Brenda O’Brien, Michael O’Brien, O’Hanlon, Owens, Page, Pitt, 
Robinson, Roche, Roscoe, Sayers, Spencer, Thomas, Anne Thompson, 
Tweed, Veidman and Webster.

AGAINST THE MOTION:

Councillors Ashton, Booth, Dodd, Hands, Daniel Lewis, McGuire, Preece, 
Pullin, Shaw, Lynne Thompson, Weavers, Bill Welsh and The Mayor.

The Mayor declared that the Motion was carried by 45 votes to 13 and it 
was 

RESOLVED:

That

(1) the update of the Medium Term Financial Plan for the period 
2017/18 to 2019/20, which included the implications of the 
provisional local government settlement be noted;

Delivery of the Framework for Change

(2) approval be given to the budget proposals within the report, as 
described in Chapter 5 of Appendix A to the report; the risks, PSED 
information and the mitigating actions within the decisions be noted 
and taken into account and approval be given to the 
commencement of all appropriate activity as detailed, including for 
example, consultation with employees and engagement with 
partners and contractual changes;

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

71

(3) approval be given to the current levels of trade union facility time 
and associated arrangements for the whole period of the budget 
plan;

(4) it be noted that officers will comply with agreed HR policies and 
procedures including relevant consultation with Trade Unions and 
reports to the Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance & 
Corporate Services;

(5) approval be given to the programme management and governance 
arrangements in relation to the Framework for Change being 
delegated to the Chief Executive in conjunction with the Leader of 
the Council;

Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2019/20

(6) approval be given to the inclusion within the Capital Programme of 
the Capital schemes to be funded from school and transport grants, 
2017/18 to 2019/20 as outlined in Paragraphs 8.2.2 and 8.3.2 of the 
report;

(7) approval be given to the inclusion within the Capital Programme of 
the fully grant funded schemes as detailed in Paragraphs 8.5.1 of 
the report;

Budget 2017/18 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 
2019/20

(8) approval be given to the budget for 2017/18 and the three-year 
financial plan covering the years 2017/18 to 2019/20; and officers 
be authorised to undertake the necessary actions relating to the 
implementation associated with the recommendations, such 
necessary actions are described under each proposal in Chapter 5 
of Appendix A in the report;

(9) approval be given to the Fees and Charges as proposed in the draft 
Council budget and set out in Appendix D of the report;

(10) approval be given to the use of one-off resources of £4.65m in 
2017/18 to smooth the impact of the required savings over the 
budget plan period as set out in Paragraph 3.2 of Chapter 4 of 
Appendix A to the report; and to the funding of the one off 
investment to secure an economic legacy from the Open Golf 
Championship as referred to in Paragraph 3.3 of Chapter 4 to the 
report,.

(11) approval be given to the development of the Cost of Change budget 
with a value of £8.5m as set out in Paragraph 3.4 of Chapter 4 of 
Appendix A of the report;

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

72

(12) approval be given to a Council Tax increase in 2017/18 of 1.99%;

(13) approval be given to a Social Care Council Tax Precept of 3% in 
2017/18 resulting in an overall increase in Council Tax for Sefton of 
4.99% in 2017/18;

(14) approval be given to the allocation of specific grants as detailed in 
Paragraphs 10.3 to 10.20 of the report;

(15) the Schools’ Forum decisions on the Dedicated Schools Grant and 
Individual School Budgets as set out in Appendix B to the report be 
noted;

(16) approval be given to the approach and delegated authorities set out 
in paragraph 10.21 of the report, as permanent “business as usual” 
arrangements for setting Adult Social Care fees; 

(17) it be noted that at its meeting on 26 January 2017, the Council calculated 
the following amounts for the year 2017/2018 in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) 
Regulations 1992 (as amended): 

(a) 81,906.80 Band D equivalent properties, for the whole area [item T in the 
formula in Section 31B of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, as amended]; and

(b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates as 
shown in the table below:

Parish Council Tax Base
(Band D Equivalent Properties)

Aintree Village 2,019.17
Formby 9,054.19
Hightown 846.60
Ince Blundell 163.57
Little Altcar 322.86
Lydiate 2,037.31
Maghull 6,492.19
Melling 980.64
Sefton 231.19
Thornton 762.65

(18) the Council calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council's 
own purposes for 2017/2018 (excluding Parish Precepts) is 
£117,826,208.

(19) the following amounts be calculated by the Council for the year 
2017/2018 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992: 

(a) £581,150,122 Being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts 
issued to it by Parish Councils.

Page 18

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

73

(b) -
£462,402,456

Being the aggregate amounts which the Council estimates for the items set 
out in Section 31A(3) of the Act.

(c) £118,747,666 Being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council in accordance with 
Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement for the year (item R 
in the formula in Section 31B of the Act).

(d) £1,449.79 Being the amount at 3(c) above (item R), divided by the amount at 1(a) 
above (item T), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of 
the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish 
Precepts).

(e) £921,458 Being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish Precepts) referred 
to in Section 34(1) of the Act. 

(f) £1,438.54 Being the amount at 3(d) above, less the amount given by dividing the 
amount at 3(e) above by the amount at 1(a) above (item T), calculated by 
the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area 
to which no special item relates.

(g) The amounts below, being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 3(f) above the 
amounts of the special items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area 
mentioned above divided in each case by the amount at 1(b) above, calculated by the 
Council in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act as basic amounts of its Council Tax for 
the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which special items relate.

Parish

Aintree Village 

Formby

Hightown

Ince Blundell

Little Altcar

Lydiate

Maghull

Melling

Sefton

Thornton

       £

 1,468.26

 1,446.55

 1,444.99

 1,450.46

 1,447.83

 1,509.61

 1,531.83

 1,458.93

 1,454.11

 1,444.44

(h) The amounts below being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) 
above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable 
to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that 
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation Band D, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the 
year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.

Property Valuation Band
Proportion 
of Band D

A
6/9

B
7/9

C
8/9

D
9/9

E
11/9

F
13/9

G
15/9

H
18/9

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Parish

Aintree 
Village 978.84 1,141.98 1,305.12 1,468.26 1,794.54 2,120.82 2,447.10 2,936.52

        
Formby 964.37 1,125.09 1,285.82 1,446.55 1,768.01 2,089.46 2,410.92 2,893.10

Hightown 963.33 1,123.88 1,284.44 1,444.99 1,766.10 2,087.21 2,408.32 2,889.98

Ince 
Blundell 966.97 1,128.14 1,289.30 1,450.46 1,772.78 2,095.11 2,417.43 2,900.92

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

74

Little 
Altcar 965.22 1,126.09 1,286.96 1,447.83 1,769.57 2,091.31 2,413.05 2,895.66

Lydiate 1,006.41 1,174.14 1,341.88 1,509.61 1,845.08 2,180.55 2,516.02 3,019.22

Maghull 1,021.22 1,191.42 1,361.63 1,531.83 1,872.24 2,212.64 2,553.05 3,063.66

Melling 972.62 1,134.72 1,296.83 1,458.93 1,783.14 2,107.34 2,431.55 2,917.86

Sefton 969.41 1,130.97 1,292.54 1,454.11 1,777.25 2,100.38 2,423.52 2,908.22

Thornton 962.96 1,123.45 1,283.95 1,444.44 1,765.43 2,086.41 2,407.40 2,888.88
        

All Other 
Parts
of the 
Council's 
Area

959.03 1,118.86 1,278.70 1,438.54 1,758.22 2,077.89 2,397.57 2,877.08

(20) it be noted that for the year 2017/2018 the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Fire and Rescue Authority have stated the 
following amounts in precepts issued to the Council in accordance 
with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for 
each of the categories of dwellings shown below:

Property Valuation Band 
Proportion of A B C D E F G H 
Band D 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Precepting 
Authority
 
Merseyside Fire & 
Rescue Authority 49.56 57.82 66.08 74.34 90.86 107.38 123.90 148.68

Merseyside Police 
and Crime 
Commissioner

110.65 129.09 147.53 165.97 202.85 239.73 276.62 331.94

(21) the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts 
shown in the table below as the amounts of Council Tax for 
2017/2018 for each part of its area and for each of the categories of 
dwellings.

Property Valuation Band 
Proportion of A B C D E F G H 
Band D 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Parish 

Aintree Village 1,139.05 1,328.89 1,518.73 1,708.57 2,088.25 2,467.93 2,847.62 3,417.14

Formby 1,124.58 1,312.00 1,499.43 1,686.86 2,061.72 2,436.57 2,811.44 3,373.72

Hightown 1,123.54 1,310.79 1,498.05 1,685.30 2,059.81 2,434.32 2,808.84 3,370.60

Ince Blundell 1,127.18 1,315.05 1,502.91 1,690.77 2,066.49 2,442.22 2,817.95 3,381.54

Little Altcar 1,125.43 1,313.00 1,500.57 1,688.14 2,063.28 2,438.42 2,813.57 3,376.28

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

75

Lydiate 1,166.62 1,361.05 1,555.49 1,749.92 2,138.79 2,527.66 2,916.54 3,499.84

Maghull 1,181.43 1,378.33 1,575.24 1,772.14 2,165.95 2,559.75 2,953.57 3,544.28

Melling 1,132.83 1,321.63 1,510.44 1,699.24 2,076.85 2,454.45 2,832.07 3,398.48

Sefton 1,129.62 1,317.88 1,506.15 1,694.42 2,070.96 2,447.49 2,824.04 3,388.84

Thornton 1,123.17 1,310.36 1,497.56 1,684.75 2,059.14 2,433.52 2,807.92 3,369.50

All Other 
Parts of the 
Council's Area 

1,119.24 1,305.77 1,492.31 1,678.85 2,051.93 2,425.00 2,798.09 3,357.70

(22) the Council's basic amount of Council Tax for 2017/2018 is not 
deemed to be excessive in accordance with the principles approved 
under Section 52ZB of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

89. VEXATIOUS OR UNFOCUSED COMPLAINTS AND DATA 
REQUESTS 

Further to Minute No. 33 of the meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 7 December 2016, the Council considered the report of 
the Head of Regulation and Compliance which provided details of a 
proposed policy and procedure for dealing with Vexatious or Unfocussed 
Complaints and Data Requests. 

It was moved by Councillor Roche, seconded by Councillor McGinnity and 
following debate

RESOLVED:

That the policy and procedure for dealing with Vexatious or Unfocussed 
Complaints and Data Requests be approved. 

90. CCTV POLICY STATEMENT 

Further to Minute No. 34 of the meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 7 December 2016, the Council considered the report of 
the Head of Regulation and Compliance which provided details of the draft 
CCTV Policy Statement.

It was moved by Councillor Roche, seconded by Councillor McGinnity and

RESOLVED:

That the CCTV Policy Statement as set out in Annex A to the report be 
approved.

Page 21

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

76

91. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY MAYORAL 
ELECTION - APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL RETURNING OFFICER 

The Council considered the report of the Head of Regulation and 
Compliance which indicated that the Council was required to appoint a 
Local Returning Officer in respect of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Mayoral Election to take place on Thursday 4 May 2017, in 
accordance with the Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017 
which provides that each constituent authority must appoint one of its 
officers to act as the Local Returning Officer for the combined authority 
mayoral election.

It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough and

RESOLVED:

That Margaret Carney, Chief Executive, be appointed to act as the Local 
Returning Officer in respect of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Mayoral Election to take place on Thursday 4 May 2017. 

92. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 85 - 
ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 

Further to Minute No. 45 of the meeting held on 22 September 2016, the 
Council considered the report of the Head of Regulation and Compliance 
which requested the Council to approve and authorise the absence of 
Councillor Ball from attendance at Council and Committee Meetings 
pursuant to Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972.

It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Dutton and

RESOLVED:

That the current absence from all Council and Committee Meetings of
Councillor Ball due to ill-health be authorised and approved for a six month 
period until the Council meeting on 21 September 2017, pursuant to 
Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972.

93. MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 2016/17 

Councillor Hands proposed the following change:

 Councillor Keith to replace Councillor Jo Barton as the Substitute 
Member for Councillor Pullin on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills)

Page 22

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

77

RESOLVED:

That the change to the membership of the Committee be approved.

94. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR MAHER 

It was moved by Councillor Maher and seconded by Councillor Murphy:

Levy of a Financial Transactions Tax

“This Council notes the suffering forced upon local residents as a result of 
this Government’s cuts programme and asserts that there is an alternative 
to its ideologically driven attack on public services – namely the levy of a 
Financial Transactions Tax (FTT) on the speculative activities that have 
accelerated the recent enrichment of the few to the detriment of the many.  

The Council therefore calls upon Government to enact the FTT and use 
the revenues from this measure to reverse ongoing shrinkage in central 
grants to our Council.

This Council believes that:-

 Revenues from the FTT could help repair the damage caused by cuts 
in public services since 2010;

 Local government deserves to receive a significant proportion of FTT 
revenues, making an important contribution to both capital and revenue 
expenditure such as reversing cuts to council tax benefits; and 

 Whilst an FTT might have a negligible effect on jobs in the City of 
London, investing FTT revenues in a smart and progressive way would 
see a significant increase in employment levels in other sectors.

This Council resolves that:-

 The UK Government should extend the current FTT on shares to other 
asset classes, such as bonds and derivatives.

This Council further resolves to:-

 Write to the Prime Minister, Leader of the Opposition, Chancellor and 
Shadow Chancellor of the Exchequer, and the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government stating this Council’s support for 
extending FTTs; and

 Write to all local MPs outlining the Council’s position.”

An amendment was moved by Councillor Bill Welsh, seconded by 
Councillor Shaw that the Motion be amended as follows;

Page 23

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

78

deleting all of the text in the 3rd bullet point which starts "Whilst an FTT 
might have a negligible effect on jobs in the City of London..." and 
substituting the following text:

 “Investing FTT revenues in a smart and progressive way would see a 
significant increase in employment levels in other sectors apart from 
the financial sector.”

and insert a 4th bullet point after this, to read as follows:

 “There are concerns that the unilateral extension of the FTT in the UK 
would have a negative impact on the UK financial sector resulting in its 
shrinkage and consequent reduction in other tax revenues which might 
outweigh the gain from the FTT by a significant margin.  Therefore to 
avoid trades moving from the City of London to other global financial 
centres it is proposed that a common FTT should be negotiated and 
introduced simultaneously across the main, global financial centres.”

Then following "This Council resolves that:-", change the text of the bullet 
point starting "The UK Government should extend the current FTT..." to 
the following:-

“The UK Government should work with the main, global financial centres 
to introduce a common FTT which would come into operation at the same 
time in each centre. This FTT would include trades in shares, bonds and 
derivatives.

On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the amendment was lost by 
44 votes to 12.

Thereafter, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the Motion was 
carried by 39 votes to 5 with 12 abstentions and it was

RESOLVED:

That the Motion be approved.

95. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR BRADSHAW 

It was moved by Councillor Bradshaw, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
unanimously

RESOLVED:

Footbridge at the junction of Dunnings Bridge Road and Park Lane, 
Netherton

This Council calls on Highways England to halt their plan to replace the 
footbridge at the junction of Dunnings Bridge Road and Park Lane, 

Page 24

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 2ND MARCH, 2017

79

Netherton with a pedestrian crossing and ensure that either a 
refurbishment of the existing footbridge or a new footbridge is put in place.

This junction is on one of the busiest roads in the country and has on one 
side a primary school and the other side a Day centre and we believe that 
the safety of our local children, vulnerable people and other local residents 
is critical. It is vital that urgent action is taken to halt this plan with 
immediate effect.

As such, we request the Chief Executive of the Council to contact the 
Chief Executive of Highways England seeking intervention to halt this ill-
conceived plan immediately and ensure that any replacement at this road 
junction is a footbridge.

Page 25

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Council

Date of Meeting: 6 April 2017

20 April 2017

Subject: Adoption of the 
Sefton Local Plan

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Report of: Head of 
Regeneration and 
Housing

Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Is it included in the Forward Plan? Yes

Exempt/Confidential No 

Purpose/Summary

The Inspector’s Report on the Examination of the Sefton Local Plan has been received 
by the Council and published on the website, in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

Having received the report, which indicates that the Local Plan has been found to be 
‘sound’ the Council is now able to adopt the Local Plan. This will now become the 
Development Plan for Sefton, which will enable the policies in it to be given full weight 
when determining planning applications. It will replace the Unitary Development Plan 
(UDP).

The Inspector’s report indicates that, as submitted, the Local Plan had a number of 
deficiencies in relation to soundness and/or legal compliance for the reasons set out in 
the report. However, with the Main Modifications recommended by the Inspector to the 
Plan (see www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan ) the Sefton Local Plan now satisfies the 
requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
(as amended) and meets the criteria for soundness set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Recommendation(s)

Cabinet:

1. That Cabinet delegates to the Chief Planning Officer in conjunction with the 
Cabinet Member - Planning and Building Control the approval of additional minor 
modifications to the Local Plan consequential to the Main Modifications 
recommended by the Inspector, and any other minor editorial changes that do not 
amend the substance of the Plan; and

2. That Cabinet recommends to Council the following:
Page 27

Agenda Item 7

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan


(a) The adoption of the Sefton Local Plan, including the Main Modifications set out in 
the Appendix to the Inspector’s report (as attached to this report) and any 
consequential changes to the Local Plan and the Policies Map and any minor 
changes as set out in this report or as agreed (1) above, as part of the statutory 
Development Plan for Sefton; and

(b) Notes that the decision to adopt the Sefton Local Plan will be subject to a statutory 
legal challenge period of 6 weeks from the date of adoption.

Council:

That Council:
 
1. Adopts the Sefton Local Plan, including any additional modifications agreed by the 

Cabinet at 2(a) above, and

2. Notes that the decision to adopt the Sefton Local Plan will be subject to a statutory 
legal challenge period of 6 weeks from the date of adoption.

 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives?

Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact

Neutral 
Impact

Negative 
Impact

1 Creating a Learning Community X

2 Jobs and Prosperity x

3 Environmental Sustainability x

4 Health and Well-Being x

5 Children and Young People x

6 Creating Safe Communities x

7 Creating Inclusive Communities x
8 Improving the Quality of Council 

Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy

x

Reasons for the Recommendation:

When the Council adopts the Local Plan it will be given full weight when planning 
applications are determined, and will enable the jobs, homes and supporting 
infrastructure that Sefton needs can be delivered.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

The Council could choose not to adopt the Local Plan. However, this could mean that we 
will lose control over where development takes place and that the infrastructure required 
to support development is not provided.

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

All costs associated with the adoption of the Local Plan are covered by the Planning 
Services budget. If the Council decides not to adopt the Local Plan, this could result in 
considerable financial and resource implications for the Council, both in relation to the 
cost of defending decisions to refuse planning permission at appeal that result from the 
Council not having an up to date Local Plan, and in relation to having to refresh and 
update the evidence base to support the preparation of a new Local Plan.

An adopted Local Plan is also a pre-requisite of implementing the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and this would have an additional financial cost resulting from a 
decision not to adopt the Local Plan.

(B) Capital Costs

None.

Implications:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Financial
N/A

Legal Adoption of the Local Plan as proposed in the report, will ensure that future 
planning decisions and appeals can be robustly defended.

Human Resources
N/A

Equality
1. No Equality Implication

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains

Impact of the Proposals on Service Delivery:

The adoption of the Local Plan, and the replacement of the Unitary Development Plan 
will streamline the planning decision-making process. 

x

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD4592/17) has been consulted and notes the report 
indicates no direct financial implications at this stage by adopting the Local Plan.and the 
Head of Regulation and Compliance (LD.3875/17) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council meeting.

Contact Officer:  
Tel: Tel: 0151 934 3556
Email: ingrid.berry@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

1. Report to Sefton Council on the Examination into the Sefton Local Plan, 14 March 
2017

2. Appendix to above report – Main Modifications
3. List of minor changes to be included in the adopted Sefton Local Plan

Background Papers:

None

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Sefton Local Plan was submitted for examination in July 2015. Since then 
hearings were initially held in November 2015 – January 2016, and in November 
2016 following the publication of Modifications to the Local Plan in June 2016.

1.2 The Plan represents an important tool for implementing the wider aims and 
objectives of the Council and its partners as it will support:
 The delivery of 11,520 new homes, including affordable housing and housing 

for older people, which will meet its objectively assessed needs to 2030;
 The delivery of 3 strategic employment sites and a number of other 

employment areas to provide jobs on 62 hectares within Sefton;
 Ensure that Sefton’s Green Belt will be protected until a future review of the 

Local Plan indicates that further Green Belt release is justified;
 The regeneration of Sefton’s town, district and local centres and a number of 

other locations in Bootle and Netherton;
 The provision of infrastructure necessary to support development; 
 Good design in new development;
 Policies that support the well-being of the population, whether through the 

provision and enhancement of open space, and routes for cycling and 
walking, and 

 Policies that protect and enhance the Borough’s natural and heritage assets.

1.3 The Inspector’s report is not legally binding on the Council and it does not have to 
accept all his recommendations. However, any policy not modified in line with his 
recommendations would be extremely vulnerable at appeal. Indeed, were the 
Local Plan to be adopted without these Main Modifications, the Council would also 
be extremely vulnerable to legal challenge via Judicial Review and the Council 
would have little or no defence to such a challenge on that basis.

1.4 A schedule of minor modifications to the Local Plan, prepared by the Council is 
attached to this report. They mainly correct minor errors and update non-policy 
sections of the Local Plan and are consistent with the Main Modifications 
recommended by the Inspector. 

2. Next steps

2.1 Should Council decide to adopt the Local Plan, the adoption will be effective from 
the date the decision is made (i.e. 20th April 2017). From that date the Sefton 
Local Plan will immediately form part of the Development Plan, replacing the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan. It will become the main document against 
which planning applications will be assessed, supported by Supplementary 
Planning Documents, Master Plans and Development Briefs which set out how 
specific sites should be developed or how policies will be implemented in order to 
comply with the Local Plan. 

2.2 In accordance with Government regulations on the adoption of the Local Plan, all 
participants in the Local Plan process will be notified of the adoption as soon as is 
reasonably practicable. The adopted Local Plan, together with the accompanying 
Policies Maps, Sustainability Report and Adoption Statement and the Inspector’s 
report, will be made available at the Council offices in accordance with 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Government Regulations and the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 
A press release and press notice will also be published to allow a wider audience 
to be aware of the Local Plan’s adoption.

2.3 Given the cost of printing the adopted Local Plan and policies map, and the move 
toward providing documents on the web, printed copies of the Local Plan will not 
be made readily available, and a charge will be imposed on members of the public 
and other organisations requesting a copy.

2.4 Following adoption of the Local Plan, there is a 6 week Judicial Review period 
when people can challenge either that the document is not within the appropriate 
power, or that a procedural requirements has not been complied with. Whilst the 
Council and the inspector have done everything possible to ensure that this risk is 
very low, it remains a risk.

 
2.5 If a challenge is successful, either the whole plan or the relevant policy within it, 

generally or as it affects the property of the person who made the challenge, could 
be struck out and could not be afforded any weight in the decision-making 
process.

3. Conclusion

3.1 The preparation of the Sefton Local Plan has been completed. The examination of 
the Plan has been concluded and the Inspector’s report has been received. The 
Sefton Local Plan is therefore recommended for adoption by the Council in 
accordance with the Inspector’s recommendations.

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 

  
 
 
 

 
 

Report to Sefton Council 

by Martin Pike BA MA MRTPI  

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Date 14 March 2017 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (AS AMENDED) 

SECTION 20 

 

REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO  

SEFTON LOCAL PLAN 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Document submitted for examination on 31 July 2015 

Examination hearings held between 17 November – 11 December 2015, 12–15 
January 2016 and 1-2 November 2016 

 

File Ref: M4320/429/1 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 
 

-2- 
 

 

Abbreviations Used in this Report 
 

AA Appropriate Assessment 
AQMA Air Quality Management Area 
BMV Best and Most Versatile (agricultural land quality) 

CA Conservation Area 
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government 
dpa dwellings per annum 
EA Environment Agency 

ELPSU 
EU 

Employment Land and Premises Study Update 
European Union 

EVS Economic Viability Study 
FRA Flood Risk Assessment 
HMR 

HRR 
IDP 

LCR 
LDS 

Housing Market Renewal 

Household Representative Rate 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

Liverpool City Region 
Local Development Scheme 

LEP Local Enterprise Partnership 

LWS Local Wildlife Site 
MM Main Modification 

MoU Memorandum of Understanding 
MSA 
NLP 

NPPF 
PHE 

Mineral Safeguarding Area 
Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners 

National Planning Policy Framework 
Public Health England 

PHM Pre Hearing Meeting 
PPG Planning Practice Guidance 

PPS Playing Pitch Strategy 
PSA 
OAN 

OBR 

Primary Shopping Area 
Objectively Assessed Need 

Office of Budget Responsibility 
ONS Office for National Statistics 

RSNW 
RSR 

Regional Strategy for the North West 
Retail Strategy Review 

SA Sustainability Appraisal 

SCI Statement of Community Involvement 
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

SHELMA Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment 
SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
SHMA Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

SLP 
SNPP 

SSSI 
SuDS 

Sefton Local Plan 
Sub-National Population Projections 

Site of Special Scientific Interest 
Sustainable Drainage System 

TA Transport Assessment 

UDP Unitary Development Plan 
UPC Unattributable Population Change 

WLBC West Lancashire Borough Council 
WMS Written Ministerial Statement 
  

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 3 - 

 

Non-Technical Summary 
 

 
This report concludes that the Sefton Local Plan provides an appropriate basis for 
the planning of the Borough, provided that a number of Main Modifications (MMs) 
are made to it.  Sefton Council has specifically requested me to recommend any 
MMs necessary to enable the Plan to be adopted.   

The MMs all concern matters that were discussed at the examination hearings.  
Following the hearings, the Council prepared schedules of the proposed 
modifications and carried out sustainability appraisal of them.  The MMs were 
subject to public consultation during June-August 2016.  In some cases I have 
amended their detailed wording and/or added consequential modifications where 
necessary.  I have recommended their inclusion in the Plan after considering all 
the representations made in response to consultation on them.   

The Main Modifications can be summarised as follows: 

 Slightly increasing the number of new homes required and slightly 
decreasing the amount of employment land required, both to reflect 
updated projections; 

 Adding one new housing allocation at Formby and deleting one 
employment allocation at Formby; 

 Clarifying the strategies for implementing key housing and employment 
allocations; 

 Amending housing policies to increase provision for the elderly, to improve 

the adaptability of dwellings and to support custom or self-build homes; 
 Adjusting the approach to town centres to better reflect national retail 

policy, including the enlargement of some town centres and designation of 
primary shopping areas;  

 Clarifying the provision of open space alongside new homes, and ensuring 

that replacement facilities are provided when open spaces are developed; 
 Enhancing measures for mitigating the flood risk associated with new 

development; 
 Adjusting policies for protecting the natural and historic environment to 

better reflect national policy; and 

 Strengthening the commitment to an immediate review of the Plan if the 
forthcoming sub-regional study identifies a need for more housing or 

employment land. 
 

 

 
 

  

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 4 - 

Introduction  

1. This report contains my assessment of the Sefton Local Plan (SLP) in terms of 

Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  
It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has complied with the duty to 
co-operate.  It then considers whether the Plan is sound and whether it is 

compliant with the legal requirements. Paragraph 182 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) makes clear that to be sound, a Local Plan should be 

positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 
authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The basis for 

my examination is ‘A Local Plan for Sefton, Submission July 2015’ which is the 
same as the document published for consultation in January 2015. 

3. When the Plan was submitted for examination a significant number of studies 
which make up the evidence base were not available.  In a few instances this 
was unavoidable, in that work was on-going in response to recent changes in 

circumstance which were outside Sefton Council’s control.  In most cases, 
however, key parts of the evidence base were not complete upon submission.  

This inevitably caused some difficulty at examination and meant that the 
hearings took place over a longer period than usual to give representors 
additional time to respond to late studies.   

Modifications 

4. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act, the Council requested that 

I should make any Main Modifications (MMs) necessary to rectify matters that 
make the Plan unsound or not legally compliant and thus incapable of being 
adopted.  My report explains why the recommended MMs, all of which relate to 

matters that were discussed at the examination hearings, are necessary.  The 
MMs are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM1, MM2, MM3 etc, 

and are set out in full in the Appendix.  

5. Following the main examination hearings, the Council prepared a schedule of 
proposed MMs and carried out sustainability appraisal of them.  The MM 

schedule was subject to public consultation for six weeks.  I have taken 
account of the consultation responses and comments made at the November 

2016 hearings in coming to my conclusions in this report.  In this light I have 
made some amendments to the detailed wording of the main modifications 
and added consequential modifications where these are necessary for 

consistency or clarity.  None of the amendments significantly alters the 
content of the modifications as published for consultation or undermines the 

participatory processes and sustainability appraisal that has been undertaken.  
Where necessary I have highlighted these amendments in the report. 

6. Some of the Plan’s proposals are repeated in different parts of the document.  
In most cases I have treated MMs to repeat proposals as consequential and 
have not separately identified them as MMs in the Appendix.  In addition, the 

Council has proposed a large number of additional modifications which do not 
materially affect the policies of the Plan.  In this report and the Appendix I 

focus on what I regard as the MMs necessary to make the Plan sound.  All 
other modifications which are not specifically mentioned in the report or 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 5 - 

Appendix are either consequential MMs or additional modifications, and can be 
made by the Council on adoption of the Plan. 

Policies Map 

7. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 

geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan. 
When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to 

provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies 
map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan.  In this 
case, the submission policies map comprises the four plans identified as ‘Local 

Plan Policy Map’ for Bootle and Crosby, Formby, Sefton East Parishes and 
Southport as set out in document LP1. 

8. The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document 
and so I do not have the power to recommend Main Modifications to it. 
However, a number of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies require further 

corresponding changes to be made to the policies map.  In addition, there are 
some instances where the geographic illustration of policies on the submission 

policies map is not justified and changes to the policies map are needed to 
ensure that the relevant policies are effective. 

9. These further changes to the policies map were published for consultation 

alongside the MMs in a ‘Schedule of Proposed Modifications to the Policies Map 
of the Sefton Local Plan’.  When the Plan is adopted, in order to comply with 

the legislation and give effect to the Plan’s policies, the Council will need to 
update the adopted policies map to include all the changes proposed in the 
submission policies map and the further changes published alongside the MMs. 

Consultation 

10. Many residents feel that the process of consultation and engagement with 

local communities has been flawed.  I appreciate that many residents do not 
have access to the Council’s website, but the use of a wide range of other 
media, including an insert in the local newspaper delivered to all households, 

demonstrates that the Council was alive to this problem.  I acknowledge that 
the representation forms are complex and technical, but the Council made 

clear that residents could respond in any format and most used email or 
written letter.  As to the events at which the emerging Plan could be 
discussed, because large numbers of people turned up during the drop-in 

events used at Options stage, causing long delays, the Council’s decision to 
use a booking system at Preferred Options stage was a sensible response to 

the earlier problem.         

11. Overall it appears that the consultation process was extensive, thorough and 
designed to reach all sections of the community.  The results of the process do 

not support the assertion that it was flawed.  During the four main 
consultation stages prior to Submission, around 6,500 representations were 

made and more than 20 petitions were submitted with over 20,000 signatures.  
Such numbers seem to suggest a good level of community engagement.  The 

legal test is whether the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement has 
been complied with; I believe that its requirements have been exceeded.  

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 6 - 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  

12. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council  

complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A of the 2004 Act.  The 
duty requires local planning authorities to co-operate with other Councils and 
bodies to address strategic cross-boundary issues when preparing local plans. 

13. It is apparent that Sefton Council has actively participated in the long–
standing, constructive and on-going co-operation between the six Liverpool 

City Region (LCR) authorities and West Lancashire Borough Council (WLBC) in 
plan-making activities.  In particular, Sefton led the preparation of a joint sub-
regional study1 which was published in May 2011, prior to revocation of the 

Regional Spatial Strategy for the North West.  This study considered the 
potential for redistributing demand for housing to Liverpool and Wirral, where 

significant supply was expected to come forward, but found that further supply 
would be needed in Sefton and the other authorities.  It concluded that each 
authority would have to meet the needs arising in its area.   

14. Each authority was at a different stage of plan preparation when the duty to 
co-operate came into force.  To avoid lengthy delays in completing the most 

advanced plans, it was decided not to prepare a joint LCR plan.  However, 
there has been considerable co-operation in the preparation of joint evidence-
base studies which underpin the authority-specific plans.  As well as the 

housing and economic development study mentioned above, Sefton has 
participated in the common approach taken to topics including the Green Belt, 

gypsy and traveller needs, transport, employment land supply, renewable 
energy, minerals and ecology.  Extensive co-operation has taken place with 
the specific bodies defined in Act and the 2012 Regulations.  None of these 

bodies has expressed concern about compliance with the duty to co-operate.      

15. I do not agree that there has been undue delay in addressing the employment 

land needs arising from the expansion of the Port of Liverpool.  I deal with this 
issue in more detail later; insofar as it relates to the duty to co-operate, the 
scale of the need was not apparent until March 2014 and, as Sefton has been 

instrumental in raising the matter with the LCR authorities, it has certainly not 
failed in its obligations.  Moreover, the commission of a Strategic Housing and 

Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA), which will include a study of 
port-related needs, and the recent Memorandum of Understanding among LCR 
authorities, aptly demonstrate the continuing process of collaborative working 

sought by the NPPF.  Accordingly the requirements of S20(5)(c) are satisfied.   

16. Nevertheless, the examination has identified tensions relating to Southport’s 

development needs which may have cross-boundary implications going 
forward.  As discussed later, the tightly drawn administrative boundary with 

WLBC has made it difficult to meet the town’s housing and employment needs 
close to where they arise.  WLBC advised Sefton that it was unable to 
accommodate any of Sefton’s needs within its area and, importantly, the West 

Lancashire Local Plan was found sound after the duty to co-operate was 
introduced.  So, while there has been compliance with the duty in the current 

round of plan preparation, there may be a need for more positive engagement 
on this cross-boundary issue in the future.    

                                       
1 Document HO.16 - Housing and Economic Development Evidence Base Overview Study.  

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 7 - 

Assessment of Soundness  

Early Review of Plan 

17. When submitting the Plan for examination, the Council indicated that an early 
review will be necessary for two reasons.  Firstly, the imminent major 
expansion of the Port of Liverpool is expected to generate significant additional 

demand for employment land across Merseyside which is to be reviewed at 
sub-regional level.  Secondly, the housing requirement in the Submission Plan 

was based on household projections from 2011, the most up-to-date available 
at the time it was prepared.  In February 2015 new (2012-based) household 
projections were released which indicate significantly higher growth than 

previously.  Furthermore, employment–led projections suggest an even higher 
level of household growth which could have implications at sub-regional level.  

The early review is intended to take account of the findings of the SHELMA 
study which will address housing and employment growth across the LCR.   

18. In its Housing Technical Paper2 the Council stated that to meet the economic-

led housing requirement would require a re-write of the plan, setting back the 
process by a number of years.  It cited a Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) 

of 21 July 2015 which stresses the Government’s commitment to timely local 
plan production and indicates that an early review of a plan may be 
appropriate to ensure that it is not unnecessarily delayed by seeking to resolve 

matters which are not critical to its soundness or legal competence as a whole.   

19. Because this matter could potentially have threatened the entire examination 

process, it was discussed at the Pre-Hearing Meeting (PHM) in September 
2015.  Many representors supported the early review process and no one 
present argued against it.  Consequently, and mindful of the WMS and the 

Government’s strong advocacy of adopted local plans as a means of 
addressing housing needs, I indicated at the PHM that the examination would 

proceed on the following basis.  If I were to find that housing delivery did not 
meet the substantially increased objectively assessed housing need based on 
2012 household projections, the fact that the increase in housing need arose 

very late in plan preparation, coupled with the commitment to an early review, 
would be sufficient for the Plan not to be found unsound.  There has been no 

objection to this course of action since the PHM.   

20. During the examination hearings many representors argued that an ‘early’ 
review process is not sufficiently urgent or precise to deal with any unmet 

needs arising from the SHELMA study.  In response, the Council agreed to 
commit to an ‘immediate’ review or partial review following publication of the 

SHELMA study and to submit the review within two years of adoption of this 
Plan.  This strengthened commitment is necessary for the Plan to be found 

sound; MM6 incorporates it as a new part 5 to policy MN1 and MM2 and MM8 
make similar changes to the text. 

21. Shortly before this report was completed the Government published the 

Housing White Paper entitled “Fixing our broken housing market”.3  The White 
Paper is a consultation document on a number of proposed policy changes to 

                                       
2 Document TP.1, July 2015. 
3 Published by Department for Communities and Local Government on 7 February 2017 – Cm 9352. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 8 - 

the NPPF as well as to the regulatory framework for plan making.  Whilst the 
proposals in the White Paper may have implications for matters discussed 

during the examination, they do not yet form part of Government policy and 
they might change following the consultation.  Because the end of the 

examination was imminent, and in light of the Government’s objective that 
plans should not be unnecessarily delayed, I decided (after consulting Sefton 

Council) that it was not necessary to seek comments on the implications of the 
White Paper for this Plan.  Instead, it will be for the Council to respond to the 
forthcoming changes to the NPPF, and any regulatory changes, when 

undertaking the review of the Plan. 

Main Issues 

22. Taking account of all the representations, written evidence and the discussions 
that took place at the examination hearings I have identified six main issues 
upon which the soundness of the Plan depends.  Under these headings my 

report deals with the main matters of soundness rather than responding to 
every point raised by representors. 

1 – VISION AND OBJECTIVES 

Issue 1:  Whether the Plan’s vision and objectives provide a sound 

framework for the sustainable development of Sefton borough.  

23. Sefton is a flat, low-lying coastal borough extending from Bootle in the south 

to the Victorian resort of Southport in the north.  It is an area of considerable 
variety and contrasts, from areas of closely-spaced 19th century terraced 
housing around the Liverpool docks to leafy, low density 20th century suburbs, 

from long-established industrial and port-related activity to modern business 
and retail parks, and from internationally important nature conservation sites 

along the coast to high quality agricultural land in the centre and east of the 
borough.  Almost half the population lives in settlements that abut and make 
up the northern extent of the Liverpool urban area (Aintree/Bootle/Netherton/ 

Litherland/Crosby/Waterloo/Blundellsands), a third lives in Southport 
(including Birkdale and Ainsdale), while the remainder lives mainly in the free-

standing dormitory towns of Maghull and Formby.      

24. Rather than defining a simple, all-encompassing vision for Sefton, the Plan 
outlines the various ways in which the needs of Sefton’s communities will have 

been met by 2030.  These include increasing the range and affordability of 
housing, and making the most of the borough’s assets – its coastal location, 

attractive environment and position within the LCR – to attract jobs and 
investment.  The Plan seeks a more flexible approach to town and local 
centres to enable them to withstand changes in retailing, and improved 

infrastructure which provides better access to facilities, employment and 
services.  At the same time the Plan aims to protect important nature sites, 

heritage assets and green infrastructure, and to promote the borough’s 
tourism potential.  All these objectives are consistent with the NPPF. 

25. There are major constraints to development in Sefton.  All of the borough 

outside the existing urban areas is part of the Merseyside Green Belt and most 
of the coastline comprises internationally important sites for nature 

conservation.  Much of the flat, low-lying land behind the coast is of high 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 9 - 

agricultural quality and many areas are susceptible to flooding.  During 
preparation of the Plan, three different growth options were considered – 

urban containment (limiting development to within the built-up area - 270 
homes a year), meeting identified needs (510 homes a year including some 

outside the urban area, plus new employment areas), and optimistic 
household growth (710 homes a year, the majority outside the urban area, 

and new employment areas as above).   

26. In balancing the needs of its communities against the challenging constraints 
faced by Sefton, the Council decided that the middle ‘meeting identified needs’ 

option was the most sustainable.  This was the most hotly contested topic of 
the examination.  Many local residents oppose the proposed scale of housing 

development and the consequent loss of Green Belt land, arguing that there is 
much greater capacity within the urban areas than identified by the Council.  
On the other hand, many representatives of the development industry believe 

that the Council should be aiming for higher growth to provide the working 
age population necessary to support business expansion.  My conclusion on 

this matter follows the detailed analysis later in this report.             

27. Based on the Plan’s vision and objectives, policy SD2 sets out the broad 
principles for sustainable development which underlie the Plan and against 

which development proposals will be assessed.  One of these principles is to 
meet the need for homes, jobs and services as close as possible to where they 

arise.  This is a highly sustainable approach to the distribution of new 
development, though in practice the expansion of settlements in proportion to 
their size has not always been possible due to the environmental constraints, 

the limited availability of land within the main urban areas and (particularly 
around Southport) the borough’s restrictive administrative boundaries.    

Flooding is a major issue in Sefton but flood risk mitigation was not specifically 
identified in policy SD2; this is added by MM5, which is necessary to make the 
policy sound.  The inclusion of the sentence that, where possible, development 

should include an element of betterment to reduce flood risk off site is 
appropriate and consistent with NPPF paragraph 100 (4th bullet point).   

28. One of the requirements of NPPF paragraph 157 is that local plans should 
indicate broad locations for strategic development on a key diagram.  The 
absence of a key diagram from the Submission Plan is rectified by MM4.  

Subject to these modifications, the Plan’s vision and objectives and policies 
SD1 and SD2 provide a sound framework for the sustainable development of 

the borough.  

2 – HOUSING  

Issue 2a:  Whether the assessment of housing need is robust having 

regard to the evidence base and the requirements of national policy. 

29. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that the starting point for estimating 

household need is the household projections published by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG).  It states that these are trend 

based and may require adjustment to reflect factors affecting local 
demography and household formation rates which are not captured in past 
trends.  Other adjustments to the objectively assessed need (OAN) may be 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 10 - 

necessary to reflect market signals and employment trends.  In this section I 
consider firstly the demographic changes to Sefton’s population and the 

consequences for household formation and dwelling need.  I then address a 
range of market signals and conclude on the demographic-led OAN.  Finally I 

consider whether further adjustments to the OAN are warranted in the light of 
employment-led forecasts and the need for affordable housing.  

Demographic-led housing need – population projections 

30. The long term decline in Sefton’s population slowed during the 2000s and has 
stabilised since 2010 at just over 273,000 persons.  The stemming of 

population decline is the result of a steady reduction in the loss of population 
due to natural change, coupled with a recent change from net out-migration to 

net in-migration.  In addition, the 2011 Census revealed that Sefton’s 
population had been under-recorded over the previous decade, in common 
with that of neighbouring Liverpool city.   

31. Because migration flows vary significantly from year to year, gauging the size 
of Sefton’s population in 2030 has been challenging.  Estimates have 

fluctuated widely in recent years, from a decline of 5,000 persons under the 
2008-based Sub National Population Projections (SNPP) to growth of about 
10,600 under the 2010-based SNPP.  At the main examination hearings the 

then latest available (2012-based) SNPP predicted population growth of about 
5,000 persons by 2030; this increases to 5,900 under the 2014-based SNPP 

released in May 2016.  I place greatest weight on these recent (and broadly 
similar) projections which derive from the 2012- and 2014-based SNPP. 

32. Some representors contest the migration assumptions made in the 2012-

based SNPP projections on the grounds that unattributable population change 
(UPC) is not taken into account.  UPC is a discrepancy in population statistics 

arising between the 2001 and 2011 Censuses; whilst its cause is unknown, it 
is thought most likely to arise from miscounting of population at the Census  
(probably in 2001) and/or wrongly recorded migration.  For Sefton, UPC is 

minus 2,100 persons over the 2001-2011 period, a not insignificant figure in 
the context of net population loss of about 8,900 persons over the decade.  If 

(as is argued) UPC is treated primarily as a net migration loss, then both the 
2012 base population and the forward projections are too high.  By 2030, 
instead of a rise in Sefton’s population of 5,000 persons, it is estimated that 

there would be a further decline of between 4,400 and 9,500 persons 
(depending on whether short- or long-term trends are projected forward). 

33. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) excludes UPC from its projections 
because any adjustment would be difficult (given the unknown cause) and 
because it is not thought to introduce a bias that will continue in future 

projections.  Nevertheless, it is necessary to look at local evidence to establish 
whether there are particular causes of UPC in Sefton.  Such evidence is 

limited, but appears to suggest that UPC may in part be due to errors in 
enumerating the 15-19 year cohort at the 2001 Census.  As to the migration 

component, the 2012-based SNPP projections are largely based on migration 
in the latter half of the decade.  By this time ONS had improved its method of 
calculating migration and the UPC figures for Sefton were smaller than for 

earlier years.  In these circumstances the evidence that UPC should be taken 
into account is not compelling.        

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 11 - 

Demographic-led housing need – household projections 

34. In recent years there has been consistent evidence that Sefton fulfils the PPG 

definition of a self-contained housing market area, in that just over 70% of 
household moves (excluding long-distance moves) take place within Sefton.  

Thus, whilst recognising the complex interrelationship between, in particular, 
the southern part of Sefton and neighbouring Liverpool city, it is appropriate to 

focus on data provided for the borough.   

35. The latest household projections available when the Plan was prepared were 
the DCLG 2011-based interim projections.  These estimate annual growth of 

399 households between 2011-2021; when an allowance is added for vacant 
dwellings and second homes, the OAN rises to 419 dwellings per annum (dpa).  

The Council’s consultants, Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners (NLP), indicated in 
their December 2014 report4 that this should be adjusted upwards for two 
reasons – to take account of higher rates of household formation than 

assumed within the 2011-based projections, and to reflect the latest (2012-
based) SNPP.  These factors led NLP to suggest a demographic need of 562 

dpa over the plan period.  A further upward adjustment of 53 dpa (around 
10%) was recommended to address market signals, notably past under-
delivery of housing and high affordable housing need.  The resultant 615 dpa 

is the OAN figure used as the housing requirement in the Submission Plan, 
equivalent to 11,070 dwellings over the 2012-2030 plan period. 

36. The 2012-based DCLG household projections released in February 2015 are 
consistent with the 2012-based SNPP.  They project household growth of 576 
annually over the plan period, a substantial increase on the equivalent figure 

(399) from the 2011-based projections.  In an updated report5 prepared at the 
time the Plan was submitted for examination, NLP indicate that this rises to 

604 dpa with the allowance for vacant and second homes.  The updated report 
considers that a small adjustment should be made to allow for higher rates of 
household formation than used in the DCLG forecasts, which increases the 

housing need to 627 dpa.  As in its previous report, NLP recommends a 10% 
uplift to take account of market forces, giving an overall demographic-led OAN 

of 690 dpa, or 12,420 dwellings by 2030.    

37. Many of these upward adjustments were examined at the hearings.  Dealing 
firstly with household formation, NLP argues that the DCLG 2012-based 

household representative rates (HRRs) do not fully reflect the downward trend 
that was apparent before the recession.  It considers that a partial (50%) 

catch-up to the HRRs used in the 2008-based DCLG projections is justified 
because household formation was suppressed during the recession by low 
mortgage availability, limited new house-building and so on.  It also suggests 

that demand was suppressed over a longer period by the housing moratorium 
of the mid-2000s.  

38. The evidence indicates that, for males, 2012-based HRRs for Sefton have 
largely caught up with 2008-based rates, though the rates for females remain 

slightly lower.  Significant changes have occurred since the 2008-based HRRs 
were formulated - notably, the very easy availability of mortgages that 

                                       
4 Document HO.2 – Review of the Objectively Assessed Need for Housing in Sefton, NLP. 
5 Document HO.1 - Review of the Objectively Assessed Need for Housing, NLP, July 2015. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 12 - 

contributed to the financial crash of 2007/8 is unlikely to return, so reversion 
to the previous rate of decline in HRRs is doubtful.  Given the relatively small 

difference between 2008-based and 2012-based HRRs, I share the view that 
previous HRRs are outdated and that the 2012-based HRRs are robust.  Any 

long term suppression of demand is difficult to quantify and will have been 
partially addressed in the 2012-based HRRs; it will also be examined as part of 

the market signals analysis.  On balance I do not believe that local factors 
warrant an upward adjustment, so the 2012-based HRRs should be used.   

39. Turning to the vacancy rate, the NLP figure of 4.3% (plus an allowance of 

about 0.3% for second homes, giving 4.6% overall) is an average of the 
2012/13 and 2013/14 figures and is held constant over the plan period.  Some 

representors argue that this rate is too high and should be reduced on the 
basis that, as the economy improves, there is greater incentive to bring vacant 
dwellings back to the market.  Reducing vacancies is a Council objective and, 

as a sensitivity test, NLP modelled a small, progressive reduction to 4.0% by 
2030; this would reduce the overall dwelling need by about 575 dwellings or 

32 per annum.   

40. The national average vacancy rate is 3.1%, a level which is generally regarded 
as normal to facilitate “churn” within the housing market, so a rate of 4.3% is 

relatively high (though roughly the same as the Merseyside average).  
Vacancies in Sefton have been high over the past decade but were appreciably 

lower prior to 2004 (3.31% at the 2001 Census compared with 5.36% at the 
2011 Census).  The high rate coincided with a sizeable Housing Market 
Renewal (HMR) programme which was partly responsible for the increase as 

some dwellings were vacant for lengthy periods prior to demolition.6  The HMR 
programme is coming to an end and, coupled with improving economic 

conditions, it is reasonable to assume a slightly lower rate over the Plan 
period.  On the other hand, it would be unwise to assume too fast a decline 
because most vacant dwellings are in private ownership and the Council 

currently has no funds to help bring them back into use.  Thus whilst a 
reduction in vacancies to the Council’s 4% target might be feasible, it would 

be safer to adopt a more cautious approach.  On balance I consider that a 
slight reduction of 0.1% is realistic and achievable over the Plan period.7   

Market signals adjustment 

41. As advised by PPG, a range of market signals was investigated.  Dealing firstly 
with those related to ‘price’, land prices are not an issue in Sefton – although 

the evidence is dated, the price of residential land is less than a third of the 
national average and is lower than in all neighbouring authorities.  House 
prices are consistently above the Merseyside average and those of Liverpool, 

but lower than West Lancashire and appreciably below the national average.  
The rate of change over the last 15 years is broadly consistent with the 

Merseyside average and well below the national average.   

42. Consistent data on rents is only available since 2011 so long term trends are 

not known.  Rents in Sefton are above those of neighbouring areas and 

                                       
6 The Council believes that HMR vacancies contribute about 0.2% to the current 4.3% vacancy rate.    
7 The 0.3% reduction in vacancy rate modelled by NLP reduced the dwelling need from 604 dpa to 
572 dpa; it is reasonable to assume that a 0.1% reduction would reduce the need to around 590-595 

dpa.   

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 13 - 

Merseyside as a whole, but below the national average; they are unchanged 
since 2011, compared with a small drop across Merseyside but an increase 

nationally.  The affordability ratio in Sefton (a comparison of lower quartile 
house prices with lower quartile earnings) is noticeably worse than the 

Merseyside average and has risen significantly since 1999, in line with the 
national trend.  Nevertheless, the 69% increase in Sefton’s affordability ratio 

over this period is below the national rise of 87%, and in the past 8 years the 
ratio has improved more in Sefton than nationally. 

43. PPG advises that a worsening trend in any of the market signals will require 

upward adjustment to the housing numbers based solely on demographic 
projections.  In assessing the ‘price’ indicators, the proportional increases in 

Sefton are below the national average, and in those cases for which longer 
trends are available, the situation in Sefton has not worsened in recent years 
compared to the rest of Merseyside.  Whilst actual house prices are higher 

than Merseyside and, as a consequence, affordability is worse, this is primarily 
due to sizeable areas of Sefton having attractive dwelling stock which is in 

high demand.  Overall these market signals show a relatively stable and 
consistent pattern of change between Sefton and neighbouring areas, with all 
indicators but affordability being well below the national average.  

Nevertheless the worsening affordability ratio in Sefton, particularly when 
compared with the rest of Merseyside, does justify an upward adjustment to 

the demographic housing number. 

44. The second group of market signals identified in PPG relate to ‘quantity’.  
Overcrowding in Sefton is low compared with national and regional rates and 

has declined since 2001.  The number of concealed households grew slightly 
between 2001 and 2011, but the proportion is below the regional and national 

average and the rate of increase was noticeably slower.  In terms of 
homelessness and households in temporary accommodation, Sefton has a 
much lower rate of households in need than both Merseyside and England, and 

has seen significant improvements in the rates in recent years.     

45. The final market signal is the rate of development, which compares actual 

supply with planned supply.  The situation in Sefton is complicated.  From 
2003-2008, as part of its regeneration and HMR strategy, the Council applied 
a housing restraint policy whereby development of more than 20% above the 

Unitary Development Plan (UDP) target of 350 dpa (ie 420 dpa) was 
restricted.  This ceiling was reached over the period and, though no records 

were kept, a considerable amount of potential additional housing is thought to 
have been prevented by the restraint policy.  In late 2008 the Regional 
Strategy for the North West (RSNW) increased the housing target to 500 dpa 

(net) and applied it retrospectively from 2003 onwards.  Unsurprisingly, the 
historic restraint policy meant that the backdated target was not met and by 

2012 (the Plan base date) a substantial backlog of 962 dwellings had accrued 
against the RSNW.  This backlog is heavily influenced by 1,624 demolitions 

over the same period, mainly associated with the HMR initiative.   

46. These two indicators of ‘quantity’ do not show a consistent pattern.  New 
housing development was clearly constrained by policy during the mid-2000s, 

yet the indices of overcrowding (which would be expected to worsen with a 
restricted dwelling supply) are low and have mostly improved over the past 

decade.  NLP surmises that the low levels of overcrowding might be linked to 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 14 - 

the ageing population and lower levels of large families in Sefton.  It is also 
conceivable that the housing restraint policy had a greater impact on the level 

of in-migration (constraining it to a lower level than might otherwise have 
occurred) than on the structure of existing households.    

47. PPG advises that any market signals adjustment should be set at a reasonable 
level; the more significant the affordability constraints and other indicators of 

high demand, the larger the additional supply response should be.  Sefton has 
mostly low ‘price’ constraints compared with the national average, and 
although it is above the Merseyside average on many measures, Merseyside is 

an area of generally low demand.  Consequently, whilst an upward adjustment 
of the housing number is necessary to account for affordability and the 

restraint on delivery during the 2000s, the adjustment should be relatively 
modest.   

Demographic-led housing need - conclusion 

48. I have found that the HRRs used by DCLG in the 2012-based projections are 
suitable and do not justify an increase to the baseline forecast of 576 new 

households per annum.  I consider that a small (0.1%) reduction in the 
vacancy rate is justified because the recent HMR demolitions programme is 
now complete; this lowers the dwelling need from 604 dpa to around 590-595 

dpa.  I also consider that a relatively modest increase is required to 
compensate for past under-delivery and to reflect a worsening affordability 

ratio.  The OAN assessment is not an exact science and in my judgement a 
robust figure is approximately 640 dpa, which equates to 11,520 additional 
dwellings over the Plan period.   

49. The reason why about 11,500 new dwellings are needed to cater for a 
population increase of around 5,000 persons is found in Sefton’s unusual 

population structure.  The Plan’s end date of 2030 appears to coincide with a 
peak imbalance in Sefton’s population structure as the current ‘bulge’ in 
population in the late-40s to mid-60s age groups reaches old age and is 

boosted further by out-migration of similar age groups from Liverpool.  
Because household size reduces significantly for the over-65s and under-

occupation increases as single elderly people choose to remain as long as they 
can in their family homes, the dwelling requirement peaks.  This is illustrated 
by the slower population growth and significantly reduced dwelling 

requirement after 2030: NLP predict a need for 444 dpa (including vacancies) 
in the period 2030-2035, compared with 604 dpa over the Plan period.  

50. Towards the end of the examination DCLG released 2014-based household 
projections which forecast a slight decrease in household growth to 2030 
compared with the 2012-based projections (667 fewer new households in 

2030, representing a baseline annual growth of 539 households rather than 
576 previously).  There has been no detailed modelling of the 2014-based 

DCLG projections for Sefton, though NLP provided a note for the Council on 
the reasons for the reduction and its implications.8  The note estimates that, 

using the same criteria and assumptions as were adopted with the 2012-based 
DCLG projections, NLP’s OAN would fall from 690 dpa to 645 dpa.  Applying 

                                       
8 Implications of 2014-based Sub-National Household Projections, NLP for Council, August 2016.  

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 15 - 

the same process to the assessment carried out in paragraph 48 above, the 
robust OAN would fall from approximately 640 dpa to around 600 dpa.9 

51. PPG advises that whilst local housing needs assessments should be informed 
by the latest available information, this does not automatically mean that they 

become outdated every time new projections are issued.  In light of this 
advice, and having regard to the late stage reached in the examination, most 

participants agreed with my view that the modest reduction in projected 
household growth does not warrant further changes to the Plan.  

Employment-led housing projections 

52. The employment-led scenarios prepared by NLP produce wide-ranging results.  
Based on past trends, in which the average decline in Sefton of 304 jobs per 

annum over the last 17 years would continue at the same rate, the dwelling 
requirement is 413 dpa.  Using the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) baseline 
scenario, which forecasts a much slower decline in the resident labour force, 

the dwelling requirement rises to 581 dpa.  Under the job stabilisation 
scenario, where the number of jobs is maintained at its present level, a higher 

level of in-migration is required to offset the loss of economically active 
residents due to the ageing population; in this case the dwelling requirement 
projected by NLP rises to 712 dpa.  The LEP “policy on” forecast envisages 

growth of 900 (gross) jobs by 2030; in this instance the dwelling requirement 
increases to 777 dpa, based again on a high level of in-migration.  The final 

scenario is based on blending two econometric forecasts to give an overall 
dwelling requirement of 1,286 dpa.     

53. The scenario of continuing high job losses, which reflects the historic decline in 

Sefton’s population, is not a sustainable trend to project into the future in light 
of demographic projections which show population growth to 2030.  Arguably 

a more appropriate baseline is that derived from the LEP work, which looks at 
growth across the LCR rather than a single borough; for Sefton this produces a 
dwelling requirement which is similar to the unadjusted 2012-based DCLG 

household projections.  However, the LEP study was a few years ago and since 
then economic forecasts have generally become more bullish as the country 

emerges from recession, though events in 2016 have cast a shadow over the 
scale and pace of the recovery.   

54. The Council focused on the mid-2015 econometric forecasts,10 which vary 

widely as a result of significant sectoral differences.  Overall jobs growth to 
2030 ranges from 8,700 (Oxford Economics) through 11,200 (Experian) to 

13,400 (Cambridge Econometrics).  The latter includes 4,000 new jobs in 
public services which, in the current economic climate, is thought to be 
unlikely; this forecast is therefore regarded as anomalous.  Rather than having 

to decide on the most likely jobs outcome on a sector-by-sector basis, the 
other two forecasts are ‘blended’ to give an average jobs growth over the Plan 

period of 10,100.  This translates into the dwelling requirement of 1,286 dpa, 
a figure supported by many development-industry representatives.   

 

                                       
9 The baseline 539 dpa would be supplemented by an allowance of about 16 dpa for vacancies (giving 
555 dpa) and a 44 dpa uplift for market signals, giving a reduced OAN of around 600 dpa. 
10 As set out in Document EM.1 - Employment Land and Premises Update, BE Group, August 2015. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 16 - 

55. Concerns about the econometric forecasts were raised at the hearings.  Firstly, 
it was pointed out that the economic outlook has worsened appreciably since 

mid-2015, with the Chancellor warning in January 2016 of reductions in UK 
growth as a result of global factors such as the slowdown in China and 

heightened tensions in the Middle East.  Some representors argue that the 
decision to leave the European Union (EU) will further depress the economy 

and (with a focus on controlling immigration) reduce population growth.  
However, the impacts on future growth in Sefton of the changed global 
outlook and the EU decision are uncertain.   

56. A more pertinent factor is that econometric forecasts can be volatile, 
representing a snapshot at the time they are made.  For example, the 

Cambridge Econometrics 2012 forecast for 2011-2031 predicted jobs growth 
of 3,400, compared with its 2015 forecast for 2012-2030 of 13,400 new 
jobs.11  Thus it is questionable whether reliance solely on the 2015 projections 

is sound, particularly when they are much higher than previous projections.  
Because the 2015 projections are based on a period which includes rapid 

recovery from the recession, which is unlikely to be typical of the longer term, 
it is conceivable that they overstate the potential for growth. 

57. Secondly, all the econometric forecasts indicate that most of the jobs growth 

is expected by 2015 (ie. to have occurred already), after which there is a 
gradual increase over the rest of the Plan period.  It seems that there was a 

sharp drop in employment between 2010 and 201212 and an equally sharp rise 
during 2014-2015 which, in part, is believed to represent replacement for jobs 
lost during the recession.  This recovery has taken place during a period of low 

dwelling completions and there was no evidence at the examination of a 
current shortage of resident labour.  Instead, it seems more likely that the 

recent jobs growth has been facilitated mainly by the fall in unemployment 
rate (from 9.1% in 2013 to 5.3% in 2015), though changes in the pattern of 
commuting might also have played a part.       

58. The econometric forecasts assume an unemployment rate from 2020 of 5.8%, 
the long term pre-recession average for Sefton.  During the examination NLP 

ran sensitivity tests for the Council to establish the effect of changes to key 
variables which determine the size of the resident workforce.13  Although 
reducing the unemployment rate to as low as 4.0% by 2030 (as suggested by 

the BE Group) may appear optimistic, in practice this represents an average 
rate of 5.33% from 2015-203014 which is broadly equivalent to projecting 

forward the present unemployment rate.  Given the impact of current 
Government policy on welfare restrictions, I agree with NLP and the Council 
that this relatively modest reduction in the unemployment rate seems realistic.  

Increasing the proportion of the resident population in work reduces the 
dwelling need under the econometric forecasts from 1,286 to 1,179 dpa, while 

the job stabilisation scenario would require 615 dpa (reduced from 712 dpa).    

59. Turning to the sensitivity testing of employment and economic activity rates, I 

accept that the substantial increase suggested by BE Group in the rates for 
ages 65-74 is unlikely.  On the other hand, NLP’s rates for females appear 

                                       
11 Figures taken from Documents EM.1 and EM.2.  
12 Business Register and Employment Survey data indicates a decrease of some 4,000 jobs. 
13 Document HO.21 – NLP Technical Annex, Labour Supply Sensitivity Tests. 
14 My calculation from the figures in Table 2.3 of HO.21. 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 17 - 

slightly too low when compared with the Office of Budget Responsibility’s 
(OBR) 2014 national forecasts.15  In my view a more robust approach would 

be to adjust the NLP economic activity rates for ages 65-74 to reflect the 
changes to national employment rates set out in the OBR report.  Whilst NLP’s 

male economic activity rates would be largely unchanged, adopting the OBR’s 
changes would lead to an appreciable rise in female economic activity rates for 

ages 65-74.      

60. The combined effect of reducing the unemployment rate and increasing 
economic activity rates in line with OBR forecasts for ages 65-74 has not been 

modelled.  Nevertheless, it is highly likely that job stabilisation would be 
achieved by the demographic-led OAN of 640 dpa; it is possible that this level 

of new housing would also go a considerable way towards stabilising the 
resident labour force.16  On the other hand, these adjustments would fall far 
short of the number of dwellings required (likely to be well over 1,000 dpa) to 

meet the blended jobs growth derived from the econometric forecasts.      

61. It is pertinent to reflect on the reason for the much higher dwelling need 

resulting from the econometric forecasts.  As demonstrated previously, by 
2030 the age-structure of Sefton’s population will be heavily skewed towards 
the elderly, with a consequent reduction in the size of the labour force.  To 

provide the much larger working-age resident population needed to fill the 
jobs growth predicted by the econometric forecasts, a substantially higher 

level of in-migration is required when compared with the demographic-led 
projections.  Thus population growth above the demographic-led level is not 
required to meet the needs of local residents, but to provide in-migrating 

workers to facilitate a substantial level of business growth.   

62. Compared to most LCR authorities, Sefton has a relatively small proportion of 

B-class jobs and many residents commute to the large employment hubs 
outside the borough, notably Liverpool city.  This is not an inherently 
unsustainable pattern of economic activity – as was pointed out, the journey 

to work for many persons in southern Sefton who work in Liverpool is shorter 
than for those who travel from southern Sefton to Southport (or vice versa).  

The 10,100 new jobs forecast by the econometric projections would represent 
a huge increase, especially when compared with the job losses of the past 
(historic econometric forecasts show that Sefton lost 4,300 jobs between 

1992-2012, a period which included both economic growth and recession).  It 
is conceivable that the growth in logistics arising from Liverpool2 could trigger 

a major boost to employment, but this is not included in the forecasts.  In 
these circumstances it is questionable whether the projected employment 
growth is realistic and achievable, and casts further doubt on the robustness 

of the econometric forecasts.               

63. Taking all these factors into account, I do not find the employment-based 

arguments for increasing the demographic-led OAN to be compelling.  I agree 
that job stabilisation is a desirable objective, but I do not accept that it should 

be at the bottom of the range of provision – indeed, it would represent a 
significant improvement for the local economy compared with recent trends.  
As indicated above, it is highly likely that the demographic-led OAN of 640 dpa 

                                       
15 Table 4.1 of HO.21. 
16 Based on my consideration of Tables 3.1 and 3.2 of HO.21.        

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 18 - 

would achieve this objective once adjustments for a lower unemployment rate 
and OBR-consistent economic activity rates are factored in.      

64. I also consider that the high growth option of the econometric forecasts goes 
some way beyond the trend-based projections and is therefore an aspiration 

which would involve a policy intervention by the Council.  I am mindful of the 
arguments about the (often fine) distinction between trend-based OAN and the 

point at which policy considerations kick in, as considered in a recent High 
Court judgement.17  But even if I am wrong in my assessment of the OAN, 
and/or it was determined that I should have increased the OAN in response to 

the econometric projections, there are two compelling reasons why a higher 
OAN should not be met in full in this Plan. 

65. At the hearings the Council accepted that much of the in-migration necessary 
to support a high growth econometric scenario would come from neighbouring 
authorities and would impact upon their projected demographic change.  This 

would require collaborative working under the duty to co-operate provisions of 
the NPPF; no such discussions have taken place.  It would therefore be a 

matter for future consideration, presumably informed by the SHELMA sub-
regional study, rather than a matter for this Plan.       

66. The second reason is the unknown impact of higher growth on the Green Belt 

and other constraints to development such as flood risk, biodiversity and 
infrastructure capacity.  As demonstrated later, almost half the demographic-

led OAN of 640 dpa will require development on Green Belt land and it is likely 
that the loss of Green Belt would more than double if the OAN was to rise to 
around 1,180 dpa.  There was no detailed evidence which explored the full 

consequences of a high growth option, so it is not possible to determine 
whether Sefton has the capacity to sustainably deliver a much larger housing 

need than that which was extensively tested at the examination.         

Affordable housing need 

67. PPG advises that an increase in a local plan’s housing figures should be 

considered where it could help deliver the required number of affordable 
homes.  The need for affordable housing is calculated in the Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment (SHMA)18 to be 7,815 dwellings over the plan period, or 
434 dpa.  Some 3,745 affordable homes are expected to be delivered by 2030 
(averaging 208 dpa, including commitments and completions since 2012), 

about half of which would come from the policy HC1 requirement for large 
housing schemes to deliver 30% affordable housing in most locations.  

Although this would be a significant increase above the 127 dpa average 
affordable housing completions of the past 10 years, less than half of Sefton’s 
total affordable housing need would be met.  To address the full affordable 

housing need, the Council estimates that provision would have to rise to 1,447 
dpa (26,000 over the Plan period) unless substantial extra funding from other 

sources could be secured, which is unlikely. 

68. The SHMA indicates that around 10,600 Local Housing Allowance claimants are 

accommodated in the private rented sector in Sefton.  It also points out that 

                                       
17 Document MI.28 - Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk v Secretary of State for 

Communities and Local Government, ELM Park Holdings Ltd [2015] EWHC 2464 (Admin). 
18 Document HO.5 – 2014 Strategic Housing Market Assessment, November 2014, JG Consulting. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 19 - 

many households defined as in housing need may choose to spend more than 
the threshold 30% of their income on housing costs, or may not actively seek 

an affordable home.  Because of the important role played by the private 
rented sector in meeting housing need, the SHMA finds no evidence of a 

significant shortfall in overall housing provision to meet local requirements 
over and above that shown by NLP’s demographic modelling.  It therefore 

states that no additional uplift is required to cater for the affordable housing 
need.  At the hearings the Council confirmed that it endorses the conclusions 
of the SHMA.  Some representors’ statements argue that the total housing 

requirement should be increased to provide more affordable dwellings, though 
this argument was not pursued at the hearings.   

69. Notwithstanding the Council’s view of the role of the private rented sector in 
Sefton, private rented accommodation is unlikely to fully meet the needs of 
those assessed by the DCLG affordable housing methodology as unable to 

compete in the housing market.  So, despite the evidence that many of these 
people will continue to occupy accommodation in this sector over the Plan 

period, it is necessary to consider the implications of increasing the housing 
provision to provide more affordable housing.   

70. Similar arguments apply as to those previously elaborated when dealing with 

economic-led housing need.  The consequences for neighbouring authorities 
and the unknown impact on various constraints mean that it is not appropriate 

to more than double the demographically-led OAN in order to fully meet the 
affordable housing need.  For the same reasons I consider that it is not 
essential to provide more affordable homes than would be delivered under the 

demographic-led OAN.  Any significant increase in the total number of 
dwellings for the specific reason of securing more affordable homes would be a 

policy choice for the Council and, given the implications for neighbouring 
authorities, would require discussions under the duty to co-operate.   

Objectively assessed housing need – overall conclusion 

71. The Submission Plan is based on an objectively assessed need for housing in 
the borough of 615 dpa over the plan period.  For the reasons given above I 

conclude that, allowing for a slight reduction in the vacancy rate assumption 
and a modest increase to reflect market signals, a demographic-led OAN figure 
for the plan period is 640 dpa.  I have found that the arguments for increasing 

the OAN to meet the employment-led housing projections or to provide more 
affordable homes are not compelling.  Thus, having regard to the evidence 

base and the requirements of national policy, an objectively assessed need of 
640 dpa is robust.   

Issue 2b:  Whether the housing land supply and its delivery is sufficiently 

robust to ensure the timely provision of the housing requirement.  

Housing land availability – sites within the urban area  

72. Figure 4.3 of the Submission Plan proposes the development of 11,793 
additional homes over the Plan period and identifies their distribution across 

the main community areas.  These dwellings would come from five sources – 
completions prior to 2014, sites with planning permission, other sites identified 
in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), unanticipated 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 20 - 

windfall sites and site allocations.  This figure was updated to 11,435 houses 
during the examination (MM3) following publication of the 2015 SHLAA and 

various adjustments to the dwelling yield from site allocations.      

73. Many representors contend that the Council has failed to fully assess the 

potential of brownfield sites within the urban area and, as a result, has 
allocated too many greenfield sites in the Green Belt.  However, the analysis 

of the schedule of National Land Use Database sites carried out by the Council 
during the examination demonstrates that the urban supply has been robustly 
assessed.19  There is no evidence that the methods used to identify urban sites 

in the SHLAA have not been thorough, nor that specific potential sites have 
been missed or wrongly excluded.  On the other hand, there is no cogent basis 

for the argument that the past focus on urban land has led to a shortfall in its 
future supply.  Given the historic nature of many of Sefton’s settlements it is 
likely that the gradual process of urban renewal and regeneration will continue 

at the pace identified in the SHLAA and the Plan.  

74. The approach to sites with planning permission (individual discussion with 

larger site owners and a 10% discount for smaller sites) is thorough and 
slightly more cautious than the advice in NPPF, which states (footnote 11) that 
such sites should be considered deliverable unless there is clear evidence that 

they will not be implemented.  The identification of sites without planning 
permission appears rigorous, in that the gross yield from this source is a 

relatively small proportion of the urban supply, and the application of a 20% 
discount for non-delivery is appropriate.  And the reduction in the past high 
level of demolitions is soundly based on evidence that funding for major 

renewal programmes is unlikely for the foreseeable future.       

75. In recent years a substantial proportion of the housing supply has come from 

windfalls, comprising an average of 276 dwellings annually.  In assessing the 
future supply from this source the Council has taken a very cautious approach, 
excluding large sites and dwellings created under permitted development 

rights from the potential supply and applying various discounts and filters to 
the past delivery from smaller sites.  Windfalls are rightly excluded from the 

first two years’ supply (as these sites already have planning permission), and 
in years 6-15 windfalls are restricted to Southport and Crosby because of 
limited historic windfalls in the other settlements.  The resulting windfall yield 

of about 118 dpa in years 3-5 and 72 dpa in years 6-15 clearly meets the 
‘compelling evidence’ test of NPPF paragraph 48.  Indeed, because additional 

dwellings will almost certainly be developed from categories excluded from the 
windfall calculation, these figures are likely to be a significant underestimate. 

76. Overall about 6,200 dwellings are expected to be built within the current urban 

area, representing 54% of the total dwelling requirement.  The Council 
explored the possibility that at least some of the remaining requirement could 

be met outside Sefton under the NPPF duty to co-operate provisions, but all 
neighbouring authorities indicated that they are unable to assist because of 

similar pressures in meeting their own identified needs.  This confirms the 
conclusion of the earlier LCR study which found that no authority was likely to 
be able to meet the overspill housing needs of its neighbours.  And because of 

the extra pressures it would place on their own housing needs, neighbouring 

                                       
19 Documents EX.8 (Schedule of Brownfield Sites) and EX.26 (Council’s Analysis of Brownfield Sites). 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 21 - 

Councils also opposed Sefton’s ‘urban containment’ low growth option.  
Consequently, if the dwelling requirement is to be met, land for the residual 

housing need has to be found within Sefton outside the existing settlements.   

Housing allocations outside the urban area    

77. The case for Sefton meeting in full its demographic-led OAN is strong.  It is a 
requirement of the NPPF (subject to consistency with other policies), and not 

to do so would place extra pressure on neighbouring Councils who are 
struggling to meet their own needs.  It is true that restricting development to 
the urban supply would have the least environmental impact, but the failure to 

provide sufficient homes to meet the OAN would perpetuate the decline of 
recent years and deny Sefton the economic and social benefits that come from 

a growing population.  In short, much of the Plan’s vision for Sefton in 2030 
and many of its objectives would not be achieved by urban containment alone.    

78. As indicated above, the only realistic option is development outside the 

existing settlements, virtually all of which is Green Belt.  When the Merseyside 
Green Belt was designated in 1983 it was tightly drawn around existing urban 

areas and was expected to have a life-span of about 15 years, so it should be 
no great surprise that over 30 years later the first major review in Sefton is 
necessary.  Nevertheless, most of the representations submitted to the Plan 

oppose the loss of Green Belt land, many arguing that it is contrary to national 
policy.   

79. In accordance with paragraph 14 of the NPPF, because land in the Green Belt 
is subject to specific policies of restriction, it is not sufficient to apply the usual 
‘planning balance’ between meeting objectively assessed needs (as sought by 

paragraph 47) and the adverse impacts of doing so.  Paragraph 79 states that 
the Government attaches great importance to Green Belts as a means of 

preventing urban sprawl.  Paragraphs 83-85 of the NPPF indicate that Green 
Belt boundaries should only be altered in exceptional circumstances through a 
review of the Local Plan.  Authorities are required to take account of the need 

to promote sustainable patterns of development by considering the 
consequences of channelling development towards existing urban areas, 

towards inset towns and villages, or towards locations beyond the Green Belt.  
Boundaries should be defined to ensure consistency with the Local Plan 
strategy for meeting identified requirements for sustainable development, and 

should not include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open. 

80. These requirements were addressed in the Council’s Green Belt study.  The 

bulk of the unmet dwelling requirement has been directed to the edges of the 
large urban areas and the inset towns of Maghull and Formby.  Opportunities 
for growth in the few villages of the borough were investigated, but only 

Hightown was found suitable.  Development beyond the Green Belt is not an 
option for Sefton, for the outer boundary is far outside the borough and homes 

in such distant locations would not meet Sefton’s needs.  Thus in broad terms 
the most sustainable pattern of growth has been achieved.  In identifying 

specific development parcels, the study uses a systematic methodology that 
focuses first on the five purposes of the Green Belt and then considers other 
constraints to development.  Although there are arguments about whether a 

particular parcel should or should not be included, which are considered later 
under the individual site analyses, this approach is fundamentally sound.   

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 22 - 

81. Some objectors argue that Ministerial statements, PPG revisions and an 
associated press release in October 2014 signal greater protection for the 

Green Belt than is given in the NPPF.  The revised PPG stresses the importance 
that Government attaches to protecting the Green Belt.  It states that the 

NPPF should be read as a whole: need alone is not the only factor to be 
considered when drawing up a Local Plan.  It indicates that, when considering 

how to meet the identified need, constraints such as Green Belt may restrain 
the ability of an authority to meet its housing need.  

82. Whilst the revised PPG stresses the great importance of protecting the Green 

Belt, by using the word “may” it does not direct planning authorities to a 
particular outcome.20  As indicated above, sustainability is at the forefront of 

the Council’s approach and it has determined that Green Belt releases are a 
necessary component of the sustainable development of its area.  Alternative 
strategies have been tested and found to be less sustainable.  There is no 

compelling evidence that this strategy is unsound in principle.  Nevertheless, it 
is necessary to carry out an analysis of the individual Green Belt allocations to 

determine whether the exceptional circumstances test of the NPPF is satisfied 
on a site-specific basis.  This is addressed under issue 5, where I conclude that 
there are no constraints which would justify the Plan not seeking to meet in 

full the robust OAN figure.  Because the robust OAN (11,520 dwellings or 640 
dpa) is above the 11,070 dwellings (615 dpa) proposed in the Submission 

Plan, it is necessary to modify the housing requirement figure for the Plan to 
be sound.  MM6 adjusts policy MN1 while MM1 and MM7 revise the text. 

83. As well as strong resistance to housing development on any Green Belt land 

and countryside, there are widespread concerns about the extra traffic that 
would be generated, the increased risk of flooding, the impact on existing 

services and infrastructure, the loss of good agricultural land and the loss of 
wildlife and biodiversity.  All these points are valid and have been addressed 
by the Council; in many cases they have influenced both the choice of sites 

and the scale of development at a particular location.  Consideration of their 
relevance to individual allocations occurs later under issue 5.  

Phasing and five year housing land supply 

84. The NPPF states that local planning authorities should have an identified five 
year supply of housing land, plus a buffer to ensure choice and competition, 

throughout the plan period.  In Sefton the combined effect of limited capacity 
within the urban area and the Green Belt constraint mean that, until the Plan 

is adopted, the land supply is only about half that required.  In 2018-19 the 
dwelling yield is expected to increase dramatically as the Green Belt 
allocations come on stream.  Whether the peak of delivery around the turn of 

the decade will be as pronounced as predicted in the housing trajectory is 
perhaps questionable, for some housing developers may decide for technical 

or commercial reasons to regulate the supply of new dwellings.  However, 
there is no reason to doubt that delivery from 2018-19 onwards will be 

substantially higher than in the first six years of the plan period.  

        

                                       
20 “….take account of any constraints such as Green Belt, which indicate that development should be 

restricted and which may restrain the ability of an authority to meet its need.” (PPG: Housing and 

economic land availability assessment, paragraph 045 - my emphasis). 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 23 - 

85. There was much debate about method used to calculate the five year supply.  
The Council accepts that it has persistently under-delivered against its target 

over recent years, so the higher 20% buffer is appropriate.  The authority then 
devises a method of calculation which reflects the housing trajectory, thereby 

ensuring that it can meet its five year supply target.  This is achieved in two 
ways.  Firstly it proposes a staged or stepped delivery pattern (500 dpa in the 

first five years and 660 dpa thereafter, based on the Submission Plan total 
requirement of 11,070 dwellings).  Secondly it apportions the shortfall that 
has accrued since 2012 over the entire plan period (the ‘Liverpool’ method) 

rather than over the first five years from 2015 (the ‘Sedgefield’ method).      

86. PPG advises that, where possible, any past under-supply should be dealt with 

in the first five years; if this cannot be met, Councils should work with 
neighbouring authorities under the duty to co-operate.  It has already been 
established that neighbouring Councils are unable to assist in Sefton’s housing 

delivery, so the latter is not a realistic option.  And though making up the 
shortfall as early as possible is clearly desirable, the consequences of building 

this into the first five years’ supply have to be considered.  The housing 
trajectory is based on information from the main house-builders and appears 
robust, so there is no real prospect of allocated sites coming forward sooner.   

87. There are two main ways in which more houses might be delivered earlier.  
Either a greater number of smaller sites could be allocated, as these generally 

have shorter lead-in times, or the overall quantity of land for housing could be 
supplemented by some additional small sites.  Given the robustness of the 
urban supply, any changes would have to be directed towards Green Belt 

releases.  For the reasons explained later, I believe that the Council has 
chosen the best Green Belt sites, so substituting one or more large allocations 

with a greater number of smaller sites would be a sub-optimal solution that is 
likely to disturb the overall housing distribution and cause additional harm to 
the Green Belt.  And supplementing the existing allocations with additional 

small sites would manifestly increase the loss of Green Belt land.  Given the 
importance placed by Government on protecting the Green Belt, I do not 

consider that making up the shortfall more quickly justifies the additional harm 
to the Green Belt that would result from allocating different or additional sites.  
Furthermore, more than half the current shortfall is due to the large number of 

demolitions that have accompanied the HMR programme; as the Council 
submits, it would be harsh to penalise it for delivering urban regeneration.       

88. In circumstances where the earlier delivery of housing would not be the most 
sustainable option, a housing trajectory which requires a stepped delivery 
pattern and which allows the shortfall to be made up over the Plan period is 

sound.  Because the total dwelling requirement has increased to 11,520 
dwellings, delivery over the period 2017-2030 rises from 660 dpa to 694 dpa; 

MM6 and MM7 make the necessary adjustments to policy MN1 and the text.     

89. In its latest five year supply statement21 the Council calculates the five year 

requirement from 2015 to be 3,685 dwellings.  Two adjustments are 
necessary, the first to take account of the increased dwelling requirement (up 
from 615 dpa to 640 dpa), the second to reflect current best practice by 

applying the 20% buffer to the sum of the five year requirement plus the 

                                       
21 Document HO.25 – 5 Year Supply Statement, 2015 Update, December 2015.  

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 24 - 

under-supply.  By my calculation the five year requirement from 2015 is 3,828 
dwellings.22  This compares with a total delivery of 3,944 over the same 

period, which equates to 5.2 years supply.23  Although the five year supply 
position is marginal from 2015, the Council has demonstrated a substantially 

improving picture from 2016 as successive years’ contributions from Green 
Belt sites are included.24  As the Plan will not be adopted until 2017, the 

requirement of NPPF paragraph 47 is satisfied.    

90. Some representors argue that the housing delivery should be phased so that 
brownfield sites are prioritised for delivery before the Green Belt allocations 

are released.  This is a laudable aim and, in practice, it has been the situation 
for the early years of the Plan period.  However, it is clear from the analysis 

above that unless the Green Belt sites are delivered as soon as possible after 
Plan adoption, the Council will not be able to provide the five year supply 
required by national policy.    

91. The total identified supply of 11,435 dwellings is a little below the modified 
requirement of 11,520 dwellings.  The shortfall is marginal, however, and in 

my view is likely to be made up by a greater number of windfalls than the 
SHLAA has calculated.  There may also be a small increase in capacity as a 
result of the relatively low density assumption used on larger sites where 

there is no known developer interest, for the general trend has been for 
dwelling numbers to rise slightly as sites are assessed in greater detail by 

house-builders.  But even if this does not occur, the extra yield from windfalls 
should ensure that the target will be met.   Furthermore, although the Plan no 
longer provides a contingency allowance of forecast provision above the 

requirement (as shown by MM13), it is highly pertinent that if the most 
recent, 2014-based household projections were to be used, there would be a 

sizeable over-provision (or contingency allowance) above the lower 
requirement of approximately 10,800 dwellings over the Plan period.  

92. There are two further reasons why housing delivery should not exceed the 

dwelling requirement.  The first is that flexibility is inherent in the commitment 
to an immediate review.  If it is decided that Sefton should provide more than 

11,520 dwellings when assessed against the sub-regional requirement, then 
the Council will review the Plan.  The SHELMA study is being undertaken to a 
consistent methodology across the sub-region and is potentially a more robust 

indicator of need than individual authorities’ assessments carried out at 
different times using different techniques.  The SHELMA study should also 

facilitate a uniform assessment of the constraints and capacities that exist 
among the LCR authorities.    

93. The second reason is that additional Green Belt allocations would be 

necessary.  Although paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that, as well as meeting 
                                       
22 Subtracting years 1-5 @ 500 dpa (ie 2,500) from the total requirement of 11,520 leaves 9,020 to 

be delivered over 13 years, or 693.8 dpa.  The five year requirement from 2015 is 2 years @ 500 
(1,000) + 3 years @ 693.8 (2,081) = 3,081.  The under-supply from 2012 is unchanged at 109 in the 
first five years; this gives a total (3,081 + 109) = 3,190.  Applying the 20% buffer of 638 gives a five 

year requirement total (3,190 + 638) = 3,828.     
23 The 3,944 dwelling delivery is taken from HO.21 and may be an under-estimate as it does not 

include the site at Shorrock’s Hill, Formby which is likely to provide some dwellings in the first five 
years.   
24 See Document HO.26 (Rolling 5 Year Supply Position Statement), which predicts 6+ years supply 

from 2016 through to 2020. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 25 - 

objectively assessed needs, local plans should provide flexibility to adapt to 
rapid change, this is qualified by “unless…… specific policies (such as Green 

Belt) indicate development should be restricted”.  Given the Government’s 
strong commitment to Green Belt protection, it seems to me that the 

‘exceptional circumstances’ test becomes harder to pass once the Plan has 
allocated sufficient land to meet the OAN.  Accordingly there is considerable 

merit in not allocating more housing land in this Plan than is essential.    

Safeguarded land 

94. To facilitate Green Belt boundaries which endure beyond the Plan period the 

NPPF indicates that, were necessary, areas of safeguarded land should be 
identified between the urban area and the Green Belt to meet longer term 

needs.  The Submission Plan indicates that about 500 dwellings on the largest 
housing sites will remain to be built after 2030.  The latest SHLAA increases 
this to 750 dwellings, as detailed in MM23.  This relatively small number is 

unlikely to be sufficient for longer term needs.  The Council therefore proposes 
two areas of safeguarded land which would be suitable for a further 1,000 

dwellings beyond the Plan period.  Policy MN8 rightly states that development 
of the safeguarded land would only be permitted following its allocation in a 
replacement local plan.  The notion that the policy should be modified to 

enable safeguarded land to come forward within the Plan period if there is 
persistent under-delivery of housing does not accord with the NPPF.    

95. Whether the identification of land for about 1,750 dwellings post 2030 is 
sufficient to meet longer term needs is uncertain.  At the rates of delivery 
anticipated in this Plan, 1,750 dwellings would only last about 3-5 years even 

allowing for a continued large contribution from urban windfalls.  On the other 
hand, the demographic projections indicate a significantly reduced dwelling 

requirement beyond 2030, so it is reasonable to assume that the post 2030 
supply will last longer.  On this basis, and subject to the adjustment to site 
areas in MM22, the scale of safeguarded land identified in policy MN8 is 

sound.  I address the site-specific considerations under issue 5. 

Housing land supply and delivery - conclusion  

96. I have found that the urban housing land supply would provide just over half 
the number of dwellings needed over the Plan period, with the remainder 
coming from Green Belt sites.  In light of my conclusion in issue 5 that there 

are no constraints which would preclude the full OAN being met, the housing 
land supply proposed in the modified Plan is robust.  The stepped delivery 

pattern proposed in the Plan provides the required five year land supply and 
should ensure the timely provision of the housing requirement.  It is important 
that delivery of the proposed 11,520 dwellings (640 dpa) is seen in context.  

With historic provision averaging 383 dpa (net) over the past 10 years and 
416 dpa over 25 years, this scale of housing development would manifestly 

‘boost significantly the supply of housing’, as sought by the NPPF.          

 

 

       

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 26 - 

Issue 2c:  Whether the Plan makes sound provision for a range of housing 
in terms of mix, affordability and type.  

Affordable housing 

97. Representatives from the house-building industry have concerns about the 

viability of providing the proportions of affordable housing set out in policy 
HC1 (15% in Bootle and Netherton and 30% elsewhere on schemes of 15 

dwellings or more).  These proportions are based on an economic viability 
study (EVS) prepared on behalf of the Council,25 the findings of which were 
broadly accepted by all parties and appear sound.  Whilst it is true that certain 

greenfield housing sites are close to the margin of viability, which PPG 
cautions against, further examination reveals that the EVS has taken a 

relatively cautious approach.  The generally accepted 20% profit figure 
(applied to gross development value) is based on all dwellings whereas many 
evaluations build in a lower profit margin for affordable homes, and the 

standard 5% contingency allowance applies to all construction costs rather 
than just building costs.  Moreover, the Government’s decision not to proceed 

at present with the proposed increase in on-site energy efficiency standards 
adds further to the robustness of the EVS.   

98. The EVS indicates that viability is most challenging on brownfield sites, 

particularly in lower value areas such as Bootle where generic schemes are 
shown not to be viable if delivering 15% affordable housing.  However, the 

one specific site in Bootle that was tested appears to be close to the margin of 
viability, and the policy rightly allows for a lower proportion if viability cannot 
be achieved.  Given the large need for affordable homes across the borough, it 

is reasonable for the proportion to be set close to the margin in the least 
profitable area if the delivery of affordable housing is to be maximised.  In all 

other areas I believe that a buffer to allow for changing markets, as sought by 
PPG, exists.      

99. The use of bedspaces as the measure of affordable housing is, as the Council 

acknowledges, uncommon and can yield a slightly higher number of affordable 
homes than the same percentage based on dwellings.  I consider, however, 

that this is a proportionate and flexible measure that can potentially meet the 
need for different sizes of affordable homes in a more fitting manner.  There is 
nothing in the NPPF or PPG which states that dwellings must be the unit of 

measurement, and concerns about viability are unproven because the EVS 
assessment is based upon bedspaces.  Although a calculation using bedspaces 

is more complex for the developer than one based on dwellings, there is no 
evidence of it having caused problems since it was first introduced by the 
Council about ten years ago. 

100. Over the Plan period circumstances (including the proportional split between 
social rented/affordable rented and intermediate housing) may change.  The 

NPPF seeks flexibility in affordable housing policies; this is addressed in a 
number of ways in MM36.  The first relates to the definition and provision of 

affordable housing as expressed in national policy and reflects in particular the 
impending introduction of the Government’s starter homes initiative.  The 
second allows for changes in the local requirements for affordable housing 

                                       
25 Document MI.2 - Viability Assessment of the Local Plan, Keppie Massie, December 2014. 

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 27 - 

following a future SHMA update.  Thirdly, to be consistent with the NPPF, the 
circumstances in which off-site provision of affordable housing may be 

acceptable are set out.  These modifications to policy HC1 are necessary to 
ensure that the provision of affordable housing is sound.   

101. Over the period of the examination, the Government’s intention to limit the 
provision of affordable housing from small scale developments and residential 

conversions has been considered by the Courts.  Although policy HC1 is not 
affected by the main limitation, which exempts schemes of 10 dwellings or 
fewer, it fails to include any allowance for the floorspace of vacant buildings.  

In November 2015 the Council acknowledged that if the vacant building credit 
was endorsed by the Courts, policy HC1 would have to be modified.  In May 

2016 the Court of Appeal upheld the Government’s appeal and the vacant 
building credit was reinstated in PPG.26  To reflect the current position, the 
Council proposes to add a new section to policy HC1 (part of MM36) and a 

new explanatory paragraph (MM37).  I appreciate the criticism that this has 
the potential to undermine affordable housing delivery, but the modifications 

correctly interpret national guidance and are sound.   

Housing size, type and mix 

102. Policy HC2 of the Submission Plan requires at least 25% of market dwellings 

to have 1 and 2 bedrooms and at least 40% to have 3 bedrooms; it excludes 
developments which typically provide smaller properties such as flats and 

extra care/sheltered housing.  In response to concerns from the house-
building industry that this is overly prescriptive, the Council considered 
relaxing the policy to require 50% of dwellings to have 3 bedrooms or fewer.  

The original policy is based on the SHMA, which recommends seeking at least 
30% 2-bed and 50% 3-bed market properties to meet the needs of an ageing 

population and declining average household size.  There is no specific evidence 
to support the suggested relaxation. 

103. I think the Council is right to be concerned at the possibility that some Green 

Belt sites might be developed solely with large houses, thereby failing to meet 
the growing need for smaller homes identified in the SHMA.  At the hearings 

none of the industry representatives foresaw a difficulty in meeting the original 
policy target, which is not unduly restrictive and allows for exceptions to be 
made should there be site specific constraints or viability problems.  Reflecting 

further, the Council decided to reinstate its original policy.  This is a justified 
approach, derived from (though less restrictive than) the SHMA, and is sound.         

104. Policy HC2 also requires at least 20% of dwellings on large sites to meet the 
Lifetime Homes Standard.  This has been superseded by Part M4(2) ‘accessible 
and adaptable dwellings’ under the Building Regulations.  The replacement 

provision is an Optional Technical Standard which can be applied by planning 
authorities through a local plan policy, subject to a need being demonstrated.  

Sefton already has a substantially higher proportion of elderly residents than 
the national or regional average and a higher proportion of households 

containing someone with a long term health problem or disability.  Moreover, 
the numbers in these categories are projected to grow significantly over the 
Plan period.  As to viability, the EVS includes provision for 20% of dwellings to 

                                       
26 Details set out in Document EX.119 – Inspector’s Note, Policy HC1 and Vacant Building Credit.   

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 28 - 

be built to the Lifetime Homes Standard and a supplementary note27 indicates 
that the cost of meeting Part M4(2) is similar to meeting the Standard.  I am 

satisfied that, based on relevant factors set out in PPG, there is sufficient need 
to justify the inclusion of the accessible and adaptable dwellings standard in 

policy HC2.  MM38 incorporates the necessary modification to policy HC2 and 
MM39 amends the text.   

105. PPG highlights the critical need to provide housing for older people by means 
of general housing that is suitable for the elderly and specialist 
accommodation for those unable to live independently.  A study commissioned 

by the Council28 indicates that the majority of older people will either not move 
or will choose to move to smaller, more manageable dwellings where they can 

stay as long as possible, with support when necessary.  The policy HC2 
requirements for market dwellings (specific proportions of smaller properties 
and 20% built to the ‘accessible and adaptable’ optional standard) are an 

appropriate response to the need for general housing that is more suitable for 
older people.  As to specialist accommodation, the Council is to prepare 

detailed guidance to aid the delivery of affordable and special needs housing, 
and crucially, policy HC1 allows up to 50% of the affordable housing 
requirement to be substituted by special needs housing.  In addition, two of 

the housing allocations are required to make specific provision for older 
persons housing.  This package of measures represents a suitably positive and 

proactive approach to meeting the housing needs of older people.  

106. Following enactment of the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act in March 
2015, the Council commissioned a study to assess the potential demand for 

custom and self-build homes in Sefton.29  The study found that there was very 
little knowledge and experience of custom and self-build in Sefton and no clear 

picture of the level of demand.  The study recommended the creation and 
promotion of a register for those with an interest in custom and self-build 
homes and the identification of a small number of pilot schemes for delivery of 

these opportunities.  Given the very early stage this process has reached and 
the uncertainty about the level of interest, the insertion into the Plan of a 

paragraph which describes the current position (MM40), coupled with a new 
section in policy HC2 which implements the recommendations of the study in 
terms of a register and pilot schemes (part of MM38), is a suitable response 

and necessary for the Plan to be sound. 

107. The need for gypsy and traveller accommodation is identified in a recent sub-

regional needs assessment,30 which appears robust, and policy HC5 proposes 
to meet in full the small unmet need.  The extensions to the established 
Council-run site at Formby would have minimal impact on the Green Belt or 

other constraints.  The two small new sites are not well contained but, with 
suitable boundary treatment, the harm to the Green Belt and landscape would 

be modest and the loss of high quality agricultural land would be limited.  
Having regard to the identified need, the sustainability objectives of the Plan, 

the absence of overriding constraints and no evidence of better alternative 

                                       
27 Document MI.2a – Question 6.1 and 6.8 Clarifications, Keppie Massie, November 2015. 
28 Document HO.19 - Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Research, Final Report, December 2014. 
29 Document HO.13 – Study to Assess the Potential for Self Build and Custom Build Homes in Sefton, 
September 2015. 
30 Document HO.12 – Merseyside and West Lancashire Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment, August 2014. 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 29 - 

sites, these allocations satisfy the exceptional circumstances test of national 
policy.  Given the low-lying nature of land in Sefton and the potential risk from 

flooding, it is necessary for policy HC5 to include specific reference to flood 
risk within the general requirement to provide a safe environment.  MM41 

ensures that the Plan is sound in this respect.    

108. Education sites are an important source of built sports facilities which are 

protected from loss under paragraph 74 of the NPPF unless certain criteria are 
met.  It is therefore necessary to modify the provision of policy HC7, which 
facilitates alternative uses for former education (and care) institutions, to 

ensure that any such facilities are surplus to recreational requirements.  
MM42 ensures that the Plan is sound in this respect. 

3 – ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Issue 3a:  Whether the assessment of employment need is robust having 
regard to the evidence base and the requirements of national policy. 

109. The 2012 employment land study31 on which the Submission Plan was based 
used four different models to calculate the employment land need.  The 

baseline LCR employment change model took forecasts from Cambridge 
Econometrics to produce a very small land need of between 2-4ha.  The labour 
supply forecast, based on ONS 2010 population projections, produced a land 

need of around 17ha.  The LCR ‘policy-on’ forecast, which took into account 
the impact of various growth projects, resulted in a land need of about 36ha.  

Finally a projection of historic land take-up rates produced a need for 61.2ha 
of employment land to 2031.  The Council decided not to use the economic 
forecasts on the basis that they represent the absolute minimum of land 

required and take no account of market churn or the need to maintain a choice 
of supply.  The Submission Plan therefore used the historic land take-up 

model, supplemented with a 5 year buffer (16.1ha) and known losses to 
supply, to arrive at a total OAN of 84.5ha. 

110. The same econometric forecasts as used in the housing analysis were used in 

the 2015 employment land update (ELPSU)32 provided at examination; these 
identified a land need ranging from 12.6ha to 35ha.  The blended average 

figure of 23.5ha is less than half the recalculated historic land take-up figure 
of 54.7ha to 2030 (based on 3.04ha pa).  In light of evidence that the use of 
econometric forecasts over the past 20 years would have considerably 

underestimated the actual take-up of employment land, the Council again 
decided to favour the historic trend methodology.   

111. It is clear that current econometric forecasts have not proved to be effective 
indicators of either housing or employment need in Sefton.  Indeed, had the 
econometric forecasts been relied on, the existing employment land supply 

would be more than sufficient to meet the identified need of 23.5ha (ie no 
Green Belt employment land releases would be necessary), whereas to meet 

the projected 1,180 dpa housing requirement, the need for Green Belt land 
would more than double.  This variance is difficult to comprehend even 

allowing for the fact that the link between jobs growth and employment land 

                                       
31 Document EM.2 - Employment Land and Premises Study, BE Group, November 2012. 
32 Document EM.1 - Employment Land and Premises Update, BE Group, August 2015. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 30 - 

supply is much more elastic than it is between household growth and housing 
land supply.   

112. The shortcomings of the econometric forecasts, and the fact that the Plan is 
not proposing a major change to Sefton’s position in (or contribution to) the 

wider sub-region, justify the argument that employment growth should be 
based on a continuation of past trends.  To the baseline need of 54.7ha the 

Council adds two elements - a 5 year buffer to provide a range and choice of 
sites, giving a total need of 69.9ha, and 16.63ha replacement provision for 
existing employment land lost to other uses.  Based on the ELPSU the 

Council’s total OAN rises to 86.5ha, a 58% increase on the 54.7ha baseline 
need.33       

113. Compared with the 2012 study on which the Submission Plan is based, the 
actual need plus buffer in the ELPSU has fallen by 7.4ha since 2012, yet the 
total land need is 2ha above the 2012-based figure.  The buffer has been 

calculated on a consistent basis and I accept that an additional 5 years’ supply 
is reasonable to provide flexibility and choice in the employment land market.  

Thus the higher total requirement in 2015 stems mainly from differences in 
the adjustments to the land take-up figure, particularly in losses of 
employment land to other uses.  The 2012 study includes known losses only, 

whereas the ELPSU adds to the known losses a sizeable 8ha allowance for 
unknown future losses.  Furthermore, the 6.0ha allowance for loss of the 

whole of the Phillips site in Southport does not reflect the fact that by 2012 
the main factory building was becoming derelict and was not available, so 
most of the loss predated the Plan base date.  Another difference is that the 

2012 study includes a credit for the relatively high proportion of vacant stock; 
this does not appear in the 2015 assessment despite the vacancy rate still 

being materially above the 7.5% threshold used in the 2012 study.34    

114. It is highly pertinent that the historic take-up rate is calculated from gross 
annual figures of land developed for employment use.  Employment land has 

always been lost to other uses, as the ELPSU attests, so included within the 
historic take-up rate is an element of employment land developed to replace 

those losses.  To be consistent, it should be assumed that part of the 54.7ha 
baseline need includes some allowance for future losses to other uses, as does 
the buffer.     

115. I note the Council’s concern that that the rate of loss may increase in future 
years as a result of impending changes to Government planning policy.  The 

most relevant matters are the presumption that brownfield land should be 
suitable for housing and, specifically, the use of unviable or underused 
employment land for starter homes.35  In light of the robust assessment of 

available employment land in the ELPSU, there is unlikely to be much 
employment land in Sefton which could potentially be lost to starter homes, 

particularly as the allocations are generally net of any enabling development 
which may be required on viability grounds.  Similarly, with brownfield land 

having been robustly assessed in the SHLAA, there is no evidence of a 

                                       
33 Document EX.42 clarifies the employment land need calculation.      
34 The EPLSU indicates a decline since 2012 in vacant industrial floorspace but an increase in vacant 

office floorspace; from paragraphs 4.77-4.79 I calculate the overall vacancy rate to be about 9.6%.  
35 Consultation on proposed changes to national planning policy, DCLG December 2015. 

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 31 - 

significant untapped supply of existing employment land which could be lost to 
housing under the emerging policy changes.      

116. I acknowledge that the ELPSU classified some existing employment areas in 
Sefton as lower quality/poor locations.  Nevertheless, the study recognises 

that the three lowest quality areas36 provide budget quality premises sought 
by local businesses; consequently they make an important contribution to the 

mix of employment premises and are expected to remain in employment use.  
All employment areas have protection under policy ED3, which only allows 
other uses where, mainly, there is no reasonable prospect of the site being 

used for employment purposes at a reasonable market rate.  Thus, to comply 
with policy, a proposal to remove employment land would generally have to 

demonstrate that there is no market demand for the employment use – in 
which case, replacement land is less likely to be required.   

117. Taking all these factors into account, I consider that the 16.63ha allowance for 

losses of employment land to other uses is much too high.  It is arguable 
whether any allowance at all should be made but, as in the 2012 study, there 

is justification for taking known losses into account.  These amount to about 
2.0ha (post 2012) for the Phillips site, 2.6ha for port expansion relocations 
and 3.1ha for the recent loss of most of the Switch car site, a total of 7.7ha.  

When added to the 69.9ha baseline need plus buffer, the total OAN rises to 
77.6ha – almost 9ha below the ELPSU assessment and much closer to the 

figure that would have resulted from a consistent application of the 2012 study 
methodology.   

118. It is also necessary to consider the consequences of a sizeable increase in 

employment land for the balance between jobs and resident workers.  As 
stated earlier, Sefton’s unusual population structure will result in a shortage of 

working-age residents by 2030 as the post-war population bulge peaks in old 
age.  It is not appropriate for this Plan to facilitate a large increase in dwellings 
above the demographic need to cater for substantially higher in-migration of 

economically active households, again for reasons given earlier.  So 
maximising the amount of employment land, and thereby the number of new 

jobs, could create a tension by widening the disparity between the size of the 
resident workforce and the supply of jobs.    

119. The trend-based projections do not take account of the extra growth likely to 

be associated with the Port of Liverpool following the opening of Liverpool2.37  
Whilst the port operator finds it surprising that the wider implications of port 

expansion are not built into the Plan, the evidence indicates that the 
requirement for major off-port logistics sites has only recently emerged.  The 
Mersey Ports Master Plan published in 201138 focuses on Mersey Ports land 

holdings and identifies a shortfall of about 42ha across all port sites, most of 
which are not in Sefton.  It is clear that the specific areas of change identified 

in the Master Plan for the part of the port in Sefton are addressed in the SLP, 

                                       
36 Grade D sites - Birkdale Trading Estate, Acorn Way, Bootle and Hawthorne Road, Bootle. 
37 ‘Liverpool2’ is the new nationally significant deepwater container terminal within the Port of 
Liverpool at Seaforth.   ‘Superport’ is the name given to a cluster of assets across the LCR including 
the Port of Liverpool and other nearby ports, John Lennon Airport, the Mersey Gateway project and 
intermodal freight terminals.   
38 Document EM.8 – Mersey Ports Master Plan Consultation Draft. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 32 - 

such as employment losses in the Regent Road/Derby Road area and the 
potential extension of Seaforth dock onto Seaforth nature reserve. 

120. It appears that the need for major logistics sites across the sub-region was not 
crystallised until the LCR Superport Market Analysis was published by the LEP 

in March 2014.39  This identifies an overall demand of 634ha (excluding port-
based uses) for logistics and manufacturing across the sub-region.  Although 

the total sub-regional supply amounts to 851ha, much of this is regarded as 
too small (below 5ha) or of poor quality.  The study estimates that an 
additional 400ha of high quality land is needed across the LCR over the next 

20 years to maximise the opportunity created by Liverpool Superport.    

121. Given the scale of the anticipated growth and the need for large (often Green 

Belt) sites, I believe the Council is right to defer its response to a review of the 
Plan until the sub-regional SHELMA study has been completed.  The Market 
Analysis is, in part, a promotional document aimed at developers and 

investors and takes an aspirational approach, like many LEP studies.  It is 
appropriate that the sub-regional employment land requirement be separately 

assessed by a PPG compliant analysis such as the SHELMA.  It is also 
appropriate that the findings of the SHELMA are considered by the constituent 
authorities and, having regard to constraints and other factors, a distribution 

of the employment land need is determined across the LCR in accordance with 
the duty to co-operate.  Until this process has been carried out it is not known 

how much (if any) additional employment land Sefton should provide.   

122. I appreciate that St Helens Council has considered an uplift of employment 
land in response to the potential of Superport, but it is in the early stages of 

plan preparation and, as it is leading the SHELMA study, it is well placed to 
take the findings on board.  By strengthening the commitment to a review of 

the Plan, Sefton is also ready to respond quickly to the sub-regional study.  

123. I conclude that an employment land OAN of about 78ha would achieve the 
optimum balance between the NPPF requirement that local plans should 

positively and proactively encourage sustainable economic growth and meet 
the development needs of business, and the adverse consequences of higher 

B-class employment growth and unnecessary loss of Green Belt land.  I 
consider this to be a robust figure having regard to the evidence base and the 
requirements of national policy. 

Issue 3b:  Whether the employment land supply meets the employment 
needs of the borough in terms of quantity, quality and distribution. 

124. The employment land supply within the urban area is concentrated in two 
main locations – Southport Business Park and the Dunnings Bridge Road 
corridor, Netherton.  Together with a few small sites in South Sefton, the total 

urban land available at April 2015 is 47.1ha.  When compared with the 2012 
study, small sites totalling 11.6ha have been excluded on grounds that they 

are unlikely to come forward; this suggests that the existing supply is robust.  
6.5ha of urban employment land was developed between 2012 and 2015; 

when added to the land available, the total urban supply over the Plan period 
rises to 53.6ha.  This is broadly equivalent to the baseline need of 54.7ha.  

                                       
39 Document EM.6.  The study considers sites within 1 hour drive time from the Port of Liverpool.  

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 33 - 

125. There are no other realistic opportunities for providing employment land within 
the urban area so, as with housing land, it is necessary to release land from 

the Green Belt if the robust OAN of 78ha is to be met.  In principle, the 
justification for using Green Belt land is very similar to that elaborated in the 

housing section (paragraphs 77-82 above).  ‘Meeting identified needs’ is the 
more sustainable of the two main employment options tested by the Council, 

for the lower ‘urban containment’ option would not provide a range and choice 
of sites or fully replace existing employment land lost to other uses.  Under 
issue 5 I analyse individual Green Belt allocations to determine whether the 

exceptional circumstances test of the NPPF is satisfied.  As with the housing 
land analysis, I conclude in issue 5 that there are no site-specific constraints 

which would justify the Plan not seeking to meet in full the robust OAN figure.     

126. In terms of strategic issues, the main Green Belt employment allocation in the 
Submission Plan, a 20ha site that is part of a major mixed use proposal East of 

Maghull, is ideally situated once the planned improvements to the adjacent 
M58 motorway junction take place.  This site has excellent access to the port 

of Liverpool and could prove attractive to logistics operations, albeit the 
presence of a gas pipeline may mean that large logistics uses could not be 
accommodated.  It would also be suitable for a range of other B-class uses, 

including manufacturing and offices, and would complement the existing 
supply in South Sefton, which is the area of greatest market demand.    

127. Two Green Belt allocations are proposed at Formby in the Submission Plan, 
North (8ha) and South (7ha) of the existing industrial estate.  Consequently 
the total employment land supply in the Plan for the 2012-2030 period rises to 

88.6ha.  The Formby sites are expected to meet the demand for employment 
land in North Sefton, providing a stock of small office, industrial and 

warehouse units to complement the larger plots at Southport Business Park.  
However, these sites are quite a distance (11-12km) from central Southport 
and not ideally located to meet the town’s needs.  Sites for Class B2/B8 uses 

close to Blowick Industrial Estate in eastern Southport were initially 
investigated to complement the higher quality business park provision.  These 

were discounted on grounds of poor accessibility and viability, though the 
viability study did indicate that a mixed use development at Crowland Street 
which includes a small amount of employment use would be viable.      

128. The employment market in North Sefton is predominantly local, mainly serving 
Southport.  Over many years the take-up of land in Southport has been much 

more sluggish than was anticipated in the UDP,40 which points to a limited 
demand for employment space.  I have already indicated that the total 
employment land requirement has been overestimated and, with 13ha of land 

available at Southport Business Park, I do not believe that an additional 15ha 
at Formby is necessary to meet North Sefton’s needs.  Arguably a small 

amount of industrial land as part of a mixed use development at Crowland 
Street might have been a better-located supplement to the business park, 

notwithstanding the constrained accessibility.  On the other hand, there is a 
strong case for large-scale new housing in Southport, to which the wholly 
residential allocation at Crowland Street will make a major contribution.  

                                       
40 For example, the 11.9ha Southport Commerce Park allocation in the UDP was expected to be fully 

developed by 2017, but there has been very little take-up since the UDP was adopted.  

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 34 - 

129. The ELPSU acknowledges that the two sites at Formby would be competing to 
attract potential occupiers from the limited pool of companies wishing to invest 

in North Sefton.  Nevertheless, bolstered by developer interest in each site, 
the study supports both allocations.  In light of the overestimation of 

employment land in the Plan and given Formby’s location away from the main 
urban areas which have the greatest need for new jobs, I consider that, in 

principle, only one of the two allocations at Formby is necessary, not both.  
Even with the deletion of one site, the revised employment land supply of 
81.6ha in Figure 4.3 and policy MN1 (MM3 and MM6) exceeds the robust OAN 

of 78ha and is almost 50% above the baseline need.  This scale of provision 
amply satisfies the NPPF requirement that local plans should identify strategic 

sites to match the growth strategy and meet anticipated needs.  I examine 
which of the Formby sites is preferred under issue 5c. 

130. I do not accept the argument that two sites at Formby will be required to 

replace large areas of poor quality industrial accommodation that may be lost 
to other uses.  As stated previously, even the lowest quality employment land 

is a valued resource which policy EC3 seeks to retain.  There is no poor quality 
employment land in Formby and relatively little in the wider Southport area; 
moreover, as indicated above, Formby is not the ideal location for meeting 

Southport’s employment land needs.  And whilst poor quality employment land 
is more extensive in South Sefton, Formby would not be the preferred location 

should replacement land be required there.  Thus had I concluded that it was 
essential to meet the ELPSU assessed need of 86.5ha, I would have asked the 
Council to investigate an alternative location for one of the Formby allocations, 

either closer to Southport (which might have required discussions with WLBC 
under the duty-to-co-operate) or closer to the main concentration of 

population in the south of the borough.  

131. I conclude that the urban employment land supply is robust and is broadly 
equivalent to the baseline OAN.  To provide the flexibility and choice of supply 

that is necessary to meet the robust OAN of 78ha, some loss of Green Belt is 
unavoidable.  However, I consider that not all of the Plan’s 35ha Green Belt 

employment allocations are justified.  Given the location away from the main 
centres of population, only one of the two allocations proposed at Formby is 
required.  Even with just one site at Formby, the employment land supply 

would exceed the robust OAN.  Subject to the above modifications, which are 
necessary for the Plan to be sound, the employment land supply meets the 

needs of the borough in terms of quantity, quality and distribution. 

Issue 3c:  Whether the policies for existing employment areas, 
regeneration and tourism are justified and effective. 

132. Policy ED1 establishes criteria for development in the port and maritime zone.  
Part 1 of the policy sets out a general approach to the majority of the port 

zone, while part 2 provides the specific tests under the Habitats Regulations 
for any development on the part of Seaforth Nature Reserve that lies within 

the port zone.  The policy does not sufficiently distinguish between these two 
areas in terms of the respective nature conservation tests; MM24 makes the 
necessary modification to ensure that the policy is effective.   

133. The Submission Plan acknowledges the need for improved road and rail access 
to the Port of Liverpool to cater for the imminent increase in capacity arising 

Page 66

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 35 - 

from Liverpool2.  Studies completed since the Plan was published have refined 
the options and MM25 provides the up-to-date position for both road and rail 

connections and is necessary for the Plan to be justified.  Similar modifications 
are included within the transport policy IN2 (MM45) and the associated text 

(MM46).  Given the commitment to an immediate review of the Plan to 
address port-related logistics needs, a criteria based policy is not necessary.  

134. In light of the relatively limited supply of employment land in Sefton and the 
difficulty in identifying suitable employment sites, policy ED3 rightly seeks to 
protect Primarily Industrial Areas (suitably renamed as Existing Employment 

Areas) for employment uses.  During the examination the Council sought to 
strengthen policy ED3 on the grounds that the criteria governing other uses 

within employment areas were not sufficiently robust.  After the initial rewrite 
was justifiably criticised as being too onerous, the Council adopted some of the 
criteria recommended in the ELPSU.  Although the marketing of premises for 

12 months is a stringent requirement, it is an approach adopted by some 
neighbouring authorities and, given the importance of retaining employment 

land, it is justified.  The main alternative test, the existence of a significant 
community benefit that would outweigh the loss, is also appropriate.  MM30 
addresses these matters and is necessary for the Plan to be sound.    

135. Policy ED5 aims to support tourism development at Sefton’s key tourist 
destinations but the Plan makes no provision for other, non-strategic tourism 

development.  MM32 rectifies this omission in an appropriate manner by 
focusing on sustainable tourism.  Individual policies set out specific criteria for 
central Southport (ED7) and Southport seafront (ED8) in recognition of the 

significant development potential at these strategic tourism locations.  Central 
Southport relies heavily on the quality of its historic environment, which 

merits specific mention in policy ED7; MM33 makes the necessary additions.  
In response to recently published studies and other evidence, new policies are 
proposed for two other tourism locations where change is envisaged - Marine 

Park, Southport (MM34) and Aintree racecourse (MM35).  All these 
modifications are necessary for the Plan to be justified and effective. 

Issue 3d:  Whether the approach to retail development and town centres 
is effective and consistent with national policy. 

Town centre boundaries and Primary Shopping Areas 

136. The Submission Plan’s retail policies were formulated long before the latest 
Retail Strategy Review (RSR) was published in October 2015.41  An historic 

approach to town centres which focused almost exclusively on retail uses was 
originally proposed, but the findings of the RSR caused the Council to 
reconsider its retail strategy during the examination.  The RSR recommended 

the introduction of complementary land uses (such as leisure, residential and 
community uses) to broaden the attractiveness of town centres in the face of 

significant changes to retailing.  Following discussion at the hearings, sizeable 
enlargements were made to the defined town centres of Bootle and Southport 

and smaller changes to many district centres.  At Waterloo the inclusion of 
most of the community and office facilities on Crosby Road North within the 

                                       
41 Document EM.7 – Sefton Retail Strategy Review, WYG Planning. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 36 - 

enlarged district centre means that the Mixed Use area under policy ED4 is no 
longer necessary; MM31 makes the appropriate deletion. 

137. Paradoxically, in some locations the RSR recommends a tightening of town 
centre boundaries, including in Southport where it argues that Central 12 retail 

park should be outside the town centre.  Although the distance between the 
Asda superstore and the edge of the retail core is over 400m, which exceeds 

the ‘edge of centre’ definition in the NPPF, survey evidence was produced to 
demonstrate that 45% of trips to Central 12 are linked with a trip to Southport 
town centre.  The walk between the two areas is easy and though London 

Street is not a continuous retail frontage, there are scattered retail units.  
Thus Central 12 contributes to the town centre offer (as recognised by the 

emerging Southport Development Strategy) and performs a different function 
to other retail parks in Sefton.  Moreover, Central 12 is included within the 
town centre in the UDP and there has been no material tightening of retail 

policy since the UDP was prepared.  The Council accepts the case for retaining 
Central 12 within the town centre; I agree.  There is also justification for the 

marginal extension of the town centre to include the London Street frontage, 
for it would encourage more town centre uses along the link to Central 12.     

138. At Crosby the more limited expansion of the town centre does not fully meet 

the views of the local business group seeking to regenerate the centre.  
Notwithstanding the RSR’s relatively upbeat view of Crosby as a vital and 

viable centre which has a good mix of services and facilities, the public realm 
is tired and the centre has slipped recently in the retail rankings.  It is 
appropriate, therefore, that the Plan identifies the need for major investment 

in Crosby through policy ED9 and associated text.  I believe that the focus for 
this investment should be the relatively compact main pedestrianized area 

plus immediately adjoining retail parades, rather than being dissipated over a 
wider area.  Consequently I agree with the Council that the retail uses on 
Liverpool Road around Endbutt Lane are too far from the main retail core to 

function as part of the town centre.   

139. Because many town centre boundaries have been extended to incorporate a 

range of other uses, the need to protect the retail core is heightened.  The 
modified Plan adjusts the Primary Shopping Areas (PSAs) for most town and 
district centres and includes primary retail frontages (and some secondary 

frontages) within the PSAs.  The Council has followed the NPPF definition by 
delineating the PSA as the area generally comprising the primary shopping 

frontages and those secondary frontages which are adjoining and closely 
related to the primary frontages.   

140. For Southport, the PSA does not include Central 12 retail park.  I accept that 

Central 12 is an area of concentrated retail activity, but it does not follow that 
all such areas should be part of the PSA – indeed, the term “Primary Shopping 

Area” (singular) implies the identification of a single main shopping core.  
Central 12 is separated from the nearest part of the retail core by a significant 

physical gap and is also different in character; in my view it is correctly 
omitted from the PSA.  That said, I do not accept the Council’s retail advisors’ 
view that Central 12 is an out of centre location with regard to the sequential 

test.  Its inclusion within Southport town centre but outside the PSA means 
that, despite the NPPF definition, Central 12 comes second in the hierarchy of 

policy ED2 and is preferable to edge of centre and out of centre locations. 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 37 - 

141. The revised town centre boundaries are necessary to reflect the NPPF’s 
promotion of positive town centre strategies which cater for a range of town 

centre uses, as set out in modified policy ED2 (MM27), and are sound.  The 
modifications include the replacement of ‘Primary Retail Areas’ with ‘Primary 

Shopping Areas’ (MM26), the deletion of the addresses of properties within 
PSAs42 (MM29) and the identification of primary and secondary retail 

frontages; these are consistent with the NPPF and are sound. 

Policy ED2  

142. The extension of town centre boundaries to reflect a range of main town 

centre uses means that policy ED2 requires revision.  In terms of the 
sequential test, it is right that the PSAs are identified as the first priority for 

retail uses.  Most of Sefton’s PSAs have a significant number of vacant units 
(in Southport the PSA has been extended to include key vacant sites) and, in 
accordance with the positive approach to town centres promoted in the NPPF, 

the opportunity should be taken to protect and enhance this retail core.  
MM27 includes the addition to policy ED2 of PSAs as the most sequentially 

preferable location for retail uses.     

143. For proposals in out of centre locations, the UDP policy that existing retail 
parks should be considered before other out of centre locations was not 

included in the Submission Plan.  The Council acknowledged at the hearings 
that, in most instances, retail parks will be more sustainable locations than 

other out of centre locations because the agglomeration of retail uses has a 
critical mass which attracts many shoppers.  Giving limited priority to retail 
parks therefore has the potential to consolidate the existing provision and 

avoid additional journeys (most likely by car) to new out of centre locations.  I 
accept that the NPPF and PPG do not give any preference to retail parks, but 

nor do they oppose it – paragraph 23 of NPPF allows for policies for main town 
centre uses which cannot be accommodated in or adjacent to town centres.  
Given the large number of retail parks in Sefton and the substantial amount of 

trade they attract, I consider that there is sufficient local justification for 
continuing the UDP approach.  This forms part of MM27 and is sound.   

144. Health checks indicate that Bootle and Maghull centres are showing signs of 
decline and most other centres are showing some signs of vulnerability.  For 
this reason, policy ED2 proposes significantly lower thresholds for the impact 

test than the default 2,500 sq m stated in the NPPF.  The thresholds are based 
on the average size of anchor units for the different types of centre, as derived 

from a detailed analysis.43  For Bootle and Southport the threshold is set at 
500 sq m, falling to 300 sq m for proposals in close proximity to district 
centres and 200 sq m close to local centres.  I appreciate that these 

thresholds are quite low, but using the size of a typical anchor unit is an 
appropriate way of focusing on proposals which could, potentially, have a 

significant adverse impact, particularly on centres which are fragile.   

145. The NPPF requires consideration of the impact on the centre as a whole, not 

on individual units within it, so I do not accept the argument that even smaller 

                                       
42 The Submission Plan lists the addresses of properties within the PSAs in Figure 7.2; the 

substitution of this Figure by the geographic extent of PSAs on the policies maps makes it easier to 
interpret Policy ED2.   
43 Document EM.9 – Threshold Policy for Main Town Centre Uses – Impact Test; WYG Planning 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 38 - 

thresholds should be used for the most vulnerable centres such as Bootle.  I 
understand the point that the low threshold for local centres will require an 

impact assessment for proposals on nearby retail parks, even though the type 
of retail unit is likely to be very different and will therefore have very little 

impact (on the basis that ‘like competes with like’).  In this regard the addition 
of the statement that the impact assessment should be undertaken in a 

proportionate and locally appropriate way (part of MM28) is an important 
modification, for in circumstances where there is no reasonable prospect of a 
significant impact, fulfilling the policy requirement should not be onerous.   

146. The final matter concerns the extent of controls over non-retail uses within the 
retail core.  I believe the Council is right not to impose unnecessarily strict 

controls over non-retail uses in primary retail frontages in light of the NPPF’s 
promotion of positive, competitive town centre environments.  Moreover, 
under the current relaxations to the permitted development regime, stricter 

controls would have limited effect as they would not prevent many of the more 
likely losses of Class A1 retail use from occurring.  I accept that the 

qualifications to part 4 of policy ED2 provide appropriate guidance to aid the 
interpretation of part 4, but this is as far as the strengthening of the policy 
should go.  As to the concern about 70% of units within primary retail 

frontages being in Class A1 retail use, because this is an expectation rather 
than a requirement I anticipate that it will be applied flexibly, particularly as 

the leisure aspect of shopping trips continues to grow.  

147. Based on the 2012 RSR, the Submission Plan suggests that sites should be 
found for about 4,000 sq m of new convenience goods floorspace, mainly in 

Southport.  However, the 2015 RSR identifies no immediate capacity for new 
convenience floorspace in North Sefton and only limited capacity to 2030; 

greater capacity is identified for South Sefton.44  For comparison goods 
floorspace there is no identified need to 2020 and some capacity, mainly in 
North Sefton, thereafter.  MM28 makes the necessary revisions to the Plan to 

reflect the findings of the 2015 RSR.           

4 - ENVIRONMENT  

Issue 4a:  Whether the approaches to flood risk, open space, health and 
other environmental issues are robust, effective and consistent with 
national policy.  

Flood risk 

148. The Plan’s explanatory text follows the broad principles of national policy on 

flood risk as set out in the NPPF and PPG, but some key elements - including 
the application in certain circumstances of the Sequential and Exceptions Tests 
- are omitted from policy EQ8.  In light of the serious risk of flooding which 

exists in many parts of Sefton, and the understandable widespread concern 
that new development will exacerbate the extent and frequency of flood 

events, it is important that the policy expresses fully the basis on which flood 
risk will be assessed.  Furthermore, the need for an integrated approach which 

takes into account the cumulative risk of flooding from all its various sources 

                                       
44 The 2015 RSR takes no account of the decision in December 2016 by the Secretary of State to 

permit a 10,942 sq m superstore at Meols Cop Retail Park, Southport (APP/M4320/V/15/3002637). 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 39 - 

(the sea, fluvial/tidal watercourses, surface water, groundwater and foul 
drainage) was stressed at the examination, particularly as separate agencies 

have responsibility for different parts of the water system.           

149. The modifications to policy EQ8 (MM53) and the text (MM54) address these 

matters.  The policy also sets out the particular standards that development in 
Sefton should meet to give adequate protection from the different risks of 

fluvial, tidal and surface water flood events.  In addition, a section on 
sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) is added to both the policy and text, 
setting out the design principles for SuDS and requiring arrangements for their 

long term maintenance and management.  I have considered the arguments 
that land which regularly floods should in principle be excluded from 

development, and that specific buffers should apply around land at greatest 
risk of flooding, but such far-reaching restrictions would not be consistent with 
national policy.  I believe that the Environment Agency’s (EA) concern about 

basements is unfounded as the modified policy requires ground floor and 
basement levels to be the requisite height above flood levels.  As modified, the 

approach to flood risk is robust and consistent with national policy. 

Public open space 

150. The Plan was prepared long before the Council’s open space and playing pitch 

studies were completed in November 2015.45  Policy EQ9 includes the rather 
vague requirement that proposals for 50 or more dwellings must provide 

appropriate high quality public open space, though the text explains that the 
standard required is 40 sq m per home.  The open space study confirms that 
this quantum of provision remains appropriate, though it recommends 

changing the threshold from 50 to 150 dwellings unless the site is more than 
2km from a main recreation area, when it reduces to 11 dwellings.  Modified 

policy EQ9 is based on these criteria, so it is not an arbitrary requirement, and 
the modifications to the text suitably address the concerns about an ‘excess’ of 
provision if a new development occurs close to existing open space.   

151. The quantitative and qualitative standards used in the open space study are 
mostly unchanged from previous assessments and show a broadly satisfactory 

level of provision overall; this ranges from above target in Southport to below 
target in the eastern parishes (though the main settlements in the east are 
around the target).  I do not accept the criticism that the study is flawed 

because it lacks a detailed analysis of how open space contributes to local 
character, for the wider benefits of open space are suitably recognised (and 

are mentioned in the Plan).  I understand the concern at the lowering of the 
accessibility standard, which was previously 1km rather than 2km, particularly 
as the change seems to be driven by ‘financial realities’ rather than the needs 

of communities.  Nevertheless the funding of public open spaces cannot be 
ignored and in a borough where the existing provision is generally adequate, it 

makes sense to focus on the accessibility of main parks rather than smaller 
open spaces that are lower in the hierarchy.   

152. Overall I believe that the open space study is sufficiently robust to underpin 
the approach to new provision in the Plan.  This includes the addition to policy 

                                       
45 Documents OP.3: Open Space and Recreation Study, and OP.4: Sefton Playing Pitch Strategy and 

Action Plan (PPS). 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 40 - 

EQ9 of the opportunity for enhancement to off-site open space if this is more 
appropriate than on-site provision.  Accordingly the modifications to policy 

EQ9 (MM55) and the text (MM56) are effective and necessary for the Plan to 
be sound. 

153. The open space study also recommends criteria for assessing whether open 
space is surplus to requirements, which include a rigorous approach to 

accessibility; this is an appropriate basis for determining whether the loss of 
open space can be accepted under policy NH5.  The text accompanying policy 
NH5 is appropriately modified (MM61) to indicate that the recently published 

open space and playing pitch studies should be used to assess whether open 
spaces or sports facilities are surplus to requirements.  

Food outlets and health 

154. At the examination the Council proposed to modify policy EQ10 so that it 
better expressed the distinction between general controls over the location of 

food and drink uses on visual character and local amenity grounds, and the 
specific concern about the effect of hot food takeaways on healthy lifestyles.  

The criteria set out in the modified part 1 of the policy, which deals with all 
food and drink uses, attracted little objection.  The modified part 2 of policy 
EQ10 seeks to restrict hot food takeaways from opening before 1700 hours 

within 400m of secondary schools and further education establishments.  This 
is opposed by a major fast food operator on the grounds that there is no 

evidence of a causal link between childhood obesity and hot food takeaways.  
The Council relies mainly on a Public Health England (PHE) publication46 which 
addresses the regulation of fast food outlets, and a similar policy approach 

adopted by several other local authorities.   

155. I accept that there is no evidence showing a direct link between the location of 

hot food takeaways and the incidence of childhood obesity.  Moreover, the 
Council’s graph showing a moderate correlation between overweight children 
and concentrations of hot food takeaways is not evidence of causality.  On the 

other hand, given the multiple causes of childhood obesity it is probably 
unrealistic to expect a direct link to be shown.  In confirming that the strong 

link between socio-economic deprivation and poor health outcomes has an 
environmental dimension, the Marmot Review47 found that access to healthy/ 
unhealthy food options is just one of a range of environmental factors which 

contribute to health inequalities.  Nevertheless, Marmot recommended that 
residents of deprived areas could benefit from policies which aim to improve 

the availability of healthier food options, especially when coupled with planning 
restrictions on the density of fast food outlets within deprived areas.     

156. Rather than focus on areas of deprivation, PHE recommends regulating hot 

food takeaways within walking distance of schools.  Because Sefton has higher 
than average levels of childhood obesity and reflects the national tendency for 

hot food takeaways to be concentrated in areas of high deprivation, I accept 
that there is sufficient justification for the proposed daytime restriction close 

                                       
46 Document MI.25: Obesity and the environment: regulating the growth of fast food outlets, PHE, 
March 2014. 
47 Appendices to Matter 7 representation from SSA Planning Ltd (Rep No 733): The Marmot Review: 
Fair Society, Healthy Lives (Appendix D) and The Marmot Review: Implications for Spatial Planning 

(Appendix E).   

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 41 - 

to secondary schools.  It is reasonable to assume that by restricting the ease 
with which schoolchildren can access the energy-dense meals typically sold in 

hot food takeaways, the chances of them accessing healthier food options are 
likely to increase.  I appreciate that policy EQ2 may only make a limited 

contribution to reducing childhood obesity, but this is such an important issue 
that the opportunity to secure even small health benefits should not be passed 

over.  I also believe that these benefits outweigh any potential loss of catering 
and supply jobs.  I consider that the modified policy EQ10 (MM57) and text 
(MM58) are consistent with the ‘promoting healthy communities’ objective of 

the NPPF and with the objectives of PPG, which supports a reduction in health 
inequalities by, amongst other means, promoting access to healthier food. 

157. The overarching policy EQ1, which seeks to maximise the opportunities 
presented by development to reduce health inequalities in Sefton, includes a 
general provision regarding the location of food and drink outlets.  MM48 is 

necessary for soundness if, as sought by the Council, the policy is to 
encompass non-food and drink uses which have health impacts.   

Other matters 

158. The Submission Plan includes a succinct design policy (EQ2) which promotes, 
at a high level, established design principles.  During the examination the 

Council felt that important matters were omitted and decided to reinstate, with 
some amendments, the more detailed UDP design policy.  The explanatory 

text was also rewritten.  There have been no objections to the replacement 
policy and the comments on the changes to the text do not raise soundness 
issues.  In my view both the submission policy and the replacement policy are 

sound and the changes do not materially alter the Plan’s approach to design.  
Whilst it would have been better for the Council to have included its preferred 

approach to design in the Submission Plan, the changes are additional rather 
than main modifications.    

159. Policy EQ3 sets out principles designed to improve the accessibility of new 

development; these include a requirement to comply with the Council’s 
parking standards.  In March 2015 a WMS (to be read alongside paragraph 39 

of the NPPF) stated that local parking standards should only be imposed where 
there is clear and compelling justification that it is necessary to manage the 
local road network.  No such justification has been provided so, to avoid 

conflict with national policy, MM49 makes the necessary modification by 
substituting the word ‘comply’ with the phrase ‘have regard to’ the parking 

standards.   

160. Policy EQ5 includes the requirement that development should not result in a 
significant worsening of air pollution levels in an Air Quality Management Area 

(AQMA).  It was pointed out at the hearings that because AQMAs are only 
declared in locations where air quality is already very poor, the ‘significant 

worsening’ test is unduly lax.  MM50 requires development not to hinder the 
achievement of AQMA objectives or the measures set out in an AQMA action 

plan, which is a more effective and positive test, while MM51 provides greater 
clarity on how the test would be applied; both are necessary for the Plan to be 
sound.     

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 42 - 

161. The Plan charts the recent evolution of Government policy towards energy 
efficient and low carbon design, including the transfer of housing construction 

standards to the Building Regulations.  Policy EQ7 requires major development 
to incorporate at least one of a range of measures to reduce greenhouse gas 

emissions.  These measures include ‘energy efficiency’ and the text makes 
clear that the Council encourages rather than demands higher energy 

efficiency standards than are set out in the Building Regulations.  Thus the 
policy does not conflict with the Deregulation Act 2015 or the NPPF and is an 
appropriate way of supporting energy efficient and low carbon design.   

162. At the time the Plan was published the ‘Allowable Solutions’ carbon offsetting 
scheme was part of the national approach and is mentioned in the text.  

Following the Government’s decision in July 2015 not to proceed with 
‘Allowable Solutions’, MM52 makes the necessary modification to ensure the 
Plan is up-to-date.    

Issue 4b:  Whether the policies for protecting Sefton’s natural and 
heritage assets are proportionate, robust and consistent with national 

policy.  

Natural assets 

163. The Submission Plan includes a strategic policy (NH1) which set out a high 

level framework aimed at protecting all of Sefton’s environmental assets.  In 
response to representations the Council sought to add a lot of detail to the 

policy, including a list of specific heritage features that warrant protection.  
This had the effect of reducing the policy’s strategic focus, making it unwieldy 
and difficult to comprehend.  In light of the distinction made in the NPPF 

between policies for the natural and the historic environment, the Council 
decided at examination to restrict policy NH1 to a strategy for natural assets 

and to introduce a new strategic policy (NH9A) for heritage assets.  This is a 
sensible approach.   

164. To accord with national policy, it is necessary to add to modified policy NH1 a 

clause (MM59) which recognises that mitigation or, as a last resort, 
compensation may be acceptable in cases where the protection of natural 

assets from development cannot be achieved.  The associated modifications to 
the text (MM60) include updated references to the consistent approach 
evolving across the LCR towards the identification and management of a sub-

regional ecological network, and are necessary for the Plan to be effective.  
The presentational changes made to policy NH2, which deals with the different 

tests that apply depending on the importance of a particular site, habitat 
and/or species, have also been made to achieve broad consistency with LCR 
policies.  However they do not alter the substance of the original policy, which 

accorded with the NPPF; consequently they are additional modifications.  The 
same applies to the changes to policy NH3 and associated text relating to 

development in nature improvement areas.  

Minerals 

165. Sefton contains few mineral resources and because there are no active 
extraction sites or sites likely to become commercially viable during the Plan 
period, the Council did not identify Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs).  

Page 74

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 43 - 

However, British Geological Survey maps indicate the presence of potentially 
economic deposits of sub-alluvial sand and wind-blown silica sand across parts 

of the borough.  Discussions with a minerals industry representative during 
the examination led to MSAs being defined on the policies map and 

modifications to policy NH8 (MM62) and the associated text (MM63).  These 
measures should ensure that known reserves are not needlessly sterilised by 

non-mineral development and, where feasible, encourage prior extraction on 
development sites.  They are necessary to bring the Plan into line with the 
NPPF.  I share the Council’s view that the absence of any current or likely 

future mineral extraction in Sefton justifies the use of size thresholds and the 
consequent inclusion of minor developments in the list of development types 

that do not require a Minerals Assessment in Figure 11.2A.   

166. The modifications also expand upon the safeguarding that applies to transport 
and other infrastructure which supports the aggregates industry.  I agree with 

the Council that it is not essential to include these safeguarded sites on the 
policies map, particularly as the authority does not have a comprehensive list 

of them.  Many other policies with a spatial element are not identified on the 
policies map and other, more readily-updated mapping systems are a better 
source of this information.  And given the extensive permitted development 

rights available to the Port of Liverpool, I accept that it is sensible to remove 
the specific reference to the Port from policy NH8, though it remains (with an 

appropriate explanation) in the modified text.   

167. The suggestion that a policy should be added which would prevent proposals 
for hydraulic fracturing of shale (fracking) from being approved unless they 

are proven to be safe would not be consistent with the detailed policies of the 
NPPF.  However, MM62 includes a new part 5 to policy NH8 which states that, 

in determining shale gas applications, the Council will seek the highest levels 
of environmental, health and social protection consistent with national policy.  
This is an acceptable approach in a borough where there is currently no known 

interest in fracking and, as modified, policy NH8 is sound.  In December 2015 
the Government issued a new round of onshore oil and gas licences which 

extended the coverage in Sefton; the policies map has been updated to show 
the total area now covered by licences, as required by PPG.        

Built heritage 

168. The new strategic policy NH9A and associated text (MM64) provide a 
thorough overview of Sefton’s heritage assets and the priorities for their 

protection and enhancement.  To accord with the NPPF, these modifications 
add the necessary reference to the settings of heritage assets and the 
importance of features which contribute to their significance.  Similar 

consequential amendments are made to other parts of the text.  Policy NH9 
sought to impose a blanket restriction on demolition or substantial harm to 

designated heritage assets, though the associated justification acknowledges 
that, consistent with the NPPF, there may be circumstances in which the public 

benefits of development outweigh the harm.  Because the Plan’s policies carry 
greater weight than the text, it is important that policy NH9 properly reflects 
national policy; MM65 makes the necessary adjustment.      

169. The subsequent policies set out the approach to specific categories of heritage 
asset.  The listed buildings policy (NH10) was not wholly consistent with the 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 44 - 

NPPF in that it did not refer to the significance of an asset or its setting, nor to 
the possibility that public benefits might outweigh the harm resulting from 

development; MM66 rectifies these small but important omissions.  Similar 
changes are made to policy NH11 in relation to conservation areas (MM67), 

policy NH12 concerning registered parks and gardens (MM68) and policy 
NH13 regarding archaeological assets (MM69).  In relation to non-designated 

heritage assets, the need for a balanced judgement to be made between the 
scale of any harm and the significance of the asset, as set out in the NPPF, is 
added to the text by MM70 and is sound.  As modified, the Plan is robust and 

consistent with national policy. 

5 - HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT SITE ALLOCATIONS 

Issue 5:  Whether the selection of sites for housing and employment 
development, and the site allocation policies, are consistent with the 
Plan’s vision and objectives and justified by the evidence  

170. The Council’s site selection methodology48 describes the logical and iterative 
process by which development sites have been selected.  It is informed by the 

Council’s Sustainability Appraisal (SA) objectives and, for sites outside the 
urban area, the Green Belt Study.  It assesses all the necessary matters 
including constraints to development, Green Belt purposes (where relevant), 

access to services, individual site benefits and delivery considerations.  
Constraints and Green Belt impacts are graded on a scale which recognises 

that the most significant or severe effects may not be capable of mitigation 
and can rule a site out of consideration.  The methodology acknowledges, 
correctly, that balancing the many different considerations involves a 

professional planning judgement.  Whilst in some instances my judgement on 
some individual site criteria differs from that of the Council, I consider that the 

methodology for site selection is consistent with the Plan’s vision and 
objectives and is sound.     

5a.    Sites within the urban area 

171. The principle of developing available land within the urban area was broadly 
supported and many of the urban sites allocated in policy MN2 attracted little 

opposition.  The most commonly expressed objection is to the increase in 
traffic on already busy roads.  I understand the concern; however the 
evidence indicates that the local road network is generally able to 

accommodate the traffic generated both by individual sites and by the 
cumulative level of development.49   I also appreciate the concern about the 

increased pressure on existing schools, health facilities and other social 
infrastructure.  Again the evidence suggests that current provision is broadly 
sufficient to meet the demand from urban sites; however, where deficiencies 

are identified, policy IN1 is designed to ensure that the necessary 
infrastructure is provided.   

172. Specific concerns about the impact on neighbouring properties, the density of 
development and so on would be addressed at detailed design stage under 

other policies of the Plan.  Nevertheless it is necessary to test the suitability of 

                                       
48 Document LP.5 
49 For example, Transport Topic Paper (Document TP.3) and Documents TR2, TR4, TR5 and TR6. 

Page 76

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 45 - 

individual urban sites against certain policy considerations including flood risk, 
loss of open space, biodiversity and access.    

Southport and Ainsdale 

173. Bartons Close – MN2.1   The projected new bypass for which this elongated 

site was historically reserved has not been supported by WLBC and Lancashire 
County Council for many years.  With no realistic prospect of the highway 

being built, I agree that continued protection of the land is not justified.  
Residential development is the appropriate use, with access mainly from Fell 
View; I accept that the potential constraint caused by a narrow strip of land of 

unknown ownership at the end of Fell View could be overcome by indemnity 
insurance.  Access to a small number of dwellings from Bartons Close may also 

be feasible if the difficult junction with Water Lane can safely accommodate 
additional traffic.  Subject to the site boundary being drawn back from Three 
Pools Waterway to exclude land at risk from flooding, as shown on the policies 

map, the allocation is sound.   

174. Former Phillips factory, Balmoral Drive – MN2.3   This demolished factory 

site has potential for both employment and housing uses, though because it is 
located in a residential area, the preference of the Council and local residents 
is for housing.  With industrial (B2) and distribution (B8) uses unlikely to be 

acceptable, and as there is limited demand for light industrial/office (B1) uses 
in Southport, I agree that housing is appropriate.   

175. In common with most of the northern part of Southport, the site is within flood 
zone 3a, at risk from tidal flooding.   However the town benefits from strong 
and well maintained coastal defences, so the risk is considered to be low.  In 

light of the considerable need for new housing in Southport and the absence of 
alternative sites with a lower flood risk, the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

(SFRA) demonstrates that the Sequential Test is passed.  For the same 
reasons, and having regard to a site specific evaluation which demonstrates 
that housing development would be safe and would not increase flood risk 

elsewhere, there is little doubt that the Exception Test would also be passed.  
The EA has confirmed that the tidal flood defences offer a 1 in 1000 year 

standard of protection and does not object to the proposal.  There are no 
other significant constraints; accordingly this allocation is sound.   

176. Adjacent to Dobbies Garden Centre, Benthams Way – MN2.6   A Flood 

Risk Assessment (FRA) prepared during the examination indicates that, 
although the entire site is within flood zone 1, there is a serious risk of surface 

water flooding on a sizeable part of the site closest to the garden centre.  As a 
result, the Council has reduced the size of the allocation from 8.7ha to 6.1ha 
and proposes that the area at risk of flooding would become open space.  

Mitigation to address the presence of water voles and other ecological 
constraints would be addressed at detailed design stage.  Subject to the 

necessary modifications to policy MN2 (MM9 and MM10), the associated text 
(MM14) and Appendix 1 (MM71), the allocation for housing and open space 

of this large area of overgrown grassland and scrub is sound.    

177. St John Stone School, Meadow Lane – MN2.9   Evidence such as the 
presence of football goalposts on the grass field at the rear of this vacant 

primary school suggests that part of the site was formerly used as a junior 

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 46 - 

sports pitch.  Sport England objects to the loss of this facility unless it is 
demonstrated that the pitch is surplus to requirements or would be replaced 

by alternative provision elsewhere, as required by the NPPF and SLP policy 
NH5.  In light of the shortfall in pitch provision identified in the Playing Pitch 

Strategy (PPS), the Council proposes to modify the housing allocation (MM73) 
to require financial assistance towards the compensatory provision of one or 

more artificial (3G) pitches at Meols Park or on adjacent land.  The PPS 
strongly promotes the provision of artificial pitches, and whilst the equivalence 
of the alternative provision remains to be determined, in principle the 

modification accords with policy and is justified.           

178. I appreciate the argument that former school sites should not be lost to 

housing unless there is a compelling case that they will not be required for 
education in the future, but there is no evidence of any such requirement.  
The Council confirms that any increase in demand for school places in 

Southport could be met at existing sites and that there is no foreseeable need 
to reopen closed schools.50  As modified, the allocation is sound. 

179. Sandbrook Road – MN2.10   This former school site is now used for adult 
training.  As a result of evidence that the open land at the rear of the site was 
never in formal sports use, Sport England has withdrawn its objection.  

Matters such as access and the risk of groundwater emergence would 
appropriately be dealt with at detailed design stage.  Modifications in policy 

MN2 (MM9) to enlarge the site area and increase the number of dwellings to 
reflect a recent planning permission for housing on part of the site are 
necessary for the Plan to be justified.  As modified, the allocation is sound.     

180. Southport Business Park – MN2.50  The Plan retains the UDP allocation for 
a sizeable business park in Southport, though the eastern boundary has been 

extended slightly to abut the adjacent housing development.  Given the very 
slow rate of development (nothing since 2008) and the absence of alternative 
locations in Southport for uses such as car dealerships, healthcare and 

gymnasia, the loosening of the B1 restriction on part of the site is justified and 
the allocation is sound.  

Formby 

181. West Lane – MN2.13   This partly brownfield site is reasonably accessible to 
public transport and services and has no significant constraints.  Whilst it is 

upstream of Wham Dyke, which floods, it is a requirement of policy EQ8 that 
development should not increase flood risk beyond the site.  There is no 

evidence that the additional traffic generated by this relatively small site, 
individually or in combination with the other urban sites in Formby, could not 
be accommodated on the local road network.  The allocation is sound.   

182. Holy Trinity School, Lonsdale Road – MN2.14   There is no evidence that 
the open land of this former school site was formally used as a playing field.  

Although the need for school places will undoubtedly rise as a result of the 
scale of housing development in Formby (and Hightown), the Council believes 

that there is ample capacity on existing school sites to accommodate this 
growth; there are no compelling arguments to the contrary.  Concerns about 

                                       
50 Document MI.6 – Letter from Sefton Council Schools Regulatory Services, August 2015. 

Page 78

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 47 - 

car parking and drainage are matters for the detailed design stage.  Planning 
permission has recently been granted for sheltered housing on half of the site, 

which is conveniently located adjacent to Formby district centre.  As part of its 
response to the PPG which highlights the growing need for accommodation for 

the elderly, the Council proposes (MM9 and MM75) to allocate the whole site 
for older persons housing.  The site is ideal for this use and, to ensure 

consistency with the PPG, the allocation as modified is sound.    

183. Professional Development Centre, Park Road – MN2.15   This former 
school is now a well-used community centre and has been designated an Asset 

of Community Value under the Localism Act 2011.  The Act and SLP policy HC6 
require the loss of the community facility to be compensated elsewhere unless 

there is sufficient existing provision.  In the absence of evidence about 
community facilities in Formby, and having regard also to the constraint 
arising from the large stand of trees on the site and the informal use of the 

open area for recreation, the capacity of this 1.6ha site has rightly been set 
very low (15 dwellings).  Similar arguments as above apply to concerns about 

the future need for school places in Formby – the Council demonstrated at the 
hearings that reinstating the two-form entry at Redgate primary school would 
provide the anticipated capacity.  A modification in Appendix 1 (MM77) 

highlights the obligations under the Localism Act; this is necessary for the Plan 
to be justified and, accordingly, the allocation is sound.      

Netherton and Bootle 

184. Since publication of the Submission Plan, three of the allocated sites have 
been granted planning permission for housing – Aintree Curve site, 

Ridgewood Way (MN2.34), Klondyke phases 2 and 3 (MN2.42), and St 
Joan of Arc School, Rimrose Road (MN2.44).  These sites, two of which 

are under construction, are clearly suitable for residential development; in 
each case modified policy MN2 (MM9) includes a slight increase in dwelling 
numbers to reflect the current position, ensuring that the Plan is effective.        

185. St Raymond’s School playing field, Harrop’s Croft (MN2.36), Daleacre 
School, Daleacre Drive (MN2.39) and St Mary’s School playing fields, 

Waverley Street (MN2.45) are all vacant school sites that are suitable for 
housing and where the main objection concerns the loss of former playing 
pitches in a borough with an overall shortfall.  Although there is currently a 

surplus of youth and mini pitches in Netherton and Bootle, this spare capacity 
is likely to be taken up if, as anticipated, charges are introduced by 

neighbouring Councils for youth pitches which (unlike in Sefton) are currently 
free.  Consistent with its approach to similar sites in Southport, the Council 
proposes to modify these allocations (MM83, MM84 and MM86) by requiring 

financial payments towards the provision of at least one artificial (3G) pitch at 
Litherland Sports Park.  This is necessary to ensure that the loss of former 

playing pitches is adequately mitigated, as required by the NPPF and policy 
NH5.  At St Raymond’s School, to ensure that the Plan is justified the capacity 

has been reduced in policy MN2 (MM9) as a result of recent evidence that part 
of the site is at risk from surface water flooding.       

186. The capacity of St Wilfrid’s School, Orrell Road (MN2.41) has been 

restricted to enable the main area of playing pitches to be retained, as clarified 
by the addition to Appendix 1 (MM85); this overcomes the objection from 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 48 - 

Sport England and ensures compliance with policy.  At Bootle High School, 
Browns Lane (MN2.38) the allocation excludes the large area of former 

pitches, while at Rawson Road Primary School, Rawson Road (MN2.40) 
Sport England has accepted that there was no previous sports pitch use on the 

site.  There are no other significant constraints to housing development at 
these former school sites, so the allocations are sound.  

187. Although the vacant plots which make up the Z-Block Sites, Buckley Hill 
Lane (MN2.35) are in an area of low demand and have been available for 
some years, the Council is involved in disposing some of the sites to a local 

housing association.  There are no other constraints to housing development, 
so there is a reasonable prospect that all plots will be taken up during the Plan 

period.  Recent evidence indicates a significant risk of surface water flooding 
at Pendle Drive, Netherton (MN2.37); this has led to the Council reducing 
the site capacity from 52 to 29 dwellings in policy MN2 (MM9) which, I accept, 

is a suitably cautious approach and is necessary for the Plan to be effective.  
Some parts of the Peoples Site, Linacre Lane (MN2.43) also have a surface 

water flood risk, but there is sufficient space within this sizeable site to provide 
on-site mitigation.  The contamination from former garage uses on part of the 
Peoples Site is believed by the Council not to be severe and, with no other 

significant constraints, the allocation of this accessible brownfield site for 110 
dwellings is sound.         

188. The strategic employment location at Dunnings Bridge Road Corridor 
(MN2.47) comprises vacant land on three large, strategically located sites 
which have been in industrial use for many years.  There are highway capacity 

issues on Dunnings Bridge Road and contamination on some sites, and their 
deliverability was carefully assessed in the Dunnings Bridge Road Economic 

Investment Strategy.51  Although some B-class development may be viable 
without assistance, it appears that cross-subsidisation from other more 
profitable uses may be necessary to facilitate the full take-up of these sites; 

policy MN2 allows for small scale enabling development and is sound.    

189. Farriers Way (MN2.52), Lanstar Site, Hawthorne Road (MN2.53) and 

Linacre Bridge, Linacre Lane (MN2.54) are smaller employment allocations 
on land that was previously in B-class uses.  There are no major constraints to 
development and the proposed regeneration of these brownfield sites is sound.     

5b.   Green Belt/ countryside sites  

190. I determined under issues 2 and 3 that, in principle, achieving the Plan’s vision 

and objectives would require the release of some land from the Green Belt.  
The Council’s Green Belt Study52 describes the objective and methodical 
process by which the development potential of all Green Belt land in Sefton 

was assessed.  The study firstly considered how well land parcels performed 
against the purposes of including land in the Green Belt by assessing the 

degree of containment (as a measure of urban sprawl), the impact on gaps 
between settlements, the amount of land in countryside use, the impact on 

the setting of historic assets and the implications for urban regeneration.  
Many parcels were eliminated as a result of this stage, demonstrating that 

                                       
51 Document EM.10, BE Group, October 2015. 
52 Documents EN.1 (Green Belt Study), EN1a-h (Site Assessments) and EN.2 (Methodology). 

Page 80

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 49 - 

Green Belt considerations had a critical role in the site selection process.  The 
remaining land was then assessed against a range of development constraints 

and accessibility criteria, which led to further parcels being eliminated.       

191. At the examination there was little criticism of this methodology, which in my 

view comprises a rational and robust basis for site selection.  Some parties 
argue that different conclusions should have been reached on certain criteria 

for individual sites, but that is not surprising when a series of value 
judgements are being made and it does not invalidate the process.  The 
purpose of the site-specific appraisals below is to establish whether the most 

sustainable sites have been selected having regard to suitability, accessibility 
and other factors; where relevant, I also consider whether the detailed policy 

criteria are sound.  In the conclusion I return to the question of whether the 
exceptional circumstances test of Green Belt policy is met.   

192. As previously indicated, the loss of Green Belt and countryside is vehemently 

opposed by many Sefton residents.  Representors also argue that insufficient 
importance is placed on the sizeable areas of high quality agricultural land that 

would be lost to development.  The Council’s Agricultural Land Study53 shows, 
from detailed testing, that the quality of agricultural land is slightly lower than 
that indicated in the large scale classification, though mostly it remains within 

the “best and most versatile” (BMV) category.  As required by the NPPF, the 
Study examined the economic consequences of built development on 2.1% of 

Sefton’s agricultural land and found that the loss of food production and 
economic output would be very small in the regional and national context.   

193. It is not possible to avoid the loss of some high quality agricultural land if the 

Plan’s strategy is to be delivered and, given the relatively limited impacts, I 
agree with the Council that BMV land should not be an overriding constraint to 

development.  Nevertheless, the preference given in the NPPF to areas of 
poorer rather than higher quality agricultural land is a consideration in the site 
selection process. 

194. There was substantial objection to the increase in traffic and congestion on 
local roads as a result of the development in the Green Belt, and to the added 

pressure on already stretched services such as health facilities and schools.  
Other frequently expressed concerns include the increased risk of flooding, the 
loss of wildlife and biodiversity, worsening air pollution and many other 

matters.  These are legitimate and understandable concerns, for there is no 
doubt that the sizeable expansion proposed would have noticeable effects on 

local communities which should not be dismissed lightly.  But local opposition 
is not in itself sufficient reason to reject a proposal; decisions should be taken 
in the light of all material considerations, including local needs and priorities, 

guided by relevant national policy.  In planning for the future needs and 
prosperity of its communities, the Council has to strike a balance between 

many competing interests and difficult decisions have to be made.       

Southport and Ainsdale 

195. Bankfield Lane, Southport – MN2.2   The land is part of the largest 
remaining area of open farmland between the eastern edge of Southport and 

                                       
53 Document EN.6 – Sefton Agricultural Land Study, ADAS, November 2012. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 50 - 

the administrative boundary with West Lancashire.  The area proposed for 
housing abuts the settlement edge and is partially contained by built 

development on Blundells Lane and by Three Pools Waterway, which would be 
strong boundary features.  Land to the south-east of the housing site is 

proposed for open space in association with the development, so there would 
be a significant encroachment into the countryside and a noticeable intrusion 

into the surrounding arable landscape.  The boundary between the housing 
and open space crosses a cultivated field and follows no physical features, 
though there would be the opportunity to create a robust boundary at detailed 

design stage.  The nearest settlement to the east is a considerable distance 
away, so there would be no loss of a gap.  Overall the development would 

cause moderate harm to the Green Belt.  

196. Most of the site is within flood zone 3a, at risk from tidal flooding.  However, 
for the reasons explained above under the Phillips factory site, which is close 

by, the coastal defences provide a 1 in 1000 year standard of protection and 
the actual risk is very low.  The submitted FRA demonstrates that, subject to 

suitable finished floor levels and on-site storage of surface water, the 
Sequential and Exception tests are passed.  The site is part of an extensive 
local wildlife site valued for its grassland habitat, water voles and wintering 

birds.  However, the housing site is predominantly arable farmland and the 
impact on biodiversity would be limited, particularly with mitigation provided 

on the adjacent open space.  And though the site comprises high quality 
agricultural land, at grade 3a it is the lowest grade that qualifies as BMV land. 

197. The site has relatively good accessibility to the shops, facilities and services in 

Churchtown.  Many local people are concerned about the ability of local 
schools and health facilities to deal with the significant additional demands 

from this and other sites nearby, but there is no compelling evidence that they 
will not be able to cope.  The Council demonstrated that there is spare 
capacity at some (albeit not all) local schools, and the Clinical Commissioning 

Groups (CCGs) have given a borough-wide assurance that they are planning to 
accommodate the growing demand for health services and facilities.  And 

though I understand the fears about extra traffic on local roads, the Transport 
Assessment (TA) demonstrates that the road network has the capacity to 
accommodate the development with only limited increase in queues and delay.   

198. Following detailed studies which address a number of potential constraints 
including access, biodiversity and surface water drainage, the Council has 

increased the site capacity from 220 to 300 dwellings (part of MM9).  Overall 
the proposal would make an important contribution to meeting local housing 
needs sustainably and, in the absence of significant harm to the Green Belt 

and no overriding constraints to development, the modified allocation is 
sound.        

199. Moss Lane, Churchtown – MN2.4   Like the site above, Moss Lane lies 
between the urban area and the eastern administrative boundary.  It is poorly 

related to the settlement because, apart from a corner that abuts dwellings on 
Moss Lane, it is separated from the urban area by a 9-hole golf course.  It 
would therefore be a prominent and somewhat isolated extension to Southport 

and a substantial encroachment into the countryside around the town.  
However, there would be no appreciable impact on the very wide gap to the 

nearest settlement to the east.  The existence of a small group of dwellings 

Page 82

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 51 - 

immediately east of Three Pools Waterway does not result in conflict with the 
Green Belt purpose of preventing neighbouring towns from merging.  These 

dwellings comprise sporadic development in the Green Belt; they fall far short 
of being a town and I agree with the Council that, as they do not constitute a 

settlement in the terms of its Green Belt study, coalescence would not occur. 

200. Moss Lane and Three Pools Waterway represent enduring physical boundaries 

to further development and would provide a robust edge to the extended 
settlement.  Although the golf course would no longer serve as a wide, 
attractively landscaped buffer to the existing urban edge, the requirement in 

new policy MN6A (MM21) to provide a tree screen along Moss Lane and a 
landscaped buffer alongside Three Pools Waterway should ensure a suitably 

soft edge to the urban area.  Such waterways currently form an eastern 
boundary to much of Southport, often with houses backing onto them, so an 
urban extension which presents a landscaped buffer to the countryside would 

appear less harsh when seen from the surrounding rural landscape.  
Nevertheless, because of its scale and poor relationship with the existing 

urban area, the allocation would cause significant harm to the Green Belt. 

201. Despite the removal of the golf course from the Green Belt, the Plan aims to 
protect it for its recreational value and importance as a Local Wildlife Site 

(LWS) under policy NH6; consequently I do not accept the argument that the 
loss of the golf course to development could not be resisted.  The Moss Lane 

site is not of intrinsically high landscape quality, and while the loss of grade 2 
and 3a agricultural land would be unfortunate, there is very little lower grade 
land available in Sefton.  There is ample land on which to provide suitable 

mitigation for any wildlife interest found on the site.  Subject to the provision 
of suitable landscaping and open space, as sought by MM9, MM10, MM14 

and part of MM21, the setting of nearby heritage assets would not be harmed.   

202. Moss Lane would be widened to provide an access to the site suitable for a bus 
service.  I am satisfied that this could be achieved within adopted highway 

land, which includes part of the grass strip in front of the golf club.  The TA 
demonstrates that whilst there would be a small increase in peak-hour 

queuing at the Moss Lane/Mill Lane/Roe Lane/High Park Road roundabout, the 
junction would continue to operate within its operational capacity.  There is no 
compelling evidence that Wyke Lane, a narrow rural road to the east, could 

not accommodate the additional flows anticipated.  The area-wide studies54 
indicate that the cumulative traffic impact of all allocations in and around 

Churchtown would not result in lack of capacity or significant additional delays 
on the nearby road network.  Although these developments would contribute 
to some increase in delays on the already congested roads in other parts of 

Southport, notably in the Kew/Meols Cop area, the impacts would be far short 
of ‘severe’ and thereby satisfy paragraph 32 of the NPPF.   

203. The site has moderate accessibility to local shops and services.  There are a 
number of shops about 800m away at the roundabout, while the nearest 

school, doctor’s surgery and Churchtown local centre are a short distance 
further away.  The requirement of new policy MN6A (MM21) to subsidise the 
extension of a bus service into the site is important to ensure reasonable 

accessibility by all transport modes; the five year subsidy period should be 

                                       
54 See particularly Documents TR.2 and TR.4 

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 52 - 

long enough to allow the extended service to become self-funding provided 
there is sufficient demand for it.  As with the other sites near Churchtown, I 

find no reason to disagree with the relevant authorities’ views that schools and 
health facilities can be expanded to cope with the increased demand.   

204. About half the site is in flood zone 3a but, in common with the sites to the 
north, the risk is tidal and Southport’s coastal defences provide a good 

standard of protection.  The updated FRA demonstrates that, subject to raised 
floor levels and on-site surface water retention, the Sequential and Exception 
tests have been passed; consequently the EA does not object to the proposal.  

The FRA is based on the latest flood maps from the EA, as is the Council’s 
borough-wide site screening report,55 so I am satisfied that up-to-date data 

was used and that the two tests have been carried out correctly (bearing in 
mind that sites close to Southport are required if the town’s housing needs are 
to be met sustainably).  Despite some objectors’ concerns about viability, I do 

not accept that the detailed assessment is flawed; it indicates that there is 
sufficient margin to be confident that the scheme can deliver the necessary 

infrastructure as well as 30% affordable housing.     

205. Overall, most of the impacts of the proposed housing scheme at Moss Lane are 
similar or less than those of other allocations and can be suitably mitigated.  

However, the development would cause significant harm to the Green Belt on 
a site which is slightly less accessible to local goods and services than many 

others.  On the other hand, there is a substantial need for new market and 
(particularly) affordable housing in Southport which the site would deliver.  As 
indicated elsewhere, there are few other opportunities for meeting Southport’s 

housing needs locally.  On balance, therefore, the compelling need for new 
housing and compliance with the Plan’s strategy of meeting that need as close 

as possible to where it arises outweigh the Green Belt harm and other 
constraints to development.  Accordingly the modified allocation is sound.     

206. Crowland Street, Southport – MN2.5   This is another large parcel of land 

between Southport’s urban edge and the administrative boundary.  Although 
the site is partly contained by existing commercial/industrial estates and a 

railway line, it would nevertheless represent a noticeable encroachment into 
the countryside.  There would be no impact on the wide gap to the nearest 
settlement to the east, though there would be some lessening of the much 

smaller gap to the loose-knit ribbon development along Southport Road and 
Pool Hey Lane to the south.  The site would be bounded by Boundary Brook, a 

strong feature in this flat, open landscape, and the railway line; both are likely 
to be permanent and thereby satisfy the NPPF tests for boundary definition.  
Overall the development would cause moderate harm to the Green Belt.     

207. The site is wholly within Flood Zone 1 (thereby passing the Sequential Test) 
and there is limited risk from surface water flooding.  It is mainly in 

agricultural use, though as 90% is grade 3b there would be little loss of high 
quality (BMV) land.  The limited impacts on the landscape and ecology can be 

suitably mitigated at the design stage.  There is moderate accessibility to most 
key local facilities and services, though the nearest primary school and health 
centre are some distance away.  The site abuts a wide range of industrial and 

commercial uses and the Council initially considered its potential for a mixed 

                                       
55 Document EN.32 – Local Plan Site Screening Report, JBA Consulting, October 2015. 

Page 84

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 53 - 

industrial/residential development.  However it was demonstrated that any 
sizeable amount of employment development would not be viable, so the Plan 

proposes a wholly residential scheme.  Although the immediate environment is 
not ideal for residential use, there is ample land available to provide buffers to 

the existing industrial development. 

208. The most significant constraint is highway access, for Crowland Street carries 

a lot of industrial and commercial traffic and access to the wider highway 
network would mostly be via the busy Norwood Road/Meols Cop Road.  The 
Southport traffic study56 indicates that there will be increased congestion and 

delays on the latter roads from the cumulative impacts of all the sites in 
eastern Southport.  Funding is being sought, with LCR backing, for a major 

highways scheme along the eastern approaches to Southport which, it is 
reasonable to assume, would assist traffic across this area.  But even without 
such improvements the increase in congestion would be relatively modest and 

the major Kew roundabout junction would continue to operate within capacity.  
The cumulative impacts would fall far short of ‘severe’, which is the test set 

out in the NPPF for preventing new development on transport grounds.  

209. Despite its large size, the Crowland Street housing allocation does not have 
any major constraints.  The harm to the Green Belt would be moderate, and 

whilst there would be an increase in traffic on the already congested roads in 
this part of Southport, it would not have a substantial impact.  The other 

shortcomings are not significant and in most instances can be adequately 
mitigated.  In these circumstances the provision of some 678 dwellings (30% 
of which would be affordable housing) in a town where the need is high and 

the opportunities for development are very limited justifies this allocation.  As 
modified, the Plan is sound. 

210. Lynton Road, Southport – MN2.7   Development of this narrow strip of land 
between the dwellings on Lynton Road and the Liverpool-Southport railway 
line would have limited impact on the Green Belt.  There would be a loss of 

openness which is common to all Green Belt sites, but encroachment into the 
countryside would be minimal and the railway line would be a strong physical 

boundary to prevent further sprawl.  And as the site lies on the edge of the 
coastal dune belt, there would be no impact on the gaps between settlements.   

211. The site is part of a linear LWS along the railway line which is designated, in 

part, for its sand lizard habitat and acts as a wildlife corridor which links 
breeding sites.  The railway is part of the much larger Sefton Coast Site of 

Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  An extended phase 1 ecological survey 
found no sand lizards and low numbers of common lizards; it also found little 
open sandy habitat suitable for sand lizards.  Most of the acid grassland 

habitat present when the LWS was designated has been replaced by invasive 
tree and scrub species and escaped garden plants including bramble, 

raspberry, rose and spiraea.  The ecological evaluation concluded that subject 
to the retention of a buffer between the railway line and housing site where 

the habitats for which the LWS was designated could be recreated, the 
functionality of the site as a wildlife corridor would be retained.  In addition, 
the loss of other habitats used as foraging areas by other protected species 

would not be significant.   

                                       
56 Document TR4 – Southport Local Model Forecasting Report, Atkins, May 2015. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 54 - 

212. From my visit to the site I do not doubt that the continued spread of invasive 
species across the LWS would, in time, further reduce the habitat suitable for 

sand and common lizards.  In these circumstances, and as the relatively small 
size of the allocation would allow for an enhanced ecological buffer alongside 

the railway line, there is no biodiversity reason to oppose the proposal.  There 
are no other significant constraints.  Accessibility to a range of local facilities is 

good and the surface water flood risk can be mitigated within the site.  
Highway access would be taken on the outside of a bend where suitable 
visibility could be achieved, and although most traffic from the site would feed 

onto the nearby junction with Waterloo Road which has a poor accident 
record, a contribution to junction improvements would be sought.  Overall, 

and having regard to the limited harm to the Green Belt, the allocation is 
justified and the Plan is sound.     

213. Ainsdale Hope School, Ainsdale – MN2.8   The former school buildings are 

a prominent feature of the south-eastern corner of the site and their 
replacement by housing would not significantly impact on the openness or 

purposes of the Green Belt.  However, development of the adjacent areas of 
hardstanding and the former playing fields would represent a significant 
extension of the settlement into the countryside.  Because Ainsdale is already 

connected to Birkdale there would be no narrowing of a gap between 
settlements, though an open break does exist along the railway line which 

would be reduced by the development.  Further encroachment is unlikely 
because the site is bounded by the railway line and the Sefton Coast Special 
Area of Conservation, a European protected site.  Overall there would be 

moderate harm to the Green Belt. 

214. The proposal in the Submission Plan to develop the whole site for housing, 

including the former playing fields, resulted in a similar objection from Sport 
England to the loss of other school sites which included sports pitches (see 
MN2.9 above).  Local community representatives also object, arguing that the 

expansion of local youth football teams in Ainsdale has been hindered by a 
lack of facilities since the school closed in 2007, despite the sports field being 

maintained.  In response to the shortfall in pitch provision identified in its 
recent PPS study, the Council proposes the same solution as at the other 
school sites - financial assistance towards the compensatory provision of 

artificial (3G) pitches at Meols Park or on adjacent land.  In principle such 
mitigation accords with the NPPF and is sound.     

215. Evidence submitted by local wildlife interests indicates that the former sports 
pitches are being colonised by many plant species found on the adjacent 
coastal dunes.  The eastern half of the playing field is neutral grassland which 

is acknowledged to be of little conservation interest, while species diversity 
increases significantly on the sandier soils towards the west.  Although the 

Council’s ecologist believes that the former pitches do not merit LWS status, 
the Council decided during the examination to limit housing development to 

the eastern half of the allocation site and to require ecological improvements 
to the western half.  As a result, the site capacity was reduced from 243 to 
120 dwellings and the area shown on the policies map was halved.  

216. I acknowledge that there is a case for protecting the most species-rich 
western and north-western part of the site from development, both for its 

intrinsic botanical interest and to act as a buffer to the protected dunes 

Page 86

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 55 - 

beyond.  But on planning grounds I do not believe that it is necessary to 
prevent development on half the total site (thereby protecting about two-

thirds of the former sports field).  I also do not consider that the ecological 
evidence supports a simple straight line division across the middle of the site, 

for this is unlikely to correspond with the area of greatest botanical interest.   
In these circumstances the best approach is to revert to the original whole-site 

allocation on the policies map, but to add a requirement to provide an area of 
ecological improvement alongside the housing site.   

217. Whilst I believe that there is potential for a considerable increase in site 

capacity, delivery of more than the stated 120 dwellings cannot be assured 
because the site is owned by Sefton Council.  In due course it will be for the 

Council, as both landowner and local planning authority, to decide precisely 
where the boundary between housing site and nature reserve should be 
drawn.  In reaching this conclusion I have taken into account the presence of 

sand lizards in the protected dunes close to the west of the site.  I accept that 
the proposed dwellings would increase the risk of predation by domestic cats, 

though it has to be recognised that the sand lizard population exists despite 
being close to hundreds of houses in this part of Ainsdale which are already a 
potential source of cat predation.  Arguably, therefore, mitigation involving 

translocation of the sand lizards to another part of the dunes might increase 
their prospects of long term survival.        

218. There are few other constraints to the development of this site.  Access to 
Ainsdale centre, the railway station and many other key services is good.  The 
surface water flood risk and the presence of methane from underlying peat are 

often encountered in this area and can be readily mitigated.  I note the 
concerns about traffic backing up along nearby roads when the railway 

crossing is closed, and the frequency with which this happens, but the 
highway authority considers the road network to be more than adequate for 
the 243 dwellings originally proposed and there is no evidence to the contrary; 

moreover, the Kenilworth Road bridge provides an alternative route.  In these 
circumstances, and subject to MM9, MM11 and MM72 which include the 

necessary modifications to policy MN2 and Appendix 1 in respect of sports 
pitch and ecological mitigation, the need for new housing in this highly 
sustainable location justifies this allocation.  Accordingly the Plan is sound. 

219. Moor Lane, Ainsdale – MN2.11   Development of this site would represent a 
small but noticeable extension of Ainsdale into the surrounding countryside 

and a slight lessening of the gap to Formby, though a sufficiently large gap 
would remain to dispel any sense of the settlements merging.  The proposed 
boundary to the Green Belt would mostly be the hedgerow that defines the 

southern extent of the fields; this would not be as physically robust or 
recognisable as Moor Lane, though it is likely to be permanent because the 

golf course and listed building to the south should prevent further sprawl.  
There would be an opportunity to strengthen the Green Belt boundary with a 

suitable landscape scheme.   

220. The land is not of high agricultural quality (grade 3b) and the site has little 
biodiversity value.  The modest risk of surface water flooding can readily be 

mitigated within the site, and the sand/peat ground conditions do not pose a 
significant constraint.  The site is reasonably accessible to most local services 

and facilities.  I acknowledge that access to the site from the Formby by-pass 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 56 - 

is not easy, but this is largely the result of the short phasing on the traffic 
lights.  The TA that is required at application stage would assess the operation 

and capacity of the junction and, if necessary, improvements would be made 
as part of the development.        

221. To the south-west of the site is the grade II listed Formby House Farm, an 
early 18th century white-rendered cottage which has been altered and 

extended, though the principal south elevation retains mostly original features.  
There is a courtyard to the south of the cottage and a garden to the north, 
both enclosed by established hedges, walls and solid gates.  Glimpses of the 

rear of the cottage are obtained from parts of the allocation site, though such 
views are interrupted by the hedges, new outbuildings in the rear garden and 

a large new barn to the east.  The core elements of the listed building’s setting 
relate to the southern and western elevation and the courtyard; views of (and 
from) these elements would not be affected by the proposed development.  

There would be limited, angled views from the rear of the cottage towards the 
allocation site, though visually the impact on the setting of the listed building 

would be minimal.   

222. It is unclear from the evidence whether there was an historic agricultural 
association between the farmland of the allocation site and Formby House 

Farm.  I accept that the rural surroundings of the cottage are important in 
appreciating the significance of the heritage asset, and clearly a small part of 

that rural setting would be lost.  But in the context of a building whose 
principal historic aspect to the south and west would be unaltered, and where 
the field directly to the north would also remain undeveloped, the harm to the 

significance of the listed building and its setting would be limited.  
Consequently I consider that the undefined dog-leg boundary to the allocation 

site, which is intended to provide a buffer to the listed building, is arbitrary 
and is set back further than is necessary.  In my view the new barn and its 
hardstanding provide a stronger boundary to the allocation, though again this 

would benefit from suitable landscaping.  Notwithstanding this slight extension 
to the site, it is important that the Plan states the need for the housing 

scheme to preserve the setting of Formby House Farm.  This was not a specific 
requirement of the Submission Plan and is one of the necessary additions to 
Appendix 1 comprised in MM74.   

223. Overall there are few constraints to the development south of Moor Lane and 
these can readily be mitigated.   The main concern is the harm to the Green 

Belt which, proportionate to its size, is slightly greater than at some other 
Southport sites.  However in the absence of any other harm, and having 
regard to the strong need for new market and affordable homes in Southport 

and the lack of alternative sites, I consider that the allocation is sound.        

Formby 

224. The availability of land for development in Formby is severely constrained by 
many factors, notably flood risk, nature conservation and the Green Belt.  

These are examined on a site-specific basis below.  Because of these 
constraints, satisfying the Plan objective of meeting needs as close as possible 
to where they arise is challenging.  Moreover, Formby has a very high need for 

affordable housing; this adds to the case for providing at least a proportionate 
share of the borough’s housing requirement relative to its size.  The total 

Page 88

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 57 - 

amount of housing development allocated on sites in Formby is slightly less 
than a proportionate share of the overall need.   

225. There is much local concern about the cumulative impacts of the housing and 
employment allocations on Formby.  In terms of traffic growth, the cumulative 

effect of the larger sites in Formby has been modelled and shown to have a 
relatively limited impact on the highway network, especially when compared 

with the larger settlements.  As at Southport, the main health and education 
authorities have confirmed that the increased pressure on local facilities will be 
addressed as development progresses.  There is no compelling evidence that a 

lack of urban open space will place undue pressure on the coastal nature 
conservation sites, for current provision in Formby meets the borough 

standard and the Plan requires adequate on-site provision to be made on all 
but a few relatively small sites.  Concerns about the cumulative impact of 
flooding are addressed within the individual site analyses below.        

226. Brackenway, Formby – MN2.12   Although the site is partially contained by 
existing development, it would represent a noticeable extension of the urban 

area into the countryside.  It would also diminish the gap between Formby and 
Ainsdale at its narrowest point, but a sizeable gap would remain.  The use of 
land to the north for drainage and ecological mitigation as part of the 

development suggests that further northwards sprawl and narrowing of the 
gap is unlikely.  The nature of the Green Belt boundaries (a drainage ditch and 

the Formby bypass) would be largely unchanged.  Overall there would be 
moderate harm to the Green Belt.   

227. The eastern half of the site is in Flood Zones 2 and 3a and is subject to fluvial 

flooding; it is also affected by surface water flooding.  Flood water from the 
site also contributes to flooding on Hawksworth Drive.  Policy MN6 of the 

Submission Plan requires a flood risk mitigation scheme which addresses these 
matters, but serious questions were raised about the feasibility of such a 
scheme.  Further technical work was carried out during the examination which 

set out the detailed measures to be undertaken.  These include raising ground 
levels in the part of the site to be developed, creating a wetland area in the 

south and east and a flood storage area on land to the north, raising the 
height of peripheral bunds to minimise the risk of overtopping, and installing 
non-return valves.  The argument that this would acceptably manage the on-

site flood risk and reduce flood risk off the site is now accepted by the EA.             

228. I understand the scepticism of local residents at the solution proposed.  I 

acknowledge that further modelling is required, particularly in respect of the 
off-site surface water flood risk away from Hawksworth Drive, and I note the 
claim about flood water in the wider network having nowhere to go because of 

high water levels in the receiving main rivers.  However, the flood risk studies 
appear thorough and have been independently appraised, and the Council is 

confident that any slight discrepancies in the data are not critical.  
Importantly, opportunities exist to increase flood storage both within the site 

and within the nearby surface water network, which provides some resilience 
should further work identify a need for greater capacity.  Overall, the technical 
evidence points to an appreciable reduction in off-site flood risk.  On this basis 

I am satisfied that the mitigation scheme would deliver the requirements of 
policy MN6 and that the proposal complies with paragraph 102 of the NPPF. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 58 - 

229. The site is part of a LWS, though intensive grazing by horses has led to the 
grasslands currently having little ecological (or landscape) value and many 

ditches are drying out or contaminated.  The Council believes that the 
proposed improvement of grassland and wetland habitats on the remaining 

7.9ha of the LWS would enhance its ecological value, despite the substantial 
loss of area.  I accept that achieving and sustaining this ecological benefit, 

particularly with a large residential population adjacent, would require careful 
design and long-term management of the enhanced LWS.  This is a 
requirement of policy MN6, however, and funding would be provided as part of 

the development; the LWS enhancement should also include suitable 
protection for the adjacent Freshfield Dune Heath LWS.  Subject to clarification 

in policy MN6 (MM19) that the enhanced habitats are to be outside the 
housing allocation, biodiversity is appropriately addressed. 

230. The main access to the site would be from a new junction on the Formby 

bypass, so the development would not significantly increase traffic in the 
northern part of Formby.  I appreciate the concern about local traffic using the 

new link to the bypass as a through route, but without a connection between 
the site and the existing local roads within Formby, many new residents would 
be unable to travel directly to local facilities and the site’s sustainability would 

be severely compromised.  With the Council’s traffic forecasts for Formby57 
indicating that the limited traffic growth in this part of the settlement would 

not cause delays and would be well within the capacity of existing highways 
and junctions, the requirement of modified policy MM6 for a secondary means 
of access via Paradise Lane (MM19) is justified.  This connection would ensure 

that the site has moderate accessibility to local shops and services.  The 
associated revision to the text (MM20) appropriately requires the route 

through the site to be designed to discourage through traffic.        

231. Overall there are no significant constraints to the development of this site.  
The moderate harm to the Green Belt is no worse than that at many other 

sites, the landscape impact would be limited and the loss of a large area with 
LWS designation would be adequately mitigated by substantial ecological 

enhancement to the part that remains.  A solution has been found to the 
serious flood risk which, because of the need for new housing in Formby and 
the lack of alternative sites with a lower risk, satisfies the Sequential and 

Exception tests of national policy.  The allocation would result in sustainable 
development which is consistent with the Plan’s objectives, and is sound.   

232. Liverpool Road – MN2.16   Development of this crescent-shaped parcel of 
land would be a noticeable encroachment into the countryside setting of 
Formby on the south-eastern approach to the town.  It would also slightly 

impact upon the relatively wide gap to Hightown, though it would not reduce 
the gap at its narrowest point.  The land abuts a weak settlement boundary 

which comprises residential estate roads and gardens; this would be replaced 
by strong physical features of the A565 Formby bypass and B5425 Liverpool 

Road.  For this reason the site appears as a logical extension to Formby and 
the overall harm to the Green Belt would be minor to moderate.  Moreover, 
the flat, featureless fields are of limited landscape quality. 

 

                                       
57 Document TR5 – Formby Development Site Forecasting Report, Atkins, October 2015 

Page 90

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 59 - 

233. The low-lying site is in Flood Zone 1, so the risk of tidal/fluvial flooding is low, 
but significant surface water flooding frequently occurs.  This would be 

mitigated by localised raising of land levels within the housing areas.  
Compensatory lowering of the land would provide the necessary replacement 

flood storage capacity in the undeveloped south-eastern part of the site.  The 
Council proposes a lower than average site capacity to allow for substantial 

areas of flood risk mitigation within the site.  Local residents are concerned 
that the development would restrict the flow of surface water across the site 
from adjacent housing areas, thereby increasing the flood risk to their homes.  

However, the FRA covering most of the site indicates no worsening of the off-
site flood risk; this study has been accepted by all relevant authorities 

including the EA.  In addition, as sought by the NPPF, a modification to 
Appendix 1 (MM78) requires opportunities to reduce flood risk elsewhere to 
be identified and implemented as part of the development.       

234. Appendix 1 of the Plan stipulates that, to preserve the setting of the 18th 
century grade II Lovelady’s Farmhouse and adjacent buildings, the far west of 

the site should be left open.  The Council’s heritage assessment58 indicates 
that the elements of setting which contribute most to the significance and 
cultural value of the farm are the interplay of the three buildings around a 

courtyard and their functional relationship with the agricultural land to the 
south and west.  The study also acknowledges that these critical elements of 

setting would not be affected by the development.  Subject to retention of the 
high hedge along the Liverpool Road frontage, the study indicates that the 
allocation would not materially affect the ability to understand or experience 

the heritage assets, though it would increase suburban development within 
their rural setting.  The heritage appraisal from a potential developer argues 

that there is the capacity for change because Lovelady’s Farm has historically 
been part of Little Altcar village rather than having an exclusively rural setting, 
though it also acknowledges the importance of the roadside hedge in 

mitigating the adverse impact of housing on the setting of the heritage assets.  

235. Provided the Liverpool Road hedge is retained, I do not believe that the ‘minor’ 

effect on the setting of the listed buildings justifies the requirement to leave 
the west of the site open.  Whilst a final judgement cannot be made until the 
scale and form of the proposed dwellings are known, it is likely that any harm 

to the significance of the listed buildings would be slight and would be 
outweighed by the benefit of maximising the delivery of new homes in 

Formby, given the difficulty in identifying suitable land.  In reaching this 
conclusion I have also taken into account the recent approval by the Council of 
a small group of new dwellings appreciably closer to the listed buildings.  

Accordingly, MM78 retains the need to preserve the setting of the listed 
buildings but deletes the clause about leaving the west of the site open.  

236. Appendix 1 also requires a single site access from a busy stretch of Liverpool 
Road that experiences significant traffic queues at peak hours.  To address 

this, the Liverpool Road approach to the bypass roundabout would be widened 
to allow two lanes to turn right.  This would markedly improve roundabout 
capacity and reduce peak hour queues; it would also significantly benefit other 

Formby allocations which distribute traffic onto Liverpool Road.  The site 
access would include a right turn ghost island on Liverpool Road to alleviate 

                                       
58 Documents EN.28 and EN 28a-i – Review of Heritage Assessments, AOC, October 2015 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 60 - 

any obstruction to traffic heading into Formby.  In these circumstances, and 
having regard to the Council’s Formby-wide traffic modelling of the main 

development sites which does not show significant stress at nearby junctions, 
I consider that the traffic impact of the allocation can be adequately mitigated.       

237. The site is in two ownerships and the intended developer of the smaller 
western field objects to the requirement for a single point of access.  Two 

alternative locations for a second access point are proposed.  The western 
options are difficult in highway design terms, being on the inside of a 90 
degree bend in Liverpool Road and directly opposite the access to Lovelady’s 

Farm.  As well as not being good highway design, these options would harm 
the rural setting of Lovelady’s Farm by increasing the extent of highway works 

close to the farm complex and, more importantly, by removing part of the tall 
hedge that would otherwise screen the new houses from the listed buildings. 

238. The eastern location would not materially affect the heritage assets but would 

result in two junctions with right turn ghost islands in close proximity along a 
busy stretch of classified road.  It would also be close to an existing bus stop 

and may affect the provision of a bus stop on the south side of the road.  The 
Council accepts that it may be feasible to design two accesses which satisfy 
technical highway standards, but submits that the additional complexity and 

increased hazards of such an arrangement justify the requirement for a single 
access.  I agree, and I share the Council’s view that road junctions have an 

inherently higher risk of accidents than the links between them.  
Consequently, without a compelling justification, I consider that a second 
access would not satisfy the ‘safe and suitable’ test of NPPF paragraph 32, nor 

qualify as good design that will ‘function well and add to the overall quality of 
the area’ (NPPF paragraph 58). 

239. I acknowledge that the single access requirement could delay the early 
development of the smaller western field and result in a gap in built form 
between the urban edge and new residential properties.  There is no evidence 

that development of this field is not viable or deliverable without a separate 
access, however, and as the potential developers of both land parcels have 

indicated a willingness to work together, any such delay is likely to be 
temporary.  Pedestrian connectivity to the rest of Formby could be achieved 
by utilising the existing public footpath which leads directly to local facilities 

and bus stops, though I accept there may be a short-term absence of cycle 
connectivity.  I also acknowledge the urgent need to build new houses in 

Formby, but as national house-builders are lined up to deliver most of the 
allocations, it is likely that some dwellings will come on stream quite soon.  In 
my judgement these arguments do not outweigh the long term benefits of a 

less complex and potentially safer single access.   

240. The evidence demonstrates that a safe and suitable single access to the whole 

site could be provided from either land ownership parcel, so the additional 
clause in Appendix 1 about the access being east of the drainage ditch is no 

longer necessary.  And while it is essential that a road link is provided across 
the ownership boundary, I accept that this is best achieved by the 
requirement for a master plan to be prepared and approved by the Council 

before any application is submitted.  MM78 makes the necessary adjustments 
to Appendix 1.  I do not accept that these requirements go beyond the level of 

Page 92

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 61 - 

detail necessary in a local plan, for they seem to me to be an appropriate 
means of overcoming a possible constraint to delivery of the entire allocation.              

241. There are no significant constraints to development of this site, which is well-
located in relation to local services and facilities.  About 30% of the site is BMV 

agricultural land, so there would be a relatively small loss of high quality land.  
Subject to the detailed modifications above, and having regard to the benefit 

of providing much needed housing in a settlement where suitable land is hard 
to find, the development would be sustainable and consistent with the Plan’s 
objectives.  Accordingly the allocation is sound.  

242. Altcar Lane – MN2.17   This small elongated allocation would extend the 
existing frontage development along the southern side of Altcar Lane.  There 

would be limited encroachment into the countryside and no appreciable 
narrowing of the gap to Hightown.  On the other hand, Altcar Lane and its 
vegetation form a strong Green Belt boundary which would be replaced by an 

insubstantial field boundary, though this could be reinforced as part of the 
development.  Thus the harm to the Green Belt would be minor. 

243. There are no significant constraints to this development.  The site is highly 
accessible to local services and there is adequate separation from the sewage 
works to the west.  The eastern end is close to Lovelady’s Farm listed buildings 

and the land is part of the farm group’s contextual rural setting, but a 
continuation of the frontage development (with the site squared off to match 

the existing plot depth on Altcar Lane, as proposed by the Council) would 
cause only limited harm to the significance of the heritage assets.  Overall, 
having regard to the limited impacts of this scheme, the allocation is sound.   

244. Power House phase 2, Hoggs Hill Lane – MN2.18   The redevelopment for 
housing of the former power station on the southern edge of Formby has led 

the Council to redefine the Green Belt boundary, moving it south to the River 
Alt.  The river is a clearly a strong physical boundary and it is logical to follow 
its curve around the Power House site to the sewage works.  As a result, 

additional open land to the east of the new houses is also removed from the 
Green Belt.  Most of this land is not available for development, being 

allotments and/or part of the flood plain.  The allocation comprises a narrow 
strip along Hoggs Hill Lane which is in Flood Zone 1.  Because new flood 
mapping has reduced the area in Flood Zone 1, the boundary has been 

amended and the capacity in policy MN2 lowered to 12 dwellings (MM9).      

245. The site lies mostly between the urban area and the Power House 

development, so the small number of additional houses would have minimal 
impact on the openness and purposes of the Green Belt.  Access would be 
from the new road and the site is reasonably close to local services.  There are 

no other constraints to development; accordingly the allocation is sound.        

246. Andrews Close – MN2.19   The site is well contained by the existing urban 

area such that the proposed housing development would not materially narrow 
the gap to Hightown.  It would, however, encroach into the countryside 

surrounding Formby.  The Plan requires the land to the south of the housing 
site to become a new public open space; this would address the limited supply 
of urban open space west of the railway and help to reduce recreational 

pressure on the coast.  As this land would also be removed from the Green 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 62 - 

Belt, there is the opportunity to strengthen the new Green Belt boundary with 
landscaping.  Overall the development would cause minor harm to the Green 

Belt and would have limited impact on the local landscape.   

247. The boundary to the housing allocation coincides with the land in Flood Zone 

1, whereas the open space lies within Flood Zones 2 and 3.  The low risk of 
surface water flooding would be mitigated by attenuation ponds within the 

open space.  I note the issue of foul sewage flooding in the locality but this 
would be addressed by United Utilities, who are aware of the problem and do 
not object to the allocation.  The Council indicates that United Utilities intends 

to firm up its next Asset Management Plan to cater for the level of 
development proposed in Formby once the Plan is adopted.  On this basis 

there is no compelling evidence that the site cannot be drained satisfactorily.    

248. Access to the site would be along an extended Andrews Lane through a narrow 
gap between two existing houses.  There is evidence that this can be provided 

to current highway standards and that the junctions with Barton Heys Road 
and Andrews Close would operate safely.  The new road would remove a short 

stretch of the well-used footpath and cycleway to the south, but a connection 
to this route would be reinstated and is a requirement of Appendix 1.  A TA 
demonstrates that the development would have a limited impact on the local 

road network, with all junctions – including the railway crossing – continuing 
to operate well within their capacity.  The Council considers that an acceptable 

access can be achieved; I agree.        

249. There are no other significant constraints to the development.  The new road 
would be close to the flank elevations of both adjacent houses, but this is not 

an uncommon arrangement and should not cause an unacceptable loss of 
residential amenity.  There would be minimal impact on the setting of Raven 

Meols Farmhouse, a grade II listed building to the west of the site, whose 
significance lies mainly in its survival as a late post-medieval farm building and 
its relationship with the farmland to the south.  The development would have 

good accessibility to most local services and facilities, and the limited 
ecological interest could be mitigated within the open space.  Given the limited 

harm to the Green Belt and the contribution made to meeting Formby’s 
housing need locally, the development would be consistent with the Plan’s 
objectives and sustainable.  Accordingly the allocation is sound.    

250. The land at Shorrock’s Hill – MN2.14A was not initially considered as an 
allocation because of ecological constraints and because its availability as a 

housing site arose very late in the preparation of the Plan.  Almost half the site 
comprises a hotel/nightclub, leisure facilities (including paintballing), stables 
(recently destroyed by fire) and hardstanding,59 so it is a partly brownfield site 

within the Green Belt and the Council has informally accepted the principle of 
limited redevelopment.  There would be a loss of openness as a result of the 

greater mass of buildings but relatively little urban sprawl, a small loss of 
countryside and, given the coastal location, no effect on the merging of 

settlements.  Although the western boundary would not follow any 
recognisable feature, it abuts a woodland LWS which should prevent further 
encroachment.  Overall the harm to the Green Belt would be minor. 

                                       
59 The premises closed in 2016 but the uses could be reinstated without needing planning permission. 

Page 94

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 63 - 

251. The area around Lifeboat Road has suffered disturbance from the nightclub 
and leisure activities and is subject to indiscriminate visitor parking during the 

summer months when the coastal car park is full.  The site promoter argues 
that the cessation of unneighbourly activities as a result of new housing (which 

would meet an identified need), coupled with the provision of a visitor car 
park, toilet block and other public facilities, would represent a mutually 

beneficial development.  Initially it was suggested that 60 dwellings and a 200 
space car park could be provided, though following a habitat survey and a 
Tree Preservation Order intended to protect the trees on the site, this has 

been reduced to 34 dwellings and a 100 space car park.      

252. Much of the strong opposition to this allocation focuses on the impact on the 

ecological value of the site and the surrounding area.  The Council’s ecologist 
believes that the high level ecological study is robust, notwithstanding the 
need for further surveys, and is confident that the ecological impacts of the 

reduced scale of development can be suitably mitigated.  The western 
boundary has been redrawn to exclude the adjacent woodland LWS from the 

site and the modified Plan requires the woodland to be managed and made 
accessible to the public (including a new bridleway) so that it can act as a 
buffer to the more highly protected coast.  The protection now afforded to the 

trees would allow Red Squirrels to continue their aerial passage from the 
woodland into the residential areas for supplementary feeding, and other 

wildlife corridors could be maintained.  The important European protected sites 
are a suitable distance to the west beyond the caravan park.  Overall I am 
satisfied that, in principle, a scheme which respects the ecological value of the 

site and locality, and complies with policies NH2 and EQ9, can be achieved. 

253. I acknowledge that the allocation would extend Formby into the coastal zone 

previously demarcated by St Luke’s Church Road, but the extension would be 
limited and onto previously developed land; there is no obvious reason why 
the road should be the westward limit to development if all adverse impacts 

can be mitigated.  The site is located on the edge of an area of coastal erosion 
but the Council is satisfied that there would be no detriment to the objectives 

of the Coastal Change Management Area and policy NH4.  Moreover, removal 
of the nightclub/leisure activities and the new car park would help alleviate 
some of the existing problems in the locality.  The argument that the toilet 

block would be better located on the beach car park appears to have merit but 
its feasibility is not known; if it subsequently proved to be both preferable and 

deliverable the Council would no doubt be flexible in implementing the 
Appendix 1 requirements in these particular circumstances.        

254. There are no other significant constraints to the development of this site.  

There is minimal risk of flooding and accessibility to most local services and 
facilities is acceptable.  Despite local concerns, the available evidence suggests 

that the local highway network has capacity to accommodate the traffic 
generated by the development.  The viability evidence indicates that the 

scheme is viable and, importantly, would include broadly policy–compliant 
provision of affordable housing.  Taking into account the minor harm to the 
Green Belt, the brownfield nature of the site and the public benefits that are 

proposed, I conclude that the allocation is justified and that the revised 
modifications to policy MN2 (MM9) and to Appendix 1 (MM76) are sound.  

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 64 - 

Hightown, Crosby and Thornton 

255. Elmcroft Lane and Sandy Lane, Hightown – MN2.20 and 2.21   

Development of the larger Elmcroft Lane site would be a prominent extension 
of Hightown into the surrounding countryside.  The railway line and copse 

which make up much of the current Green Belt boundary are strong features; 
the proposed south-western boundary would not follow any significant feature, 

though it would be strengthened with landscaping to improve the edge to the 
urban area.  Sandy Lane and the sports ground which partially define both 
sites are established features which would also be supplemented with 

landscaping.  There would be a slight narrowing of the wide gap to Crosby, 
though there would be no sense of the settlements merging (a smaller gap 

exists on the other side of the railway line).  Overall there would be moderate 
harm to the Green Belt and to the landscape setting of the settlement. 

256. The concerns about access are understandable, for the developments would 

more than double the number of houses on the eastern side of the railway and 
substantially increase traffic along Elmcroft Lane.  However, the TA 

demonstrates that these roads are lightly trafficked at present and would 
continue to operate well within their capacity.  Elmcroft Lane is sufficiently 
wide to cater for the increased flows and fears about its ability to withstand 

construction traffic could be addressed at the design stage.  Localised junction 
improvements and road widening, particularly along Sandy Lane, could be 

carried out within highway limits.  The traffic using Sandy Lane at weekends to 
reach the sports pitches does not coincide with the peak weekday residential 
flows, and the Council is not aware of a highway capacity problem.  Indeed, 

the widening of a stretch of Sandy Lane to achieve access to the smaller site 
may assist slightly.  And though Hightown can only be reached along twisty 

country lanes, there is no evidence that these rural roads are congested or 
have a poor accident record.        

257. There is reasonable accessibility from both sites to the village facilities, 

including a regular train service.  I accept that the range of shops and facilities 
is very limited and that there is no school, but that is not uncommon with 

smaller settlements and the Council believes that adequate provision is 
available in nearby towns.  All other constraints including ecology, heritage 
and ground conditions are capable of mitigation.  Although Hightown would be 

taking a slightly above-average proportion of the borough’s housing need in 
relation to its size, the limited availability of land in some other locations 

means that an exactly proportionate split is not possible.  There are no 
preferable alternative sites within Hightown and no other settlement is better 
placed to meet the local housing (including affordable housing) needs of the 

village.  In these circumstances, and notwithstanding the moderate harm to 
the Green Belt and landscape, the allocations are sound.        

258. Hall Road West, Crosby – MN2.22   This small, cleared former railway 
depot on the northern edge of Crosby is well contained by buildings and its 

development for housing would have minimal impact on the purposes of the 
Green Belt.  There are no significant constraints and all minor issues can be 
suitably mitigated.  Although the site is some distance from Crosby centre and 

other facilities, it abuts an extensive area of suburban housing and is highly 
accessible by public transport.  Clearly the allocation is sound.    

Page 96

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 65 - 

259. Southport Old Road and Holgate, Thornton – MN2.23 and 2.24   Prior to 
the recent completion of the A5758 Broom’s Cross Road, development around 

Holgate and Southport Road provided a relatively strong northern edge to 
Thornton.  Broom’s Cross Road is now a much stronger boundary feature and 

should prevent any further sprawl northwards.  Housing development on the 
land between the established and new roads would be a noticeable 

encroachment into the countryside.  It would also marginally narrow the small 
gap to Lunt village, though the new road represents a major barrier to 
coalescence.  Because there is an obvious logic to redrawing the Green Belt 

boundary along the A5758, the harm to the Green Belt from these allocations 
would be minor to moderate.  The impact on the landscape would be similar.  

260. Access to both sites is proposed from a single signalised junction on the new 
section of the A565 that runs south from the Broom’s Cross Road roundabout.  
There is significant peak-time congestion on the Moor Lane section of the A565 

south towards Crosby, though this will be addressed as part of traffic 
management improvements to the A565 corridor identified in policy IN2 and 

the IDP.  These improvements will take into account the changed junction 
priorities and reduced traffic flows on some local roads resulting from the 
opening of Broom’s Cross Road.  In light of the evidence that over 85% of 

journeys to work from the Thornton area are towards Liverpool and the 
motorway network, and that access to local schools does not involve travelling 

through Crosby, I accept the Council’s view that the impact of these sites on 
the congested section of the A565 is likely to be modest.  Nevertheless it is 
right that the developments should make a financial contribution towards the 

A565 route management improvements, as sought by MM79 and MM80 to 
Appendix 1.  

261. Most other constraints are not significant and can be addressed as part of the 
development.  The exception is the loss of BMV agricultural land (grades 2 and 
3a), but this applies to almost all sites in the Thornton/ Crosby area.  Despite 

concerns about flooding, the sites are in fluvial Flood Zone 1 and at little risk 
from surface water flooding.  There is good accessibility from both sites to 

most local services and facilities.  Overall the constraints to and impacts of 
these proposals do not outweigh the benefits, which include meeting the 
substantial need for new homes locally.  The allocations would be sustainable 

development which is consistent with the Plan’s objectives, and are sound.     

262. Lydiate Lane and Runnell’s Lane, Thornton – MN 2.25 and 2.26   

Development of both sites would be a prominent extension into the 
countryside east of Thornton and would significantly reduce the already 
narrow gap to Netherton.  Although Brooms Cross Road would form a strong 

northern boundary, the eastern boundary would either cross an open field 
(Lydiate Lane) or be a poorly defined field boundary (Runnell’s Lane).  The 

Council indicates that the gap to Netherton would be a similar width to the 
existing gap formed by the Rimrose Valley Country Park.  It argues that 

further sprawl and potential coalescence would be avoided by creation of a 
wide landscape strip along the eastern boundary which would become a robust 
edge to Thornton.  These points are accepted; nonetheless the harm to the 

Green Belt would be moderate to significant.        

263. A combined access to both sites would be taken from Lydiate Lane, which has 

seen a dramatic reduction in traffic flow since the opening of Broom’s Cross 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 66 - 

Road.  The effect on the local road network would be broadly similar to the 
other two Thornton sites, though more opportunities would exist for dispersal 

of traffic to the east and south.  Consequently the impact on the congested 
stretch of the A565 Moor Lane is likely to be small.  Accessibility to local 

services and facilities would be relatively good.   

264. The developments would have a moderate impact on the landscape.  The sites 

are shown as BMV agricultural land (mostly grade 2) in the borough-wide 
study, though the owner of Runnell’s Lane states that trespass and vandalism 
led to his land being permanently taken out of production over 20 years ago.  

In practice, therefore, the loss of BMV land carries slightly less weight than it 
otherwise might.  All other constraints, including the impact on the setting of 

the grade II listed Tanhouse Farm, can be satisfactorily mitigated.   

265. Overall, the main concern with these sites is the moderate to significant harm 
to the Green Belt.  The evidence indicates that other potential sites around 

Crosby and Thornton, particularly those on the north-western fringe, have 
greater constraints (ecology and heritage in addition to Green Belt), so I am 

satisfied that there are no alternative sites close to these settlements that 
would cause less harm.  This factor, coupled with the very limited harm to all 
but the Green Belt issue, has to be set against the Plan’s objective of meeting 

the substantial housing needs as close as possible to where they arise.  In my 
judgement these allocations would provide sustainable development and are 

sound.     

Maghull and Lydiate 

266. Turnbridge Road, Maghull – MN2.27   This small site is highly contained by 

built development (albeit many dwellings lie on the other side of the Leeds-
Liverpool canal) and would not appreciably encroach into the countryside 

around Maghull.  Nor would it affect any gap – I agree with the Council that 
Lydiate and Maghull have already merged.  The western boundary is well-
vegetated and would form a robust edge to the more open countryside 

beyond.  This is a logical infill site which would cause minimal harm to the 
Green Belt and have limited effect on the local landscape. 

267. Turnbridge Road is a standard residential street that is capable of 
accommodating the increase in traffic associated with the development; 
construction traffic could also be appropriately controlled.  Direct vehicular 

access to most of Maghull would be across the narrow swing bridge over the 
canal on Green Lane; I accept that the limited additional traffic would not 

significantly increase existing flows at this pinch-point in the highway network.  
I note the concern about flood risk following the severe canal breach in 1994, 
but it appears that this was a highly infrequent event with an extremely low 

risk of being repeated; moreover, there are a large number of houses abutting 
the canal in southern Sefton which have existed safely for many years.     

268. All other constraints are minor and most can be adequately mitigated.  The 
site is highly accessible to local services and facilities.  The allocation would 

contribute to meeting the substantial need for housing (including affordable 
housing) in the Sefton East Parishes.  Given the minimal Green Belt harm, the 
allocation is sound. 

Page 98

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 67 - 

269. Kenyon’s Lane, Lydiate – MN2.28   Kenyon’s Lane is a weak and somewhat 
anomalous boundary to the Green Belt in that a significant amount of 

development on its north side, including a school, a dairy business and a long 
ribbon of houses on the eastern side of Liverpool Road, is in the Green Belt.  

Whilst it is true that the housing allocation would result in a significant 
extension of Maghull into the countryside, it would also be perceived partly as 

a consolidation of the existing built development.  The site is well contained by 
the A59 dual carriageway and Liverpool Road, which would form strong 
boundaries.  I note WLBC’s objection to the narrowing of the gap to Aughton 

in West Lancashire, but in my view the 1km gap that would remain is sufficient 
to maintain the distinct identity of the settlements and to prevent any sense of 

coalescence.  Indeed, it would be noticeably wider than the existing gaps 
which separate Maghull and Melling from Aintree.  Overall there would be 
moderate harm to the Green Belt and limited impact on the landscape.        

270. The development would result in the loss of BMV agricultural land (grades 2 
and 3a), but there are no sizeable areas of lower quality land that are suitable 

for development in Sefton East Parishes.  Small areas of the site are at risk 
from surface water flooding but there is ample space for mitigation.  The site 
is well connected to the local road network and has good accessibility to most 

services and facilities.  I appreciate local residents’ concerns about the 
increased pressure on health and education facilities from the cumulative 

amount of new housing in Maghull and Lydiate, but policy IN1 should ensure 
that the necessary infrastructure is provided as part of the development 
process.  Moreover, the relevant authorities are aware of the scale of growth 

proposed and do not object to the Plan. 

271. Apart from the moderate harm to the Green Belt, there are no significant 

constraints to the development of this site.  The considerable need for new 
housing (including affordable housing) in Sefton East Parishes, coupled with 
the Plan’s objective of meeting needs as close as possible to where they arise, 

result in this allocation being justified and sound.        

272. East of Maghull – MN2.46   Despite being the largest single allocation in the 

Plan, the site is well contained by built development on three sides (including 
a redevelopment site to the north, MN2.29 – see below) and the M58 
motorway on the fourth side.  The development would extend Maghull towards 

Kirkby, though the gap would remain relatively wide and there would be no 
sense of the settlements merging.  Because of its large size, the encroachment 

into the countryside on the edge of Maghull would be substantial.  However, 
the motorway would be a robust, defensible boundary to further urban sprawl.  
Overall there would be moderate harm to the Green Belt.  The largely 

featureless site has limited landscape value so, despite the scale of the loss of 
countryside, there would be a moderate impact on the landscape.    

273. There would be a large loss of BMV agricultural land, with around 70% of the 
site being grades 2 and 3a; however, most potential land in Sefton East 

Parishes is of similar high quality.  A sizeable strip of land across the centre of 
the site is in Flood Zones 2 and 3 and is at risk of both fluvial and surface 
water flooding from Whinny Brook.  Modified policy MN3 (MM15) rightly 

precludes housing development on this land, which would become a new park.  
The policy also requires the flood risk to be reduced and managed, most likely 

by the creation of on-site storage; this accords with the NPPF and should 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 68 - 

lessen the problem of flood water from Whinny Brook flowing along the railway 
line and flooding dwellings downstream.  The requirement that the public open 

space provision includes a ‘main park’ is reasonable given the scale of the 
allocation and, as main parks vary considerably in size throughout Sefton, 

should not be unduly onerous. 

274. Given its size and mixed-use nature (20ha of employment land and 1,400 

dwellings), the scheme would generate a large amount of new traffic.  Studies 
demonstrate that its location next to M58 junction 1 would have an 
appreciable impact in restricting traffic growth on the local road network.60  

The provision of new slip roads to the M58, which have been allocated funding 
through the LCR Local Growth Fund and are part of the phasing requirements 

of policy MN3, should ensure that traffic growth in the busy central areas of 
Maghull will not be significant.  The studies also indicate that, despite roads 
such as Deyes Lane/School Lane and Poverty Lane experiencing major 

increases in traffic, they (and all adjacent roads) would remain well within 
their design capacity.   

275. Opportunities for public transport use would be considerably enhanced by the 
construction of a new railway station at Maghull North and the provision of a 
bus service through the site; these are requirements of policy MN3.  I note 

local residents’ concerns about the potential conflict with primary school traffic 
on Poverty Lane, but many urban schools face a similar problem and there is 

no reason why a suitable solution could not be found, particularly as expansion 
of this school is to be funded by the development.  Overall the cumulative 
traffic impacts of this and the other allocations in Maghull/Lydiate are likely to 

be far short of ‘severe’, which is the test in the NPPF for preventing 
development on transport grounds.        

276. Most other constraints can be suitably mitigated at the detailed design stage.  
Although the gas pipeline running parallel to the motorway may make it 
difficult to accommodate very large logistics uses, the mix of B1, B2 and B8 

uses proposed for the business park is likely to require a range of plot sizes.  
MM16 includes a diagram showing the broad location of the employment land; 

there is no evidence that the pipeline would unduly constrain the development 
of this land.  The site is reasonably accessible to local services and facilities 
and it should also be large enough to support a few local shops, as sought by 

policy MN3.  The 2,000 sq m floorspace limit seems appropriate, as the shops 
are intended to meet day-to-day convenience needs rather than account for 

the full potential expenditure arising from the site.  The provision of older 
persons housing is justified by the size of the allocation and the high 
proportion of elderly persons in this part of Maghull, and is a welcome 

response to the PPG revision. 

277. The site is in many land ownerships and it is vital that the framework for a co-

ordinated, comprehensive and suitably phased approach to the development is 
in place.  This is the aim of policy MN3, which was the subject of much 

discussion.  I consider that the modifications to policy MN3 in MM15, which 
require a master plan for the whole site, stipulate critical layout criteria, set 
out a proportional basis for infrastructure contributions and establish the 

                                       
60 Including Document TR3 – Land East of Maghull Development Site Forecasting Report, Atkins, 

October 2015. 

Page 100

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 69 - 

phasing of key infrastructure elements, are necessary and effective.  I do not 
agree that the requirement for a detailed master plan is disproportionate or a 

threat to early delivery, for such a document is a key step in facilitating the 
implementation of a comprehensive and co-ordinated mixed use development.  

I accept that, to avoid misinterpretation, the timing of the master plan is 
better prefaced by “should” rather than “may”.  As to the phasing of the 

business park, the 500 dwelling limitation is a ‘backstop’ and policy MN3 does 
not preclude the business park coming forward much earlier provided the M58 
slip roads are completed. 

278. To summarise, the harm to the Green Belt is primarily a result of the sheer 
size of this allocation, for many of the purposes of the Green Belt would not be 

significantly affected by this urban extension.  The loss of BMV land, whilst 
undesirable, is common to almost all sites in this area.  The allocation takes 
full advantage of major committed transport improvements, thereby ensuring 

that the traffic impacts of the scheme can be assimilated without undue 
consequences for the local road network.  Other constraints including flood 

risk can be adequately mitigated.  As modified, the Plan sets out a well-
conceived, comprehensive and suitably phased framework for the 
establishment of a sustainable mixed-use development.  The supply of a large 

number of much-needed new homes (which include affordable and older 
persons housing), coupled with the provision of a business park that would not 

be viable on its own, would amount to a sustainable development which is 
consistent with the Plan’s objectives.  Accordingly the allocation is sound.  

279. Prison Site, Park Lane, Maghull – MN2.29   Planning permission for 370 

dwellings on this brownfield site was granted in January 2015, so the inclusion 
of the allocation in policy MN2 reflects the current situation.  The removal of 

this land from the Green Belt is largely a consequence of the East of Maghull 
allocation (see above), for if this were not to be developed then it is likely that 
the Prison Site would remain as a previously developed site washed over by 

the Green Belt.  With East of Maghull found sound, there is obvious logic in 
also releasing this site and the Ashworth Hospital complex from the Green Belt 

as they do not contribute meaningfully to openness or fulfil any Green Belt 
purpose.   

Melling/Waddicar and Aintree 

280. Waddicar Lane and Wadacre Farm, Melling – MN2.30 and 2.31   Despite 
being bounded on two sides by housing development, both sites would be 

seen as conspicuous extensions of Melling into the surrounding rural 
landscape.  The slight intrusion into the wide gap to Maghull would have 
negligible effect on the separation between settlements.  Development of 

Wadacre Farm would represent a noticeable narrowing of the small gap to 
Melling village, though a combination of the distance and topography (the 

village is on higher ground) would ensure that the separate identity of the 
village is maintained.  The proposed boundaries to the sites do not follow 

strong physical features but, subject to suitable reinforcement and 
landscaping, they would form logical new limits to Melling.  Overall the harm 
to the Green Belt would be minor to moderate (Waddicar Lane) and moderate 

(Wadacre Farm).  The impact on the local landscape would be minor.        

  

Page 101

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 70 - 

281. Both sites are wholly in Flood Zone 1 (at low risk from fluvial flooding).  A 
sizeable area of Wadacre Farm is at significant risk from surface water 

flooding, which is exacerbated by limited capacity in both the perimeter 
stream and the culvert under the Leeds-Liverpool canal.  In accordance with 

the Sequential Test, all dwellings would be sited on higher ground away from 
the stream.  Because flooding presently occurs to some nearby properties 

which drain onto the site, it is appropriate that MM82 to Appendix 1 requires a 
site-specific FRA to identify opportunities to reduce flood risk elsewhere, 
including capacity improvements to the perimeter stream.  Other measures 

are likely to include on-site storage and overland flood flow paths.  Such 
measures should ensure compliance with NPPF paragraph 100.  

282. There is a similar (albeit less serious) surface water flooding problem at 
Waddicar Lane.  In this case on-site storage is likely to be the solution, with 
surface water discharge being controlled and (perhaps) pumped to the 

receiving watercourse.  Again, MM81 to Appendix 1 rightly seeks 
opportunities to reduce off-site flood risk.  In terms of agricultural land quality, 

Waddicar Lane is predominantly grade 3b so there would be very little loss of 
BMV land.  Almost two-thirds of the land at Wadacre Farm is grade 3a, though 
this includes the flood risk area which would remain undeveloped.     

283. Accessibility to the local services and facilities in Melling would be excellent 
from both sites.  Despite local residents’ concerns, studies show that the 

cumulative impact of the traffic generated by both sites would not be 
significant, with all local roads continuing to operate within their design 
capacity.  Furthermore, provision of the M58 slip roads in conjunction with the 

East of Maghull development is predicted to reduce flows along Waddicar Lane, 
so the studies may represent a worst case scenario.  All other constraints are 

minor and capable of mitigation.    

284. The Plan’s objective of meeting the borough’s housing needs as close as 
possible to where they arise necessitates some provision in the Melling/ 

Aintree area, but (as demonstrated below) suitable land is difficult to find.  
Waddicar Lane and Wadacre Farm would make a substantial contribution to 

meeting those needs in a sustainable location and with relatively few adverse 
impacts.  In these circumstances, and having regard to the moderate harm (at 
worst) to the Green Belt, the allocations are sound.      

285. Spencer’s Lane – MN2.32   Most of this small transport depot site is within 
the urban area, with only the western fringe being in the Green Belt.  The 

argument that a minor encroachment into the narrow M57 corridor to enable 
the affordable housing threshold to be exceeded is persuasive.  However, I 
share the Council’s view that, given the high sensitivity of the narrow gap to 

Aintree, the encroachment should be the minimum necessary.  Thus I do not 
accept the site promoter’s argument that the tree-lined boundary of the small 

field to the west would be more robust.  There may be a case for including 
landscaping within this field to robustly define the edge to the settlement, 

thereby maximising the housing potential of the allocation site, but the Green 
Belt boundary proposed in the Plan is justified and the allocation is sound.    

286. Wango Lane, Aintree – MN2.33   Development of this small scrubland site 

would result in minor urban sprawl and a marginal narrowing of the gap to 
Melling and Kirkby.  The site contributes little to the countryside setting of 

Page 102

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 71 - 

Aintree, for that setting is perceived mainly to extend as far as the Leeds-
Liverpool canal.  The canal would be a strong limit to development and the line 

of trees site on the northern boundary would be a continuation of the existing 
settlement boundary.  Overall the site would round-off a small undeveloped 

parcel on the edge of Aintree and the harm to the Green Belt would be minor.       

287. The site abuts Valley House, a much-altered 17th century grade II listed 

farmhouse which is largely surrounded by the suburban housing of Aintree.  
The former outbuildings to the west have been removed and the rural setting 
of the farmhouse has been severely compromised; thus the main value of the 

building derives from its architectural and historic interest.  Despite the trees 
to the east of the garden which restrict views of Valley House from the site, 

the Council considers that only about half the site should be developed to 
enable part of the contextual rural setting of the listed building to be retained.  
Whilst I accept this in principle, the justification for sterilising half the site is 

not clear.  However, this is a matter that requires detailed designs; without 
them there is no evidence on which a different site yield could justifiably be 

based.  In these circumstances the capacity of 25 dwellings is sound.   

288. Another potential constraint is the increase in traffic that would use the 
congested junction of Aintree Lane with the A59 Ormskirk Road.  This junction 

is already operating beyond capacity at peak hours, with long queues on 
Aintree Lane.  The Council’s evidence61 demonstrates that significant 

development in the Aintree area would have a detrimental effect on flows at 
this junction.  However, the Council believes that the limited number of 
additional trips generated by this small site would not significantly worsen the 

operation of this junction; I agree.  As to the risk from surface water flooding 
on this low-lying land, adequate mitigation should be feasible within the 

undeveloped parts of the site.         

289. There are no other significant constraints to this allocation, which is 
reasonably accessible to the local services and facilities in Aintree.  In light of 

the need for new housing in Aintree and the limited harm to the Green Belt, 
the allocation would result in sustainable development and is sound.   

5c.  Employment allocation at Formby 

290. North and South of Formby Industrial Estate – MN2.48 and MN2.49   
Under Issue 3 I concluded that there was a need for one, but not both, of the 

two employment sites proposed in Formby.  At the examination Sefton Council 
and Formby Parish Council declined to state a preference, leaving the choice of 

site to me.  I consider below the relative merits of each potential allocation.     

Main constraints to development 

291. The sites lie to the north and south respectively of the existing industrial 

estate and retail stores to the east of Formby bypass.  Dealing firstly with 
Green Belt issues, each site is well contained on three sides by existing 

development, the bypass and the embankment of Downholland Brook, and 
each would have a relatively weak fourth boundary to a drainage ditch.  

Consequently the loss of openness, the extent of urban sprawl and the 

                                       
61 Document TR6 – Aintree Traffic Forecasts, AECOM. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 72 - 

encroachment into the countryside would be broadly similar.  Although the 
South site is larger, the difference is mainly due to the football ground which 

would remain a predominantly open, non-countryside use.  There would be no 
impact on the very wide gap to the nearest towns, nor would either 

development appreciably narrow the gap to the nearest small village (Great 
Altcar).  Overall each scheme would cause moderate harm to the Green Belt 

and there is no basis for distinguishing between them.   

292. The greatest physical constraint to development on each site is flood risk.  
64% of the North site is in Flood Zone 2, with roughly equal areas in Flood 

Zones 3a and 1.  Employment (and retail) uses are classified as “less 
vulnerable” development in PPG and can be located in Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3a 

without need for the Exception Test.  The North site FRA proposes mitigation 
which includes raised floor levels, flood resilient construction techniques, 
creation of a flood storage area in the south-east corner of the site and 

management of surface water run-off.  By contrast, half of the South site is in 
Flood Zone 3 (42% in 3b, which is functional floodplain) and 41% is in Flood 

Zone 1.  The South site FRA seeks to manage the flood risk by placing the 
enlarged sports facility and parking for employment uses in the floodplain, 
which would allow most of the employment and retail buildings to be within 

Flood Zone 1.  Opportunities to “better shape” the site by providing 
compensatory flood storage would be investigated, which might include the 

widening and/or diversion of Boundary Brook. 

293. In January 2016 the EA withdrew its objections to both allocations, indicating 
that each development could take place without increasing flood risk on site or 

elsewhere.62  But a real risk of flooding remains.  Applying the NPPF Sequential 
Test (paragraphs 100-101) in accordance with PPG advice, the principle of 

‘lowest risk sites first’ favours the North site, which has relatively little land in 
Flood Zone 3 and no functional floodplain.  In assessing the likely impacts of 
any flooding, all buildings on both sites would have minimum floor levels at or 

above the 1 in 100 year (with climate change) level.63  However, some vehicle 
parking and circulation areas on the South site would be within the functional 

floodplain (by definition, land where water has to flow or be stored in times of 
flood), whereas the small flood storage area on the North site would be kept 
free from development.  Whilst water-compatible uses are not prevented from 

using the floodplain, the inundation of some parking and circulation areas 
during times of flood is likely to cause greater disruption to businesses on the 

South site.64  Thus both in strategic terms and from analysis of the FRAs, 
employment development is sequentially preferable on the North site.65            

294. The North site is part of Formby Moss LWS, though the improved grassland 

covering most of the site is species poor.  The ecological interest is confined to 
a small area of reed bed habitat, which is poorly managed and drying out, and 

                                       
62 Documents EX.66 and EX.84 – Email and letter from EA, January 2016 
63 The South site FRA states buildings would be at the 1 in 100 year level; the North site FRA states 

buildings would be 300mm above this level.  The freeboard above the flood level on the North site 

partly counteracts the point that more of the buildings on the South site would be in Flood Zone 1. 
64 In addition, the FRA for the South site requires an assessment that potential floating cars will not 

cause adverse risk.  The enlarged sports facility would also be within the floodplain, but this is the 
current situation so the risk of flooded pitches would not change unless ground levels were altered.    
65 In reaching this conclusion I have taken into account the risks from all the sources of flooding 

(tidal, fluvial (defended), fluvial (undefended), surface water and groundwater) identified in the FRAs. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 73 - 

a network of ditches which support water voles, a protected species.  The 
Council’s ecologist is satisfied that the harm resulting from the development 

can be mitigated by replacement habitat creation within the site, which is a 
requirement of policy MN4; I agree.  The South site is not a LWS and has little 

ecological interest, though there is the potential for water voles to inhabit the 
ditches.  Suitable mitigation would be provided within the 3ha reserved for 

ecological, landscape and amenity enhancement.  Development of the South 
site would minimise the impacts on biodiversity and is preferred in accordance 
with NPPF paragraph 117, though because the harm on both sites is capable of 

mitigation, this distinction is material but not significant.    

295. Turning to the effect on the landscape, both sites comprise flat, predominantly 

open land which is contained by strong physical features on three sides and by 
a weak feature on the fourth side.  The Council’s landscape assessment66 
records the North site to be mostly medium scale and the wider landscape 

character to be strongly influenced by the medium to large scale fields to the 
east.  The South site is considered to be medium to large scale, with its wider 

character strongly influenced by the large scale fields to the south and east.  
These subtle differences in landscape character reflect what I observed on my 
site visits.  The land north of the North site comprises an area of small fields 

leading to a group of farms and dwellings along Moss Side, whereas south of 
the South site there are no buildings and the larger fields give a more open, 

expansive feel to the landscape.  In these circumstances I consider that the 
South site development would be perceived as a slightly greater intrusion into 
the countryside setting of Formby than the North site development.   

296. In terms of agriculture, the North site is currently in agricultural use whereas 
the South site is not.  The most detailed information available on land quality 

(document EN.8) indicates that the North site is grade 3b and the South site is 
about half grade 2 and half grade 3b.  The less detailed 2012 MAGIC maps 
(document EN.7) show the North site as wholly grade 4 and the South site as 

wholly grade 2.  Thus the evidence indicates that allocating the South site 
would lead to the loss of some high quality (BMV) land but the North site 

would not.  NPPF paragraph 112 states that preference should be given to the 
use of areas of poorer quality land, so the North site is preferred.  Given the 
existing uses and the relatively small loss of BMV land on the South site, this 

distinction is material but not significant.   

297. Most other constraints apply equally to both sites and can be satisfactorily 

addressed.  Each site would be accessed from a new traffic-signal controlled 
junction on the Formby bypass; the submitted TAs demonstrate that such 
accesses would operate safely and would not cause significant extra delay to 

traffic on the bypass.  Although the bypass presents a barrier to access by 
non-car modes of transport from the residential areas of Formby, this applies 

equally to both sites and is not a major constraint.  The South site is closer to 
the listed buildings and Conservation Area in Great Altcar, but these heritage 

assets are some distance away and there is no evidence that either 
development would cause harm to their settings.    

 

                                       
66 Document EN.10 – Landscape Assessment of Possible Development Sites within the Green Belt, 

Ryder Landscape Consultants, November 2014.  

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 74 - 

298. To summarise, there is no material difference between the two sites in terms 
of their impact on the Green Belt and many other matters including access.  

The most important constraint is flood risk, which is lower on the North site; in 
accordance with NPPF paragraph 101, the North site should be allocated if it is 

reasonably available and appropriate for the proposed development.  The 
North site would also have slightly less impact on the landscape and on high 

quality agricultural land.  Development of the South site would cause less 
harm to biodiversity, though the impacts on the North site can be mitigated.  
Overall, and having regard to the broad thrust of the NPPF,67 I give significant 

weight to the clear preference for the North site resulting from the analysis of 
constraints.            

Type and mix of development 

299. The North scheme is promoted as a conventional employment development 
providing a broadly similar range of uses to those found on the adjacent 

industrial estate.  Local Plan policy allows for a limited number of other uses if 
they are necessary to cross-subsidise delivery of the employment floorspace.  

The promoter of the North site considers that ‘enabling development’ in the 
form of trade counters may be required, but believes that the employment 
floorspace would be viable without open retail uses.   

300. The South scheme is promoted as a mixed-use development of employment 
floorspace and a major expansion of the existing sports facilities.  The sports 

provision would include a new pitch and clubhouse for a re-formed Formby 
Football Club, two full-size artificial pitches for community use and many other 
sport/leisure facilities.  I observed on my site visit that the existing grass 

pitches are in poor condition and the changing facilities and spectator 
accommodation are clearly substandard.  Despite this, the facilities appear to 

be well used and the recent addition of four artificial six-a-side junior pitches 
adds to the sporting value of the current provision.   

301. The Council’s PPS indicates that the supply of grass football pitches in Formby 

exceeds the demand, giving a small spare capacity, but that there is a 
shortfall of one artificial pitch.  Whilst it is likely that a suitable site could be 

found elsewhere within Formby for an artificial pitch, no funding source has 
yet been identified.  The proposed provision on the South site would exceed 
the assessed shortfall, though I accept that the benefits of two full-size 

artificial pitches and a high quality stadium and clubhouse for the disbanded 
Formby Football Club would be considerable, with the potential to significantly 

increase junior and adult sports participation in Formby and the wider area.68  
I also note the substantial public support, and that of Sport England, for these 
improved facilities.  NPPF paragraph 73 recognises that access to high quality 

sport and recreation opportunities makes an important contribution to the 
health and well-being of communities; accordingly I give significant weight to 

the sports provision element of the South scheme. 

                                       
67 In addition to the above-mentioned paragraphs 100-101, 112 and 117, paragraph 110 states 
“Plans should allocate land with the least environmental or amenity value, where consistent with 
other policies in this Framework”.  
68 The Council makes the case for 2 artificial pitches to meet the priority needs of ‘Central Sefton’ in 
Document EX.45.  The PPS identifies a shortfall of 1 artificial pitch in Formby compared with 3 in 
Southport and 4 in Crosby/Hightown.  Thus double provision at Formby, whilst clearly beneficial, 

would not be ideally located for the settlements that have the greatest needs.  

Page 106

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 75 - 

302. To fund the proposed mix of uses, the South scheme requires substantial 
cross-subsidisation from more profitable uses.  At the hearings it became clear 

that, to maximise profitability, the original financial appraisal included a 9 unit 
(11,800 sq m) non-food retail park and food and drink uses (735 sq m).  In 

response to concerns that I expressed, the promoter’s most recent viability 
appraisal reduces the retail floorspace to 2,787 sq m,69 of which half could be 

occupied by any retailer (including a foodstore) and half would be restricted to 
the sale of bulky goods.  It also includes a public house and two drive-through 
outlets.  The retail floorspace would be about one-sixth of the size of Formby 

district centre.70   

303. The retail uses should be assessed in light of the 2015 RSR and Local Plan 

policy ED2.  There is no evidence of any unmet need for new retail provision in 
Formby.  Based on the RSR, the Plan does not identify an immediate need for 
additional convenience or comparison floorspace in North Sefton (which 

includes Formby) and supports provision of the longer term need for 
comparison floorspace in Southport town centre.71  Policy ED2 applies the 

sequential and impact tests of national policy.  A high level retail study 
demonstrates that there are no sequentially preferable sites available in or on 
the edge of Formby district centre, though it was pointed out that 

opportunities may exist in Southport town centre.  In any event, the ‘enabling’ 
nature of the proposed retail floorspace means that it is site specific.   

304. Turning to the impact on existing centres, the principles of ‘proximity’ and ‘like 
competes with like’ mean that the only potentially significant impact would be 
on Formby district centre.  The retail study estimates that there would be a 

5.6% overall loss of trade at Formby district centre if a foodstore is provided 
and 2.3% without a foodstore.  In light of the Secretary of State’s decision in 

December 2016 to grant planning permission for a new superstore at Meols 
Cop Retail Park, Southport,72 the cumulative impacts on Formby centre are 
projected to rise to 8.2% (with foodstore) and 4.9% (without foodstore).  

Although these cumulative impacts represent a worst-case scenario, it is 
appropriate to take them into account because there is a realistic prospect of 

them coming to fruition.    

305. Other parties argue that the impacts would be greater, mainly because the 
clawback of expenditure from distant locations (and the associated claims of 

reduced travel) have been over-estimated.  I agree that the retail study 
appears to under-estimate the comparison trade diversion from Formby 

district centre and I believe that a slightly higher impact on Formby centre is 
more likely, closer to the (albeit brief) Nexus analysis for the Council.  Thus I 
consider that the worst case (ie. with foodstore) cumulative impact on Formby 

district centre would be around 9%.         

306. Formby district centre is stated in the RSR to be a ‘vital and viable’ centre 

which is performing very well.  In addition the main Waitrose foodstore is 

                                       
69 Retail Statement, Representor 446, October 2016.  Part of the reduction in retail floorspace can be 

attributed to grant funding for the sports facilities, which was not included in the original appraisal.   
70 My calculation based on the October 2016 floorspace survey summarised in the Formby Retail 
Statement of Common Ground, but excluding ‘Leisure Services’ floorspace for consistency. 
71 The RSR was completed before the decision to permit a new foodstore at Meols Cop, Southport 

which is likely to put back further the need for new convenience floorspace.   
72 Document EX.127 - APP/M4320/V/15/3002637. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 76 - 

significantly overtrading, so the estimate that the potential new foodstore 
would draw 30% of its trade from this key anchor store should not threaten 

Waitrose’s viability.  In these circumstances I consider that the impacts of the 
enabling retail floorspace would be ‘adverse’ rather than ‘significant adverse’, 

which is the policy test.  Consequently the scale and type of retail 
development envisaged would not cause such harm to Formby centre that it 

would be contrary to policy ED2 or the NPPF on retail impact grounds.   

307. Nevertheless the finding that in the worst case scenario there would be a 9% 
loss of trade at Formby district centre counts against the mixed-use scheme.  

Whilst the viability of stores which trade strongly is unlikely to be affected, 
there is a risk that a cumulative impact of this scale may threaten the viability 

of some marginal traders, potentially reducing local consumer choice and 
trade within the centre.  Taking all relevant matters into account, I consider 
that moderate weight should be given to the adverse impact of the South 

scheme on the vitality and viability of Formby district centre. 

Jobs, viability and deliverability 

308. Looking firstly at the provision of jobs, the net developable area of the North 
site is 8ha.  The equivalent figure for the South site was originally 7ha, though 
a recent notional plan indicates that the South site could deliver a broadly 

similar quantum of employment floorspace as the North site.  The promoter of 
the North site anticipates there to be demand for a mix of B1, B2 and B8 

employment uses which would provide in the region of 1,150 to 1,430 jobs.  
The promoter of the South site believes the demand for B1 floorspace (which 
includes offices) is limited, resulting in 640 to 910 B-class jobs plus at least 

160 in retail/leisure uses.  Thus based on the projected employment there is a 
preference for the North site.  However, each scheme would be available for 

the full range of B1, B2 and B8 uses under policy MN2 and is likely to respond 
to market demand, so the differences between them may not be significant.  
Accordingly I give minor weight to this distinction.   

309. The delivery timescales of the two schemes are broadly similar.  The North 
scheme developer states that a planning application for the initial phases is 

expected in 2017, with commencement of development anticipated in 2019.  
For the South scheme, construction is anticipated by 2018, with the sports and 
retail elements completed by 2020.  For both schemes delivery of the 

employment floorspace is expected over a 7-10 year period.    

310. The two schemes have very different delivery models, making comparison 

difficult.  The owner and promoter of the North site (the developer of the 
existing Formby industrial estate) is in the process of agreeing heads of terms 
with Seddon Construction.  He appears willing to accept a low uplift in land 

value to secure delivery of the scheme, perhaps achieving additional value 
through a joint venture arrangement with the developer.  Even with a low land 

acquisition cost, the overall profit on cost is slightly below the generally 
accepted threshold of 15% (though 15% is achieved for the speculative 

floorspace by assuming a lower profit for ‘design and build’ floorspace, which 
carries a lower risk).  Profit (and/or land value) improves markedly with an 
increase in the proportion of ‘design and build’ floorspace.  On this basis the 

Council believes the North scheme to be viable, though the promoter of the 

Page 108

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 77 - 

South site does not.  Based on the analysis of the Council’s viability experts, I 
am satisfied that the North scheme is viable.    

311. The South site is the more advanced project, being promoted jointly by the 
landowner (who operates the existing sports facility) and St Modwen, who 

have contracted to develop the site; some initial marketing has been 
undertaken.  The latest viability appraisal for the South scheme is more robust 

than that for the North scheme in that it builds in a significantly higher (and 
more typical) land value and does not rely on any higher profit ‘design and 
build’ employment floorspace.  It shows a profit on cost of 15.4%, which is 

viable.  Thus, overall, the evidence suggests that both schemes are viable, 
though the North scheme is closer to the viability threshold.  Accordingly I 

attach minor weight to the greater robustness of the South scheme.   

Conclusion 

312. The choice of employment allocation requires a planning judgement to be 

made involving consideration of the different benefits and impacts of the two 
proposals having regard to their individual attributes and the main 

environmental constraints.  Both schemes should deliver an acceptable mix of 
employment development, which is the main objective of the allocation at 
Formby.  In summary, I attach significant weight to the lesser adverse effects 

on most environmental constraints resulting from development on the North 
site, and significant weight to the enlarged and enhanced sports facility that 

would be provided on the South site.  I consider that moderate weight should 
be attached to the adverse retail impact of the South scheme.  I give minor 
weight to the greater number of jobs anticipated in the North scheme and to 

the more robust viability/deliverability of the South scheme.  

313. Taking all relevant matters into account, whilst the benefits of the South 

scheme would be considerable, in my judgement they do not outweigh the 
much greater adverse impacts of the South scheme when compared to the 
lesser impacts of the North scheme.  I consider that the North scheme would 

be the more sustainable development and would achieve greater consistency 
with the NPPF.73  Subject to MM17, which adds a requirement for the flood 

storage area sought by the FRA, the detailed policy (MN4) for Land North of 
Formby Industrial Estate (MN2.48) is sound.  In light of my finding that there 
is a need for just one employment site at Formby, the Land South of Formby 

Industrial Estate (MN2.49) is deleted from the Plan; MM12 modifies policy 
MN2, while the site-specific policy MN5 and text is deleted by MM18. 

5d. Safeguarded land 

314. The principle of further revisions to the Green Belt to identify land which is 
suitable for around 1,000 dwellings beyond the Plan period was accepted 

under issue 2.  The justification for the two areas of safeguarded land 
proposed in the Plan is examined below.   

315. Lambshear Lane, Lydiate – MN8.1   This large parcel of land is partially 
contained by existing development and will be much better contained once the 

                                       
73 To address any concern that the analytical technique might influence the result, as a sensitivity 
check I carried out the balancing exercise in a number of ways; the North site was preferred 

whatever technique was used.     

Page 109

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 78 - 

Kenyon’s Lane site (MN2.28) is built.   A future settlement boundary along 
Moss Lane would be strong – indeed, as small pockets of development 

associated with Lydiate lie within this land, Moss Lane would be a more robust 
boundary than the existing Sandy Lane/Lambshear Lane/Liverpool Road.  The 

development would narrow the existing gap to Aughton, though once Kenyon’s 
Lane is built the gap would not be further reduced – instead there would be a 

greater mass of built development abutting the gap.  At 1km wide, the gap 
would be sufficient to maintain the distinct identity of the settlements and to 
prevent any sense of coalescence.  There would be substantial encroachment 

into the countryside, for the land is prominent within the rural setting of 
Lydiate.  Overall, when the Kenyon’s Lane allocation is taken into account, the 

harm to the Green Belt would be moderate.      

316. The site contains a high proportion of grade 1 and 2 (BMV) agricultural land 
and the landscape is relatively high quality, but otherwise it has no significant 

constraints.  It is reasonably accessible to local services and facilities and, with 
a capacity of around 750-800 dwellings, it is sufficiently large to provide some 

new facilities should a need be identified.  Preliminary studies have indicated 
that the surrounding road network is capable of handling the traffic associated 
with a large development, subject to improvements where necessary.  

Importantly, the capacity of the nearby A59 junction is likely to be increased 
in connection with the Kenyon’s Lane development.  Mitigation for the surface 

water flood risk close to Moss Lane could be provided within the site.    

317. The land comprises a single parcel that cannot meaningfully be subdivided, so 
its prospective contribution to meeting housing needs is substantial.  It is 

clearly not preferable to East of Maghull (MN2.46) in that it would not provide 
as many dwellings or the major benefit of employment land; it would also 

result in the loss of slightly higher grade agricultural land and higher quality 
landscape.  Nor do I accept that it should be allocated in preference to the 
Melling sites (MN2.30 and 2.31).  Not only would this be contrary to the Plan’s 

objective of meeting needs as close as possible to where they arise, but if 
Lambshear Lane was developed during the Plan period the high concentration 

of new homes in Maghull/Lydiate could saturate the market and affect 
deliverability.  Taking all factors into account, the selection of Lambshear Lane 
as safeguarded land which has the potential to contribute to longer term 

housing needs is consistent with the NPPF and is sound.   

318. Ashworth Hospital, Maghull – MN8.2   In isolation, the land would 

represent an appreciable extension of the Ashworth Hospital complex and 
adjacent housing (currently in the Green Belt) into the surrounding 
countryside.  The land has strong boundaries on two sides (M58 and Prescot 

Road) and would be further contained by the development of East of Maghull 
(MN2.46); however, there is potential for further consolidation to the north.  

There would be a minor narrowing of the gap to Kirkby, but the gap would be 
similar to that resulting from East of Maghull and sufficiently wide to dispel 

any concern about coalescence.  Overall the harm to the Green Belt would be 
minor to moderate.         

319. The land is not subject to any significant constraints, though it is within the 

area of the highest graded (1 and 2) agricultural land that surrounds most of 
Maghull/Lydiate.  Accessibility to local services and facilities is relatively poor, 

though this will improve when the provision associated with East of Maghull 

Page 110

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 79 - 

(MN2.46) becomes available.  The land is very close to both East of Maghull 
and the Prison Site (MN2.29), which are expected to provide almost 1,700 

dwellings by 2030.  I share the Council’s view that there is a significant risk of 
market saturation if another sizeable housing site was to come on stream 

during the Plan period, potentially undermining delivery of the allocated sites.  
The latter are clearly preferable in that they have better accessibility and, in 

the case of East of Maghull, will deliver greater benefits.  Thus consistency 
with the NPPF only exists on the basis that the Ashworth Hospital land is 
identified for its potential to meet longer term housing needs.  The 

safeguarding proposal achieves this and, subject to a correction to the site 
area in policy MN8 (MM22), is sound.     

320. In reaching this conclusion I have taken into account the potential for a new 
medical centre/community building within the development, and the benefit to 
Mersey Care NHS Trust from reinvesting the capital receipt in health care 

across Merseyside.  However these benefits do not outweigh the case for the 
safeguarding proposal.  I have also considered the argument that the land 

should be allocated in preference to Kenyon’s Lane (MN2.28), but the market 
saturation point and the better accessibility of Kenyon’s Lane clearly outweigh 
that site’s slightly greater harm to the Green Belt.      

5e.   Sites not allocated (omission sites) 

321. In light of my conclusions under issues 2 and 3, there is no requirement for 

additional residential or employment allocations to satisfy unmet needs.  This 
is unlikely to be a significant consideration for non-allocated sites within the 
urban area, for their suitability will mainly be determined by other factors.  For 

sites in the Green Belt, however, the absence of need makes the exceptional 
circumstances test of the NPPF much more difficult to pass.  Consequently an 

important consideration in the assessment of non-allocated (omission) Green 
Belt sites is whether they would cause less harm than one or more of the 
allocated sites, and/or would have greater benefits, to the extent that they 

should be preferred. 

Southport and Formby 

322. There are two formidable constraints to identifying potentially developable 
land at Southport and Ainsdale – the ecological designations along the coast, 
and the fact that on its eastern edge, most of the settlement abuts the 

administrative boundary with West Lancashire.  As a result, opportunities are 
extremely limited.  The suggested land at Esplanade (SO11) is an SSSI and 

is not available for development, while the land south of Coastal Road at 
Ainsdale (SR4.09) is precluded because it lies on the flight path for RAF 
Woodvale airfield.  No other suitable and available sites were identified. 

323. At Formby, the land at Southport Old Road (AS26) is not related to the 
existing urban area and though part of it would be close to Brackenway 

(MN2.12), the development would be a highly prominent extension of the 
town into the countryside and a substantial intrusion into the gap to Ainsdale.  

Moreover, its location to the east of the bypass means that access to Formby’s 
services and facilities would be poor.  There would be significant harm to the 
Green Belt and the omission of this site is sound.  

Page 111

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 80 - 

324. The land at Formby Bypass (AS27) is promoted for employment use on the 
grounds that either it would meet a need for additional logistics allocations in 

the Plan arising from Liverpool Superport or, alternatively, that it would 
logically round off the settlement following development of South of Formby 

Industrial Estate (MN2.49) and thus should be preferred to North of Formby 
Industrial Estate (MN2.48).  From my finding under issue 3 that only one 

employment site at Formby is required, it will be apparent that I do not accept 
the argument about additional allocations.  In any event, the Council believes 
that Formby is not a suitable location for port-related large logistics 

operations; I agree.  As to the argument that, in conjunction with the South 
site, Formby Bypass is preferable to the North site, this again is pre-empted 

by my conclusion that only a single site is required at Formby.    

325. Given my finding that North of Formby Industrial Estate should be the sole 
employment allocation at Formby, the question now is whether the Formby 

Bypass site should be preferred.  Formby Bypass would be separated from the 
existing commercial development on the eastern side of the bypass and would 

appear as an isolated intrusion into the open countryside and large-scale 
landscape on the south-eastern fringe of the town.  This poor relationship with 
the existing urban area would cause significant harm to the Green Belt, even 

with the development of Liverpool Road (MN2.16) on the other side of the 
bypass.  It would also create a strong risk of further encroachment by leaving 

an obvious gap (the land of the South site) to the Tesco superstore which, if 
infilled, would result in further urban sprawl and harm to the Green Belt.  I 
note the argument that a similar risk exists with the allocation of North of 

Formby Industrial Estate, but because the loose-knit development at Moss 
Side is not part of the urban area, the gap north of the North site should be 

easier to defend.  

326. The Formby Bypass site has more land in Flood Zone 3a (27%) than the North 
site (19%), but also a higher proportion in Flood Zone 1.  The risk is from tidal 

flooding rather than the predominantly fluvial flood risk on the North site; 
there is also a surface water flood risk at both sites.  In the absence of a 

detailed assessment for the Formby Bypass site it is not possible to determine 
where the higher flood risk lies.  The borough-wide agricultural land quality 
map indicates that most of Formby Bypass is grade 2 (BMV) land, whereas the 

North site is grade 3b and not BMV land.  On the other hand, the North site is 
part of a LWS (albeit the ecological impact is capable of mitigation), whereas 

the Formby Bypass site is not a LWS (though it may support habitats suitable 
for protected species).  In terms of accessibility, the North site is more central 
to the local population but any advantage from this is slight.        

327. In these circumstances the greater harm to the Green Belt and landscape that 
would result from development of the isolated Formby Bypass site is critical.  

The North of Formby Industrial Estate site is clearly preferable and, 
consequently, the omission of the Formby Bypass site from the Plan is sound.         

328. The large parcel of open farmland South of Liverpool Road/Altcar Road 
(AS28) extends south of Formby to the River Alt and does not contain internal 
boundaries or features that would lead to meaningful subdivision.  It has a 

theoretical capacity of around 800 dwellings, not far short of the total number 
of houses proposed for Formby.  However, there are a number of significant 

constraints – the land comprises the rural setting to the grade II listed 

Page 112

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 81 - 

Lovelady’s Farm, it is partly in Flood Zones 2 and 3a, it is regularly used as a 
wintering ground by Pink Footed Geese (a European protected species), and 

the Liverpool Road approach to the bypass would require remodelling to cater 
with the major increase in traffic.  It is unclear from the limited information 

available how these constraints would be addressed.   

329. Development of South of Liverpool Road/Altcar Road would represent a major 

and prominent intrusion into the countryside setting of Formby and would 
narrow the gap to Hightown, though sufficient gap would remain to preserve 
the separate identity of the settlements.  Despite the River Alt providing a 

strong boundary to further encroachment, the harm to the Green Belt would 
be significant.  It would also be appreciably greater than the harm caused by 

the allocated housing sites in Formby.  Because of the significant constraints 
and the Green Belt harm, the reasons for excluding this site from the Plan are 
compelling.                 

Thornton, Netherton and Aintree 

330. Contrary to the views of the site promoter, I consider that the land proposed 

for housing at Edge Lane, Thornton (AS10) would represent a noticeably 
greater encroachment into the countryside west of Thornton than the Runnell’s 
Lane allocation (MN2.26).  It would also project significantly into the narrow 

open gap between Thornton and Netherton, reducing it to 276m at its 
narrowest point.  Whilst a slightly smaller gap exists to the south where the 

Rimrose Valley Country Park bisects the urban area, the gap widens as it 
approaches the countryside to the north.  Along Edge Lane the proposal would 
be perceived as substantially reducing the gap to the housing estate to the 

south.  In addition, the boundary would cross an open field and not follow any 
recognisable feature, though in time it could be made robust with landscaping.  

Overall the harm to the Green Belt would be significant.  

331. There are two other potential constraints.  First, the land is within the setting 
of the grade II listed Tanhouse Farmhouse.  The proposal would sever most of 

what remains of the relationship between the farmhouse and its historic open 
agricultural context.  The harm to the heritage asset is likely to be appreciably 

greater than that arising from the development of Runnell’s Lane, albeit still 
‘less than substantial’ in NPPF terms.  Second, during the examination 
Highways England confirmed that development of AS10 would interfere with a 

possible new road through the Rimrose Valley, one of two options for provision 
of improved road access to the Port of Liverpool.  However, no specific route is 

protected under policy IN2.       

332. I consider that the significant harm to the Green Belt is sufficient reason to 
reject the Edge Lane proposal, for it would clearly be more harmful than the 

Plan’s housing allocations for Thornton or those for the wider area.  The two 
potential constraints, whilst not determinative, add weight to the case against 

the proposal.  The omission of site AS10 from the Plan is sound.  

333. The Northern Perimeter Road forms a robust boundary to the Green Belt at 

Netherton and the dwellings along Chapel Lane appear as a sporadic cluster, 
probably with agricultural origins, within the surrounding rural landscape.  The 
recent opening of Broom’s Cross Road, which now divides Chapel Lane, does 

not significantly alter this.  Housing development on the small parcel of land at 

Page 113

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 82 - 

The Stables, Netherton (AS25) would substantially enlarge and consolidate 
the loose-knit cluster, intruding into the relatively narrow gap to Maghull; it 

would also set a precedent for further urban sprawl between the two main 
roads.  Consequently the harm to the Green Belt would be moderate to 

significant.  The development would also be likely to have a major impact on 
the setting of Manor House Farm and The Lodge, both grade II listed buildings, 

though without a detailed assessment the extent of the harm cannot be 
quantified.  For these reasons the omission of this site is sound.   

334. Almost all the undeveloped land between Aintree and the M57 motorway is 

proposed for housing on four omission sites: North of Oriel Drive, West of 
Spencer’s Lane, East of Spencer’s Lane and Mill Farm/East of Bull Bridge Lane.  

The development of each site would reduce the already narrow open gap to 
Melling/Kirkby or to Maghull.  Because of Aintree’s location on the northern 
edge of the Liverpool conurbation, these sites are the closest areas of 

countryside to this part of the city and perform a particularly important role in 
helping to maintain the separate identity of the towns that are just beyond the 

conurbation.  Each site would also generate additional traffic on the already 
congested junction of Altway/Aintree Lane with the A59.            

335. Development of the site North of Oriel Drive (AS18) would appreciably 

reduce the gap to Maghull from the residential area of Aintree, and though the 
M57 would form a strong boundary to further encroachment, at its narrowest 

the residual gap (about 750m wide) would only just maintain adequate 
separation from Maghull.  Overall the harm to the Green Belt would be 
moderate.  The site has capacity for about 350 dwellings and most of the 

traffic generated would use the congested A59 junction.  I consider the 
Council’s analysis of overall junction capacity to be robust and there is no 

evidence to suggest that the additional traffic from this site could be 
satisfactorily accommodated.  Possible alternative accesses, including the 
notion of a mixed-use employment and housing scheme which has a junction 

with (or bridge over) the M57 motorway, have not been explored in detail and 
cannot be regarded as serious options.    

336. 30% of North of Oriel Drive is in Flood Zone 2 and there is a significant risk of 
surface water flooding.  Even if mitigation to address the flood risk is feasible, 
as the site promoter contends, the risk is much greater than applies to all 

other housing allocations in southern Sefton, so the proposal fails the 
Sequential Test.  I acknowledge that the site is highly accessible to local 

services and facilities, would not involve the loss of BMV land and has no other 
material constraints.  Nevertheless in light of the traffic issue and the flood 
risk, which do not apply to the southern Sefton allocations, coupled with the 

moderate harm to the Green Belt, the omission of this site is sound.  

337. The land East of Spencer’s Lane (AS21) is slightly larger than the Oriel 

Drive site and comprises most of the gap between Aintree and Melling/Kirkby.  
The proposed 500-600 dwellings on this site would largely eradicate the gap; I 

do not accept that the presence of the golf club on the other side of the Leeds-
Liverpool canal, or even the suggested buffer zone in the north-east corner of 
the site, would maintain the essential gap between the settlements.  Because 

the gap here is so narrow it is critical to the separate identity of Melling/Kirby, 
which would effectively merge with Aintree at this point if the site was 

developed.  There would be a major loss of most of the countryside that lies 

Page 114

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 83 - 

between Aintree and the M57 motorway.  It would also lead to further urban 
sprawl, for there would be little justification for restricting development on the 

smaller West of Spencer’s Lane (AS19) and Mill Farm/East of Bull Bridge Lane 
(AS22) sites.  The development would wholly undermine the purposes of the 

Green Belt in this location and the harm to the Green Belt would be severe.        

338. This alone is sufficient reason for not allocating the site for housing or 

proposing it as safeguarded land.  Furthermore, the development would lead 
to a substantial increase in traffic at the A59/Altway/Aintree Lane junction 
which, as indicated above, is already above capacity.  In the absence of 

evidence to demonstrate how the additional flows might be accommodated, 
this is another reason why the omission of this site is sound.    

339. Development of the land West of Spencer’s Lane (AS19) would extend 
Aintree into the same parcel of countryside as the land to the East (above).  
Although the site is much smaller (with a capacity of about 100 dwellings) and 

the harm to the Green Belt would be less, it would nonetheless reduce the 
already very narrow gap to Melling/Kirkby by just over a quarter to 489m.74  I 

note the comparison with the Runnell’s Lane allocation (MN2.26), where the 
distance across the Rimrose Valley narrows to 417m, but the character of the 
gaps is very different.  The Rimrose Valley varies in width between 300/350m 

and 500/550m, so the reduction at Runnell’s Lane is consistent with the 
general width of the gap and would not be the narrowest point.  In addition, 

Netherton and Thornton are essentially part of the Liverpool conurbation, with 
the valley being a long finger of open space which cuts into the urban area.   

340. By contrast, Melling is clearly separated from Aintree by the predominantly 

open M57 corridor and, though it abuts Kirkby, the combined Melling/Kirkby is 
a discrete settlement that lies outside the Liverpool conurbation.  As indicated 

above, the narrowness of the gap makes it critical to the separate identity of 
Melling and any significant reduction would conflict with the Green Belt 
purpose of preventing coalescence; the development would also encroach into 

the countryside.  In addition, the River Alt is a much more robust boundary to 
Aintree than the track proposed as the new limit to development, potentially 

making further encroachment into the triangular area next to the motorway 
difficult to resist (thereby narrowing the gap further) if the topographic/ground 
conditions constraint could be overcome.  And though the land is well 

contained by the motorway and the embankment of Spencer’s Lane as it rises 
to the bridge over the motorway, users of Spencer’s Lane would clearly 

perceive the narrowing of the gap to Melling from this elevated stretch of road.  
Overall the harm to the Green Belt would be significant.     

341. In the absence of a requirement for additional sites to meet housing needs, 

the assessment of this site depends upon a comparison with the allocated and 
safeguarded sites in south Sefton.  Being close by and serving the same local 

housing market, the two Melling allocations (Waddicar Lane and Wadacre 
Farm) are the most relevant comparisons.  Both sites would cause appreciably 

less harm to the Green Belt than West of Spencer’s Lane.  Other differences 
between the sites are not determinative – the Melling sites would have greater 
impact on the landscape, but would not involve the loss of any grade 2 (BMV) 

agricultural land and would have better accessibility to local services and 

                                       
74 Based on the site promoted which omits the triangular plot in the north-east corner.  

Page 115

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 84 - 

facilities.  Ultimately I believe the Council is right to protect this highly 
important and sensitive Green Belt gap, and the omission of this site is sound. 

342. Turning to Mill Farm/East of Bull Bridge Lane (AS22), 140 houses on the 
narrow strip of land between the urban area and the River Alt would reduce 

the gap to Melling from about 595m to around 520m.  Although the site is well 
contained and the river would provide a strong boundary to any further 

extension, the development would nevertheless cause urban sprawl and a 
perceptible encroachment into the countryside setting of Aintree.  Because the 
gap here is the narrowest between the Liverpool conurbation and the outlying 

larger settlements in Sefton, it is highly sensitive to any intrusion.  I consider 
that there would be moderate to significant harm to the Green Belt.       

343. The development would have limited impact on the landscape and would not 
result in the loss of BMV agricultural land.  The site is reasonably accessible to 
local services and facilities and a suitable highway access could be provided.  

The new homes would result in additional traffic on the already congested 
Altway/Aintree Lane junction with the A59; although this would be acceptable 

in isolation, the cumulative traffic impact with the allocation sites has not been 
assessed so acceptability in highway network terms is not known.   

344. The site promoter argues that more land is required to meet the housing 

needs, and that additional sites are required urgently if the Council is to have 
a 5 year land supply on adoption.  Given my earlier finding that the land 

supply is sufficient, both in quantity and timing, these arguments are not 
persuasive.  But as with the West of Spencer’s Lane site, it is necessary to 
make a comparison with the Melling allocations.  Mill Farm is better contained, 

would have less impact on the landscape, and involves slightly poorer quality 
agricultural land.  On the other hand, Waddicar Lane and Wadacre Farm are 

closer to local services and, it is reasonable to assume, would individually 
cause less additional congestion on the A59 junction.  All sites are in Flood 
Zone 1 and the surface water flood risk is broadly similar.  On these factors 

the Mill Farm site is slightly preferable, but its advantage is not significant 
(and there is uncertainty about the A59 junction impact).   

345. In Green Belt terms, however, Waddicar Lane and Wadacre Farm would have 
less impact on the Green Belt (moderate at worst, compared with moderate to 
significant for Mill Farm) because they do not impinge upon a critical essential 

gap in Sefton.  In my judgement this sensitive gap on the edge of the 
conurbation should be protected from unnecessary development unless this is 

unavoidable.  Thus the greater harm to the Green Belt from the Mill Farm site 
clearly outweighs any slight advantage this site may have from other factors, 
and its omission from the Plan is sound.    

346. There is little detail about the proposed housing on the former railway sidings 
East of Aintree Racecourse (AS23).  Even with the suggested buffer, it is 

likely that the development would remove most of the very narrow gap 
between Aintree and Fazakerley and sever the racecourse from the wider 

Green Belt, causing significant harm.  It is not clear how an acceptable access 
for a sizeable housing scheme could be gained from the constricted stretch of 
road between the canal bridge and railway line.  And it is not known whether 

suitable mitigation could be secured for the ecological interest within the site, 
which is part of a LWS.  On Green Belt grounds alone this site would cause 

Page 116

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 85 - 

appreciably more harm than the allocations in south Sefton; the uncertainty 
surrounding other matters adds to the weight against the proposal.  The 

omission of this site is sound. 

347. Land at Switch Island and North of M57 (AS17) is promoted for a major 

logistics development that would contribute to the sub-regional employment 
land requirement arising from Liverpool Superport and Liverpool2.  As stated 

under Issue 3, the scale and distribution of this requirement is currently being 
investigated as part of a sub-regional review of housing and employment land 
needs (SHELMA).  Modified policy MN1 commits the Council to an immediate 

review of the Plan should a demand for additional port-related employment 
land be identified in Sefton.  Thus in the Council’s view, consideration of this 

(or any other) logistics/port-related employment site is premature in advance 
of the SHELMA findings and will be dealt with in the review.  Given the sub-
regional nature of the need and the desirability of having an agreed land 

distribution across the LCR authorities, I have endorsed this approach. 

348. Nevertheless, Switch Island continues to be promoted as an allocation in this 

Plan.  Development of the site would remove a substantial part of the narrow 
gap between Aintree and Maghull.  At its narrowest point this gap is just over 
600m wide and comprises the extensive Switch Island road junction and the 

major roads leading to it (M57, M58 and A59), so the small parcels of 
undeveloped land between the roads contribute significantly to its openness.  

The gap widens to the east of the railway line that crosses the site, where the 
landscape is more open, but here the development would be perceived as a 
major intrusion in the middle of the gap.  It would also reduce the gap to 

Melling/Waddicar to the east, though not so much as to create the sense of 
coalescence that would result from the part of the scheme west of the railway.   

349. Despite being contained by major roads and crossed by overhead power lines 
and a railway line, much of the land is in agricultural use and is an important 
part of the countryside setting of the two settlements.  The cultivated fields 

are visible from the Switch Island roundabout and motorways, so the 
construction of large logistics warehouses would be a clear encroachment into 

the countryside.  In addition, large warehouses immediately north of the M57 
could create a precedent for further urban sprawl on the land to the south 
between the motorway and the edge of Aintree, which is the North of Oriel 

Drive omission site (see AS18 above).  Overall, given the essential nature of 
the gaps north of Aintree and their sensitivity to development, the harm to the 

Green Belt would be severe.                    

350. Although a large body of evidence has been submitted, it is not certain that 
the major technical constraints to the development of this site are capable of 

resolution.  Over half the site is in Flood Zones 2 and 3 and there is a 
significant surface water flood risk; furthermore, the River Alt flows through 

the middle of the site and would have to be diverted.  The flood risk note is 
not a full FRA and though it proposes solutions which appear feasible, the 

views of the EA are not known.  Access to and from the motorways has been 
agreed in principle with Highways England, but a TA is required before a firm 
conclusion could be reached.  The ecological evidence indicates that the site 

has relatively limited biodiversity value, though the impact on the proposed 
Nature Improvement Area along the River Alt corridor is not known.  Some 

matters have not been investigated, such as the impact on the setting of the 

Page 117

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 86 - 

nearby grade II listed Wood Hall Farm or the implications of diverting the 
electricity pylons which cross the site.   

351. The benefits of the Switch Island development are substantial.  It would 
provide around 1,000 new jobs close to areas of high unemployment in south 

Sefton and would help to diversify the local economy and contribute to the 
success of the LCR Superport project.  It would meet part of the need for port-

related logistics developments very close to Liverpool2, thereby reducing 
operator costs and travel distances (with consequent energy savings).  Also, it 
would occupy a highly accessible location for logistics operators at the end of 

the Dunnings Bridge Road corridor and is likely to be attractive to the market.   

352. The Switch Island site is not being promoted as an alternative to the Plan’s 

employment allocations but, to be consistent with the approach taken with 
residential omission sites, this should be addressed.  The relevant comparison 
is with the East of Maghull employment allocation, which has fewer constraints 

and greater certainty with regards to delivery.  In particular, Switch Island’s 
position in a narrow essential gap would result in much greater harm to the 

Green Belt than East of Maghull.  Half the site is in Flood Zones 2 and 3 so, on 
the basis of identifying land for general employment needs as opposed to 
logistics-specific sites, Switch Island fails the Sequential Test.  Overall, despite 

the benefits for employment and the local economy, Switch Island does not 
warrant inclusion in this Plan.  Whether the benefits amount to the exceptional 

circumstances that would justify a further alteration to the Green Belt is a 
matter for any review of the Plan following the SHELMA study. 

Maghull/Lydiate  

353. The large site West of Maghull (AS12) comprises three separate adjacent 
parcels and would accommodate at least 800 dwellings.  The smallest 

southern parcel is poorly related to the existing settlement, though if most of 
the field which projects into the surrounding countryside becomes open space, 
the urban sprawl would be limited.  The middle parcel is well contained, being 

enclosed on three sides by Green Lane, and would be a reasonable westward 
extension to Maghull.  The largest northern parcel is contained on two sides by 

Green Lane and Bell’s Lane but the western boundary along Maghull Brook is 
less strong, though it could be reinforced with suitable landscaping.  There 
would be no appreciable narrowing of the gap to Lunt village or Crosby.  

Overall the development of this site would be a sizeable westward extension of 
Maghull into its rural hinterland, causing moderate harm to the Green Belt.   

354. Most local services and the main routes through the town lie to the east of the 
site, across the Leeds-Liverpool canal.  From the southern part of the site, 
Green Lane connects with the Westway road bridge over the canal and access 

to the town centre is straightforward.  However, access from Bell’s Lane and 
the northern arm of Green Lane is across narrow swing bridges (single vehicle 

width with no footways) that periodically close to allow the passage of canal 
boats.  The promoter suggests that improvements to nearby residential estate 

roads to provide a public transport loop, followed by upgrading of Bell’s Lane 
canal bridge to allow use by buses and HGVs, would accommodate the traffic 
generated without major capacity issues or constraints.  However, I share the 

Council’s scepticism about the robustness of the trip distribution and non-car 
mode trip proportions; moreover, the Bell’s Lane bridge upgrade would require 

Page 118

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 87 - 

third party land and its feasibility is in doubt.  Additionally, Merseytravel 
believes that a bus service to the site would not be commercially viable.      

355. The site is close to a large Biological Heritage Site in West Lancashire which is 
a feeding ground for Pink Footed Geese; some birds have also been observed 

on the site.  The development would result in some loss of feeding ground and 
greater recreational use of the footpaths that cross the birding site.  However 

the main Cheshire Lines trail is outside the locally protected area and, as the 
birding site extends all the way to Formby, I do not believe that increased 
footpath use mainly on its fringes would represent quite as significant a 

constraint as the Council suggests.  Nevertheless, it remains a factor to be 
considered in the comparative assessment.  Other constraints, including the 

loss of BMV agricultural land, are typical of most sites in this locality.  As to 
the benefits of the proposal, I accept that the site is large enough to 
potentially support the provision of a doctor’s surgery, shop and community 

centre, though this applies equally to other sites of similar (or larger) size.      

356. The site is promoted for immediate development or as an alternative to the 

safeguarded land.  In most respects, including the extent of harm to the Green 
Belt, the West of Maghull site is broadly comparable to nearby sites.  The main 
constraint is the constricted nature of the highway network due to the narrow 

canal bridges; the evidence that this can be overcome is far from compelling.  
None of the allocated or safeguarded sites in the Sefton East Parishes (the 

most relevant local housing market area) or in south Sefton would lead to 
such difficulties on the highway network.  The considerably larger East of 
Maghull site has appreciably better local road connections and would benefit 

from M58 junction improvements.  The safeguarded land at Lambshear Lane, 
which is similar in size, connects to much less-constrained local roads, as does 

the Ashworth Hospital land.  In addition, none of these developments would 
have as much impact on a recognised wildlife resource.  Consequently the 
omission of West of Maghull is sound.    

357. The land East of the A59 (AS14) is promoted as an alternative to the 
safeguarded land at Lambshear Lane (MN8.1).  The development would 

extend beyond the existing strong boundary of the A59 dual carriageway into 
a swathe of farmland and smallholdings that reaches the railway line abutting 
the Ashworth Hospital complex.  The proposal covers only half the potentially 

suitable land and, as the hedgerow which forms the south-eastern boundary is 
a weak feature, it could lead to further urban sprawl.  Sudell Brook on the 

north-eastern boundary would be a slightly stronger feature and, as it forms 
the boundary with neighbouring West Lancashire, is less likely to be breached.  
Nevertheless, both boundaries are noticeably weaker than Moss Lane, which 

forms a robust boundary to the land at Lambshear Lane.   

358. Development up to Sudell Brook would reduce the gap to Aughton to around 

700m, creating a significantly smaller gap than would remain with the 
development of Kenyon’s Lane and (potentially in future) Lambshear Lane.  I 

do not accept the argument that the relevant gap is the larger one to the town 
of Ormskirk, a short distance beyond Aughton, because Aughton is a sizeable 
village inset within the Green Belt and should not be ignored when applying 

the principles of Green Belt policy.  There would be no appreciable difference 
between the two sites in respect of countryside encroachment.  Overall, 

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 88 - 

because of the potential for urban sprawl and the narrowing of the gap to 
Aughton, the harm to the Green Belt would be significant.   

359. About 10% of the site is in Flood Zones 2 and 3a according to the latest 
information.  Whilst this is likely to be capable of mitigation as part of any 

development, it compares unfavourably with the land at Lambshear Lane 
which is wholly in Flood Zone 1.  The claim that the agricultural land quality is 

grades 3a and 3b appears to come from the landowner rather than a 
recognised independent organisation, but even if it is poorer quality than that 
at Lambshear Lane, this has to set against the higher flood risk.  There are no 

other constraints that cannot be mitigated so, aside from the Green Belt issue, 
there is little to choose between East of the A59 and Lambshear Lane.  

However, because East of the A59 would clearly cause more harm to the 
Green Belt (significant as opposed to moderate), its omission from the plan is 
sound.   

360. The land South of the Crescent (AS15) is mostly well contained by the 
urban area, the embankment of a disused railway lane and the A59.  The 

southern part of the proposed boundary to Melling Brook would not be 
particularly strong, though the potential for further urban sprawl is very 
limited.  Housing on this site would slightly diminish the already narrow gap 

between Maghull and Netherton/Aintree and would add to the mass of 
development abutting the gap; however, a reasonable (700m) gap would 

remain and there would be no reduction in the minimum gap between the 
settlements.  There would be a small but perceptible loss of countryside on the 
main southern approach to Maghull.  Overall the harm to the Green Belt would 

be minor to moderate.      

361. The Council argues that the non-selection of this site is due to the combined 

effect of a number of reasonably strong constraints rather than the overriding 
impact of any one constraint.  The site is a LWS, designated mainly for its 
neutral grassland habitat and the presence of European and priority species.  

A recent survey confirms that the site could potentially support a number of 
protected species and that, despite some loss of grassland, it retains LWS 

status.  Only about half the site would be developed (for 100 dwellings) to 
enable on-site mitigation to take place; it is also intended to transplant the 
neutral grassland to another site, though no firm proposal is in place.  

Although appropriate mitigation might not preclude development of this site, 
the NPPF seeks locations on alternative sites which have less harmful impacts. 

362. The site is in Flood Zone 1, thereby passing the Sequential Test, but over half 
is at medium risk of surface water flooding and on-site attenuation would be 
required.  The efficacy of this mitigation is important, for there is concern that 

development could exacerbate the significant flooding that has occurred to 
properties on Four Acres; however, no details have been supplied.  The traffic 

generated would add to the peak time congestion on Liverpool Road South and 
the A59, though the impact would be small.  There are no other material 

constraints and the site would be highly accessible to most local services and 
facilities.  It would also not involve the loss of BMV agricultural land. 

363. I have considered the many comparisons with allocated sites submitted by the 

site promoter.  The most relevant are those within the Sefton East Parishes, 
for they would serve the same local housing market and thereby meet the 

Page 120

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 89 - 

need closest to where it arises.  The Kenyon’s Lane site would cause slightly 
greater harm to the Green Belt (moderate) and loss of BMV land, but it is not 

a LWS, the surface water flood risk is much less and the traffic impact can be 
mitigated; in my view it is preferred.  Similar considerations apply to the 

Melling sites (Waddicar Lane and Wadacre Farm) – the slightly greater harm to 
the Green Belt and the loss of BMV land is outweighed by the absence of an 

ecological constraint, lower surface water flood risk (slightly lower in the case 
of Wadacre Farm) and no material traffic impact.  The Ashworth Hospital 
safeguarded land would involve the loss of BMV land but has few other 

constraints and, as a longer term potential site, is clearly preferable.   

364. The sites at Lydiate Lane and Runnell’s Lane (MN 2.25 and 2.26) would cause 

greater (moderate to significant) harm to the Green Belt and would involve 
loss of BMV land, but would not have any effect on a LWS and the surface 
water flood risk would be much less.  In addition, the Thornton sites would 

meet housing needs in a part of the borough where sites are difficult to find; 
by contrast, Maghull is already taking a sizeable proportion of the housing 

requirement and so the need for more is appreciably less.  The comparisons 
with sites in north Sefton are less relevant because they are necessary to 
meet the housing needs of that part of the borough but, in any event, I find 

none of them preferable.  Ultimately a planning judgement has to be made 
and, on balance, I consider that the omission of this site is sound.   

365. The land at Melling Lane (SR4.49) is well contained by the road, the Leeds-
Liverpool canal and the M58 motorway.  Development for housing would 
reduce the reasonably wide gap to Melling/Waddicar and the much smaller gap 

to Melling village, but because the M58 is elevated on an embankment there 
would be no sense of settlements merging.  The strength of the M58 as a 

boundary and the proximity to the East of Maghull allocation could result in 
the intervening parcel also being released from the Green Belt, but as this is a 
recreation ground which Maghull Town Council intends to retain, it would not 

be a potential development site in this Plan.  Overall the harm to the Green 
Belt would be minor. 

366. The EA maps indicate that around 40% of the site is in Flood Zone 2, at risk of 
flooding from Whinney Brook, and a significant area is subject to surface water 
flood risk.  A FRA seeks to demonstrate that the flood zone mapping is based 

on inaccurate modelling and should not be a constraint to allocation.  It also 
suggests that the opening up of a culvert within the site would reduce the area 

in Flood Zone 2, potentially reducing the flood risk upstream.  The EA indicates 
that, subject to various measures including opening up the culvert north of the 
site, a solution may be found, but it requires further hydraulic modelling to be 

undertaken.  In the absence of this work, and as the properties abutting the 
site on Willow Hey are known to flood regularly, the Flood Zone 2 designation 

is appropriate.  Furthermore, the land is believed to be grade 2 (BMV) 
agricultural land.  There are no other constraints and the site is highly 

accessible to local services and facilities.     

367. None of the allocations in Sefton East parishes or southern Sefton are in Flood 
Zone 2, so the proposal fails the Sequential Test.  The promoter argues that 

this test has been incorrectly applied because some allocations in north Sefton 
include land in Flood Zone 3.  While this is true, sites to meet housing needs in 

Southport and Formby are much more difficult to find, and Maghull (which is 

Page 121

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 90 - 

already providing a sizeable share of the overall need) is quite a distance from 
north Sefton.  Moreover, all the allocated sites in Flood Zone 3 have been 

accepted by the EA for inclusion in the Plan, whereas Melling Lane has not.  
Although the Green Belt harm is less than that of some nearby allocations, this 

and the other benefits of the site are clearly outweighed by the flood risk 
constraint.  Accordingly the omission of this site is sound. 

368. The neglected, overgrown land at Damfield Lane (AS30) is close to the 
centre of Maghull and is not in the Green Belt.  It is part of a Conservation 
Area (CA) that includes a cluster of listed buildings north of the site, focused 

on Maghull Chapel (grade II*) and St Andrew’s Church (grade II).  The sole 
constraint is the impact on the character of the CA and the setting of St 

Andrew’s Church (glimpses of the church tower are obtained from the site).  
The conservation statement submitted by the site promoter includes a sketch 
plan showing blocks of housing development which appear not to respect 

sufficiently the character of the CA and the setting of the church.  On the other 
hand, I struggle with the Council’s argument that any development on the site 

would cause substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage 
assets, especially as an important link to the rural origins of Maghull, the use 
of the land as grazing pasture (a key factor on CA designation in 1991), 

ceased about 13 years ago.  Thus, whilst the evidence falls far short of 
justifying an allocation, the acceptability of any future scheme for this urban 

site would be tested against the heritage policies of the Plan and the NPPF.   

369. Many other potential sites were considered by the Council during the various 
stages of plan preparation.  Having considered the evidence provided, I am 

satisfied that none of them is clearly preferable to the sites allocated in the 
Plan. 

Housing and employment site allocations - Conclusion 

370. For sites within the urban area, I have found that there are no constraints 
which would prevent or unduly hinder the developments proposed; subject to 

site-specific modifications, all the urban allocations are sound.  I have also 
found no evidence that urban sites omitted from the Plan are likely to 

appreciably increase the supply of housing and employment land.  Thus the ‘in 
principle’ conclusion reached under issues 2 and 3, that sites in the Green Belt 
are required if the Plan’s objectively assessed needs are to be met in full, is 

confirmed.   

371. Having appraised the allocated Green Belt housing sites, the safeguarded land 

proposals and the omission sites, I consider that the Green Belt site selection 
process has been conducted to a high standard.  The robust methodology has 
been applied appropriately and the planning judgements that have been made 

are generally sound.  Some modifications are necessary to detailed matters, 
and one small housing site has been added to the supply.  There are no 

constraints which would prevent development of any of the modified Plan’s 
Green Belt housing allocations, so there is no insurmountable reason which 

would preclude the OAN being met in full.  Not only are all the Green Belt 
housing allocations required to meet the OAN in full, but they also represent 
the most suitable and sustainable strategy for meeting the Plan’s vision and 

objectives.  No prospective site omitted from the Plan would make a more 
suitable or sustainable contribution to meeting the OAN or the Plan’s 

Page 122

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 91 - 

objectives.  Consequently I conclude that exceptional circumstances exist to 
justify releasing all the allocated housing sites from the Green Belt. 

372. Similar considerations apply to the employment land allocations.  There are no 
insurmountable constraints to delivery of the urban supply, yet Green Belt 

allocations are required if the OAN is to be met in full.  However, because the 
robust OAN is lower than the land requirement in the Submission Plan, only 

one of the two Green Belt employment allocations at Formby is justified.  I 
have determined that the most sustainable site is the Land North of Formby 
Industrial Estate.  Together with the urban supply, this single allocation at 

Formby and the Green Belt employment land at East of Maghull are sufficient 
to meet the robust OAN; moreover, there are no constraints which would 

prevent their delivery.  Consequently, exceptional circumstances exist to 
justify their release from the Green Belt.  Furthermore, in the absence of a 
need for additional employment land, exceptional circumstances do not exist 

to justify releasing the Land South of Formby Industrial Estate (or any 
omission site) from the Green Belt.     

373. In summary, I find that the selection of sites for housing and employment 
development is for the most part justified by the evidence and consistent with 
the Plan’s vision and objectives.  During the examination one small housing 

site was added to the Plan and one employment site was deleted.  
Modifications are also necessary to certain detailed matters and some site 

allocation policies.  Subject to these modifications, the housing and 
employment allocations in the Plan are sound.   

6 – INFRASTRUCTURE, IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

Issue 6:  Whether the Plan is sufficiently effective and proactive to ensure 
timely delivery of its proposals and the necessary infrastructure. 

Infrastructure 

374. For many Sefton residents, the impact that new development will have on 
already over-subscribed local facilities and services is a major concern.  This is 

recognised as a key issue in the Plan; one of its objectives is to ensure that 
new developments include the essential infrastructure, services and facilities 

they require.  The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)75 includes a mostly costed 
schedule of the projects that have been identified during Plan preparation.  
Measures for securing delivery of this infrastructure as part of the 

development process, including the mechanisms by which it is to be funded, 
are set out in policy IN1.  It is not clear from the wording of the policy whether 

viability considerations might threaten the delivery of infrastructure which is 
essential for development to proceed.  MM43 and MM44 are necessary to 
ensure that essential infrastructure is required regardless of viability.  

375. The IDP appears thorough and, for most service areas, it identifies the major 
schemes necessary to mitigate the impacts of the Plan’s proposed allocations.  

The main omission is health facilities because information about future needs 
is not available from the CCGs.  The CCGs are currently reviewing the delivery 

                                       
75 Document MI.1 - Infrastructure Delivery Plan, December 2014 

Page 123

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 92 - 

of health care in Sefton and the Council is working closely with health 
providers to ensure that any future needs can be taken into account.  Policy 

IN1 is phrased in suitably general terms to ensure that developer contributions 
can be sought, where necessary, at the time development occurs.  Thus the 

framework established by policy IN1 is suitably effective and proactive.   

376. The overall transport strategy set out in policy IN2 is based on and is 

consistent with the Merseyside Local Transport Plan and the LCR Transport 
Plan for Growth.  Although the policy only gives limited prominence to non-car 
modes of travel, such accessibility issues are addressed by policy EQ3.  

Nevertheless, the addition to policy IN2 of the need to improve safety and 
accessibility for all transport users (MM45) highlights the connection between 

the two policies and is necessary for the Plan’s effectiveness.  This 
modification also includes support for initiatives within the Port of Liverpool to 
improve rail links.  Despite Natural England’s concern, because the support at 

Seaforth is clearly conditional upon compliance with the specific policy ED1 as 
well as the safeguarding policy NH2, sufficient protection exists for designated 

nature conservation sites.  As modified, policy IN2 is sound. 

377. Turning to energy infrastructure, the Plan does not include schemes or identify 
specific opportunities for renewable or decentralised energy, indicating instead 

that any proposals will be assessed against the NPPF.  In June 2015 a WMS 
introduced new considerations designed to enable local people to have the 

final say on wind turbine applications.  Two requirements have to be met: a 
proposed turbine must be in an area identified as suitable for wind energy 
development in a local plan, and it must be demonstrated that the planning 

impacts identified by affected local communities have been fully addressed 
and therefore the proposal has their backing.  Although an area of search for 

wind energy at Ince Blundell was identified at Preferred Options stage, this 
was not taken forward; consequently the Plan does not identify any area as 
suitable for wind energy development.  The Council intends to address this 

matter in the immediate review of the Plan.  In the meantime, to ensure that 
the Plan is effective, MM47 updates the text with the current position and 

indicates that the Council is unable to permit applications for wind energy 
development until the review is undertaken.      

Implementation and Monitoring  

378. Appendix 3 of the Submission Plan provides the indicators the Council intends 
to use to monitor implementation of the Plan.  This simple list of indicators 

falls far short of a meaningful framework for measuring the progress and 
effectiveness of the Plan against its key objectives and policies.  No targets 
were set, without which it would have been difficult to judge whether the 

desired outcomes are being achieved, nor was there any consideration of the 
remedial action to be taken if targets are not met.  The modified Appendix 3 

(MM87) addresses these matters and is necessary for the Plan to be sound.  
It provides an effective and proactive monitoring framework under which the 

implementation of the Plan can be objectively measured and kept under 
review. 

 

Page 124

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 
 

 

 - 93 - 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 

379. My examination of the compliance of the Plan with the legal requirements is 

summarised in the table below.  Regulation 8(5) of the 2012 Regulations 
requires a local plan to indicate which policies supersede adopted policies in 
the UDP; this was absent from the Submission Plan.  Appendix 5 (MM88) 

provides a comprehensive schedule which corrects this omission.  With this 
modification I conclude that the Plan meets all the legal requirements. 

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

Local Development 

Scheme (LDS) 

The Sefton Local Plan has been prepared in 

accordance with the Council’s LDS September 2015.  

Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI) and 
relevant regulations 

The SCI was adopted in February 2011.  

Consultation on the Sefton Local Plan and the MMs 
has complied with its requirements. 

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) 

SA has been carried out and is adequate. 

Appropriate Assessment 
(AA) 

The Habitats Regulations Assessment including AA 
(January 2015 and May 2016) set out that the Plan 

may have some negative impact, and a full 
assessment should be undertaken.  Natural England 
support this. 

National Policy The Sefton Local Plan complies with national policy 
except where indicated and MMs are recommended. 

2004 Act (as amended) 
and 2012 Regulations. 

The modified Sefton Local Plan complies with the Act 
and the Regulations. 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

380. The Plan has a number of deficiencies in relation to soundness and/or legal 
compliance for the reasons set out above which mean that I recommend non-

adoption of it as submitted, in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 
Act.  These deficiencies have been explored in the main issues set out above. 

381. The Council has requested that I recommend MMs to make the Plan sound 
and/or legally compliant and capable of adoption.  I conclude that with the 
recommended Main Modifications set out in the Appendix, the Sefton Local 

Plan satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the 
criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 

Martin Pike 

 

Inspector 

 

This report is accompanied by the Appendix containing the Main Modifications  

Page 125

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

1 

 

Appendix – Main Modifications 

The modifications below are expressed either in the conventional form of strikethrough 

for deletions and underlining for additions of text, or by specifying the modification in 

words in italics. 

The page numbers and paragraph numbering below refer to the Submission (July 2015) 

Sefton Local Plan (Document LP.1). 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

MM1 22 4.11-4.12 Amend the paragraphs as follows: 

4.11  This concluded that Sefton’s household growth over the plan 

period was ‘objectively assessed housing need’ was in the order of 

615 576 dwellings a year. 
 

4.12  The This figure of 615 dwellings includes an assessment of 

‘pent up’ housing need based on the Census needs to be revised 

upward by approximately 10% to allow for affordability and past 

under-delivery.  The total requirement over the Plan period is 

11,070 11,520 (615 640 x 18 = 11,070 11,520) which is higher 

but broadly comparable to the ‘Option Two’ figure of 10,700 at 

Preferred Option stage. 

MM2 26 4.42-4.44 Replace ‘early review’ with ‘immediate review’ in heading before 

paragraph 4.42 and amend the final sentence of paragraph 4.42: 

It is proposed to review the Plan at an early stage if required to 

take account of the results of this study in a co-ordinated sub-

regional manner. 
 

Amend paragraphs 4.43 and 4.44  as follows: 

4.43  This review will also reflect the conclusions of the Port of 

Liverpool Options Identification and Assessment commissioned by 

Highways England Port Access Study in relation to proposals for 

major road improvements.  Public engagement as part of this 

work is likely to take place early in 2016. The options assessment 

work is expected to be completed in Summer / Autumn 2016. 
 

4.44  This early review will also be able to take account of the 

findings of a future sub-regional strategic housing market 

assessment, should this imply a significantly different housing 

requirement. The Council is committed to an immediate review of 

the Plan if the publication of the sub-regional Strategic Housing 

and Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA) identifies a 

need for more housing or employment including land for logistics 

associated with the Port of Liverpool (see part 5 of policy MN1 

‘Housing and Employment Land Requirements’). To this end, and 

as part of the Duty to Co-operate, it is collaborating with the other 

Liverpool City Region authorities to carry this study out.  

MM3 28 Figure  4.3 Amend table as follows: 

   Proposed new 

homes [net of 

demolitions] 

% Strategic 

Employment 

Sites &   

Allocations 

[hectares] 

% 

Page 127

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

2 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Southport 3,295 2,921  28.0 

25.5 

13.1 16.01 

Formby 999 996 8.5 8.7 15 8 18.3 

9.8 

Sefton East 

Parishes 

2,685 2,609  22.8 20 24.45 

Crosby & 

Hightown 

1,133 1,010  9.6 8.8 - 0- 

Bootle & 

Netherton 

1,459 1,655 12.4  

14.5 

34 41.47 

Windfalls 1,503 1,071 12.7 9.4 - - 

Completions 

2012-2014 

717 1,172 6.1 10.2 6.5 8.0 

 Total 11,793 11,435 100 81.6 100 
 

MM4  Figure 4.4 Insert a Key Diagram (Figure 4.4) after Figure 4.3. 

 

Page 128

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

3 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

MM5 31 Policy SD2 Add an additional bullet point (as the penultimate bullet point): 

 To ensure that all new development addresses flood 

risk mitigation and explores all methods for mitigating 

surface water run-off. Wherever possible, developers 

should include an element of betterment within their 

proposals to reduce further the risk of flooding in the 

area 

MM6 33 Policy MN1 Amend part 1 of policy MN1 as follows: 

1. During the period 2012 – 2030 provision will be made 

for the development of a minimum of 11,520 11,070 new 

homes in Sefton. The housing requirement will met at the 

following average annual rates:  
 

2012-2017:   500 dwellings per annum 

2017-2030:   694 660 dwellings per annum 
 

Amend part 3: 

3. During the period 2012 – 2030 provision will be made 

for a total of 81.6 84.5 ha of employment land 
 

Add a new part 5 to the policy: 

5.  Sefton is working jointly with the other Liverpool City 

Region local planning authorities and the Liverpool City 

Region Local Enterprise Partnership to undertake the 

Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market 

Assessment (SHELMA) to establish, objectively, the level of 

long-term growth in housing and employment needs 

appropriate in Sefton. In the event that it is demonstrated 

that further housing or employment provision is required in 

Sefton, an immediate review or partial review of the Sefton 

Local Plan will be brought forward to address these 

matters. The review will commence following the adoption 

of the Sefton Local Plan. It will take into account the 

findings of the SHELMA, and will be submitted within two 

years from the date of the Local Plan adoption. 

MM7 34 6.12-6.13 Amend paragraph 6.12 as follows: 

6.12  Sefton’s housing and employment requirements are based 

on a full objective assessment of the needs of households and 

businesses in the Borough. The housing requirement is based on 

the findings of the ‘Housing Requirement for Sefton’, which was 

published in November 2014. This study was based on the 2012-

based population household projections issued by the Office for 

National Statistics Department for Communities and Local 

Government and other evidence. The employment requirement is 

derived from the 2012 Employment Land & Premises Study 

Refresh and the 2015 Update which and is are primarily based on 

an analysis of the rate at which land was developed for 

employment in the past and a blended approach to employment 

need.This was the most optimistic of a number of indicators of 

future need. 
 

Amend the first two sentences of paragraph 6.13 as follows: 

6.13  The housing requirement of 11,520 11,070 dwellings would 

equate to an average of 640 615 dwellings a year between 2012 

and 2030. However, this requirement is staged and will be met at 

Page 129

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

4 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

a rate of 500 dwellings a year between 2012 and 2017, and 694 

660 dwellings between 2017 and 2030. 

MM8 34 6.14A - 

6.14C 

Add three new paragraphs after paragraph 6.14: 

6.14A The Sefton Local Plan does not make any provision for the  

additional demand for distribution and other port-related uses  

across Merseyside arising from the expansion of the Port of  

Liverpool in Sefton (Liverpool2).  As a result of these  

requirements, which can only be assessed across the sub-region,  

the Council is committed to carrying out an immediate review or 

 partial review of the Local Plan to address these matters. 
 

6.14B  The review of the Local Plan will be completed within two  

years of the adoption of this Plan. Sefton has already begun  

working with the other Liverpool City Region local planning  

authorities through the commissioning of the SHELMA to establish  

the scale and distribution of any emerging housing shortfall and  

the emerging employment needs, including those associated with  

the expansion of the Port of Liverpool, including a new or  

improved port access. 
 

6.14C  The devolution deal signed on 17 November 2015 between 

 HM Treasury and the Liverpool City Region, grants powers over  

strategic planning to the City Region, including the responsibility 

 for creating a single statutory city-region framework. This is  

intended to help accelerate economic growth and new housing  

development throughout the city region. The planning powers will  

include the development of a single statutory city-region  

framework supporting the delivery of strategic employment and 

 housing sites throughout the city-region. The agreement stresses 

 that this approach must not delay the development of local plans. 

MM9 35 Policy MN2 Amend part 1 of policy MN2 as follows: 

Site Ref. Location Area 

[ha.] 

Indicative 

Capacity 

MN2.1 Bartons Close, Southport 1.0 36 

MN2.2 Land at Bankfield Lane, 

Southport 

9.0 220 300 

MN2.3 Former Phillips Factory, 

Balmoral Drive, Southport 

6.0 158 

MN2.4 Land at Moss Lane, 

Churchtown 

19.1 18.3 450 

MN2.5 Land at Crowland Street, 

Southport 

25.8 678 

MN2.6 Land  adjacent to Dobbies 

Garden Centre, Benthams 

Way, Southport  

8.7 6.8 215 174 

MN2.7 Land at Lynton Road, 

Southport 

1.5 25 

MN2.8 Former Ainsdale Hope 

School, Ainsdale  

9.2 243 120 

MN2.9 Former St John Stone 

School, Meadow Lane, 

Ainsdale  

1.3 1.4 40 

MN2.10 Land at Sandbrook Road, 

Ainsdale 

2.0 2.6 49 83 

Page 130

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

5 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

MN2.11 Land south of Moor Lane, 

Ainsdale  

2.6 3.2 69 

MN2.12 Land north of 

Brackenway, Formby  

13.7 286 

MN2.13 Land at West Lane, 

Formby 

1.9 40 

MN2.14 Former Holy Trinity 

School, Lonsdale Road, 

Formby1  

0.9 1.0 50 

MN2.14A Land at Shorrocks Hill, 

Lifeboat Road, Formby 

3.3 34 

MN2.15 Formby Professional 

Development Centre, Park 

Road, Formby  

1.6 15 

MN2.16 Land at Liverpool Road, 

Formby 

14.2 319 

MN2.17 Land at Altcar Lane, 

Formby  

0.7 29 

MN2.18 Power House phase 2, 

Hoggs Hill Lane, Formby 

0.6 0.4 20 12 

MN2.19 Land at Andrew’s Close, 

Formby 

3.3 87 

MN2.20 Land at Elmcroft Lane, 

Hightown  

6.5 120 

MN2.21 Land at Sandy Lane, 

Hightown  

0.7 10 

MN2.22 Land at Hall Road West, 

Crosby  

1.1 14 

MN2.23 Land at Southport Old 

Road, Thornton 

3.9 85 

MN2.24 Land at Holgate, Thornton 8.4 221 

MN2.25 Land at Lydiate Lane, 

Thornton 

10.3 10.2 265 

MN2.26 Land south of Runnell’s 

Lane, Thornton 

5.3 137 

MN2.27 Land at Turnbridge Road, 

Maghull 

1.6 40 

MN2.28 Land north of Kenyons 

Lane, Lydiate 

9.7 10.1 295 

MN2.29 Former Prison Site, Park 

Lane, Maghull  

13.6 370 

MN2.30 Land east of Waddicar 

Lane, Melling  

6.0 178 

MN2.31 Wadacre Farm, Chapel 

Lane, Melling  

5.5 135 

MN2.32 Land south of Spencers 

Lane, Melling 

0.6 18 

MN2.33 Land at Wango Lane, 

Aintree 

1.8 25 

MN2.34 Aintree Curve Site, 

Ridgewood Way, 

Netherton 

3.1 100 109 

MN2.35 Former Z Block Sites, 3.5 100 

Page 131

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

6 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Buckley Hill Lane, 

Netherton 

MN2.36 Former St Raymond’s 

School playing field, 

Harrops Croft, Netherton  

1.9 65 53 

MN2.37 Land at Pendle Drive, 

Netherton 

1.4 52 29 

MN2.38 Land at the former Bootle 

High School, Browns 

Lane, Netherton  

1.7 63 

MN2.39 Former Daleacre School, 

Daleacre Drive, Netherton 

1.0 37 

MN2.40 Former Rawson Road 

Primary School, Rawson 

Road, Bootle  

1.0 20 

MN2.41 Former St Wilfrid’s 

School, Orrell Road, 

Bootle 

6.6 160 

MN2.42 Klondyke Phases 2 and 3, 

Bootle 

4.2 3.6 140 142 

MN2.43 Peoples site, Linacre 

Lane, Bootle 

2.9 110 

MN2.44 Former St Joan of Arc 

School, Rimrose Road, 

Bootle  

1.3 48 51 

MN2.45 Former St Mary’s Primary 

School playing fields, 

Waverley Street, Bootle  

1.6 72 

MN2.46 Land East of Maghull 86.0 85.8 1400 

TOTALS: 314.3 

315.2 

7309 

7264 
1
 Site allocated specifically for older persons housing / accommodation 

(reserved for residents aged 55 and over).  

MM10 36 Policy MN2 Amend part 4 of the policy as follows: 

4.  Sites MN2.2, MN2.4, MN2.6, and MN2.19 are adjacent to 

areas of ‘Proposed Open Space’.  These areas will be 

developed for new open space alongside the housing 

allocation. 

MM11 36 Policy MN2 Add a new part 4A to the policy: 

4A. Site MN2.8 Former Ainsdale Hope School, Ainsdale will 

include an Ecological Improvement Area to be developed as 

a nature reserve alongside the housing allocation. 

MM12 36 Policy MN2 Delete reference to site MN2.49 in part 5 of the policy: 

MN2.49: Land to the South of Formby Industrial Estate - 7 

ha (net) 
 

Amend part 7 of the policy: 

7.  Land North of the Formby Industrial Estate (site 

MN2.48) and Land South of the Formby Industrial Estate 

(site MN2.49) are is subject to a site specific policyies 

(Policyies MN4 and MN5). 

MM13 37 6.17 Delete paragraph 6.17:  

6.17  Sufficient land has been identified to exceed the total 

Page 132

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

7 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

housing requirement of 11,070 dwellings by around 6.5% (720 

dwellings) to allow for contingencies. This additional supply is 

intended to ensure that delays or unforeseen problems on 

allocated sites identified in this policy will not undermine housing 

delivery over the Plan period. This contingency allowance is 

unrelated to the requirement at paragraph 47 of the Framework 

to identify a buffer of 5% or 20% to the ‘5 year supply’.  The 

contingency allowance will also allow choice and provide flexibility 

to adapt to rapid change, as required by paragraph 14 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework.  

MM14 38 6.25 Amend the paragraph as follows: 

6.25  Two Four areas of ‘Proposed Open Space’ are identified on 

the Policies Map.  These areas are adjacent to, and in the same 

ownership as, proposed housing allocations. New open space will 

be created at these sites alongside the development of the 

adjacent housing allocation. Both All these areas are affected by 

constraints that severely restrict or preclude residential 

development.  The Proposed Open Space at Land adjacent to 

Dobbies Garden Centre, Benthams Way, Southport (MN2.6) is at 

greatest risk of surface water flooding.  The Proposed Open Space 

at Andrews Close, Formby (site MN2.19) is in Flood Zone 3, and 

tThe area identified at Bankfield Lane, Southport (MN2.2) is within 

the setting of a listed building and the area at Moss Lane, 

Churchtown (MN2.4) has been identified to maintain the open 

character of the north east corner as it is within the setting of the 

North Meols conservation area.  However, these areas are suitable 

for the creation of open space, which could include new public 

open space, habitat creation, sustainable drainage, or a mixture 

of these.  Their removal from Green Belt would also create a more 

robust Green Belt boundary. 

MM15 40 Policy MN3 Amend policy MN3 as follows: 

MN3 STRATEGIC MIXED USE ALLOCATION - LAND EAST OF 

MAGHULL 
 

1. Land East of Maghull (shown on the Policies Map) is 

identified as a Strategic Mixed Use Allocation. The 

development of this site will create a comprehensive high 

quality, well-designed phased sustainable urban extension 

containing integrated, distinctive, safe and secure 

residential neighbourhoods, a Business Park and 

improvements to local infrastructure.  
 

1A. Proposals for development within Land East of Maghull 

will only be granted planning permission where they are 

consistent with a single detailed master plan for the whole 

site which is approved by the Council.  The master plan 

should accord with this policy and any associated 

Supplementary Planning Document and should be 

submitted prior to or with the first application.  Planning 

permissions will be linked to any necessary legal 

agreements for the improvement, provision, management 

and maintenance of infrastructure, services and facilities, 

open spaces and other matters necessary to make the 

development acceptable and which facilitate 

comprehensive delivery of all phases of development 

Page 133

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

8 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

within the site in accordance with the master plan. 
 

1B. Proposals for development within this site must 

demonstrate a comprehensive approach to infrastructure 

provision (including provision of an appropriate proportion 

of financial and/or ‘in kind’ contributions towards strategic 

and/or local infrastructure required to enable the 

comprehensive development of the site). All residential 

applications within the site must contribute proportionally 

(on a per dwelling basis) to the following improvements:  

a) expansion of Summerhill Primary School to become a 

two form entry school 

b) the provision of a main park within the site 

c) new slip roads at junction 1 of the M58 motorway 

d) subsidy of a bus service through the site for a period of 

5 years 
 

2. No applications for residential or employment 

development will be permitted until a Supplementary 

Planning Document relating to this site has been 

adopted by the Council. 
 

3. The development of the site must provide: 

a) A minimum of 1400 dwellings, including incorporating a 

range of housing types and tenures to meet identified 

housing needs. This will include the provision of 

affordable / special needs housing (policy HC1), and 

provision at least 2 dedicated older persons housing 

schemes (reserved for residents of 55 and over) each 

comprising at least 25 dwellings for older persons 

housing (policy HC2) 

b) A 20 hectare (net) serviced Business Park for office and 

light industrial (class B1), general industrial, (B2), and 

storage and distribution (B8) uses.  The Business Park 

will to be located adjacent to the site’s northern and 

eastern boundary as set out in the broad location 

identified in figure 6.1. 

c) Small-scale retail and commercial development to 

ensure the convenience shopping and other needs of 

new residents are met. This should be no more than 

2,000 sq m (gross) in total.  Local shopping provision of 

an appropriate scale to serve the needs of the new 

community;  

d) A new ‘main park’ through the site located either side of 

Whinney Brook. This must incorporate an equipped play 

area, new habitat creation, and provision for outdoor 

sports  Appropriate new public open space, 

incorporating a neighbourhood park, equipped play 

area, new habitat creation, and provision for outdoor 

sports 

e) A landscaping network including tree planting, buffer 

zones between employment and housing areas and to 

the M58 motorway and railway, the strategic paths and 

cycle routes network 

f) A layout that facilitates provides:  

Page 134

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

9 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

 a bus route across the site from School Lane / 

Maghull Lane in the north to Poverty Lane in the 

south; 

 a distributor road(s) that encourages residential 

traffic from the southern part of the site to access / 

egress via School Lane / Maghull Lane. The 

distributor road(s) will run from School Lane / 

Maghull Lane through the site and will cross 

Whinney Brook; and 

 appropriate separation of commercial and residential 

traffic 

g) The layout should also ensure an appropriate separation 

of commercial and residential traffic 

g) Walking and cycling routes within and beyond the site 

linking new and existing residential areas and business 

park to the railway stations, bus services, new local 

centre local shops, open space, and local schools.  This 

will include improving existing rights of way within the 

site, including upgrading the existing Maghull no. 11 

footpath to a pedestrian / cycle way 

h) Effective management of flood risk within the site, 

including use of sustainable drainage systems. The 

development of the site will result in the reduction of 

flood risk onsite and to the adjacent railway line. No 

residential development will be located in Flood Zones 2 

or 3 following any watercourse realignment, and 

Buildings should be sited away from areas at high risk 

of flooding, and 

i) The long-term management and maintenance of public 

open space, landscaping, and sustainable urban 

drainage systems, to be agreed by the Council. 
 

4. The development of this site must be subject to a 

single outline planning application covering the whole of 

the site. The outline application must: 

 Specify how the infrastructure contributions listed at 

part 5 of this policy will be phased and implemented 

 Indicate the location of the business park 

 Indicate the location of an internal bus route linking 

School Lane and Poverty Lane 

 Indicate the location of access points to the business 

park and new residential areas from Poverty Lane 

and School Lane 

 Indicate the location of the proposed public open 

space, and  

 Provide a strategic landscaping framework.  
 

4. Development of the site will be phased to The following 

phasing requirements will be applied to ensure that the 

required infrastructure is provided alongside new 

development. The following timetable and restrictions 

will apply unless an alteration is agreed in writing with 

the Local Planning Authority: 

a) Maghull North station must be operational before 

the practical completion of the 500th dwelling 

Page 135

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

10 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

b) The southbound on slip and northbound off slip at 

Junction 1 of the M58 motorway must be constructed 

before the practical completion of the 500th dwelling 

c) The internal bus route linking School Lane and 

Poverty Lane must be provided before completion of the 

500th dwelling. No more than 250 dwellings will be served 

from Poverty Lane and no more than 250 dwellings will be 

served from School Lane / Maghull Lane, prior to the 

completion of the internal bus route / distributor road 

d) Serviced plots must be made available on 25% of 

the area of the business park The access into the business 

park from School Lane / Maghull Lane must be constructed 

to an appropriate standard, servicing into the business 

park provided, and the landscaping framework to the 

business park implemented before the practical completion 

of the 500th dwelling 

e) The proposed Business Park must not be occupied 

until the new slip roads are completed at Junction 1 of the 

M58 

f) The local shopping provision must be constructed 

and made available for occupancy before the practical 

completion of the 750th dwelling, and 

g) The neighbourhood main park and outdoor sports 

provision will be provided in a phased manner, so that it 

becomes available when the adjacent housing is completed 
 

5. The development of this site will secure the following 

benefits, including through the use of planning conditions, 

‘Section 106’ or other legal agreements and a phasing/ 

implementation plan: 

a) A financial contribution to secure the provision of the 

new Maghull North station and associated park and ride 

facility 

b) A financial contribution to secure the delivery of the 

new slip roads required at Junction 1 of the M58 motorway 

c) A financial contribution to subsidise a bus service 

through the site for at least 3 years 

d) Provision of other appropriate highways and public 

transport improvements 

e) The provision of affordable / special needs housing 

and older persons housing (policies HC1 and HC2), and 

f) Financial contributions to improve health care and 

education facilities, including expansion of Summerhill 

Primary School, and to provide appropriate community 

facilities within the local centre. 

MM16 41-

42 

6.38-6.41 Amend the first two sentences of paragraph 6.38 as follows: 

6.38  Land east of Maghull will provide a sustainable urban 

extension with major local benefits. These will include a 

contribution to a new Maghull North railway station slip roads at 

junction 1 of the M58, a new neighbourhood main park (as set out 

in the Open Space and Recreation Study and other Council 

documents), sports provision, a new local centre shopping 

provision, and a 20 ha (net) business park.  
 

Add an additional sentence to the end of paragraph 6.41 and a 

Page 136

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

11 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

new Figure 6.1: 

The Business Park should be located adjacent to the site’s north 

eastern boundary as set out Figure 6.1: 

 
MM17 43 Policy MN4 Amend part 1e of the policy as follows: 

e) Flood risk will be managed effectively and appropriately 

within the site, including through the use of flood 

storage areas and sustainable drainage systems; and 

MM18 44 Policy MN5 Delete policy MN5 and the associated text 

MM19 45 Policy MN6 Amend the first sentence of part 1b of the policy as follows: 

b)  Retain and manage 7.9 ha of grassland and wetland 

habitats outside of the residential allocation as a buffer 

zone to the adjacent nature reserve, including additional 

species enhancement measures.  
 

Amend part 1c of the policy as follows: 

c)  Include a signal controlled junction onto the Formby 

Bypass and a through route to a secondary means of 

access via Paradise Lane 

MM20 46 6.64 Amend paragraph 6.64 as follows: 

6.64  A new signal controlled junction must also be provided onto 

the Formby Bypass to facilitate provide access into the site. The 

site layout should ensure provide that a secondary access via 

Paradise Lane. Any route created through the site into Formby 

should be designed to direct through route to other parts of 

Formby is not created, to discourage ‘rat running’ through traffic. 

MM21 46 Policy 

MN6A 

Add a new policy and explanatory text: 

Land at Moss Lane, Churchtown 

Page 137

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

12 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

6.64A  Land at Moss Lane, Churchtown has been identified as a  

housing allocation under Policy MN2. The policy below sets out the 

site specific requirements that will apply to this site.  
 

MN6A LAND AT MOSS LANE, CHURCHTOWN 
 

1. Land at Moss Lane, Churchtown, is allocated for housing 

(as shown on the Policies Map). Development of this site 

must: 

a) Provide for the widening of Moss Lane between the Roe 

Lane/Mill Lane roundabout and the main vehicular 

access point into the site, to a minimum width of 6 

metres with 2m wide footway on the southern side of 

Moss Lane. This can be achieved within the existing 

highway and site boundary. 

b) Provide a financial contribution to subsidise the 

extension of a bus service into the site for at least 5 

years. 

c) Provide a loop road arrangement or suitable turning 

facility within the northern half of the site for the use of 

bus services. 

d) Provide a layout that  provides for mitigation from the 

operation of the adjacent golf course 

e) Retain the existing woodland that abuts Moss Lane to 

the north, and provide for its long term management. 

The development must also make provision for 

footpaths through and public access to the woodland 

area. 

f) Preserve the setting of the adjacent North Meols 

Conservation Area, and secure a transition to open 

countryside, by: 

o Providing a 15 metre deep screen of trees along the 

Moss Lane frontage, between no. 83 Moss Lane and 

the western edge of Pool House Farm, whilst 

allowing for a safe vehicular point of access into the 

development. Existing mature trees around Pool 

House Farm should be retained and supplemented 

with additional planting. 

o Maintaining the open character of the north east 

corner of the site, identified as Proposed Open Space 

on the Policies Map.  

g) Incorporate any necessary flood risk mitigation; and 

h) Provide habitat creation and management, appropriate 

tree planting, and a landscaped buffer alongside the 

Three Pools Waterway. 
 

2. These requirements will be achieved through the use of 

planning conditions, Section 106 and other legal 

agreements. 

Key policy links 

 MN1 Housing and Employment Requirements  

 MN2 Housing, Employment, and Mixed Use Allocations 
 

Explanation 

Page 138

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

13 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

6.64B Land at Moss Lane, Churchtown is a 18.3 ha urban 

extension with the capacity to accommodate around 450 

dwellings. The site will make a significant contribution to housing 

provision in Southport, including towards meeting Southport’s 

high affordable housing need. 
 

6.64C A number of improvements are necessary to ensure that  

the site is accessible to pedestrians, vehicles, and public  

transport. Whilst the majority of Moss Lane between the Roe  

Lane/Mill Lane roundabout and the likely main vehicular access  

point into the site is of adequate width, certain sections will  

require widening and the introduction of footways. In addition, the 

 existing no. 43 bus service currently terminates at the Roe  

Lane/Mill Lane roundabout. MerseyTravel have confirmed to the  

Council that the extension of the no. 43 service into the site would 

 be feasible, and that a contribution would be required from the 

 developer for a period of 5 years to establish this extended  

service. The 5 year subsidy period should commence immediately 

 following the construction of the 150th dwelling. 
 

6.64D Southport Old Links Golf Course is adjacent to the site, and 

 a number of holes are close to the proposed development area.  

The layout of any development in this location should incorporate  

mitigation to ensure that new properties are reasonably screened 

 from wayward golf balls. 
 

6.64E An existing area of woodland (approximately 1.2 ha in  

size) is located within the northern part of the site. This woodland  

should be retained and integrated within the development,  

including provision for footpaths through, and public access into, 

 the woodland area. 
 

6.64F The North Meols Conservation Area is located to the north  

west of the site, and includes the Grade II* listed Meols Hall and  

its historic parkland. Historically, the Hall was surrounded by open 

 countryside, and whilst its western boundaries have now been  

subsumed by urban Southport and trees planted to the eastern  

perimeter, part of the agricultural setting of the estate remains  

intact. In order to preserve connections between the estate and  

the countryside, the development of this site must retain and  

enhance the existing screen of trees and development along Moss 

 Lane. In addition, the area of the site to the east of Pool House  

Farm must be retained as open space to preserve the open  

countryside feel of this part of the site. 
 

6.64G It is envisaged that the main vehicular point of access will  

be located between the existing plantation and the western edge  

of Pool House Farm. Whilst part 1f(a) of the policy requires a 15  

metre deep screen of trees along part of the Moss Lane frontage,  

this should allow for a safe point of access into the development,  

including necessary visibility splays. 
 

6.64H The Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Local  

Plan requires a site specific HRA for this site, in order to provide 

 appropriate protection to the integrity of the Special Protection  

Areas/Ramsar sites bird populations.  Appropriate species surveys  

Page 139

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

14 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

will be required to determine the presence/ likely absence of  

target species where identified. Sufficient information must be  

provided with the planning application to enable the Council to  

make a Habitats Regulations Assessment.  

MM22 48 Policy MN8 Amend the site areas in part 1 of the policy: 

Site Ref. Location Area [ha.] 

MN8.1 Land at Lambshear Lane, Lydiate 33 33.9 

MN8.2 Land adjacent to Ashworth Hospital, 

Maghull 

18.5 15.1 

 

MM23 49 6.78 Replace paragraph 6.78 with the following: 

6.78  The two areas of Safeguarded Land have a combined 

potential capacity for around 1,000 dwellings. In addition, it is 

assumed that 318 dwellings at site MN2.5 Crowland Street, 

Southport, 90 dwellings at site MN2.4 Land at Moss Lane, 

Southport, 80 dwellings at site MN2.46 Land East of Maghull, and 

263 dwellings at Town Lane, Southport (permission ref 

S/2012/0400) will be delivered after 2030 due to likely market 

take-up rates. This land, with a total estimated capacity of some 

1,750 dwellings, will ensure that the proposed Green Belt 

boundary will endure in the longer term, beyond the current Local 

Plan period, though no specific time horizon is identified as to 

when that will be. 

MM24 51 Policy ED1 Replace part 1f of policy ED1 with the following: 

f)  For development which is outside the Seaforth Nature 

Reserve, but within the remainder of the Port and Maritime 

Zone including any expansion of the operational port area 

to the A565,  it can be demonstrated that there are no 

likely significant effects on the Mersey Narrows and North 

Wirral Foreshore and Liverpool Bay Special Protection 

Areas and other internationally important nature sites. 
 

Amend part 2c as follows: 

c)  Demonstrate that there are no likely significant effects 

on the Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore and 

Liverpool Bay Special Protection Areas or and other 

internationally important nature sites. 
 

Amend part 3 as follows: 

3.  Improvements to access will be required to support the 

expansion of the Port. This may require a new road and /or 

substantial improvements to the surrounding highway 

network beyond the Port area, as well as other modes of 

transport, specifically rail. 
 

Amend part 4 as follows: 

4.  Planning conditions and / or legal agreements will be 

used to ensure appropriate compensation, mitigation, 

infrastructure and appropriate local economic, environment 

and community benefits are secured and provided both 

within and beyond Sefton.  

MM25 52 7.14 Replace the final five sentences of paragraph 7.14 with: 

The area adjacent to the main entrance to the Port suffers from 

poor air quality. It is recognised that major road improvements to 

facilitate port access will be required in the long term. A scheme 

has been included in the Road Investment Strategy, and 

Page 140

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

15 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Highways England has commissioned an Options Identification 

and Assessment study, which will be completed in summer 2016. 

Highways England have confirmed, in their newsletter of October 

2015, that they are considering  two options for improved road 

access to the port; upgrade Dunnings Bridge Road; or a new road 

through the Rimrose Valley. 
 

Add new paragraphs 7.14A and 7.14B after paragraph 7.14:  

7.14A The Canada Dock Rail Connectivity Study (April 2015) was 

 prepared on behalf of Merseytravel and the Homes and  

Communities Agency to identify options for reconnecting the  

Southern Zone of the Port of Liverpool to the railway network. The 

 study recommended that land associated with the former Canada 

 Dock Branch Line should not be safeguarded, and that reinstating 

 the route would be a costly and operationally unsatisfactory  

option. The study concludes that rail connectivity could be  

improved most affectively by extending the existing rail line south 

 from Alexandra Dock. The viability of this proposal will be  

assessed in greater detail within the emerging Port Master Plan  

and Long Term Freight Strategy and as part of the Duty to  

Cooperate associated with an early review of the Local Plan 
 

7.14B Network Rail is bringing forward proposals that will  

improve the rail freight capacity on the Bootle Branch Line into  

the Port of Liverpool, which will accommodate increased rail  

freight movements associated with the increase in biomass  

imports for energy generation and with the growth in container  

movements that will result from the opening of Liverpool2. 

MM26 54 7.18 Replace ‘Primary Retail Areas’ with ‘Primary Shopping Areas’ 

MM27 54 Policy ED2 Amend parts 1 to 5 of policy ED2 as follows: 
 

ED2 DEVELOPMENT IN TOWN CENTRES, DISTRICT 

CENTRES, LOCAL CENTRES AND LOCAL SHOPPING 

PARADES AND OUTSIDE DEFINED CENTRES  
 

1. Retail, leisure and other main town centre uses1 will be 

directed towards the Borough's existing centres in 

accordance with the following hierarchy: 
 

Town 

Centres: 

Bootle and Southport 

District 

Centres: 

Crosby, Formby, Maghull and Waterloo 

Local 

Centres: 

Ainsdale, Birkdale, Churchtown, Netherton 

and Old Roan 
 

Planning permission will only be granted for development 

which is appropriate to the role and function of each 

centre.  
 

Sequential Test 
 

2. Where proposed outside of the defined town, district and 

local centres, Proposals for all retail, leisure and other 

town centre uses will be subject to a sequential approach 

to development. This will require applications for town 

Page 141

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

16 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

centre uses to be located firstly in: 

 Primary Shopping Areas (retail uses only), then  

 town centres, district and local centres (in 

accordance with the hierarchy in part 1), then 

 edge of centre locations, and  

 only if suitable sites are not available should out of 

centre sites be considered.  
 

When considering new proposals in out of centre locations, 

preference will be given to accessible sites that are well 

connected to a defined centre in accordance with part 1 of 

the policy.  For retail uses, if there are no accessible out of 

centre sites that are well connected to a defined centre, 

preference will be given to the existing retail parks2 (as 

shown on the Policies Map).In addition, all proposed retail, 

leisure and other town centre uses should demonstrate: 

• that they would not prejudice the delivery of planned 

investment within any existing defined centre, and 

• that no significant adverse impact on the vitality and 

viability of any existing centre will arise from the 

proposed development. 
 

Impact Test 
 

3. For retail, leisure and other town centreoffice uses 

proposalsproposed outside of existing defined centres, 

impact assessments will be required to accompany 

planning applications at the locations identified below 

based on the following floorspace thresholds at the 

following locations set out: 

• outside of the Primary Shopping Areas (for retail) or 

the town, district and local centres (for leisure and 

office uses) of Bootle and Southport, an impact 

assessments will be required for development which 

proposes more than 500m2 gross floorspace or more 

• within 800 metres of the boundaries of the district 

centres, an impact assessment will be required for 

development which proposes more than 300m2 gross 

floorspace, and 

• within 800 metres of the boundaries of the local 

centres, an impact assessment will be required for 

development which proposes more than 200m2 gross 

floorspace. 
 

Where more than one impact threshold applies, the lower 

impact threshold will take precedence. Where appropriate, 

impacts on the vitality and viability of designated retail 

centres in neighbouring local authorities will also be 

required to be assessed. All proposed retail, leisure and 

offices uses which exceed the above local impact threshold 

test (part 3) should demonstrate: 
 

 that they would not have a significant adverse 

impact on the delivery of existing, committed, and 

planned public and private investment within any 

Page 142

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

17 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

existing defined centres, and 

 that no significant adverse impact on the vitality and 

viability of any existing centres will arise from the 

proposed development, including to local consumer 

choice and trade in defined centres and the wider 

area, up to five years from the time the application is 

made. For major schemes where the full impact will 

not be realised in five years, the impact should also 

be assessed up to ten years from when the 

application is made.  
 

Subject to the above, impact assessments may also be 

required in other circumstances, including where a change 

of use or variation of conditions from one form of 

retail development to another is proposed and could 

materially affect local shopping patterns. 
 

4.  Within Primary Shopping Areas (as shown on the 

Policies Mapsee figure 7.2) proposals for non-retail uses, 

compatible with a town centre location, will be permitted 

providing that: 

(i) the overall retail function of the Centre would not          

be undermined 

(ii) the use would make a positive contribution to the 

overall vitality and viability of the Centre, and 

(iii) it would not result in an unacceptable cluster of 

non-retail uses. 
 

Within the primary retail frontages identified on the 

Policies Map, it is expected that 70% of units should fall 

within the A1 (retail) Use Class. 
 

Applications within primary and secondary frontages at the 

town and district centres which would result in the loss of 

an active ground floor use will not be supported. 
 

Outside of Primary Shopping Areas, but within defined 

centres, all main town centre uses will be considered 

acceptable in principle. 
 

5. Residential development and other non-town centre 

usesdevelopment will be permitted, if it does not 

compromise the vitality and viability of the centre or 

parade, in: 

 defined town and district centres (outside Primary 

Shopping Areas) and local centres, or 

 upper floors of buildings in the Primary Shopping 

Area, or 

 local shopping parades  
 
1 As defined in NPPF Annex 2 
2 Aintree Racecourse Retail Park and Grand National Retail Park in 
Aintree, Switch Island Leisure Park, Netherton and Meols Cop, Ocean 
Plaza and Kew Retail Parks in Southport 

MM28 56 7.20-7.22 Replace paragraph 7.20 with the following: 

7.20  The 2015 Retail Strategy Review (RSR) identifies no 

Page 143

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

18 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

immediate capacity for additional convenience shopping 

floorspace in North Sefton, with a limited capacity arising in the 

longer term up to 2030.  For South Sefton, the RSR forecasts a 

more significant capacity for additional convenience shopping 

floorspace in both the short and medium term, providing potential 

investment opportunities to support future development in Bootle, 

Crosby and Maghull. 
 

Replace paragraph 7.21 with the following: 

7.21  The RSR identifies no significant overall need for new 

comparison floorspace within the Borough in the period up to 

2020, with additional capacity for comparison goods floorspace 

predicted to arise in the latter half of the plan period, The reuse of 

existing vacant floorspace is expected to absorb some of this 

identified capacity. The RSR forecasts the majority of the arising 

comparison floorspace need will be in North Sefton. To reflect this, 

additional floorspace for comparison shopping would be supported 

in principle in Southport Town Centre, particularly where it would 

improve Southport’s market share or reuse existing floorspace. 

Similarly in south Sefton, notwithstanding the availability of 

capacity in the south of the Borough, any proposed new 

floorspace should be focused towards the Borough’s defined 

centres in accordance with the sequential approach and the Retail 

Strategy. 
 

Replace paragraph 7.22 with the following: 

7.22  The RSR’s forecasts will be reviewed regularly to help 

provide an up to date assessment of the retail needs and capacity 

within the Borough, and help to address any uncertainties in 

predicting how the retail sector will perform over time given its 

fluidity in recent years. 
 

Add new paragraph 7.22A after paragraph 7.22:  

7.22A The sequential test and impact assessment should be 

undertaken in a proportionate and locally appropriate way, and 

ideally agreed at pre-application stages, drawing on and sharing 

existing information where possible. The applicants and the 

Council should seek to agree the scope, key impacts for 

assessment, potentially alternative sites and the level of detail 

required in advance of applications being submitted. 

MM29 56 Figure 7.2 Delete Figure 7.2.  

MM30 57 Policy ED3 Rename the policy ‘Existing Employment Areas’, and replace 

‘Primarily Industrial Area’ with ‘Existing Employment Area’ 

throughout the policy, including the policy links and associated 

text (paragraphs 7.26 - 7.28).  

Amend the policy as follows: 

ED3 PRIMARILY INDUSTRIAL EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 

AREAS 
 

1. The Primarily Industrial Existing Employment Areas are 

suitable for the following uses: 

• Office and light industrial (class B1) 

• General Industrial (class B2) 

• Storage and distribution (class B8) 
 

Page 144

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

19 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

2. Other uses will only be permitted where they: 

 They are small scale or ancillary to the above uses, 

and would not prejudice the operation of Class B1, 

B2, or B8 uses within the Existing Employment Area, 

or 

 The land/premises are currently vacant and have 

been continuously and actively marketed  for B1, B2 

or B8  uses for at least 12 months (starting from the 

date the site became vacant) at  a reasonable 

market rate (i.e. rent or capital values) and it has 

been demonstrated in a formal marketing report that 

there is no reasonable prospect of the site being 

used for employment use, or 

 There would be a significant community benefit that 

would outweigh the loss of the employment 

land/premises.  

• are small scale or ancillary to the above uses, or 

• maximise job outputs and are compatible with the 

character and function of the area and with adjacent 

uses. 
 

3. Development within the Primarily Industrial Existing 

Employment Areas must not: 

• Significantly harm the amenity of any nearby 

residents, and 

• Significantly harm the general environment. 

MM31 58 Policy ED4 Amend the policy as follows: 

ED4 MIXED USE AREAS 
 

1. The Mixed Use Areas listed below are suitable for the 

following types of development: office and light industry, 

health and educational uses, civic and community facilities, 

and other uses that are compatible with complement the 

character of the area. 

1. Bootle Central Commercial Area 

2. Land at Crosby Road North, Waterloo 

3. Land at Copy Lane, Netherton 

4. Land to the West of Ormskirk Road, Aintree 

5. Switch Island, Aintree 

6. Land at Hawthorne Road / Church Road, Bootle 

MM32 59 Policy ED5  Amend policy ED5 as follows: 

ED5 TOURISM 
 

Strategic Tourism Locations 

1.  Tourism development will be supported in the following 

locations, subject to there being no adverse effects on the 

integrity of sites of international nature conservation 

importance and to , other natural and heritage assets, or 

other Local Plan policies: 

 Southport Seafront and Southport Central Area 

 Crosby Coastal Park 

 Aintree Racecourse 

 Adjacent to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal. 
 

Other Tourism Development 

Page 145

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

20 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

2. Elsewhere sustainable tourism development will be 

supported in principle where it relates to location-specific 

tourism assets and is consistent with other Local Plan 

policies. 

MM33 63 Policy ED7  Amend policy ED7 as follows: 

ED7 SOUTHPORT CENTRAL AREA 
 

1. Within the Southport Central Area development 

proposals should be consistent with, and make a positive 

contribution to, the economic function of the area, the 

quality of the environment and maintain the significance of 

heritage assets and their settings. 
 

2. Development proposals for new within the Southport 

Central Area for the following uses will be acceptable in 

principle, subject to other Local Plan policies: 

a) Hotels and guest houses are acceptable in principle 

b) for Arts and cultural uses, and visitor attractions are 

acceptable in principle 

c) New Education uses development, including the 

expansion of Southport College, is acceptable in 

principle 

d) Uses which secure a sustainable future for vacant or ‘at 

risk’ heritage assets. 
 

53. Development within the Central Area must should: 

a) Have no unacceptable impact on existing living 

conditions, and 

b) Cause no unacceptable harm to the appearance of street 

frontages, and to the vitality and viability of the town 

centre in general. 

c) Take opportunities to enhance heritage assets and their 

settings including securing their re-use, repair and 

restoration where appropriate. Where heritage is 

degraded through poor quality previous changes, 

enhancements should form part of proposals. Within the 

Lord Street and Promenade Conservation Areas, new or 

replacement features should enhance the appearance of 

buildings, public spaces, and the historic character of 

the area. 
 

64. On the Lord Street frontages, new development is 

expected to should promote active frontages that support 

vitality and viability. Amusement arcades and centres will 

not be permitted on the north west Lord Street frontage 

between 91 and 581 Lord Street. 
 

75. The use of upper floors for a range of uses comparable 

with the retail and commercial character of the area will be 

encouraged.  The use of upper floors for residential 

development will be permitted where they provide 

acceptable living conditions. 

MM34 65 Policy ED8A Add a new policy ED8A and accompanying explanatory text: 

ED8A MARINE PARK, SOUTHPORT 
 

1. Marine Park (16.4 ha) is allocated for major visitor-

Page 146

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

21 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

based development [shown on the Policies Map]. 

Redevelopment of this site must significantly enhance the 

regional leisure and tourism role of Southport. 
 

2. The redevelopment of this site must:  

a) Be of high design quality that compliments the 

existing historic seaside environment and its open 

character 

b) Incorporate active frontages to both Marine Drive 

and Esplanade 

c) Significantly improves pedestrian links within and 

through the site. This must include the provision 

of a high quality, landscaped pedestrian link 

through the site continuing the linear route 

connecting Scarisbrick Avenue and the Venetian 

Bridge in King’s Gardens to the seafront 

d) Incorporate high quality landscaping, including 

enhancements to the north western edge of the 

Marine Lake. 

e) Retain the open seafront setting of the listed pier, 

and maintain views to and from it 

f) Ensure that the position, orientation, and scale of 

new buildings allows for open views to be 

retained towards the sea from the Promenade and 

the Seafront Gardens 

g) Improve views from the Promenade towards 

Ocean Plaza. 

h) Provide appropriate compensatory open space and 

green infrastructure within the site 
 

3. The expansion of the existing fairground and the 

provision of new outdoor leisure facilities are acceptable in 

principle. 
 

4. Any proposal to partially develop the site should be 

prepared in the context of a development strategy for the 

whole site. 
 

5. Development that would adversely affect the integrity of 

adjacent internationally important nature sites will not be 

permitted. 

Policy links: 

 ED5 Tourism 

 ED6 Regeneration 

 ED8 Southport Seafront 

 NH2 Protection and enhancement of nature sites, priority 

habitats and species 
 

National /regional context 

 LCR Visitor Economy Strategy to 2020, 2009 

 Southport Investment Strategy 
 

Explanation 
 

7.67A  The Marine Park site represents a significant opportunity to  

Page 147

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

22 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

provide high quality development of a scale that enhances  

Southport’s role as a regionally important centre for tourism, and  

to act as a catalyst for further tourism investment. In particular,  

this site offers the potential to create a development that  

increases the number and type of visitors to Southport, and  

encourages more families to visit the town. The Visitor Economy  

Strategy also supports the development of a major new tourist  

attraction at Marine Park. Development of this site will be  

expected to meet each of the criteria set out in the policy to  

ensure that the highest quality of development is achieved on this 

prominent site. 
 

7.67B The site is in a sensitive location between the seafront, the  

Grade II listed pier and the Promenade Conservation Area,  

incorporating the Kings and South Marine Registered Historic  

Gardens.  It is essential that the historic and visual connections  

between the development site, the pier, the historic Promenade  

frontage, and the historic gardens and the sea are retained. The  

fairground compliments Southport’s heritage as a seaside resort  

town, and the continuation of this use is seen as maintaining the  

seafront’s historic character 
 

7.67C Marine Park is located at a key gateway to Southport town 

 centre so design, layout and quality of development are critical to 

 the success and perception of the town. The Ocean Plaza  

buildings currently detract from views across the historic  

seafront.  Opportunities to improve the longer ranging views  

across the seafront from the Pier, Promenade, and Kings and  

South Marine Registered Historic Gardens, should be taken. 
 

7.67D The development of this site may involve the loss of some  

or all of Princes Park (a non-designated heritage asset). It is  

envisaged that the benefits of meeting parts 1 and 2 of this policy 

 will outweigh this loss. Appropriate new open space and green 

 infrastructure should also be provided within the site to  

compensate for any loss of open space. 

MM35 65 Policy ED8B Add new policy ED8B and accompanying explanatory text:  

AINTREE RACECOURSE  
 

7.67E Aintree Racecourse is an asset of national importance, and  

is the home of the Grand National Festival, which hosts the world  

class National Steeplechase. It is therefore a major and valuable  

recreation, tourism and conferencing facility which attracts  

significant numbers of visitors throughout the year thereby  

contributing positively to the Borough and the wider Region’s  

economy. 
 

ED8B  AINTREE RACECOURSE 
 

1. Within the part of Aintree Racecourse which lies within 

the Green Belt, development must meet all of the 

following criteria: 

a) maintain or enhance the existing use of the 

Racecourse 

b) preserve the character of the area 

c) be consistent with national Green Belt Policy  and 

Page 148

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

23 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

other Local Plan policies. 
 

2. Within the remaining part of Aintree Racecourse, 

development which enhances the recreational, tourism 

and conference functions of the Racecourse will be 

supported where consistent with other Local Plan 

policies. 

Key Policy Links: 

 ED5 Tourism 

 MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt  
 

National /regional context 

 Liverpool City Region Visitor Economy Strategy to 2020, 

2009 
 

Explanation 
 

7.67F Aintree Racecourse is an appropriate use within the Green  

Belt, in which the majority of the site is located. Development that 

 enhances the recreational use of the Racecourse as a racing  

venue will be supported where consistent with other Local Plan  

policies. Development in this area should respect the openness of  

the Green Belt. It is also important that development does not  

harm existing outdoor recreation uses in the area of the  

Racecourse within the Green Belt, due to the special character  

and function of the Racecourse. This is in addition to the  

restrictions on development within the Green Belt. 
 

7.67G In the area of the Racecourse which is outside the Green  

Belt (i.e. the Ormskirk Road frontage), development proposals  

related to tourism, recreation or conferencing, particularly those  

relating to the Racecourse, such as hotel and conference facilities, 

 will be supported where consistent with other Local Plan policies.  

Retail uses, including food and drinks uses, which are ancillary to  

the function of the Racecourse will be supported. 

MM36 69 Policy HC1 Add new part 4A to policy HC1 after “All Areas” heading: 

4A.  Vacant Building Credit - Proposals that involve the re-

use of a vacant building  or where it is demolished and 

replaced by a new building, will receive a financial credit 

equivalent to the existing gross floorspace (of relevant 

vacant buildings) when calculating any affordable housing 

contributions.  
 

Amend part 5 of the policy by deleting the last sentence: 

5.  Special needs housing can be substituted for up to 50% 

of the site affordable housing contribution on a bedspace 

for bedspace basis. The residual affordable housing 

requirement should meet the relevant tenure requirement.  
 

Amend part 6 of the policy as follows: 

6.  Where extra care or sheltered housing is proposed to be 

substituted for affordable housing, this must meet the 

tenure requirements set out in parts 2 and 4 of this 

policy.80% of this should be provided as social 

Page 149

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

24 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

rented/affordable rented and the remaining 20% provided 

as intermediate housing for all parts of the Borough apart 

from Bootle and Netherton, where it should be provided as 

50% social/affordable rented housing and 50% 

intermediate housing. 
 

Add new parts 9 and 10 to the policy: 

9.  Off-site provision of affordable housing, or a  

financial contribution of broadly equivalent value, will be 

considered where it can be robustly justified, and where 

the agreed approach contributes to the objective of 

creating mixed and balanced communities. 
 

10.  In implementing the policy, the Council will have 

regard to:  

a)    the definitions and provisions of affordable and/or 

special needs housing in relevant national guidance as they 

may change  over time; and 

b) changes in the Borough’s requirements for affordable 

and special needs housing based on new evidence of need 

as set out in future commissioned Strategic Housing 

Market Assessments or similar studies. 

MM37 70 After 8.13 Insert new paragraph 8.13A after paragraph 8.13: 

8.13A  The Vacant Building Credit is intended to offer an incentive 

to brownfield development, including the reuse or redevelopment 

of empty and redundant buildings.  The existing floorspace of a 

vacant building will be credited against the floorspace of the new 

development.  For example, where a building with a gross 

floorspace of 8,000 square metres is demolished as part of a 

proposed development with a gross floorspace of 10,000 square 

metres, any affordable housing contribution should be a fifth of 

what would normally be sought. 
When assessing Vacant Building Credits the Council will consider 

the following: 
 Whether the building has been made vacant for the sole 

purposes of re-development 
 Whether the building is covered by an extant or recently 

expired planning permission for the same or substantially the 

same development. 
The Government’s Planning Practice Guidance provides more 

detail on the operation of the Vacant Building Credit. 

MM38 72 Policy HC2  Amend the threshold in part 1 from 15 to 25 dwellings  

1.  In developments of 15 25 or more dwellings, the mix of 

new properties provided must be as follows……  
 

Replace part 2 of the policy with the following: 

2.  In developments of 50 or more dwellings, at least 20% 

of new market properties must be designed to meet 

Building Regulation Requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and 

adaptable dwellings’.  
 

Amend part 3 of the policy as follows: 

3.  Where housing for older people or people with special 

needs is provided as part of a larger scheme, this should, 

where appropriate, be located within the scheme in the 

Page 150

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

25 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

most accessible location for local services and facilities. 
 

Add a new part 5 to the policy: 

5.   The Council will support proposals for Custom or Self-

Build homes on appropriate sites. To identify and provide 

for those who wish to custom or self-build their own homes 

the Council will:  

 Manage a register of interested parties who wish to 

custom or self-build their own home 

 Identify at least two pilot schemes to be made 

available for custom or self-builders. 

MM39 73 8.31 Amend the first sentence of paragraph 8.31 as follows:  

8.31  In this context, the construction of 20% of new housing in 

developments of 50 homes or more to Building Regulation 

Requirement M4(2) Lifetime Homes standards will help to provide 

more flexible accommodation.  
 

Delete the remainder of the paragraph and replace with: 

Optional Technical Standards for Housing allow planning 

authorities to set additional technical requirements exceeding the 

minimum standards required by Building Regulations in respect to 

access. Optional requirement M4(2) ensures new housing 

incorporates features that make it adaptable to a wide range of 

occupants, including older people. The emerging Affordable, 

Special Needs and Older People’s Housing SPD will provide further 

guidance on policy HC2 part 2.   

MM40 74 After 8.34 Add new paragraph 8.34A after paragraph 8.34:  

8.34A Custom and Self-build homes are a means of allowing local 

people or groups to commission, design, construct or complete 

their own home. Sefton has recently completed an Assessment of 

the Potential for Self-build and Custom Build Homes in the 

borough. Whilst this assessment hasn’t been able to determine a 

level of demand in Sefton for these types of schemes, it proposed 

a number of recommendations to allow the Council to further 

understand likely demand. One recommendation is for the setting 

up of a register to allow people and groups to indicate that they 

want to custom or self-build their homes. Another 

recommendation is that the Council identifies a small number of 

pilot sites to be made available for custom and self-build homes. 

The Council intends to implement both of these recommendations 

in the short term. These will provide a much better view of the 

demand for this type of accommodation in Sefton and may lead to 

a Supplementary Planning Document and/or a review of how the 

Council disposes of its excess land. 

MM41 77 Policy HC5 In part 2 of policy HC5, add “including from flood risk” to the end 

of the first bullet point. 

 The site should provide a safe environment for intended 

occupants including from flood risk 

MM42 79 Policy HC7  Amend part 2 of the policy as follows: 

2.  Development of the site must retain key green 

infrastructure and minimise harm to the historic 

environment and its setting the heritage characteristics of 

the site. 
 

Amend part 3 of the policy and header above: 

Page 151

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

26 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Sites formerly in use as schools, colleges or other care 

institutions 

3.  Development for an alternative use which is compatible 

with the surrounding area is acceptable in principle, where 

appropriate evidence is provided that the institution and its 

ancillary facilities are surplus to recreational requirements. 

MM43 81 Policy IN1 Amend policy IN1 as follows: 

IN1 INFRASTRUCTURE AND DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

1. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan, Appendix 1 and other 

policies in the Local Plan lists the essential infrastructure 

required for the implementation of the Local Plan strategy. 
 

2. Social, community, environmental and physical 

infrastructure will be protected, enhanced and provided 

where there is an identified need to support sustainable 

communities. 
 

3. Developer contributions may also be sought in 

appropriate locations to assist with regeneration objectives 

set out elsewhere in the plan. 
 

4. Where appropriate, contributions will be sought to 

enhance and provide infrastructure to support new 

development. This may be secured as a planning obligation 

through a legal agreement, through the Community 

Infrastructure Levy or through other agreements. 
 

5. Where appropriate, the Council may require developers 

to provide the necessary infrastructure themselves as part 

of their development proposals, rather than making 

financial contributions. 
 

5A. Developer contributions may also be sought in 

appropriate locations to assist with regeneration objectives 

set out elsewhere in the plan. 
 

6. Planning conditions or phased legal agreements may be 

used to ensure essential infrastructure is provided within 

appropriate timescales. 
 

7. The Council will work with a range of partners to make 

sure that infrastructure is provided in the right location 

when required. 
 

8. The impact of providing or contributing to infrastructure 

on the viability of development proposals will be 

considered. Where scheme viability will be affected, 

developers will be expected to provide Viability 

Assessments which will be taken into account as a material 

consideration in the determination of planning 

applications. Essential infrastructure is required regardless 

of viability. 

MM44 82 9.13 Add an additional sentence to the end of the paragraph: 

However, viability issues must not be a reason to avoid the 

provision of essential infrastructure, i.e. infrastructure needed to 

Page 152

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

27 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

make the development acceptable in planning terms.   

MM45 83 Policy IN2 

 

In the last bullet point of part 1 of policy IN2, replace ‘Aintree 

Curve’ with ‘North Mersey Branch line’. 
 

Amend part 2 of the policy as follows: 

2.  Improvements to The Council’s general priorities for the 

transport network will take account of the need forinclude: 

• Improving safety and accessibility for all transport 

users 

• Protecting the freight distribution network 

• Maintaining, improving and extending the walking 

and cycling network 

• Better connecting new and existing neighbourhoods 

with the public transport network 

• Creating opportunities for existing transport to 

become more sustainable such as by 

promoting/installing charger units at appropriate 

places along routeslocations. 
 

Delete ‘Highways Agency’ from the first bullet point of part 4 of 

the policy. 
 

Add a new part 7 to the policy: 

7.  The Council will support initiatives to reconnect the Port 

of Liverpool (Southern Zone) between Alexandra Dock and 

Sandon Dock to the rail network. Subject to the compliance 

with Policy ED1 ‘The Port and Maritime Zone’ and Policy 

NH2 ‘Protection and enhancement of nature sites, priority 

habitats and species’, proposals by Peel Ports to extend the 

existing rail lines within the Port of Liverpool at Seaforth to 

directly serve the new Liverpool2 container terminal will be 

supported. 

MM46 84 9.17 Replace the final sentence with: 

Options are being explored to reconnect the Port of Liverpool 

(Southern Zone) from Alexandra Dock to the rail network as part 

of the Port Master Plan and Long Term Freight Strategy. Network 

Rail is also developing proposals to improve rail freight capacity 

on the Bootle Branch Line and the wider rail network and Peel 

Ports is considering options for a direct rail connection to the new 

Liverpool 2 container terminal. Highways England is developing 

proposals for a major highway improvement to the Port, as 

identified in the Road Investment Strategy, which will be delivered 

within the Local Plan period. 

MM47 86 9.33-9.34 Add four new paragraphs after paragraph 9.33:  

9.33A Further national guidance is set out in National Planning 

Practice Guidance and the Ministerial Written Statements of 25 

March and 18 June 2015.  The latter indicates that when 

determining planning applications for wind energy development 

for one or more wind turbines, local planning authorities should 

only grant planning permission if: 

 The proposed development site is in an area identified as 

suitable for wind energy development in a Local or Neighbourhood 

Plan; and  

 Following consultation, it can be demonstrated that the 

planning impacts identified by affected local communities have 

Page 153

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

28 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

been fully addressed and the proposal has their backing. 
 

9.33B The Written Ministerial Statement of 25 March 2015 

included provisions on the siting of large scale ground-mounted 

solar panel installations to ensure that the locations chosen for 

these schemes are the most suitable, taking into account factors 

such as the agricultural quality of the land concerned. 
 

9.33C The Plan does not allocate any sites for large scale 

renewable energy schemes in the Green Belt, and does not 

identify any sites as being suitable for wind energy development.  

The area of search for wind energy at Ince Blundell identified at 

the Preferred Options stage of Local Plan preparation has not been 

taken forward.  This area was originally identified in the Liverpool 

City Region Renewable Energy Capacity Study (2011).  This Study 

looked only at wind speeds and high level constraints with a view 

to identifying areas suitable for multiple turbine installations, and 

did not look at, matters such as flood risk, landscape character, 

cumulative impact or the specific impacts on heritage assets. It 

did not consider wind energy installations at a small enough scale 

to comply with the requirements of the 18 June 2015 Ministerial 

Written Statement.  Ince Blundell Parish Council and local 

residents submitted objections to this proposal at the Preferred 

Options stage. 
 

9.33D The immediate review of the Plan provides the opportunity 

for the Council, working where appropriate in collaboration with 

the other Liverpool City Region authorities, to generate a new 

evidence base regarding renewable energy, including wind.  This 

would assist the Council to determine such renewable energy 

applications in the light of the Framework, National Planning 

Practice Guidance and most particularly the Ministerial Written 

Statement of June 2015.  In light of the current situation, the 

Council will be unable to consent applications for onshore wind 

energy development until a review of the Local Plan is 

undertaken.  
 

Amend the final sentence of paragraph 9.34: 

Any proposals will be assessed against the Framework and other 

policies within the Plan, National Planning Practice Guidance and 

the Ministerial Written Statement of June 2015. 

MM48 87 Policy EQ1 Amend the sixth bullet point as follows: 

 Appropriately locating food and drink shops, hot 

food takeaways, drinking establishments, 

restaurants, cafes and other non-food and drink uses 

which have health impacts, having regard to other 

land uses in the local area 

MM49 90 Policy EQ3  Amend policy EQ3 as follows: 

EQ3  ACCESSIBILITY 
 

In order to improve accessibility in Sefton, new 

development must adhere to the following principles: 

 Be located and designed to encourage walking and 

cycling both within, to and from the site 

 Where practical, be located in areas that are 

Page 154

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

29 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

accessible, or are capable of being made accessible, 

to bus stops and rail stations 

 Be accessible to an existing range of local services 

and facilities or, where appropriate, be supported by 

new services and facilities 

 Ensure the needs of all residents and users of 

services and buildings, including those with limited 

mobility are met Consider the needs of all residents 

and users of services and buildings, including those 

with limited mobility  

 Ensure existing pedestrian and cycle paths are 

protected and where possible enhanced 

 Ensure the  safety of pedestrians, cyclists and all 

road users is not adversely affected, and 

 Consider the safety of pedestrians, cyclists and all 

road users, and 

 Comply with the Council’s parking standards.Have 

regard to the Council’s parking standards and the 

recommendations of any submitted Transport 

Assessment or Transport Statement. 

MM50 93 Policy EQ5 Amend policy EQ5 as follows: 

EQ5 AIR QUALITY  
 

1. Development proposals must demonstrate that they will 

not:  

 Hinder the achievement of Air Quality Management Area 

(AQMA) objectives and the measures set out in an Air 

Quality Management Area Action Plan; orResult in a 

significant worsening of air pollution levels in an Air 

Quality Management Area or 

 Hinder the revocation of an Air Quality Management 

Area by:  

o introducing significant new sources of air 

pollutants, or 

o Introducing new development whose users will 

be especially susceptible to air pollution, or 

 Lead to the declaration of an Air Quality Management 

Area; or 

 Lead to a significant material decline in air quality. 
 

2. Where appropriate, major developments must 

incorporate appropriate measures to reduce air pollution 

and minimise exposure to harmful levels of air pollution to 

both occupiers of the site and occupiers of neighbouring 

sites. 

MM51 93 10.37-

10.38 

Amend paragraph 10.37 as follows: 

Development must not compromise Sefton’s ability to meet 

national air quality targets, reflected in its AQMAs and Action 

Plans and other local air quality plans.  As well as the individual 

impacts, the cumulative effects of development within an AQMA or 

elsewhere will also be taken into account, where in combination 

they result in a material decline in air quality. 
 

Add two new paragraphs after paragraph 10.37: 

10.37A  When assessing the level of the impact of 

Page 155

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

30 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

development proposals on air quality, relevant issues in relation 

to both parts of this policy are likely to include: 

 The ‘baseline’ local air quality and the location of the 

development in relation to existing AQMAs or known air 

pollution sources or issues; 

 Whether the proposed development could significantly change 

air quality during the construction and operational phases;  

 Whether there is likely to be a significant increase in the 

number of people exposed to a problem with air quality, e.g. 

when new housing is proposed in an area known to experience 

poor air quality; and/or 

 Other issues set out in local air quality plans or national 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG). 
 

10.37B  In relation to part 2 of the policy, the type and scale 

of both impact assessment and mitigation measures should be 

proportionate and will depend on the location of the site, the 

proposed development and the likely impact on air quality. 

Planning obligations or other legal agreements or mechanisms 

may be used to secure these   measures.  Examples of mitigation 

include:   

 Design  and layout of development to increase separation 

distances from sources of air pollution; 

 Provision of trees or other green infrastructure to absorb dust 

and other pollutants; 

 Provision or promotion of  infrastructure for means of travel 

which have a low impact on emissions, including low emissions 

vehicles; 

 Funding contributions towards measures to offset the impact 

on air quality arising from new development, including those 

identified in local or City Region air quality action plans and 

low emission strategies; and/or  

Other examples set out in local air quality plans or national 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)’. 
 

Delete paragraph 10.38 

MM52 95 10.48-

10.49 

Replace paragraph 10.48 with the following: 

10.48  In July 2015 the Government indicated that it would not be 

pursuing the ‘Allowable Solutions’ mechanism for achieving zero 

carbon homes in major housing schemes.  If the national policy 

context regarding the use of ‘Allowable Solutions’ changes in the 

future, the Council will encourage developments in Sefton which 

includes ‘Allowable Solutions’, and any ‘Allowable Solutions’ 

themselves, to be compatible with the Council’s energy strategies 

and plans.  These include the Sefton Sustainable Energy Action 

Plan (SEAP), the Liverpool City Region SEAP or the Sefton Home 

Energy Conservation Act Plan 2013. 
 

Delete paragraph 10.49 

MM53 96 Policy EQ8 Amend policy EQ8 as follows: 

EQ8 MANAGING FLOOD RISK AND SURFACE WATER 
 

Flood risk generally 
 

1. Development must be located in areas at lowest risk 

Page 156

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

31 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

of flooding from all sources, unless the Sequential test and 

where appropriate the Exceptions test set out in national 

policy have been passed.  Within the site, uses with the 

greater vulnerability to flooding must be located in areas 

with lower risk of flooding, unless it is demonstrated that 

there are overriding reasons why this should not take 

placein accordance with national policy.  Within the site, 

buildings must be located in the areas at lowest risk of 

flooding.   
 

2. Development proposals must not increase flood risk 

from any sources within the site or elsewhere, and where 

possible should reduce the causes and impacts of flooding 

flood risk.   
 

2A. Development proposals must incorporate an integrated 

approach to the management of flood risk, surface water 

and foul drainage. 
 

2B. Ground floor and basement access levels of all 

development should be a minimum of 600mm above the 1 

in 100 annual probability fluvial flood level or the 1 in 200 

annual probability tidal flood level with an allowance for 

climate change, taking into account the presence of 

defences and the residual risks of failure of those defences.  
 

2C. Ground floor and basement access levels of all 

development should be a minimum of 300mm above the 1 

in 100 annual probability surface water flood level with an 

allowance for climate change. 
 

Surface water management   
 

3. In addition to the national requirements, site-

specific Flood Risk Assessments will also be required for all 

development on sites of 0.5 hectares or more in Critical 

Drainage Areas as defined in the Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment. Site-specific Flood Risk Assessments will be 

required for all development on sites of 0.5 hectares or 

more in Critical Drainage Areas as defined in the Strategic 

Flood Risk Assessment. 
 

4. Where reasonably practicable, development must 

incorporate sustainable drainage systems to manage 

surface water flooding run-off within the site, so that: 

a) Surface water run-off rates and volumes are reduced by 

20% (compared to the pre-existing rates) for sites 

covered by buildings or impermeable hard surfaces, and 

for greenfield sites do not exceed greenfield rates. 

b) Surface water discharge is targeted using a sequential 

approach, and proposals to for the attenuated discharge 

of surface water into anything other than the ground 

must demonstrate why the other sequentially 

preferable alternatives cannot be implemented: 

i. Into the ground (infiltration) 

ii. Into a watercourse or surface water body,  

Page 157

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

32 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

iii. Into  a surface water sewer, or  

iv. Into a combined sewer.   

c) Above ground, natural drainage features rather than 

engineered or underground systems are used. 
 

5. Sustainable drainage systems must be designed to 

provide effective drainage for properties and their capacity 

must take account of the likely impacts of climate change 

and likely changes in impermeable area within the site over 

the lifetime of the development.  Sustainable drainage 

systems and any water storage areas must control 

pollution and should enhance water quality and existing 

habitats and create new habitats where practicable. 

Sustainable drainage systems and any water storage areas 

must control pollution and should enhance water quality 

and existing habitats and create new habitats where 

practicable.   
 

5A. Suitable arrangements for long-term access to and 

operation, maintenance and management of sustainable 

drainage systems must be incorporated within 

development proposals. This includes both surface and 

subsurface components of sustainable drainage systems, 

over the lifetime of the development.  
  
6. Development on an area which is an adopted  

Sustainable Drainage System or has a formal flood risk 

management function is acceptable in principle where the 

development proposals do not reduce the ability of the 

area to manage the surface water or flood risk.  

MM54 97-

98 

10.57-

10.60 

Add a new paragraph 10.57A after paragraph 10.57: 

10.57A Paragraph 103 of the Framework says that development 

proposals should not increase flood risk elsewhere, and paragraph 

100 says that local plans should use opportunities offered by new 

development to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding.  Part 2 

of the policy reflects this.  Where development proposals include 

raising ground levels in areas where surface water or flood water 

flows or collects (including Flood Zones 2 and 3), compensatory 

reductions in ground levels within the site must also be included. 

That is, where infilling of the flood plain or sustainable drainage 

systems is proposed, flood storage must be provided to 

compensate for this, including an allowance for climate change. 

This is to make sure that areas next to the site or further away do 

not suffer from increased surface water or flood levels. 
 

Add a new paragraph 10.58A after paragraph 10.58: 

10.58A Part 2A reflects the need for an effective, integrated, 

approach to management of flood risk, surface water and foul 

drainage. This would include assessment of potential interactions 

and the most effective ways of managing these, in combination, 

rather than considering each in isolation. Paragraphs 10.60 to 

10.61 are also particularly relevant in this context. Parts 2B and 

2C are based on the recommendations in the 2013 Strategic Flood 

Risk Assessment, and need to make sure that development is 

safe. 

Page 158

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

33 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

 

Amend the first sentence of paragraph 10.59 as follows: 

10.59  The Framework sets out the national requirements for site-

specific Flood Risk Assessments. Part 3 sets out additional 

requirements,Section 3 is based on the recommendations in the 

2013 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and the 2011 Surface 

Water Management Plan and reflects the significance of surface 

water flood risk in Sefton. 
 

Replace paragraph 10.60 as follows: 

10.60  Regarding sustainable drainage systems and parts 4, 5 and 

5A of the policy, applicants should refer to national and local 

guidance on sustainable drainage systems (SuDS), and should set 

out the arrangements for on-going maintenance. It may be that 

the most sustainable form of surface water drainage varies 

between different parts of a development site, including where a 

site includes areas covered by buildings or impermeable hard 

surfaces as well as undeveloped ‘greenfield’ areas, or due to the 

site’s topography.  In these cases the applicant must incorporate 

the most sustainable drainage option for each different part of the 

site within the overall drainage scheme. It is recognised that Parts 

4, 5 and 5A may be difficult to achieve for some changes of use or 

extensions. 
 

Add a new paragraph 10.60A after paragraph 10.60: 

10.60A  The guidance includes the National Planning Practice 

Guidance, National Planning Practice Guidance, Ministerial 

Statement (December 2014) and Defra’s Non-Statutory Technical 

Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (2015), and CIRIA’s 

SuDS Manual. 

MM55 98 Policy EQ9  Replace part 1 of policy EQ9 with: 

1.  Appropriate high quality new public open space of at 

least 40 square metres per new-build home must be 

provided for the following developments: 

 Proposals for 150 or more new-build homes 

 Proposals for 11 to 149 new-build homes on sites which 

are more than 2 kilometres from a main park or 

Countryside Recreation Area 

 

Add a new part 1A to the policy: 

1A. This new public open space must be provided within 

the site unless it can be demonstrated that enhancement of 

off-site open space is more appropriate, in terms  of: 

 The type and density of housing development and site 

size, or 

 Proximity to existing main, neighbourhood and 

community parks, or 

 Other site-specific factors.  

 

Amend part 3 of the policy: 

3. Development proposals which includes new public open 

space must incorporate suitable arrangements for long-

term management and maintenance of, and public access 

to, the new open space.  

 

Page 159

Agenda Item 7

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change/reducing-the-causes-and-impacts-of-flooding/why-are-sustainable-drainage-systems-important/#paragraph_085


Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

34 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Amend part 5 of the policy: 

5.  Links to, or extensions of existing public rights of way, 

strategic paths or cycleways will be supported required 

where they improve the accessibility of an existing 

community or a development site.  

MM56 99 10.65-

10.67 

Amend paragraph 10.65 as follows: 

10.65  Parts 1 Sections 1 and 1A2 of the policy aim to secure 

appropriate new public open space provision in relation to new 

housing development. 18 square metres per person, or New-build 

homes include homes in Use Classes C3 and C4: houses, 

bungalows, and flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation.  

Conversions are excluded from any count of new build homes on a 

site. Parts 1 and 1A also apply to proposals for less than 150 

homes which are part of phased development for a site of 150 or 

more new homes. 
 

Add a new paragraph after paragraph 10.65:  

10.65A  In part 1 the figure of 40 square metres per home is 

based on the findings of the Open Space and Recreation Study 

2015.  It does not include provision for new outdoor sports, which 

may need to be factored in once the Playing Pitch Strategy has 

been approved.  The threshold figure of 150 new-build homes and 

the extent of accessibility deficiency areas are also based on the 

findings of the Open Space and Recreation Study 2015.  The 

Council considers that new open space must be at least 0.6 

hectares in size, also based on this 2015 Study. While the type of 

public open space provided should take into account the criteria in 

part 1A, plus existing local open space provision including 

identified shortfalls, the Council would generally expect an 

equipped play area be provided. New public open space must be 

integrated into the development site and provided to a high 

design quality, and where appropriate and practicable should 

provide other green infrastructure benefits, such as tree planting, 

flood or water storage areas or new habitats. 

 

Amend paragraph 10.66 as follows: 

10.66  Part 1A of the policy recognises that there may be some 

circumstances where on-site provision of new public open space 

may not be appropriate.  However, it is recognised that this is 

dependent on tThe type, (e.g. family homes, flats, care homes 

etc) and size (number of bedrooms) of new homes may be 

relevant., and that in some cases a lower standard of on-site or 

off-site provision may be more appropriate. It is also recognised 

that with higher density housing schemes, on-site provision of 

new open spacea lower level of open space provision may be 

acceptable where the application of the open space standards 

would prejudice the delivery of an otherwise acceptable scheme. 

The type of public open space provided should take into account 

the needs of future residents of the development, site-specific 

factors and existing local provision including shortfalls identified in 

2015 Sefton Recreation and Open Space study or strategy. New 

public open space should be provided to a high design quality and 

where appropriate and practicable should provide other green 

infrastructure benefits, such as flood or water storage areas or 

new habitats.There may be situations where the Council and 

Page 160

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

35 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

developer agree that the site is too small to accommodate 

appropriate public open space, especially for smaller sites in 

accessibility deficiency areas. There will also be situations where 

development sites are close to existing public parks and other 

open space, for example next to a main park, within 1 kilometre 

of a neighbourhood park or within 400 metres of a community 

park, as set out in the Open Space and Recreation Study 2015. 

 

Delete paragraph 10.67 and replace with the following: 

10.67  In these circumstances it may be more appropriate for 

these existing parks to be enhanced.  Even where a site of more 

than 10 homes is within an accessibility deficiency area, as set out 

in the Open Space and Recreation Study 2015 , site–specific 

factors may mean it is more appropriate to enhance existing open 

space or its accessibility from the site.  This will be secured 

through Section 106 planning obligations where these meet the 

tests set out in Regulations 122 and 123 of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 [as amended] and 

paragraph 204 of the Framework, other legal agreements, or 

other appropriate delivery mechanisms. 

MM57 101 Policy EQ10 Amend part 1 and replace part 2 of policy EQ10 as follows: 
 

EQ10 FOOD AND DRINK 
 

1. Proposals for food and drink uses in the town, district 

and local centres will only be permitted where they are 

located so as to meet all of the following criteria: 

 They would not cause significant harm to local amenity 

 They would not result in unacceptable groupings of 

similar uses where they would harm the character of 

the area, the vitality and viability of a centre or 

shopping parade or harm public health, and 

 Any external ventilation and extractor systems do not: 

a. Significantly harm the external appearance of the 

building or the street scene 

b. Harm the residential amenity of neighbouring 

properties through noise or odours. 
 

2. In order to address the problem of obesity amongst 

children, proposals for hot food takeaways [Class A5 uses] 

within 400 metres of secondary schools and further 

education establishments will not be permitted. Exceptions 

will be made where: 

 It is located within a designated town, district or 

local centre; or  

 The premises are not open until after 1700 hours. 
 

Proposals for food and drink uses in or adjacent to 

Primarily Residential Areas and/or close to school and 

educational establishments will not be permitted where 

they cause significant harm to living conditions for 

local people, encourage unhealthy lifestyle choices in local 

people or harm the residential character of the 

local area. 

MM58 101 10.78- Amend paragraph 10.78 as follows: 

Page 161

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

36 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

10.79 Food and drink uses have the potential to have particular impacts 

upon the visual and residential amenity of an area and to the 

health of local communities.  They may be acceptable within the 

Primarily Residential Area, if they do not harm residential 

amenity. this  

10.78  Part 1 of this policy specifically refers to food and drink 

uses as covered by classes A3-A5 of the Use Classes Order, that 

is, restaurants and cafes, drinking establishments and hot food 

takeaways. Part two of this policy refers to Use Class order A5, 

i.e. hot food takeaways. This policy does not apply to shops [Use 

Class A1] which sell food, such as groceries or sandwiches and 

other cold food, for consumption off the premises. 
 

Amend paragraph 10.79 as follows : 

10.79  Premises selling food and drink have the potential to have 

particular impacts upon the visual and residential amenity of an 

area.  They may be acceptable within the Primarily Residential 

Area, if they do not harm residential amenity. In order to protect 

the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, conditions will be used to 

restrict opening hours. 
 

Add new paragraph 10.79A after paragraph 10.79: 

10.79A In line with paragraph 69 of the NPPF, achieving high 

quality design and a healthy environment is a key objective of the 

Sefton Local Plan. The Borough has a higher rate of obese 

children than England as a whole and this policy seeks to control 

hot food takeaways within the vicinity of schools and further 

education establishments. Hot food takeaways typically sell low 

cost, energy-dense meals with little nutritional value that can 

contribute towards obesity and its ensuing health issues. When 

implemented alongside other policies and initiatives, controlling 

access to A5 uses around schools can contribute towards reducing 

rates of obesity. 

MM59 103 Policy NH1 Amend policy NH1 as follows: 
 

NH1 ENVIRONMENTAL NATURAL ASSETS 
 

1. Sefton’s natural and heritage assets together with its 

landscape character should continue to contribute to the 

Borough’s sense of place, local distinctiveness and quality 

of life. Development proposals and other initiatives should 

contribute positively towards achieving this. 
 

2. A hierarchical approach will be taken to the protection 

and enhancement of Sefton’s natural and heritage assets, 

according to their designation and significance. 
 

3. Development should seek to protect and manage 

Sefton’s natural assets (including natural habitats, sites 

and Ecological Network and green infrastructure). Where 

possible, development should: 

 Maintain, restore, enhance or extend these natural 

assets; and 

 Create new habitats and green infrastructure, and 

 Secure their long-term management of these natural 

assets. 

Page 162

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

37 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

 

4. Where it has been demonstrated that appropriate 

protection or retention of natural assets cannot be 

achieved, and there are no alternatives, mitigation and/or 

as a last resort compensatory provision will be required. 
 

5. The main priorities are, improving access, quality, 

linkages and habitat within the city region ecological 

network (including the Nature Improvement Area), 

improving access to and the quality of public open space 

and other outdoor facilities available to the public and 

urban trees.  
 

4. Sefton’s heritage assets should be protected from losses 

and harmful changes to their, fabric and features or in their 

settings. Development should:  

 Secure the long-term future of the heritage asset 

 Be designed to avoid harm 

 Be of a high quality design which is sympathetic to 

the historic context of the heritage assets affected 

 Incorporate proposals for proper repair and re-

instatement of historic features and/or involve work 

which better reveals the significance of Sefton’s 

heritage assets and their settings  

 Where losses are unavoidable, recording, analysis 

and reporting must be undertaken where 

appropriate. 

MM60 104 11.5–11.8 

 

Add the following new paragraphs after paragraph 11.5:  
 

11.5A Sefton’s natural assets include the designated nature and 

geological sites and Priority Habitats which comprise the Core 

Biodiversity Area that underpin the Liverpool City Region (LCR) 

Ecological Network. Paragraph 9 of the Framework recognises that 

pursuing sustainable development includes moving from a net loss 

of biodiversity to achieving net gains for nature, in line with wider 

Government policy set out in ‘Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for 

England’s wildlife and ecosystem services’ (2011). Other national 

policy for nature conservation is set out in paragraphs 109 to 119 

of the Framework. This complements legal duties and 

requirements for nature conservation set out in a range of 

legislation including the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006 and the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2010 as amended. 
 

11.5B The internationally important nature sites are the most 

important features of the City Region’s outstanding natural 

environment and network of green infrastructure as set out in the 

LCR Ecological Network. In line with the hierarchical approach, 

these sites have rigorous policy and legal protection and should 

only be developed where there are no alternative solutions, there 

are imperative reasons of overriding public interest and where 

there has been appropriate mitigation and / or compensatory 

provision.  
 

11.5C The key priorities for nature and geology in the City Region 

are: 

Page 163

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

38 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

•  To manage our natural assets better – to protect the integrity 

of nature sites of international importance in the City Region, and 

to protect the City Region’s nature and geodiversity assets; and 

•  To make sure there is no net loss of these natural assets and 

to extend and enhance the City Region’s Ecological Network and 

natural assets in line with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

11.5D The LCR Ecological Network draws together the evidence  

(for example, nature site designations and Priority Habitats) and  

indicates strategic priorities and opportunities in Sefton and  

across the City Region. Many natural assets occur at a landscape- 

scale and cross local authority boundaries. Neighbouring areas of  

Lancashire, Greater Manchester and Cheshire are currently  

preparing Ecological Networks, which will allow a more integrated 

 approach between Sefton and adjacent local authorities. 
 

Delete paragraph 11.7 and replace with the following: 

11.7  The local authorities in the City Region have worked 

together to prepare the LCR Ecological Network as joint evidence 

and to help plan for biodiversity at a landscape-scale. Discussions 

with neighbouring areas through Nature Connected, the 

Government-recognised Local Nature Partnership, have enabled 

wider connections beyond the City Region to be made. 
 

Add a new paragraph 11.7A after paragraph 11.7:  

11.7A The LCR Ecological Network includes a Core Biodiversity 

Area of designated nature and geological sites and Priority 

Habitats. It also includes linking networks and opportunities for 

further habitat creation and enhancement. The linking networks 

and opportunities for further habitat creation and enhancement 

are set out in seventeen Nature Improvement Focus Areas which 

together make up the LCR Nature Improvement Area. See 

www.meas.org.uk/1263 for more information. 
 

Delete paragraph 11.8 and replace with the following:  

11.8  The local authorities in the City Region continue to work 

together, and are committed to helping manage visitor pressure 

on the internationally important designated sites. This is a 

response to the ongoing Habitats Regulations Assessment process 

for their respective development plans. The opportunities 

identified in the LCR Nature Improvement Area provide a 

mechanism that helps focus and manage visitor pressure on the 

Sefton coast and at other internationally important nature sites 

within the City Region appropriately. More information about the 

hierarchical approach to the protection and enhancement of 

Sefton’s designated sites, Priority Habitats, Priority Species and 

protected species, according to their designation and significance, 

is set out in Policy NH2. 

MM61 114 11.54 Delete paragraph 11.54 and replace with the following: 

11.54  The most recent Open Space and Recreation Study or 

Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy and Non-Pitch Sports Strategy 

are the basis for assessing whether public open space or outdoor 

sports facilities are surplus to requirements, as set out in the first 

bullet point of part 1 b) of the policy. Where replacement 

provision for facilities that are not surplus to requirements is 

Page 164

Agenda Item 7

http://www.meas.org.uk/1263


Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

39 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

necessary under the second bullet point of part 1 b), appropriate 

delivery mechanisms, such as legal agreements, must be in place 

before planning permission is granted. Replacement provision 

may involve the development of new open space or sports 

facilities, or a significant improvement in the quality of existing 

facilities such that they are capable of accommodating much 

greater usage, for example through the provision of artificial ‘3G’ 

playing pitches for sports use. Policy EQ9 ‘Provision of public open 

space, strategic paths and trees in development’ sets out the 

current basis for judging appropriate provision of public open 

space in new housing development. 

MM62 116 Policy NH8  Amend part 1 of policy NH8 as follows: 

1. 1.    To minimise the need for minerals extraction, the use 

of recycled, secondary and substitute materials will be 

encouraged. Mineral Safeguarding Areas have been defined 

for deposits of sub-alluvial sand and windblown silica sand 

(The Shirdley Hill Formation). Mineral resources found to 

be present on sites intended for development will be 

expected to be extracted for beneficial use prior to 

development taking place, unless special circumstances 

can be demonstrated that justify proceeding without prior 

extraction. 
 

Within Mineral Safeguarding Areas, as shown on the 

Policies Map, proposals for development will not be 

permitted unless: 
 

 It is compatible with safeguarding the mineral; or 

 the applicant can demonstrate that the mineral 

concerned is no longer of any value or potential value; 

or 

 the mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the 

development taking place; or 

 the development is of a temporary nature and can be 

completed and the site restored to a condition that does 

not inhibit extraction; or 

 there is an overriding need for the development; or 

 the development is included on the list of exempt 

developments in figure 11.2A 
 

Delete part 2 of policy NH8 and replace with the following: 

The Port of Liverpool and strategic rail freight links suitable 

for the movement of minerals will be 

safeguarded from inappropriate development. Proposals 

for non-mineral related development that may 

threaten the functioning of the wharfage of the Port of 

Liverpool, transport links or other infrastructure 

through which minerals are landed, processed (including 

secondary and recycled materials) and transshipped, 

will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 

The infrastructure is not required for mineral purposes, 

and is unlikely to be so in the future, or 

There is an overriding case for development taking 

place, or 

Page 165

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

40 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Equivalent alternative infrastructure capacity exists 

which is able to meet commercial needs. 

2. 2.   Existing, planned and potential infrastructure 

supporting the aggregates industry will be safeguarded 

from inappropriate development. This includes strategic 

rail freight links and sites for concrete batching, the 

manufacture of coated materials, other concrete products 

and the handling, processing and distribution of substitute, 

recycled and secondary aggregate material. Proposals for 

non-mineral related development that may threaten, lead 

to the loss of or damage to, the functioning of safeguarded 

infrastructure or locations will not be permitted unless it 

can be demonstrated that:  

 An alternative site within an acceptable distance can be 

provided, which is at least as appropriate for the use as 

the safeguarded site; and 

 It can be demonstrated that the infrastructure no 

longer meets the current or anticipated future needs of 

the minerals, building and construction industry or the 

waste management industry. 
 

Amend the second bullet of part 4 of policy NH8 as follows: 

 Air and water quality 
 

Add a new part 5 to policy NH8 as follows: 

5.   In determining shale gas applications Sefton will seek 

the highest levels of environmental, health and social 

protection and benefit consistent with prevailing national 

policy and regulation, including that relating to 

Environmental Impact Assessment and Habitats 

Regulations Assessment. Compliance with industry best 

practice standards as defined by United Kingdom Onshore 

Oil and Gas (UKOOG) will also be expected. 

MM63 117 11.63-

11.68 

Delete paragraph 11.63 and replace with the following:  

11.63  Sefton Council participates actively in the NW Aggregates 

Working Party and subscribes to the national Managed Aggregate 

Supply System through market monitoring and production of an 

annual Local Aggregates Assessment (LAA). The LAA is produced 

jointly with other authorities to reflect an aggregates sub-region 

defined by Government to include Merseyside, Warrington and 

Greater Manchester. Matters related to minerals reserves and land 

banks are therefore monitored and reported annually at this sub-

regional level through the LAA. This is the principal component of 

the evidence base to inform Sefton’s future role in facilitating the 

appropriate supply of aggregate minerals. Sefton will maintain its 

commitment to the Managed Aggregate Supply System through 

continued representation in the North West Aggregates Working 

Party. 
 

Insert two new paragraphs and a new figure 11.2A after 

paragraph 11.63: 

11.63A  Whilst Sefton has defined Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

[MSAs], identified on the Policies Map, relating to identified sand 

resources, these are understood to be of limited scale and scope 

and not currently commercially viable or likely to become so in 

Page 166

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

41 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

   the future. The designation of MSAs does not indicate a 

presumption that resources defined in the MSAs will be worked. 

However, the policy seeks to avoid sterilisation of aggregate 

resources through non-mineral development and to encourage 

mineral resources present on development sites to be extracted 

where it is sensible to do so.  Applications for non-mineral 

development in the MSAs, which are not listed in Figure 11.2A, 

will be required to include a Minerals Assessment setting out how 

it complies with part 1 of the policy. The Minerals Assessment 

should be proportionate to the situation and should have regard 

to the BGS report ‘Mineral Safeguarding in England: good practice 

advice, 2011' or any subsequent updates. The Council will provide 

an Information Note for developers to provide guidance on 

mineral safeguarding and minerals assessments.  
 

11.63B  Safeguarding principles will also be applied to transport 

and other infrastructure important to the aggregate minerals 

market. The Port of Liverpool and Sefton’s transport infrastructure 

facilitates the landing and transhipment of minerals, including 

aggregates from marine and onshore sources. However, as the 

Port of Liverpool benefits from permitted development rights for 

many types of development, safeguarding of minerals 

infrastructure would not be enforceable in the port’s operational 

area. If areas within the Port of Liverpool currently used for 

minerals purposes are no longer available for port-related 

reasons, the Council will work with the Port to seek a suitable 

alternative facility within the port estate. Policy NH8 provides for 

these facilities to be safeguarded in the interests of facilitating the 

continuing supply of minerals. 
 

Figure 11.2A Development Types that do not require a 

Minerals Assessment  

 Applications for less than 10 new homes [or if the number of 

homes isn’t known sites less than 0.5 hectare]; 

 Applications for non-residential development where the floor 

space to be created by the development is less than 1,000 

square metres;  

 Applications for non-residential development on a site having 

an area of less than 1 hectare; 

 Applications that are in accordance with the development plan 

where the plan took account of the prevention of unnecessary 

mineral sterilisation and determined that prior extraction 

should not be considered when development applications in a 

MSA came forward;  

 Applications for advertisement consent;  

 Applications for reserved matters including subsequent 

applications after outline consent has been granted;  

 Prior notifications (telecoms, forestry, agriculture, demolition);  

 Certificates of Lawfulness of Existing Use or Development 

(CLEUD) and Certificates of Lawfulness of Proposed Use or 

Development (CLOPUD);  

 Applications for works to trees;  

 Applications for temporary planning permission.  
 

Page 167

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

42 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Delete paragraphs 11.65 and 11.68 

MM64 120 Policy 

NH9A 

Insert a new policy and explanatory text: 

NH9A  HERITAGE ASSETS  
 

1. Sefton’s heritage assets together with its historic  

landscape character should continue to contribute to the 

Borough’s sense of place, local distinctiveness and quality 

of life.  Development proposals and other initiatives should 

contribute positively towards achieving this. 
 

2. The Council will seek to protect the significance of  

Sefton’s heritage assets and their settings.  Opportunities 

will be pursued to enhance heritage to reinforce the 

identity of the distinctive towns, villages and rural 

landscapes within Sefton. 
 

3. Key elements which contribute to the distinctive 

 identity of Sefton, and which will therefore be a strategic 

priority for safeguarding and enhancing into the future, 

include; 
 

 The verandahs throughout Southport, particularly in 

Lord Street, which add considerably to its local 

distinctiveness. 

 The historic centre, resort and traditional seafront of 

Southport including the conservation areas of Lord 

Street and Promenade, and their settings. 

 The spacious planned character of Victorian and 

Edwardian suburban conservation areas such as 

those in Birkdale, Blundellsands, Christ Church, Moor 

Park and Waterloo Park. 

 Country estates, their countryside settings and 

associated villages including Ince Blundell Hall, 

Crosby Hall and North Meols Hall.  

 The dispersed layout and simple rural character of 

village conservation areas such as Lunt, Homer 

Green and Sefton village. 

 The open and flat ditched former wetland 

landscapes. 

 The broad sands, dune system, pinewoods and 

habitats that characterise parts of the Sefton coast, 

and the ancient and modern historic features within 

them such as the prehistoric footprints and wartime 

remnants; 

 The 18th century Leeds and Liverpool Canal, 

associated historic features and its setting. 

 Valued historic green spaces and their key features, 

particularly registered Historic parks and gardens, 

but also undesignated parkland and cemeteries such 

as Crosby Hall and Duke Street Cemetery. 

 Important archaeological sites such as village and 

wayside crosses, moated sites, Lunt Meadows and St 

Catherine’s Chapel; 
 

4. Designated heritage which is ‘at risk’ will be a  

Page 168

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

43 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

priority for action.  Opportunities to secure enhancements 

to safeguard and sustain these assets will be expected to 

be taken. 
 

5. Proposals affecting Sefton’s heritage assets and  

their settings should ensure that features which contribute 

to their significance are protected from losses and harmful 

changes. Development should therefore:  

 Secure the long-term future of the heritage asset 

 Be designed to avoid harm 

 Be of a high quality design which is sympathetic to 

the historic context of the heritage assets affected 

 Incorporate proposals for proper repair and re-

instatement of historic features and/or involve work 

which better reveals the significance of Sefton’s 

heritage assets and their settings  

Where losses are unavoidable, a thorough analysis 

and recording of the asset should be undertaken. 
 

Key policy links and objectives: 

 Other policies in this chapter  
 

Explanation 

11.76A This policy aims to protect, enhance and manage Sefton’s 

 strategic heritage assets, taking a proportionate approach  

according to the designation and significance of the assets. 
 

11.76B Sefton’s heritage assets are a finite resource which once  

lost cannot be replaced.  More information about Sefton’s  

approach to its conservation, enhancement and public enjoyment 

 of its heritage assets is set out in policies NH9-NH14 at the end  

of this chapter.  
 

11.76C Sefton’s heritage priorities are set out in part 3 of the  

policy. The aspects which contribute to the significance of these  

assets will be expected to be retained.  Opportunities should be  

taken to enhance the character of these key assets through  

incorporation of relevant priorities within corporate strategies and  

masterplans, regeneration proposals and development.   
 

11.76D Enhancements might include using an area’s heritage as a 

 catalyst for its regeneration, locating and designing new  

development such that it reflects local identity and creates a  

positive relationship with heritage assets, or restoring lost historic 

 features and spaces.  
 

11.76E Sefton has a rich archaeological resource and  

opportunities to investigate it during the course of development  

will be actively pursued, ensuring sites are not lost without having  

been explored and recorded, with an emphasis on public  

engagement and dissemination of the findings to increase  

awareness of the depth of Sefton’s past. 
 

11.76F The Council is producing a Heritage Strategy which will 

 contain a positive and proactive strategy for Sefton in line with  

national guidance. It will include: 

Page 169

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

44 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

 An overview of the benefits that Sefton’s heritage brings 

 The features which contribute to Sefton’s towns and 

villages 

 Action Plans for heritage which is at risk, or vulnerable of 

becoming so, including identifying opportunities for 

enhancement  

 Management proposals for these and for Sefton’s 

conservation areas which will provide more detailed 

guidance, and 

 Identifying opportunities for funding to help enhance 

heritage assets and their settings.  
 

11.76G In addition, the Council intends to develop a ‘local list’ of  

heritage assets in accordance with best practice guidelines,  

enabling local heritage to be more readily identified and  

conserved when development proposals are being considered.  

MM65 120 Policy NH9 Amend policy NH9 as follows: 

NH9 DEMOLITION OR SUBSTANTIAL HARM TO 

DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

Development which results in substantial harm to, or 

demolition of, a designated heritage asset or its setting will 

not be permitted, unless it can be demonstrated that 

substantial public benefits outweigh the harm or loss. 

MM66 121 Policy NH10 Amend policy NH10 as follows: 

NH10 WORKS AFFECTING LISTED BUILDINGS 
 

1. Works affecting a Listed Building or its setting will only 

be permitted where: 

a) Any alterations preserve the historic fabric and 

features of the building and/or its setting which 

contribute to its significanceare important to it. 

b) Any new additions are well designed and respect the 

special architectural or historic interest of the 

building.  

c) New development affectingin the building’s setting 

respects and conserves historic and positive existing 

relationships between the listed building and its 

surroundings.   

d) Development does not undermine the long term 

economic viability of the listed building or otherwise 

harm options for its long term maintenance. 
 

2. Opportunities should be taken to enhance the 

significance of a listed building or its setting 
 

3. Development which harms elements that contribute to 

the significance of a Listed Building or its setting will not 

be permitted, unless it can be demonstrated that public 

benefits outweigh the harm. 

MM67 123 Policy NH11 Amend policy NH11 as follows: 

NH11 DEVELOPMENT AFFECTING CONSERVATION AREAS  
 

1. Development within conservation areas or affecting  

their setting will only be permitted where the proposal is of 

Page 170

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

45 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

high quality design and preserves or enhances the 

character or appearance of the conservation area or its 

setting.  Development must ensure that:Changes of use 

within conservation areas should retain the mix of uses 

which are characteristic of the area. 
 

a) Replacement or new features are of an  

appropriate style and use materials which are 

sympathetic to the age, architecture and features 

of the affected property  

b) Extensions, alterations or additions respect the 

layout and historic pattern of development in the 

conservation area affected 

c) Hard and soft landscape features which 

contribute to the historic value of the site to the 

conservation area are retained (including 

historically significant features from previous 

uses), and   

d) The character of historic boundary treatments, 

patterns of trees and planting in the conservation 

area are retained and enhanced. 

e) Changes of use within conservation areas 

generally retain the mix of uses which are 

characteristic of the area. 
 

2. Development which affects harms features elements  

which make a positive contribution to positively contribute 

to the significance of a conservation area or its setting will 

only not be permitted where, unless it can be 

demonstrated that public benefits outweigh the harm. 

f) Replacement or new features are of an 

appropriate style and use materials which are 

sympathetic to the age, architecture and features 

of the affected property  

g) Extensions, alterations or additions respect the 

layout and historic pattern of development in the 

conservation area affected 

h) Hard and soft landscape features which 

contribute to the historic value of the site to the 

conservation area are retained (including 

historically significant features from previous 

uses), and   

i) The character of historic boundary treatments, 

patterns of trees and planting in the conservation 

area are retained and enhanced. 
 

3. Development proposals which provide opportunities to  

better reveal the significance of conservation areas and 

their settings will be supported. Where the asset affected 

is degraded, enhancements will normally be required. 

which affects sites or features which do not contribute 

positively to the character or appearance of the 

conservation area, must enhance the site or conservation 

area. 

MM68 124 Policy NH12 Amend part 1 of policy NH12 as follows and add a new part 3: 

Page 171

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

46 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

1. Development within a Registered Historic Park or 

Garden or affecting its setting will only be permitted where 

the developmentmust relates well to the elements which 

contribute to significant features of the significance of the 

historic park or garden, and is be of high quality design, 

which conserves and enhances  is sympathetic to the 

special interest and function of the site. 
 

3. Development which harms elements which make a 

positive contribution to a Registered Historic Park or 

Garden or its setting will not be permitted, unless it can be 

demonstrated that public benefits outweigh the harm. 

MM69 125 Policy NH13  Amend policy NH13 as follows: 

NH13 DEVELOPMENT AFFECTING ARCHAEOLOGY AND 

SCHEDULED MONUMENTS AND NON_DESIGNATED 

ARCHAEOLOGY 
 

1. Development affecting, or within the setting of,  

Scheduled Monuments or nationally important 

archaeological sites will only be permitted where the 

development does not detract from the importance of the 

site harm their significance or setting, unless it can be 

demonstrated that the development is necessary to deliver 

public benefits which outweigh the harm.  Historically 

significant relationships between features within the site 

and between the site and its surroundings must be 

retained.  
 

2. Where Development development which harms the  

archaeological interest of buildings, and development on or 

within the setting of designated or non-designated 

archaeological sites or their setting  (i.e. including 

buildings and sites recognised as having archaeological 

potential, where their significance, extent and state are 

unclear), development will not be permitted unless the 

benefits of the proposals outweigh the loss and:   
 

a) the nature and value of the archaeology is well 

understood 

b) the development has been designed to minimise harm 

to the archaeology, and  

c) provision is made for recording, reporting and 

interpretation where appropriate.   

MM70 126 11.109 Add a new sentence to the end of paragraph 11.109: 

A balanced judgement will therefore be required to establish the 

scale of harm or loss against the significance of the heritage 

asset.  

MM71 139 Appendix 1 Amend the first requirement and add new requirements as 

follows: 

MN2.6 Land south of Dobbies Garden Centre, Southport 

 take all vehicular access from Benthams Way; and unless 

other equally or more appropriate vehicular access is agreed 

by the Council; 

 provide new public open space, flood water storage, and 

habitat creation on the adjacent land designated as ‘Proposed 

Page 172

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

47 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

Open Space; 

 meet the requirements of policy NH2, notably in relation to 

water voles and invasive species; 

 make an appropriate financial contribution towards the 

provision of a new school playing field for the Birkdale Primary 

School; and 

MM72  139 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.8 Former Ainsdale Hope School, Ainsdale  

Development of this site must: 

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment.  This must include information about 

the impact of recreational pressure on the integrity of 

internationally important nature sites; 

 ensure that the loss of the former playing pitch(es) is 

addressed consistent with Local Plan policy NH5. This will be 

achieved via a commuted sum payment (on a per dwelling 

basis) towards the provision of a new 3G pitch(es) at Meols 

Park or adjacent land; and  

 provide new habitat and ecological improvements on the 

adjacent ‘Ecological Improvement Area’, the extent of which 

will be determined following the completion of future evidence. 

MM73 139 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.9 Former St John Stone School, Meadow Lane, 

Ainsdale  

Development of this site must: 

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment; 

 ensure that the loss of the former playing pitch(es) is 

addressed consistent with Local Plan policy NH5. This will be 

achieved via a commuted sum payment (on a per dwelling 

basis) towards the provision of a new 3G pitch(es) at Meols 

Park or adjacent land.  

MM74 139 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.11 Land south of Moor Lane, Ainsdale 

Development of this site must: 

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment; 

 preserve the setting of the Grade II listed Formby House 

Farmhouse. 

MM75 139 Appendix 1 Insert a new requirement as follows: 

MN2.14 Former Holy Trinity School, Lonsdale Road, Formby 

Development of this site must: 

 be developed for older persons housing / accommodation 

(reserved for residents aged 55 and over) 

MM76 139 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.14A Land at Shorrocks Hill, Lifeboat Road, Formby 

Development of this site must: 

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment.  Any planning application at this site 

should seek to avoid increased recreational pressure upon the 

Page 173

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

48 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

SAC and address any likely significant effects upon these 

habitats as a result of the individual project alone; 

 secure the long term management of the adjacent woodland  

Local Wildlife Site between the site and Formby Point Caravan 

Park, to minimise impact on the adjacent internationally 

important nature sites; 

 provide for full public access into the area of woodland 

between the site and Formby Point Caravan Park in a manner 

which minimises impact on the adjacent internationally 

important nature sites; 

 extend the existing Formby no. 52 Bridleway through the 

woodland area from Lifeboat Road to Alexandra Road; 

 provide a new 100 space public car park in the northern part 

of the allocation; and 

 provide a new public toilet block adjacent to the car park and 

secure its long term management. 

MM77 139 Appendix 1 Insert a new requirement as follows: 

MN2.15 Formby Professional Development Centre, Park 

Road, Formby 

 The Raven Meols Community Centre is listed as an Asset of 

Community Value under the Community Right to Bid 

provisions of the Localism Act 2011. The obligations under the 

relevant statutory provisions and regulations will need to be 

met, as will the requirements of policy HC6. 

MM78 139 Appendix 1 Amend the requirements as follows:  

MN2.16 Land at Liverpool Road, Formby 

Proposals for development on Land at Liverpool Road, Formby will 

only be granted planning permission where they are consistent 

with a single detailed master plan for the whole site which is 

approved by the Council before any application is submitted.     

Development of this site must: 

 preserve the setting of grade II listed Loveladys Farmhouse 

and adjacent buildings by leaving the far west of the site 

(south of the existing gymnasium) open; and  

 be served by a single point of access onto Liverpool Road; and 

 identify opportunities to reduce flood risk elsewhere through a 

site Flood Risk Assessment, and implement any appropriate 

solutions. 

MM79 140 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.23 Land at Southport Old Road, Thornton  

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment; 

 provide a proportional financial contribution towards the 

implementation of the A565 Route Management Strategy 

(Thornton to Crosby section); 

MM80 140 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.24 Land at Holgate, Thornton  

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment; 

 provide a proportional financial contribution towards the 

implementation of the A565 Route Management Strategy 

(Thornton to Crosby section); 

Page 174

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

49 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

MM81 140 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.30 Land East of Waddicar Lane, Melling 

Development of this site must: 

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment; and 

 identify opportunities to reduce flood risk elsewhere through a 

site Flood Risk Assessment, and implement any appropriate 

solutions. 

MM82 140 Appendix 1 Insert new requirements as follows: 

MN2.31 Wadacre Farm, Chapel Lane, Melling 

Development of this site must: 

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment; and 

 identify opportunities to reduce flood risk elsewhere through a 

site Flood Risk Assessment, and implement any appropriate 

solutions.  This should include improvements to the capacity of 

the existing watercourse that forms the northern and western 

site boundaries. 

MM83 140 Appendix 1 Insert a new requirement as follows: 

MN2.36 Former St Raymond’s School playing field, Harrops 

Croft, Netherton  

Development of this site must:  

 ensure that the loss of the former playing pitch(es) is 

addressed consistent with Local Plan policy NH5. This will be 

achieved via a commuted sum payment (on a per dwelling 

basis) towards the provision of a new 3G pitch(es) at 

Litherland Sports Park.  

MM84 140 Appendix 1 Insert a new requirement as follows: 

MN2.39 Former Daleacre School, Daleacre Drive, Netherton 

Development of this site must:  

 ensure that the loss of the former playing pitch(es) is 

addressed consistent with Local Plan policy NH5. This will be 

achieved via a commuted sum payment (on a per dwelling 

basis) towards the provision of a new 3G pitch(es) at 

Litherland Sports Park.  

MM85 140 Appendix 1 Amend requirements as follows:  

MN2.41 Former St Wilfrid’s School, Orrell Road, Bootle 

Development of this site must: 

 ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning 

application to enable the Council to make a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment;  

 provide pedestrian and cyclist links between Orrell Road and 

Hawthorne Road to improve accessibility to the adjacent 

supermarket; and 

 take vehicular access from the existing signal controlled 

junction on Hawthorne Road that serves the adjacent 

supermarket; and 

 retain and improve the disused football pitches within the site 

and bring them back into use.  

MM86 140 Appendix 1 Insert a new requirement as follows: 

MN2.45 Former St Mary’s Primary School playing fields, 

Waverley Street, Bootle  

Page 175

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

50 

 

Ref. Page 
Policy/ 

Paragraph 
Main Modification 

 ensure that the loss of the former playing pitch(es) is 

addressed consistent with Local Plan policy NH5. This will be 

achieved via a commuted sum payment (on a per dwelling 

basis) towards the provision of a new 3G pitch(es) at 

Litherland Sports Park.  

MM87 145 Appendix 3 Replace the Monitoring Framework to set out the implications of 

not meeting targets (Appended to end of Schedule)  

MM88 147 Appendix 5 Appendix 5 has been added ‘List of saved Unitary Development 

Plan policies to be replaced by Local Plan policies’ (Appended to 

end of Schedule) 

Page 176

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

51 

 

APPENDIX 3 LOCAL PLAN MONITORING 

 

The aim of the monitoring framework is to provide a robust approach to ensuring the 

strategy, objectives and policies of the Local Plan for Sefton are being implemented 

correctly and that in doing so they are having the required effect. The monitoring 

framework is split into two clear sections. The first considers indicators that measure the 

direct impacts of specific policies. The second looks at indirect indicators, i.e. those they 

are influenced by the policies in the Local Plan but which are much more influenced by 

other external factors. 

 

Below is the list of objectives from the Local Plan and the indicators that will measure 

how well they are being met. The numbers relate to the indicator number from the 

tables of indicators that follow.  

 

To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 

 

3 5 6 7 1

2 

1

4 

1

5 

1

6 

1

9 

2

0 

2

1 

2

2 

2

3 

6

1 

7

1 

                     

 

To help meet the housing needs of Sefton’s changing population for market and 

affordable housing; homes for families, the elderly, people with other special housing 

needs and others 

1 2 2

4 

2

5 

2

6 

2

7 

3

1 

6

2 

6

3 

6

4 

7

1 

                        

 

To promote economic growth, tourism and jobs creation and support new and 

existing businesses 

3 5 6 7 1

3 

1

5 

1

6 

1

7 

1

8 

5

7 

5

8 

                         

 

To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as close to where 

they arise as possible 

1 2 2

4 

2

5 

2

6 

2

8 

2

9 

3

0 

3

1 

3

3 

3

4 

3

5 

3

6 

3

7 

5

7 

5

8 

6

2 

6

3 

                  

 

To help Sefton’s town, district and local centres to diversify and thrive   

1

2 

1

5 

1

9 

2

0 

2

1 

2

2 

2

3 

5

9 

6

0 

                           

 

To make the most of the value of the Port to the local economy and jobs, while making 

sure that the impact on the environment and local communities is mitigated 

5 10 11                                  

 

To make sure that new developments include the essential infrastructure, services 

and facilities that they require 

40 41 42 46 47                                

 

To improve access to services, facilities and jobs 

3

8 

4

0 

4

1 

4

2 

4

6 

4

7 

5

7 

5

8 

5

9 

6

0 

6

5 

                         

 

To protect and enhance Sefton’s natural and heritage assets   

8 9 3

2 

4

3 

4

4 

4

5 

4

6 

4

7 

4

8 

4

9 

5

0 

5

2 

5

3 

5

4 

5

5 

5

6 

7

0 

7

2 

7

3 

7

4 

7

5 

               

 

To achieve high quality design and a healthy environment  

Page 177

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

52 

 

8 9 3

2 

4

3 

4

4 

4

5 

4

6 

4

7 

4

8 

4

9 

5

0 

5

2 

5

3 

5

4 

5

5 

5

6 

6

6 

6

9 

7

2 

7

4 

7

5 

7

6 

              

 

 

To respond to the challenge of climate change, encouraging best use of resources 

and assets 

8 9 3

2 

4

3 

4

4 

4

5 

4

9 

5

0 

5

1 

5

2 

6

7 

6

8 

7

1 

7

2 

7

3 

7

4 

7

5 

7

6 

                  

  

To work with partners and make the most of Sefton’s place within the Liverpool City 

Region 

5 10 11                                  

 

TABLE 1 DIRECT IMPACT INDICATORS 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

MN1 1. Five year 

housing supply 

position 

2.9 years 

[2015] 

61 years by 1st 

April 2017 and 

beyond 

 Contact landowners of housing 

allocations to determine causes of 

delay in submitting planning 

applications. 

 Review policy constraints on 

housing sites. 

 Undertake annual call for sites 

exercise. 

 Review of the Local Plan.  

2. Net additional 

dwellings 

[total/on 

allocated sites] 

454 net 

completion

s [total] 

[2014/15] 

 

500 pa [2012-

17]  

694 pa [2017-

30] 

 

 Contact developers with planning 

permission for new homes to 

determine causes of delay in 

implementing planning 

applications. 

 Review constraints [including 

planning obligations] that may be 

preventing housing delivery. 

 Work with housing colleagues to 

identify potential funding to help 

unlock sites for housing, 

particularly in relation to the need 

to remediate brownfield sites. 

 Review housing allocations to 

assess suitability for housing. 

 Undertake call for sites exercise. 

 Review of the Local Plan. 

3. Land available 

for [general] 

employment [ha] 

56ha 

[2015] 

 

Not less than 

22.66ha2 

 

 Undertake call for sites process. 

 Review of the Local Plan  

4. Employment 

land lost to non-

employment 

uses 

Not 

available 

No loss  Review employment site 

designations to determine if they 

remain suitable for employment. 

Contact landowners to determine 

reasons why sites are not being 

developed for employment. 

                                                           
1
 Five years plus 20% as per paragraph 47 of NPPF 

2 22.66ha equates to five years employment land requirement when the total Local Plan 
employment land requirement of 81.59 is annualised [i.e. 4.53ha per annum] 

Page 178

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

53 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

5. Land available 

for Port related 

employment 

0ha [2015] Currently not 

known. Sefton’s 

requirement to 

be determined 

through strategic 

study. [note: Not 

less than 125ha 

in city region3] 

 Undertake call for sites process. 

Review of the Local Plan. 

6. Floorspace 

[m2] developed 

for employment 

[by type (B1, B2, 

B8)/location] 

1,278m2  

270m2 

[B1A - 

office] 

1008m2 

[B8 – 

storage/ 

distribution

] 

[2015] 

Increase  

 

Review employment allocations to 

determine barriers to 

development. 

Contact landowners of 

employment allocations to 

determine level of interest in 

development of site.  

Work with economic development 

colleagues to identify potential 

funding to help unlock sites for 

economic development. 

 7. Number of 

jobs [full time 

equivalent] 

created on 

employment 

sites 

Not 

available 

Increase Review employment allocations to 

determine barriers to 

development. 

Consider restricting development 

on certain sites for more labour 

intensive uses. 

Work with economic development 

colleagues to identify potential 

opportunities for increasing 

investment in Sefton that will 

bring in jobs. 

MN7 8. Approvals in 

the Green Belt 

and % 

inappropriate 

 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No inappropriate 

approvals  

 

 

Review implementation of policy 

on inappropriate approvals. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to set out more specific 

guidance on implementation of 

policy and NPPF.  

9. Approvals in 

Safeguarded 

Land and % 

inappropriate 

Not 

applicable 

No inappropriate 

approvals 

 

 

ED1 10. Approvals in 

Port and 

Maritime Zone 

and % 

inappropriate  

No data/ 

not 

available 

No inappropriate 

approvals 

 

Review implementation of policy 

on inappropriate approvals. 

Liaise with Port of Liverpool to 

determine any issues with scope 

of implementation of port policy. 

11. Improved 

access to the 

port consulted 

on/ approved/ 

implemented 

Not 

applicable 

Consulted on by 

2016. Dates for 

approval and 

implementation 

will be 

Work with Strategic Transport 

Team, LEP and Highways England 

to determine issues restricting 

progress. 

                                                           
3
 125ha equates to five years port related employment land requirement when the total port 

related employment land requirement of 500ha  over 20 years [as identified in The Liverpool City 
Region Superport Market Analysis]  is annualised [i.e. 25ha per annum] 

Page 179

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

54 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

determined by 

the Highways 

Agency at a later 

stage. The 

Monitoring 

Framework will 

be updated to 

reflect this at the 

appropriate time. 

ED2 12. Number and 

% of approved 

retail/leisure/oth

er town centre 

uses 

development in 

 designated 

centres 

(Primary 

Shopping 

Areas) 

 edge of centre 

 retail parks 

 elsewhere 

 

 

 

 

9,469m2 

[528m2 

(5.6%) in 

town 

centre, 

7,168m2 

(75.7%) in 

edge of 

centre, 

1,773m2 

(18.7%) 

out of 

centre] 

A1-5 

[shops and 

services] -  

4,577m2 

B1a [office] 

– 270m2 

D2 

[Leisure] – 

1,858m2 

[2014-15] 

Increase in 

approvals in 

designated 

centres.  

Decrease in 

number of 

approvals for 

retail/leisure/oth

er centre uses 

approved outside 

designated 

centres. 

 

 

Review implementation of 

sequential test. 

Work with colleagues to review 

the regeneration strategies for 

Central Southport, Crosby and 

Maghull to review potential issues 

restricting investment in Sefton’s 

tourism areas. 

Work with economic development 

colleagues to determine potential 

issues restricting investment in 

Sefton’s centres.  

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to set out more specific 

guidance on implementation of 

sequential test. 

ED5 13. Approvals by 

type in locations 

listed in Policy 

ED5 ‘Tourism’  

No data/ 

not 

available 

Increase of 

appropriate 

approvals and no 

inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy. 

Work with Tourism colleagues to 

determine potential issues 

restricting investment in Sefton’s 

tourism areas. 

ED6 14. Approvals in 

locations listed in 

Policy ED6 

‘Regeneration 

Areas’ by type 

No data/ 

not 

available 

Increase of 

appropriate 

approvals and no 

inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy. 

Contact landowners to determine 

intentions/expectations. 

Work with economic regeneration 

colleagues to determine potential 

issues restricting investment in 

regeneration areas and to 

determine what funding may be 

available to assist regeneration 

objectives. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document or Area Action Plans to 

set out more specific guidance on 

how regeneration objectives can 

be implemented. 

ED7 15. Approvals in 

Southport 

No data/ 

not 

Increase in uses 

listed in policy 

Review implementation of policy. 

Undertake an audit of the sites 

Page 180

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

55 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

Central Area by 

type 

available available in the Southport Central 

Area and assess potential for 

development. 

Contact landowners to determine 

intentions/ expectations. 

Work with Tourism colleagues and 

partners to determine potential 

issues restricting investment in 

Southport Central Area. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document or Area Action Plan to 

set out more specific guidance on 

how development in Southport 

Central Area will be managed.  

ED8 16. Approvals in 

Southport 

Seafront Area by 

type 

No data/ 

not 

available 

Increase in uses 

listed in part 1 of 

policy 

Review implementation of policy. 

Undertake an audit of the sites 

available in the Southport 

Seafront Area and assess 

potential for development. 

Contact landowners to determine 

intentions/expectations. 

Work with Tourism colleagues and 

partners to determine potential 

issues restricting investment in 

Southport Seafront Area. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document or Area Action Plan to 

set out more specific guidance on 

how development in Southport 

Seafront will be managed. 

ED8B  17. Approvals in 

Aintree 

Racecourse [in 

Green Belt Area] 

by type  

 

18. Approvals in 

Aintree 

Racecourse 

[outside Green 

Belt Area] by 

type 

No data/ 

not 

available  

No inappropriate 

approvals 

 

 

 

 

Increase in uses 

listed in part 2 of 

policy 

Review implementation of policy. 

Contact landowners to determine 

intentions/expectations. 

Work with Tourism colleagues and 

partners to determine potential 

issues restricting investment in 

Aintree Racecourse.  

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document or Area Action Plan to 

set out more specific guidance on 

how development in Aintree 

Racecourse will be managed. 

ED9 19. Approvals in 

Crosby Centre by 

type 

 

20. Total units in 

Crosby Centre 

 

21. Total 

floorspace in 

Crosby Centre 

 

22. Reduction in 

No data/ 

not 

available 

 

117 [2015] 

 

 

18,563m2 

[2015] 

 

 

12 units 

Increase in ‘town 

centre’ approvals 

 

 

Increase 

 

 

Increase 

 

 

 

Decrease 

Review implementation of policy. 

Undertake an audit of the sites 

available in the Crosby Centre 

Area and assess potential for 

development. 

Contact landowners to determine 

intentions/expectations. 

Work with Economic Development 

colleagues and partners to 

determine potential issues 

restricting investment in Crosby 

Centre. 

Page 181

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

56 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

vacancies in 

Crosby Centre 

 

 

23. Number of 

National 

Retailers in 

Crosby Centre4 

[10.3%] 

1,269m2 

[6.8%] 

[2015] 

 

29 [2015] 

 

 

 

 

 

Increase 

 

Consider Area Action Plan to set 

out more specific guidance on 

how development in Crosby 

Centre will be managed. 

HC1 24. Number of 

affordable 

housing 

completions    

[by type (social 

rented, 

affordable 

rented, 

intermediate, 

through section 

106) and 

location] 

111 

[2014/5]  

2005 by 2018/19 

Annual increase 

Review implementation of policy. 

Contact developers of stalled 

schemes with an affordable 

housing element to determine 

reasons for delay. 

Review planning obligations to 

determine if these are preventing 

implementation of development. 

25. % of 

bedspaces that 

are affordable in 

approvals for 

new homes in 

qualifying 

schemes [15 

homes or more] 

[total and by 

settlement] 

Not 

available 

15% in Bootle 

and Netherton 

30% elsewhere 

Review implementation of policy. 

Review planning obligations to 

determine if these are affecting 

viability.  

Consider using off-site affordable 

housing contributions to support 

affordable housing schemes. 

Be more flexible on the split 

between social rented and other 

types of affordable homes. 

HC2 26. In 

developments of 

15 homes of 

more the number 

and %  of homes 

with: 

 1 or 2 

bedrooms 

 3 bedrooms 

 4 bedrooms 

or more 

No data Minimum of 25% 

1 or 2 bedrooms 

 

Minimum of 40% 

3 bedroom 

 

Maximum 35% 4 

or more 

bedrooms 

Review implementation of policy. 

Review viability implications of 

policy. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to provide additional 

guidance to developers for 

meeting the policy requirement. 

 

27. Approvals of 

older persons 

housing by type, 

tenure and 

settlement [inc 

extra care, 

sheltered 

accommodation, 

No data/ 

not 

available 

100 units per 

year  

Consider allocating Council owned 

sites specifically for housing for 

older people. 

Work with providers of homes for 

older people to see if they can 

assist in delivery of schemes for 

older people. 

Consider Council or external 

                                                           
4
 Town and District Centre Health checks are likely to be undertaken every 3 to 5 years so 

indicators ‘b’ to ‘e’ are unlikely to be monitored annually. 
5 This is based on the total anticipated Local Plan Affordable Housing Delivery as set out at 
Appendix 2 of the Housing Technical Paper. 

Page 182

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

57 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

nursing homes 

etc] 

funding sources to cross subsidise 

delivery of homes for older 

people. 

28. In approved 

schemes of 50 or 

more dwellings, 

the % of market 

homes designed 

to meet Building 

Regulation 

Requirement M4 

(2) ‘accessible 

and adaptable 

dwellings’. 

No data 20% Review implementation of policy. 

Review viability implications of 

policy. 

Consider Information Note or 

Supplementary Planning 

Document to provide additional 

guidance to developers for 

meeting the policy requirement.  

 

29. Number of 

approved custom 

or self-build 

homes  

 

30. Number of 

people registered 

on Sefton’s 

Custom and Self-

Build Register 

No data To be 

determined once 

custom build 

homes register 

has been live for 

minimum six 

months [June 

2016] 

 Allocate Council land specifically 

for custom or self-build housing. 

Provide support services to those 

who wish to self or custom-build 

their own home. 

HC3 31. Approvals in 

PRA that are not 

residential and 

inappropriate 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to provide additional 

guidance to developers. 

32. Densities in 

approvals for 

residential 

development 

No data/ 

not 

available 

Minimum 30 

dwellings per 

hectare 

(developable 

area) 

Review implementation of policy. 

Review Supplementary Planning 

Document to provide additional 

guidance to developers. 

 

HC4 33. Applications 

for conversions 

to HMOs and the 

proportions 

refused/approve

d (with some 

explanatory text)  

 

34. Total number 

of HMOs in 

Sefton and by 

ward 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No specific target 

for these two 

indicators but 

commentary will 

be provide on 

whether the 

impact of 

clusters of HMOs 

is occurring and 

whether this is 

causing 

significant harm 

to the character 

of an area or 

harming the 

living conditions 

of residents. 

Review implementation of policy 

and existing Supplementary 

Planning Document. 

Consider the use of an article 4 

direction to restrict HMOs in 

specific areas. 

 

HC5 35. Five year 

traveller pitch 

supply 

 

0 years 

[2015] 

5 years by 1st 

April 2017 

Contact landowners of allocated 

traveller sites to determine any 

causes of planning applications 

being delayed. 

Page 183

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

58 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

Review policy constraints on 

allocated sites. 

Update traveller needs 

assessment to determine if 

identified need remains valid. 

36. Provision of 

traveller pitches 

[permanent/tran

sit] 

 

0 in 

2014/15 

 

4 additional 

permanent 

pitches by 

2017/18. 

10 additional 

permanent 

pitches 2018/19 

to 2027/28. 

4 transit pitches 

by 2017/18. 

 

37. Number, size 

and duration of 

unauthorised 

traveller 

encampments 

No data/ 

not 

available 

0 Work with traveller liaison officer 

determine reasons for 

unauthorised encampments and 

to ensure Council transit site 

[when provided] is well 

advertised. 

Review access/pricing policy for 

Council transit site is suitable. 

Work with neighbouring 

authorities to ensure they are 

providing their identified transit 

pitches. 

Consider extension of or 

additional transit site. 

HC6 38. No. of 

applications that 

affect an Asset of 

Community 

Value and the 

proportions 

refused/approve

d (with some 

explanatory text)   

No data No inappropriate 

approvals 

 

HC7 39. Approvals in 

Sites of 

Education and 

Care Institutions 

and % 

inappropriate 

No data No inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy 

on inappropriate approvals. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to set out more specific 

guidance on implementation of 

policy.  

IN1 40. Amount of 

Community 

Infrastructure 

Levy secured 

[total/by area] 

No data To be 

determined if 

and when CIL is 

implemented 

To be determined if and when CIL 

is implemented. 

IN2 41. No. of 

schemes in part 

1 of the policy 

implemented 

Not 

applicable 

All implemented 

by 2030. Annual 

review 

undertaken to 

determine 

Work with transport colleagues to 

determine potential issues 

restricting investment in transport 

schemes.  

Look at potential funding sources 

Page 184

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

59 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

progress. including from developer 

contributions.  

EQ3 42. % of new 

build housing 

within 

appropriate 

[SPD] distance to 

bus stop; rail 

station; GP; 

primary school 

No data/ 

not 

available 

Increase Work with transport colleagues to 

maximise public transport 

improvements on larger 

development sites. 

 

EQ6 43. 

Contaminated 

land remediated 

as part of 

development 

No data No target but 

commentary will 

consider impact 

of the policy 

Review implementation of policy. 

Liaise with contaminated land 

colleagues to assess whether 

advice on contamination is being 

correctly used in planning 

decisions.  

EQ8 44. Number of 

applications 

refused on flood 

risk grounds 

 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No target but 

commentary will 

consider the 

impact of the 

policy. 

Review implementation of policy.  

Liaise with drainage colleagues to 

assess whether advice on flood 

risk/drainage is being correctly 

used in planning decisions.  

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to set out more specific 

guidance on implementation of 

policy. 

45. Number of 

major 

applications 

approved with 

conditions and/or 

legal agreements 

related to SuDs 

No data/ 

not 

available 

  

EQ9 46. Area of new 

Public Open 

Space approved 

on: 

 schemes of 

150 or  more 

dwellings 

 Proposals for 

11 to 149 

dwellings  on 

sites which 

are more 

than 2km 

from a main 

parks or 

Countryside 

Recreation 

Areas’   

No data 40m2 per home Review implementation of policy.  

Review other planning obligations 

to determine if this is limiting 

implementation of policy. 

Work with leisure colleagues to 

ensure policy approach is 

securing the improvements 

required. 

Determine the best approach to 

ensuring this policy and the 

implementation of the [potential] 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

are compatible and maximise 

improvements. 

 

47. Financial 

contributions 

secured through 

section 106 to 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No target but 

commentary on 

reasons why off-

site contributions 

 

Page 185

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

60 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

improve existing 

public open 

space 

was accepted 

and which 

existing public 

open spaces will 

be improved 

EQ10 48. Approvals of 

A5 uses in 

designated 

centres;  

Shopping 

Parades; within 

400m of 

secondary school 

or college 

[including those 

restricted to 

opening after 

5pm] 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy 

and Supplementary Planning 

Document. 

Work with education and public 

health colleagues to determine 

whether additional A5 uses close 

to a particular secondary school 

or college is likely to change 

eating habits of students. 

NH2 49. Approvals in 

International, 

National and 

Local nature 

sites and % 

inappropriate 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy 

and Supplementary Planning 

Document. 

Liaise with colleagues in 

Merseyside Environmental 

Advisory Service and Natural 

England to determine whether 

policy approach is appropriate. 

NH3 50. Approvals in 

Nature 

Improvements 

Areas and % 

inappropriate 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No inappropriate 

approvals 

 

NH4 51. Approvals in 

Coastal Change 

Management 

Area and % 

inappropriate 

No data/ 

not 

available 

No inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy. 

Liaise with Coastal Management 

Team to determine whether policy 

approach is appropriate. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to set out more specific 

guidance on implementation of 

policy. 

NH5 52. Approvals in 

Public Open 

Space and % 

inappropriate 

n/a No inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy. 

Liaise with Leisure colleagues to 

determine whether policy 

approach is appropriate. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to set out more specific 

guidance on implementation of 

policy. 

HN6 53. Approvals in 

Urban Golf 

Course and % 

inappropriate 

n/a No inappropriate 

approvals 

Review implementation of policy. 

Consider Supplementary Planning 

Document to set out more specific 

guidance on implementation of 

policy. 

NH9-

14 

54. % of Listed 

Buildings 

Not 

available 

10-20% of Listed 

Buildings 

Review resources and priorities 

within Conservation Team. 

Page 186

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

61 

 

Policy Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Action undertaken if not met 

surveyed per 

year 

55. Conservation 

Area Appraisals  

adopted 

56. Conservation 

Area 

Management 

Plans adopted 

 

 

13/25 

[2015] 

 

0/25 

[2015] 

 

 

Increase 

 

 

Increase 

 

TABLE 2 INDIRECT IMPACT INDICATORS 

 

SA Topic Area Indicator Baseline Target or 

direction of 

travel 

Economy 57. Number of jobs in 

Sefton 
 

58. Unemployment rate 

103,000 [2013] 

 
 

5.3% [June 2015] 

Increase 
 

 

Decrease 

Local Centres 59. Retail ranking of Bootle 

and Southport 
 

60. Vacancy rates [units] 

in designated centres 

Bootle 235th Southport 96th 

[2014/15] 
 

23% Bootle 

13.1% Southport 

10.3% Crosby 

10.1% Maghull  

9.5% Waterloo 

2.8% Formby 

[July 2015] 

Higher Ranking 

 
 

Decrease 

Communities 61. % of Sefton’s 

population living in 20% 

most deprived areas in 

England 
 

62. Social housing waiting 

lists 

27% [2015 IMD] 

 

 

 
 

2883 [2015, OneVision 

Housing – Housing Register] 

Decrease 

 

 
 

 

Decrease 

Housing 63. Population in Sefton 
 

64. Average house prices 

by area 

273,500 [2014 ONS estimate] 
 

£86,458  Bootle 

£166,949 Maghull 

£168,945 Southport 

£216,557 Crosby 

£270,087 Formby  

[2015 Land Registry] 

Increase 
 

No target 

 

Accessibility 65. Travel to work by 

transport mode 

56.7% Car or van 

9.5% On foot 

8.3% Work from home 

7.3% Train 

6.9% Bus 

6.0% Passenger in car or van 

2.6% Bicycle 

1.3% Taxi 

0.7% Other 

0.5% Motorcycle 

Increase those 

using public 

transport and 

sustainable 

modes 

Page 187

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

62 

 

0.4% Rapid transit 

[2011 Census] 

Health & 

Wellbeing 

66. Obesity rates in 

adults/children 

19.6% of children [2012] 

23.6% of adults [2012] 

Decrease 

 

Climate 

Change & 

Resource Use 

67. Carbon emissions by 

source [tCO2 per person] 

Total 5.0 

Industrial and Commercial 1.8 

Domestic 2.2 

Transport 1.0 [2013] 

Source DECC, 25 June 2015 

Decrease 

Flooding 68. Total of homes and 

businesses classed at risk 

from flooding 

No data/ not available No increase 

Environmental 

Quality 

69. Air quality at 

monitoring stations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

70. River quality 
 

71. Vacant home rate 

Quoting lowest and highest 

levels of the five stations 

Nitric oxide: Waterloo Primary 

School 24.5ppb - Princess 

Way, Seaforth 49.6ppb [2015] 

 

Nitrogen dioxide: Waterloo 

Primary School 33.7µg/m³ - 

Princess Way, Seaforth 44.1 

µg/m³ [2015] 

 

Oxides of Nitrogen: Waterloo 

Primary School 41.7ppb - 

Princess Way, Seaforth 

72.2ppb [2015] 
 

No data/ not available  
 

Local Term Vacant Rate – 3236 

homes [2.56%] 

 

 

Decrease 

 

 

 

Decrease 

 

 

 

 

Decrease 

 

 
 

 

Improvement 
 

Decrease 

Landscape None    

Biodiversity 72. Local sites and sites in 

positive conservation 

management 

60 local sites; 30 sites in 

positive management [50%] 

2014/15 Defra 

Increase 

Culture & 

Heritage 

73. Number of listed 

buildings at risk 
 

74. Number of 

Conservation Areas ‘at 

risk’ 
 

75. Number of Scheduled 

Monuments ‘at risk’ 
 

76. Parks with green flag 

status 

10 Grade II* Listed Buildings 

or Conservation Areas [2015] 
 

6 [Historic England, 2015] 

 

 
 

1 [Historic England, 2015] 

 
 

10 Green Flag awarded Parks 

[2015] 

Decrease 

 
 

Decrease 

 
 

 

Decrease 

 
 

Increase 

 

  

Page 188

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

63 

 

APPENDIX 5 LIST OF SAVED UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES TO BE REPLACED BY LOCAL 

PLAN POLICIES  

 

Unitary Development Plan Policy 
(2006) 

Superseding Local Plan Policy/ies (2016) 

CS1 Development and Regeneration   SD1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

SD2 Principles of sustainable development 

CS2 Restraint on development and protection of 

environmental assets   

SD1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

SD2 Principles of sustainable development 

NH1 Natural Assets 

NH9A Heritage Assets 

CS3 Development principles SD1 Presumption in favour of sustainable Development 

SD2 Principles of sustainable development 

EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton  

UP1 Development in Urban Priority Areas SD2 Principles of sustainable development 

EDT1 Strategic Employment Locations MN2 Housing, Employment , and Mixed Use Allocations 

EDT2 Provision of Employment Land MN2 Housing, Employment , and Mixed Use Allocations 

EDT3 Strategic Employment Sites in the 

Dunnings Bridge Corridor 

ED6 Regeneration Areas 

MN2.47 Dunnings Bridge Road Corridor, Netherton 

EDT4 Southport Commerce Park MN2.50 Southport Business Park 

EDT5 Primarily Industrial Areas ED3 Existing Employment Areas 

EDT6 Development Sites within Primarily 

Industrial Areas 

ED3 Existing Employment Areas 

MN2 Housing, Employment , and Mixed Use 

Allocations EDT8 Business and Industrial Development 
Outside Primarily Industrial Areas 

ED3 Existing Employment Areas 

EDT9 The Port and Maritime Zone ED1 The Port and Maritime Zone 

EDT10 Bootle Central Area – Development 
Principles 

ED2 Development in town, district and local 
centres, local shopping parades and outside defined centres 
ED4 Mixed Use Areas 
ED6 Regeneration Areas 

EDT11 Development in the Bootle Office Quarter ED6 Regeneration Areas 

EDT12 Bootle Central Area Opportunity Sites ED6 Regeneration Areas 

EDT13 Southport Central Area – 
Development Principles 

ED2 Development in town, district and local 
centres, local shopping parades and outside defined centres 
ED5 Tourism 
ED6 Regeneration Areas 

ED7 Southport Central Area 

EDT14 Southport Resort Area ED5 Tourism 

 EDT15 Southport Seafront Area ED5 Tourism 

ED8 Southport Seafront 

ED8A Marine Park 

EDT16 Mixed Use Areas ED4 Mixed Use Areas 

Page 189

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

64 

 

Unitary Development Plan Policy 
(2006) 

Superseding Local Plan Policy/ies (2016) 

EDT17 Employment Opportunity Sites ED6 Regeneration Areas 

MN2.34 Aintree Curve Site, Ridgewood Way, Netherton 

MN2.43 Peoples site, Linacre Lane, Bootle 

EDT18 Retention of Local Employment 

Opportunities 

ED3 Existing Employment Areas 

H1 Housing Requirement Not Saved (equivalent Local Plan Policy MN1 
Housing and employment Requirement) 

H2 Requirement for Affordable, Special 
Needs and Key Worker Housing 

HC1 Affordable and special needs housing 
(and accompanying Affordable, Special Needs and 
Older People’s Housing SPD) 

H3 Housing Land Supply MN2 Housing, Employment , and Mixed Use 

Allocations 

H4 Land at Town Lane, Southport Site has planning permission 

HC3 Residential  development and development in Primarily 

Residential Areas 

H5 Land to the west of Southport and 
Formby District General Hospital 

HC3 Residential  development and development in Primarily 
Residential Areas 

HC7 Education and Care Institutions in the Urban Area 

NH5 Protection of open space and Countryside Recreation 
Areas 

H6 Opportunity Sites ED6 Regeneration Areas 
MN2.34 Aintree Curve Site, Ridgewood Way, Netherton 
MN2.43 Peoples site, Linacre Lane, Bootle 

Other sites developed 

H7 Housing Renewal, Clearance and Regeneration ED6 Regeneration Areas 

H8 Redevelopment within the Pathfinder 

Area 

ED4 Mixed Use Areas 

ED6 Regeneration Areas 

H9 Hawthorne Road/ Canal Corridor ED4 Mixed Use Areas 
ED5 Tourism 

ED6 Regeneration Areas 

H10 Residential Development and 

Development in Residential Areas 

HC3 Residential Development and 

Development in Primarily Residential Areas (and 
accompanying New Housing SPD) 

H11 Mixed Use Developments Incorporating 

Housing 

ED4 Mixed Use Areas 

H12 Residential Density HC3 Residential Development and 

Development in Primarily Residential Areas (and 
accompanying New Housing SPD) 

EQ2 Design 

R1 Retail Development Strategy ED2 Development in town, district and local centres, local 
shopping parades and outside defined centres 

R2 Southport Town Centre ED2 Development in town, district and local 

centres, local shopping parades and outside defined centres 
ED5 Tourism 
ED6 Regeneration Areas 

ED7 Southport Central Area 

Page 190

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

65 

 

Unitary Development Plan Policy 
(2006) 

Superseding Local Plan Policy/ies (2016) 

R3 Southport Station Complex ED2 Development in town, district and local centres, local 
shopping parades and outside defined centres 
ED6 Regeneration Areas ED8 Southport 
Central Area EQ3 Accessibility 

R4 Bootle town Centre ED2 Development in town, district and local 
centres, local shopping parades and outside defined centres 
ED4 Mixed Use Areas 
ED6 Regeneration Areas 

R5 Edge-of-Centre Retail Development: 

TAVR Site, Strand Road, Bootle 

Not Saved 

R6 Development in District and Local 
Shopping Centres 

ED2 Development in town, district and local 
centres, local shopping parades and outside defined centres 

R7 Local Shopping Parades ED2 Development in town, district and local 
centres, local shopping parades and outside defined centres 

R8 Upper Floors in Defined Centres and 

Shopping Parades 

Not Saved 

R9 Edge-of-Centre and Out-of-Centre Retail 
Developments and Key Town Centre Uses 

ED2 Development in town, district and local 
centres, local shopping parades and outside defined centres 

ED4 Mixed Use Areas 

ED5 Tourism 

R10 Lanstar Site, Church Road, Litherland MN2.53 Former Lanstar Site, Hawthorne Road, Bootle 

T1 Transport Network Priorities IN2 Transport 

T2 Walking and Cycling IN2 Transport 
EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton 

EQ3 Accessibility 

EQ9 Provision of public open space, strategic paths and trees 

in development 

T3 Pedestrian Priority on Chapel Street, Southport Not Saved 

T4 Safeguarding the Public Transport Network IN2 Transport 

T5 New Car Parks in Designated Areas IN2 Transport 

EQ3 Accessibility 

EMW1 Prudent Use of Resources EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ7 Energy Efficient and Low Carbon Design 

IN3 Managing Waste 

EMW2 Renewable Energy Infrastructure EQ7 Energy Efficient and Low Carbon Design 

EMW3 Protection of Mineral Resources NH8 Minerals 

EMW4 Proposals for Mineral and Aggregate 

Developments 

NH8 Minerals 

EMW5 Onshore Oil and Gas NH8 Minerals 

EMW6 Waste Management Strategy Replaced by Merseyside and Halton Waste 

Local Plan (2013) 

EMW7 Waste Management Facilities Replaced by Merseyside and Halton Waste 

Local Plan (2013) 

Page 191

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

66 

 

Unitary Development Plan Policy 
(2006) 

Superseding Local Plan Policy/ies (2016) 

EMW8 Landfill Sites Replaced by Merseyside and Halton Waste 

Local Plan (2013) 

EMW9 Recycling Facilities IN3 Managing Waste 

GBC1 The Green Belt MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt 

GBC2 Development in the Green Belt MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt 

GBC3 Redevelopment of a Major Developed 

Site in the Green Belt – The Powerhouse, 
Hoggs Hill Lane, Formby 

MN2.18 Power House phase 2, Hoggs Hill 
Lane, Formby 

GBC4 Redevelopment or Infilling of a Major 
Developed Site in the Green Belt – Ashworth 
Hospital, Maghull 

MN8.2 Land adjacent to Ashworth Hospital, 
Maghull 

GBC5 Infill Development on Major 

Developed Sites in the Green Belt 

MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt 

 

GBC6 Landscape Character NH7 Rural Landscape Character 

GBC7 Agricultural Land Quality MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt 

GBC8 Equestrian Development MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt 

GBC9 Landscape Renewal Areas MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt 

NC1 Site Protection NH1 Natural Assets 

NH2 Protection and enhancement of nature sites, priority 

habitats and species (and accompanying Nature Conservation 

SPD) 

NH3 Development in the Nature Improvement Area  

NC2 Protection of Species NH1 Natural Assets 

NH2 Protection and enhancement of nature sites, priority 

habitats and species (and accompanying Nature Conservation 

SPD) 

NH3 Development in the Nature Improvement Area  

NC3 Habitat Protection, Creation and Management NH1 Natural Assets 

NH2 Protection and enhancement of nature sites, priority 

habitats and species (and accompanying Nature Conservation 

SPD) 

NH3 Development in the Nature Improvement Area  

CPZ1 Development in Coastal Planning Zones NH1 Natural Assets 

NH4 The Sefton coast and development 

CPZ2 Coastal Protection NH1 Natural Assets 

NH4 The Sefton coast and development 

CPZ3 Coastal Landscape Conservation and 
Management 

EQ4 Pollution and Hazards 

NH1 Natural Assets 

NH2 Protection and enhancement of nature sites, priority 

habitats and species (and accompanying Nature Conservation 

SPD) 

NH3 Development in the Nature Improvement Area  

NH4 The Sefton coast and development 

CPZ4 Coastal Park NH4 The Sefton coast and development 

Page 192

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

67 

 

Unitary Development Plan Policy 
(2006) 

Superseding Local Plan Policy/ies (2016) 

NH5 Protection of open space and Countryside Recreation 

Areas 

G1 Protection of Urban Greenspace 
NH5 Protection of open space and Countryside Recreation 
Areas 

G2 Improving Public Access to Urban 

Greenspace 

ED3 Existing Employment Areas 
ED6 Regeneration Areas 

HC3 Residential Development and 

Development in Primarily Residential Areas (and 
accompanying New Housing SPD) 
HC7 Education and Care Institutions in the Urban Area 
NH6 Urban Golf Courses 

G3 Urban Greenspace Systems NH1 Natural assets 
NH5 Protection of open space and Countryside Recreation 
Areas 

G4 Development Adjacent to the Leeds and 
Liverpool Canal 

ED5 Tourism 

EQ2 Design  

NH1 Natural assetsNH5 Protection of open space and 
Countryside Recreation Areas 

G5 Protection of Recreational Open Space NH1 Natural assets 
NH5 Protection of open space and Countryside Recreation 
Areas 

G6 Built Recreation Facilities HC6 Assets of community value 

G7 Strategic Paths for Countryside 

Recreation 

NH5 Protection of open space and 

Countryside Recreation Areas 

G8 Countryside Recreation Areas NH5 Protection of open space and Countryside Recreation 

Areas 

G9 Aintree Racecourse Recreational Area ED5 Tourism 

ED8B Aintree Racecourse 

MN7 Sefton’s Green Belt 

HC1 Development in Conservation Areas NH9A Heritage Assets 
NH11 Development affecting Conservation Areas 

HC2 Demolition of Listed buildings and 

Demolition in Conservation Areas 

NH9A Heritage Assets 

NH9 Demolition or substantial harm to 

designated Heritage Assets 

HC3 Development or Change of Use 

Affecting a Listed Building 

NH9A Heritage Assets 

NH10 Works affecting Listed Buildings 

HC4 Development Affecting the Setting of a 
Listed Building 

NH9A Heritage Assets 
NH10 Works affecting Listed Buildings 

HC5 Historic Parks and Gardens NH9A Heritage Assets 

NH12 Development affecting Registered Parks and Gardens 

HC6 Sites and Areas of Archaeological 

Importance 

NH9A Heritage Assets 

NH13 Development affecting Archaeology and Scheduled 

Monuments 

AD1 Location of Development EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ3 Accessibility 

Page 193

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

68 

 

Unitary Development Plan Policy 
(2006) 

Superseding Local Plan Policy/ies (2016) 

AD2 Ensuring Choice of Travel EQ3 Accessibility 

Ensuring Choice of Travel SPD (2010) was prepared by 
Merseytavel and Merseyside authorities 

AD3 Transport Assessments IN2 Transport 

AD4 Green Travel Plans EQ3 Accessibility 

AD5 Access onto the Primary Route Network IN2 Transport 

DQ1 Design EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ2 Design 

DQ2 Renewable Energy in Development EQ7 Energy Efficient and Low Carbon Design 

DQ3 Trees and Development IN1 Infrastructure and developer contributions 

EQ9 Provision of public open space, strategic 

paths and trees in development 

DQ4 Public Greenspace and Development EQ9 Provision of public open space, strategic paths and trees 
in development 

DQ5 Sustainable Drainage Systems EQ8 Managing flood risk and surface water 

EP1 Managing Environmental Risk EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ4 Pollution and hazards 
EQ5 Air quality 

EQ8 Managing flood risk and surface water 

EP2 Pollution EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ4 Pollution and hazards 

EQ5 Air quality 

EP3 Development of Contaminated Land EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ4 Pollution and hazards 

EP4 Development On or Near to Landfill 

Sites 

EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ4 Pollution and hazards 

EP5 Development and Hazardous substances EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ4 Pollution and hazards 

EP6 Noise and Vibration EQ1 Planning for a healthy Sefton   

EQ4 Pollution and hazards 

EP7 Light Nuisance EQ4 Pollution and hazards 

EP8 Flood Risk EQ8 Managing flood risk and surface water 

MD1 House Extensions HC4 House extensions and alterations and 
conversions to Houses in Multiple Occupation and Flats 
(and accompanying House Extensions SPD) 

MD2 Conversion to Flats HC4 House extensions and alterations and conversions to 

Houses in Multiple Occupation and Flats 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) and Flats Supplementary 

Planning Document SPD was approved in 2013 

MD3 Houses in Multiple Occupation HC4 House extensions and alterations and 

conversions to Houses in Multiple Occupation and Flats 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) and Flats 
Supplementary Planning Document SPD was approved in 
2013 

Page 194

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Local Plan - Inspector’s Report, March 2017 

69 

 

Unitary Development Plan Policy 
(2006) 

Superseding Local Plan Policy/ies (2016) 

MD4 Caravan Sites for Gypsies and Travelling 

Showpeople 

HC5 Planning for Gypsies and Travellers 

MD5 Commercial Frontages and Security 

Shutters 

EQ2 Design 

MD6 Food and Drink Uses EQ10 Food and Drink (and accompanying 

Hot Food Takeaways and Betting Shops SPD) 

MD7 Advertisements EQ11 Advertisements 

MD8 Telecommunications Development IN1 Infrastructure and Developer 

Contributions 

No Policy MN3 Strategic Mixed Use Allocation – Land 

east of Maghull (and accompanying SPD) 

No Policy MN4 Land north of Formby Industrial Estate 

No Policy MN6 Land north of Brackenway, Formby 

No Policy MN6A Land at Moss Lane, Churchtown 

No Policy MN8 Safeguarded Land 

No Policy HC2 Housing type, mix and tenure 

No Policy ED9 Crosby Centre (and accompanying SPD) 

No Policy NH14 Development affecting non- 

designated Heritage Assets 

No Specific Policy (although many cover issues) PIM1 Planning enforcement 

 

Page 195

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



List of further minor changes for adopted Local Plan.
These help improve readability but to not affect any policies in the Plan. Reference will also be made 
to evidence referred to during the Local Plan examination where appropriate and where this does 
not go to the heart of any policy. 

These are changes which have not previously been consulted on.

General

Simplified policy titles and standard policy and sub-policy numbering with consequential changes to 
cross references throughout will be made throughout the Local Plan.

Typographical errors will also be corrected, such as:
 Para 1.2, first bullet point - the superfluous ‘for’ will be deleted.
 in para 1.6B change ‘a material consideration’ to  ‘material considerations’.    
 para 1.8 capitals for Written Statement
 para 2.26A capital P for Port

Consequential changes as a result of other changes made elsewhere in the Local Plan.

Specific changes proposed

Chapter 1 
 Paragraph 1.5:
- replace ‘draft’ with ‘Local’.
-  move and update the last bullet point in ‘Submission stage’ to a new section on ‘Examination in 

Public 2015-2017’:
 Examination In Public 2015-2017:  

o The draft Plan was submitted in August 2015 and an independent Inspector was 
appointed by the Secretary of State to examine the Local Plan.  

o The Examination included hearings in November and December 2015 and January 2016.  
The Inspector issued initial findings in February and March 2016, which indicated that 
the Local Plan would be sound subject to modifications.  .

o Public consultation on the Council’s proposed Main Modifications to the submitted Local 
Plan took place from June to August 2016.  All representations were considered by the 
Inspector, who also reconvened the examination hearings in November 2016.  

o The Examination was closed in March 2017 when the Council received the Inspector’s 
Report. 

   
Para 1.17 - delete ‘(under construction at the date of publication)’ in line 2.

Chapter 2 
Paragraph 2.21A  - Change ‘imminent’ to ‘likely future’ 

Paragraph 2.28 - Update by changing ‘leads on’ to ‘led on’, and ‘is an ERDF’ to ‘was an ERDF’.

Paragraph 2.29  - Update by changing  ‘will provide’ to ‘provided’. 
Add new second sentence: ‘Sefton is a member of Viridis, a collective for Registered Providers and 
Social Landlords throughout the Liverpool City Region which aims to achieve the home energy 
efficiency, carbon dioxide emission and fuel poverty priorities of the Liverpool City Region.’ 

Page 197

Agenda Item 7



Paragraph 2.35 – delete ‘draft’ before Infrastructure deliver Plan at the end of this paragraph.  

Chapter 3 

Paragraph 3.3 – Delete ’latest’ from line 1.

Paragraph 3.8 – Replace ‘in such areas’ with ‘for people living in Bootle and Netherton’ in line 5, and 
‘to employ local people at the end of the paragraph.

Paragraph 3.11 – Replace ‘The’ with ‘This’ at the start of the 3rd sentence.

Paragraph 3.20 – change ‘meeting’ to ‘meet’.

Paragraph 3.21 – change ‘provide’ with ‘provided’ and add ’s, enhanced’ after ‘new industrial area’.

Chapter 4 
Paragraph 4.17  - Add a new sentence to the end of this paragraph ‘The employment land study was 
updated in 2015 and informed the discussion at the examination hearings’.

Paragraph 4.37 – ‘11,461’ should be amended to read ’11,435’.

Paragraph  4.40 – replace ‘23’ with ‘28’, ‘three’ with ‘two’ and ‘currently’ with ‘previously’.

Paragraph 4.43 – this paragraph has been updated to reflect the latest information about the 
Highways England consultation on the options relating to improved access to the Port of Liverpool.

Paragraph 4.49 – delete ‘suggested’ from the 1st line and change ‘first’ to ‘firstly’ in the 1st bullet 
point.

Amend Figure 4.3 to reflect the reduction in the number of homes proposed in Formby as a result of 
the reduced capacity of the Shorrocks Hill site (MN2.14A).

Paragraph 4.54 – Add ‘Sefton’ before ‘to meet those needs in full.’

Paragraph 4.55 – delete ‘draft’.

Chapter 5 

No changes.

Chapter 6 and Appendix 1

Policy MN2 changes:
MN2.14A – Revise the indicative site capacity in the policy table  in part 1 from 60 to 34 with 
consequent revisions to totals. 

MN2 part 8 – Reword part 8 as follows: ‘Southport Business Park (Site MN2.50) ia also allocated as a 
Strategic Employment Location for new office and light industrial uses (B1) and has an area of 13.1 
ha (net).

Page 198

Agenda Item 7



MN2.47 – As this identification refers to 3 sites in the Dunnings Bridge Corridor, the site is to be 
labelled ‘a’, ‘b’ and ‘c’ in the policy and on the policies map.

Paragraph 6.22 – delete ‘for’ before ‘affordable housing’ in line 3.

Paragraph 6.23 – Replace the 1st and 2nd sentence with the following: ‘With the exception of sites 
previously located in the Green Belt or designated as ‘urban greenspace’ in the UDP, only  sites 
larger than 1 hectare in size have been identified as housing allocations. Sites with an existing 
planning permission for housing (before 1 April 2012) have also not been allocated.’

Paragraph 6.27 – amend the last line as follows: ‘… 25% would be required for open space and 
landscaping’….

Paragraph 6.34 – replace ‘new’ with construction of’ in the last line of this paragraph.

Paragraph 6.35 – add ‘the’ before both ‘Ashworth hospital’ and ‘M58’.

Policy MN3 changes:
MN3 part 1Bd - add ‘from the practical completion of the distributor road’ to the end of this bullet 
point.

MN3 part 3d – replace ‘through’ with ‘within’.

Paragraph 6.63 – add ‘part of a larger area which is’ after ‘The site is’ at the start of this paragraph.

Paragraph 6.64 – delete ‘also’ form line 1.

Paragraph 6.79 – amend the last sentence to read: ‘Sufficient information must be provided with the 
first planning application for the development of this site….’.

Chapters 7 

Paragraph 7.2 – add ‘under policy ED3’ after ‘Existing Employment Araes’.

Paragraph 7.4 – amend the start of this paragraph to read: Town, district and local shopping’….

Paragraph 7.11 – replace the reference to paragraph 4.42 to paragraph 4.44 and remove the 
reference to the timetable.

Paragraph 7.12 – delete ‘company’.

Paragraph 7.13 – update the start of this paragraph as follows: ‘Liverpool2 has doubled has doubled 
the Port’s existing contained capacity and made…’

Replace the heading before paragraph 7.18 with ‘Retail, leisure and other town centre uses’.

Policy ED10 – move the reference to the Policies Map to part 1 of the policy.

Chapter 8

Page 199

Agenda Item 7



Policy HC1 – under the sub-heading ‘All Areas’ and the text recommended by the Inspector in 
relation to Vacant Building Credits, and add 3 new paragraphs to the Explanation after paragraph 
8.13. 

Chapter 9 
Para 9.33D  - Change ‘The immediate review of the Plan provides the’ to ‘Any review of the Plan 
provides an’   

Chapter 10 

Paragraph 10.34 - Change ‘given’ to ‘granted’.  

Paragraph 10.51 Change ‘social, health and well-being’ to ‘the community including health and well-
being’.

Paragraph 10.58A - change the start of this paragraph to read: Part 2A reflects the aim for an 
effective and integrated approach to the management of flood risk, surface after and foul drainage. 
This includes the assessment….’

Paragraph 10.61B – add ‘(SuDS)’ after sustainable drainage system at the end of the 2nd sentence.

Paragraph 10.66 - add to the end of the fourth sentence ‘(i.e. sites more than 2 kilometres from a 
main park or Countryside Recreation Area)’. 

Paragraph 10.69A - delete the word ‘Public’. 

Paragraph 10.76 - Change ‘the Design Supplementary Planning Document’ to ‘any future Design 
Supplementary Planning Document’. 

Policy EQ10 part 2 first bullet point - change ‘It is’ to ‘The premises are’. 

Paragraph 10.81 - change ‘SPD’ to ‘Supplementary Planning Document’.

Policy EQ11 part 2 second and third bullet points - change ’They’ to ‘Advertisements’.  

Paragraph 10.83 in the list of bullet points change ‘A board’ to ‘A-board’ and ‘Estate agents boards’ 
to ‘Estate agents’ boards’.  

Chapter 11

Paragraph 11.7A Change ‘See www.meas.org.uk/1263 for more information’ to ‘See 
http://www.activenaturalist.org.uk/lcren/ for more information’.   

Paragraph 11.13 - change the second sentence as follows: ‘Sefton has designated Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas (MSAs), although it contains no aggregate minerals resources that are currently 
commercially viable or likely to become so in the future’.

Paragraph 11.18B - change ‘suitably competent persons, such as ecologists,’ to ‘a suitably 
experienced ecologist’ for consistency with paragraph 11.18. 

Paragraph 11.36 - change ‘Sefton Coast Partnership’ to ‘Sefton Coast Landscape Partnership’.   

Page 200

Agenda Item 7

http://www.activenaturalist.org.uk/lcren/


Policy NH4 part 1a - change ‘their’ to ‘an’.

Chapter 12 
Paragraph 12.1 - add ‘Council’ after ‘Sefton’, and ‘(LPA)’ after ‘Local Planning Authority’.  Change 
‘English Heritage’ to ‘Historic England’.  

Paragraph 12.8 - change ‘Sefton Coast Partnership’ to ‘Sefton Coast Landscape Partnership’.   Add 
‘Liverpool’ before ‘City Region’, throughout. Change ‘is commissioning’ to ‘has commissioned’.

Appendix 1
Site MN2.6 –refer to Birkdale Primary School not Bedford Road.
Site MN2.14A - reduce the size of the car park to 100 spaces. 

Appendix 3 
Footnote7 to Crosby Centre indicators should refer to indicators 20-23 rather than b-e.
Indicator 26 should read ‘In developments of 25 homes or more…..’ 

Page 201

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet
Council

Date of Meeting: 9th  March 2017
20th April 2017

Subject: Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk 
Management Policies

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Report of: Head of Locality 
Services - 
Commissioned

Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Is it included in the Forward Plan? Yes

Exempt/Confidential No 

Purpose/Summary 

A number of new policies have been developed to support the delivery of Flood and
Coastal Erosion Risk Management within Sefton.  These cover issues which are relevant 
to the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority and are distinct from Local Plan policies for 
management of flood risk, surface water and coastal change in relation to the planning 
application process.

Recommendation(s) 

Cabinet to recommend to Council the adoption of the policies for Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk Management.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives?

Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact

Neutral 
Impact

Negative 
Impact

1 Creating a Learning Community 

2 Jobs and Prosperity 

3 Environmental Sustainability 

4 Health and Well-Being 

5 Children and Young People 

6 Creating Safe Communities 

7 Creating Inclusive Communities 

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy



Page 203

Agenda Item 8



Reasons for the Recommendation: 

The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 2010) recommends that the 
activities of the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), Sefton Council, be scrutinised. These 
policies clarify and support the activities of the LLFA under this act. These policies will 
allow the LLFA to effectively prioritise demand on the service area ensuring our 
communities receive an effective and efficient service.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Policies not developed leading to less transparency and clarity of the service the Council 
delivers. This will increase the amount of unnecessary correspondence and complaints 
due to a lack of clarity on the position of Council in relation to flood and coastal erosion 
risk management. The service will be inefficient and poorly delivered as conflicting 
demands are made.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs 

Contained within existing revenue budgets.

(B) Capital Costs

Implications:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Financial
Legal 
Production of these policies ensures that the Council complies with various duties and 
responsibilities contained in the following legislation and directives:
 Coast Protection Act 1949 (CPA 1949)
 Land Drainage Act 1991 (LDA 1991)
 Flood Risk Regulations 2009 (FRR 2009)
 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA 2010)
 Water Framework Directive 2000/60
 Habitats Directive 1992/43
 Environment Act 1990
 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Human Resources
Equality
1. No Equality Implication

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains



Page 204

Agenda Item 8



Impact of the Proposals on Service Delivery:
Improved clarity and support for staff when delivering the service, resulting in a better 
service to our communities

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Head of Planning Services has been consulted and any comments have been 
incorporated into the report.
 
The Head of Corporate Resources has been consulted  (FD 4455/17) and notes the 
report indicates no direct financial implications. Costs can be  contained within existing 
revenue budgets.  

The Head of Regulation and Compliance (LD 3738/16) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the Council Meeting

Contact Officer:  Paul Wisse
Tel: 0151 934 2959
Email: paul.wisse@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following papers are attached to this report:

1 - Sefton Council - Culverting of Ordinary watercourses Policy
2 - Sefton Council - Diverting Ordinary watercourses Policy
3 - Sefton Council - Enforcement Policy
4 - Sefton Council - Flood Investigation Policy

Background Papers:

None.

Page 205

Agenda Item 8



1. Introduction/Background

1. Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) is primarily subject to 
legislation under the following acts:
o Coast Protection Act, 1949 (CPA)
o Land Drainage Act, 1991 (LDA)
o Flood Risk Regulations, 2009 (FRR)
o Flood and Water Management Act, 2010 (FWMA)

2. In addition to these acts Sefton Council, in delivering FCERM, must comply with a 
number of directives and other acts; such as the Water Framework Directive, the 
Habitats Directive, the Environment Act and the Wildlife and Countryside Act.

3. The introduction of the FWMA 2010 and amendments to the Land Drainage Act 
1991 (LDA 1991) has introduced a number of new duties and permissive powers 
which are now the responsibility of Sefton Council. Several of these allow Sefton 
Council to define specific local criteria which are the subject of the policies. Under 
these acts Sefton Council is defined as a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA).

4. The emerging Local Plan for Sefton includes a new designation of  a Coastal 
Change  Management Area (CCMA) for part of the Sefton Coast  that supports 
the delivery of the Coastal Protection Act 1949 (CPA 1949). In the CCMA 
development must take into account the risk of coastal change and the 
vulnerability of the development, and must fulfil specified criteria, in line with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and national Planning Practice Guidance.  In 
practice any development in the CCMA is referred to the FCERM team for 
comment in relation the CPA 1949. Consequentially no separate policies have 
been developed for the CPA 1949 at this point in time.

Policy Overviews

5. FCERM policies that are presented for consideration are:
 Culverting of Ordinary watercourses Policy
 Diverting Ordinary watercourses Policy
 Enforcement Policy
 Flood Investigation Policy

Ordinary Watercourse Culverting Policy

6. This policy sets out the Council’s position in opposing culverting or piping of 
ordinary watercourses. The FWMA 2010 requires anyone wishing to alter an 
ordinary water course to obtain consent from the Council prior to undertaking the 
work. Sefton commonly experiences flooding as a result of poorly designed 
culverts or inadequately maintained culverts. These are often in the gardens of 
residents who may be unaware that they exist or are struggling to maintain them 
correctly. The opposing of culverting may help reduce the potential risk of any 
future flooding incidences.

7. It is recognised that there may be occasions where culverting may be the only 
option and in the overriding public interest. Specific criteria have been defined that 
must be met before approval to culvert will be granted. 

Page 206

Agenda Item 8



Ordinary Watercourse Diverting Policy

8. This policy sets out the Council’s position in relation to diverting of ordinary 
watercourses. The FWMA 2010 requires anyone wishing to alter an ordinary 
water course to obtain consent from the Council prior to undertaking the work. The 
Council has concerns that inappropriate diverting of ordinary watercourses can 
increase flood risk and maintenance difficulties. However, if undertaken correctly it 
can help reduce flood risk and increase the amount of wet habitat available.

9. The policy details the criteria that must be achieved prior to consent being 
granted. These will ensure that capacity of flows and storage are maintained or 
increased bringing overall benefits to reduction in flooding and environmental 
improvements.

Ordinary Watercourse Enforcement Policy

10.The FWMA transferred powers defined in the LDA 1991 from the Environment 
Agency to Sefton Council for enforcement actions relating to maintaining flows in 
ordinary watercourses. These powers are permissive and as such are at the 
Council’s discretion when to use. There is a recognised process for enforcement 
action and undertaking the process can be long and resource intensive as it 
involves several periods of negotiation with riparian owners to give them 
opportunity to undertake action prior to formal action being undertaken.

11.The policy sets out how we will prioritise using these powers to address the 
potential impacts of flooding. Due to the resource required to resolve such issues 
we cannot undertake all enforcement actions and as such need to focus our 
resources on where we expect the biggest detrimental impacts to our communities 
will occur. Our highest priority is where internal flooding to a property is the likely 
outcome.

Flood Investigation Policy

12.Section 19 of the FWMA 2010 requires Sefton Council to publish flood 
investigation reports that it has defined as ‘necessary or appropriate’. The policy 
details what Sefton Council has defined as ‘necessary or appropriate’, which has 
been set to reflect current best practice in the industry and where the numbers 
affected could potentially reach cost benefit levels required for scheme 
development and grant in aid applications.

13.This policy has been developed to enable Sefton Council to focus resources 
effectively and to ensure flood incidents which have a significant impact take 
priority and are investigated appropriately.  Sefton Council reserves the right to 
undertake these investigations at its discretion and as resources allow. 

Page 207

Agenda Item 8



14.Table 1. Priority listing for investigating flood events

Priority Type of Flooding Incident
1 Internal flooding to the habitable space of a dwelling that affects 

the occupants’ ability to live in that space or business property 
that affects the ability to run the business from the flooded 
property.

2 Flooding as a result of a structural failure of a flood or coastal 
defence asset.

3 Flooding to highways defined as part of the Sefton’s Key Route 
Network (Appendix A) or critical infrastructure*.

4 Flooding to highways defined as classified roads, local distributor 
roads, that renders it totally impassable for a significant period (4 
hours or more)

5 Flooding to outbuildings, gardens, open space and farmland that 
is not on part of the functional floodplain

15.This will help us provide better support to our communities as we build a better 
understanding of flood risk. The policy is presented in the framework of a 
prioritised list to allow officers to focus their limited resource on the most 
significant flooding events. It must be noted that we may be unable to investigate 
all events due to resource limitations.

Links to the development management process

16.Some development sites may contain ordinary watercourses.  In such cases 
planning applications are referred to the FCERM Team for comment.  

17. In future, the FCERM Team will recommend that an ‘Informative” should be added 
to the planning or other application Decision Notice.  This would state that:

“Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek separate consent from the 
Council as Lead Local Flood Authority prior to works being undertaken, as set out 
in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Sefton Council’s position on 
consenting and enforcement is set out in its Ordinary Watercourse Culverting, 
Diverting, Enforcement and Flood Investigation Policies”. 

Page 208

Agenda Item 8



Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management

Ordinary Watercourses 
Culverting Policy

Page 209

Agenda Item 8



Contents

1. Introduction 3

2.  Legislation 3
2.1 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 4
2.2 The Environment Act 1995 4
2.4 Policy statement by the Chartered Institution of Water and Environmental 
Management 2007 on de-culverting watercourses 4

3. Ordinary Watercourse Culverting Position Statement 5

4.  Ordinary Watercourse Culverting Policy 5

5.  Links to the development management process 5

Appendix 1 7

Page 210

Agenda Item 8



Page 3 of 8

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
CULVERTING POLICY

1. Introduction 
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 designated all county and 
unitary authorities as ‘Lead Local Flood Authorities’ (LLFAs) and introduced a 
number of new duties in relation to flood risk management. Sefton Council is the 
LLFA for the Borough of Sefton.

As the LLFA, Sefton Council is required to oversee and participate in the 
management of local flood risk, which includes the risk of flooding from surface water 
and from ordinary watercourses. Ordinary watercourses include every river, stream, 
ditch, drain, cut, dyke, sluice, sewer (other than a public sewer) and passage through 
which water flows and which does not form part of a main river.

Inappropriate culverting (piping) of ordinary watercourses can significantly increase 
flood risk to surrounding areas and lead to a legacy of issues relating to maintenance 
and enforcement.
 
Historically culverts have generally been used to facilitate development where a 
watercourse impacted on the site layout or density of housing. Occasionally they 
have been used to manage flood flows where a natural channel was believed to be 
inadequate. Culverts can get blocked and restrict flows and contribute to increased 
flood risk. These blockages are often only identified when flooding occurs. To reduce 
the risk of blockages inside a culvert a screen is often provided at the entrance to 
prevent the entry of debris. Unless the screen is well designed and kept clean it can 
cause blockages and also increase flood risk. 

The detrimental effects of inappropriate culverting may include: 
 loss of and adverse effects on environmental features and wildlife habitat; 
 increased likelihood of flooding due to blockage; 
 impacts of flooding moved elsewhere
 loss of floodwater storage; 
 increased difficulties in providing for drainage connections; 
 difficulties in the repair, maintenance and replacement of culverts;
 increased health and safety hazards; 
 reduced groundwater recharge; 
 increased difficulty in detecting the origins of pollution and in monitoring 

water quality. 

2. Legislation
There is no legislation preventing the culverting of ordinary watercourses. However, 
there are other legislative implications and policy statements that are relevant.

Page 211

Agenda Item 8



Page 4 of 8

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
CULVERTING POLICY

2.1 Flood and Water Management Act 2010
Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek consent from the LLFA 
prior to works being undertaken as set out in the FWMA 2010. Sefton 
Council’s position on consenting and enforcement is set out in the Ordinary 
Watercourse Consents and Enforcement Policy.

2.2 The Environment Act 1995 
The Environment Act 1995 places both general and specific duties on Sefton 
Council relating to environmental, recreational and nature conservation 
matters. Sefton Council must be mindful of these duties in discharging all its 
functions, including those relating to flood defence and land drainage. 

2.3 Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006 
This requires biodiversity to be taken into account in all local authority plans, 
policies, projects, permits and consents. This is known as the biodiversity 
duty. 

2.4 Policy statement by the Chartered Institution of Water and 
Environmental Management 2007 on de-culverting watercourses
Specific benefits of de-culverting include: 

 Reducing flood risk and creating balancing ponds to help reduce 
flooding downstream. 

 Reducing maintenance and construction costs by using natural 
bioengineering techniques rather than concrete construction. 

 Providing valuable wetland and/or aquatic habitat, aiding fish passage 
and significantly adding to the visual attractions of the area. 

 Complimenting other urban regeneration initiatives and bringing 
commercial benefits such as enhanced image for properties. 

 Using water motion to mask city noise and provide an atmosphere of 
quiet and calm. 

 Giving a place a sense of identity, because each combination of 
landform, waterway, bankside buildings is unique. 

 Offering educational and play opportunities for children, enhancing 
pedestrian and cycle routes and giving people a touch of the 
countryside and its seasons in the town. 

Page 212

Agenda Item 8



Page 5 of 8

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
CULVERTING POLICY

3. Ordinary Watercourse Culverting Position Statement

 Sefton Council is strongly opposed to the culverting of watercourses 
and considers that it is beneficial for watercourses to remain open 
wherever possible for both flood risk management and environmental 
benefits. 

 However, Sefton Council recognise that there may be rare instances 
where culverting is the only option.

 Sefton Council encourages the de-culverting or the restoration of 
culverted watercourses to open channels. 

4. Ordinary Watercourse Culverting Policy
The FWMA requires anyone wishing to alter an ordinary water course to obtain 
consent from the Council prior to undertaking the work.

Sefton Council will only consider for approval an application to culvert an ordinary 
watercourse if there is no reasonably practicable alternative. The application must:

 demonstrate that the alteration is in the overriding public interest. 
 provide a reduction in flood risk.
 demonstrate that flood risk will not be transferred to another location
 demonstrate that the shortest length possible has been used
 include a detailed maintenance plan and schedule. 
 include additional flood risk mitigation and /or wet habitat added to the system 

to compensate for the loss of functionality of the section to be altered. 
 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 

be foreseen, as a result of incremental development not requiring planning 
permission.

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of increased development.

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of climate change.

 demonstrate that a Licence to displace water voles for development works or 
a licence to displace water voles for work on flood defences, water courses or 
drainage systems has been granted

 secure any other permissions required
*further details are set out in appendix 1

Sefton Council will not take on any responsibility for the maintenance of the altered 
sections of watercourse unless this is legally agreed with both parties.

5.  Links to the development management process
There will some instances where sites for which planning permission, other 
permissions and pre-application advice has been sought include or are adjacent to 
ordinary watercourses or 8 metre buffers around them, or may initially involve 
culverting of the ordinary watercourses.  In such cases the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) would usually be consulted.  This would allow the LLFA to make 

Page 213

Agenda Item 8



Page 6 of 8

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
CULVERTING POLICY

comments on the planning applications and/or recommend that an “Informative” is 
added to the planning or other application Decision Notice to state that:

“Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek separate consent from 
the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority prior to works being undertaken, as 
set out in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Sefton Council’s 
position on consenting and enforcement is set out in its Ordinary Watercourse 
Culverting, Diverting, Enforcement and Flood Investigation Policies”. 

Page 214

Agenda Item 8



Page 7 of 8

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
CULVERTING POLICY

Appendix 1
Further explanation of the criteria for culverting a watercourse

 demonstrate that the alteration is in the overriding public interest. 
This should clearly show what benefits that the alteration to the ordinary 
watercourse will have to the local community and/or wider within Sefton.

 provide a reduction in flood risk.
The existing level of flood risk must be reduced by the proposed alteration

 demonstrate that flood risk will not be transferred to another location
Flood risk must not increase elsewhere as a result of the proposed alteration.

 include a detailed maintenance plan and schedule. 
The maintenance plan should clearly state what maintenance will be 
undertaken, including inspections and works. State who is going to undertake 
these and how it is going to be funded. This will have to be acceptable to 
Sefton Council.

 include additional flood risk mitigation and /or wet habitat added to the system 
to compensate for the loss of functionality of the section to be altered. 
The alteration of the watercourse must be compensated for in the increase of 
additional flood risk mitigation and/or wet habitat.  For example this could 
include flood storage area, ponds, new habitat, increased capacity of the open 
section of the watercourse. Consideration of existing environmental status 
must be included with particular reference to the Licence to displace water 
voles for development works. 

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of incremental development not requiring planning 
permission.
It can reasonably be assumed that there will be an increase in hard surfaces 
within private property that doesn’t require planning permission. These will 
increase flows into the system and must be considered.

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows as may reasonably 
be foreseen as a result of increased development.
An assessment of the catchment served by the watercourse must be 
undertaken to identify potential developmental increases in that area, whether 
it be new builds or property improvements/extensions. This increase must be 
accounted for.

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of climate change.
As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice 
Guidance climate change allowances must be taken into account. 

Page 215

Agenda Item 8



Page 8 of 8

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
CULVERTING POLICY

 demonstrate that a licence to displace water voles for development works or a  
licence to displace water voles for work on flood defences, water courses or 
drainage systems has been granted
Due to the widespread distribution of water voles throughout Sefton’s 
watercourses it is assumed that all watercourses provide habitat or passage 
for water voles as such the appropriate licences must be gained.

 secure any other permissions required
There are a variety of other permissions that may be required dependent 
upon the location of the watercourse that will need to be secured.

Page 216

Agenda Item 8



Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management

Ordinary Watercourses 
Diverting Policy

Page 217

Agenda Item 8



Contents

1. Introduction 3

2. Legislation 3
2.1 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 3
2.2 The Environment Act 1995 3

3. Ordinary Watercourse Diverting Position Statement 4

4. Ordinary Watercourse Diverting Policy 4

5. Links to the development management process 4

Appendix 1 6

Page 218

Agenda Item 8



Page 3 of 7

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
DIVERTING POLICY

1. Introduction 
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 designated all county and 
unitary authorities, and thus Sefton Council, as ‘Lead Local Flood Authorities’ 
(LLFAs) and introduced a number of new duties in relation to flood investigation.

As the LLFA, the Council is required to oversee and participate in the management 
of local flood risk, which includes the risk of flooding from surface water, groundwater 
and from ordinary watercourses. Ordinary watercourses include every river, stream, 
ditch, drain, cut, dyke, sluice, sewer (other than a public sewer) and passage through 
which water flows and which does not form part of a main river.

Inappropriate diverting of ordinary watercourses can significantly increase flood risk 
to surrounding areas and lead to a legacy of issues relating to maintenance and 
enforcement.
 
Diverting watercourses can increase flood risk as flow dynamics are altered. This 
can change how water progresses down the system that could lead to flooding in 
different locations and increase erosion of banks. This will also alter the maintenance 
regime required of the watercourse.

2. Legislation
There is no legislation against diverting of ordinary watercourses. However, there are 
other legislative implications and policy statements that are relevant.

2.1 Flood and Water Management Act 2010
Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek consent from the LLFA 
prior to works being undertaken as set out in the FWMA 2010. Sefton 
Council’s position on consenting and enforcement is set out in the Ordinary 
Watercourse Consents and Enforcement Policy.

2.2 The Environment Act 1995 
The Environment Act 1995 places both general and specific duties on Sefton 
Council relating to environmental, recreational and nature conservation 
matters. Sefton Council must be mindful of these duties in discharging all its 
functions, including those relating to flood defence and land drainage. 

2.3 Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006 
This requires biodiversity to be taken into account in all local authority plans, 
policies, projects, permits and consents. This is known as the biodiversity 
duty.

Page 219

Agenda Item 8



Page 4 of 7

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
DIVERTING POLICY

3. Ordinary Watercourse Diverting Position Statement

 Sefton Council is opposed to the diverting of watercourses and 
considers that it is beneficial for watercourses to remain along their 
original route.

 However, Sefton Council recognise that there may be instances where 
diverting is the preferred option.

4. Ordinary Watercourse Diverting Policy

The FWMA requires anyone wishing to alter an ordinary water course to obtain 
consent from the Council prior to undertaking the work.

Sefton Council will only consider for approval an application to divert an ordinary 
watercourse where it can be demonstrated to be the preferred option and bring 
benefits for flood risk management and habitats. The application must:

 demonstrate that the alteration is in the public interest. 
 provide a reduction in flood risk.
 demonstrate that flood risk will not be transferred to another location
 maintain or increase the size of the watercourse cross section
 increase the total capacity of storage along the length of watercourse to be 

altered.
 include a detailed maintenance plan and schedule. 
 increase the length or area of wet habitat. 
 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 

be foreseen, as a result of incremental development not requiring planning 
permission.

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of increased development.

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of climate change.

 demonstrate that a Licence to displace water voles for development works or 
a licence to displace water voles for work on flood defences, water courses or 
drainage systems has been granted.

 secure any other permissions required.
*further details are set out in appendix 1

Sefton Council will not take on any responsibility for the maintenance of the altered 
sections of watercourse unless this is legally agreed with both parties.

5. Links to the development management process
There will some instances where sites for which planning permission, other 
permissions and pre-application advice has been sought include or are adjacent to 
ordinary watercourses or 8 metre buffers around them, or may initially involve 
culverting of the ordinary watercourses.  In such cases the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) would usually be consulted.  This would allow the LLFA to make 

Page 220

Agenda Item 8



Page 5 of 7

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
DIVERTING POLICY

comments on the planning applications and/or recommend that an “Informative” is 
added to the planning or other application Decision Notice to state that:

“Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek separate consent from 
the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority prior to works being undertaken, as 
set out in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Sefton Council’s 
position on consenting and enforcement is set out in its Ordinary Watercourse 
Culverting, Diverting, Enforcement and Flood Investigation Policies”. 

Page 221

Agenda Item 8



Page 6 of 7

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
DIVERTING POLICY

Appendix 1
Further explanation of the criteria for diverting a watercourse

 demonstrate that the alteration is in the public interest. 
This should clearly show what benefits that the alteration to the ordinary 
watercourse will have to the local community and/or wider within Sefton.

 provide a reduction in flood risk.
The existing level of flood risk must be reduced by the proposed alteration

 demonstrate that flood risk will not be transferred to another location
Flood risk must not increase elsewhere as a result of the proposed alteration.

 maintain or increase the size of the watercourse cross section
The diverted section must have a cross section at least equivalent in shape 
and design to the original watercourse. 

 increase the total capacity of storage along the length of watercourse to be 
altered.
The new diverted section must have a storage volume greater than the 
altered original watercourse.

 include a detailed maintenance plan and schedule. 
The maintenance plan should clearly state what maintenance will be 
undertaken, including inspections and works. State who is going to undertake 
these and how it is going to be funded. This will have to be acceptable to 
Sefton Council.

 increase the length or area of wet habitat 
The alteration of the watercourse must provide an increase of additional wet 
habitat.  For example this could include flood storage area, ponds, new 
habitat. Consideration of existing environmental status must be included with 
particular reference to the Licence to displace water voles for development 
works. 

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of incremental development not requiring planning 
permission.
It can reasonably be assumed that there will be an increase in hard surfaces 
within private property that doesn’t require planning permission. These will 
increase flows into the system and must be considered.

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows as may reasonably 
be foreseen as a result of increased development.
An assessment of the catchment served by the watercourse must be 
undertaken to identify potential developmental increases in that area, where it 
be new builds or property improvements/extensions. This increase must be 
accounted for.

Page 222

Agenda Item 8



Page 7 of 7

ORINDARY WATERCOURSE 
DIVERTING POLICY

 take into consideration and design for increases in flows, as may reasonably 
be foreseen, as a result of climate change.
As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice 
Guidance climate change allowances must be taken into account. 

 demonstrate that a Licence to displace water voles for development works or 
a  licence to displace water voles for work on flood defences, water courses or 
drainage systems has been granted
Due to the widespread distribution of water voles throughout Sefton’s 
watercourses it is assumed that all watercourses provide habitat or passage 
for water voles as such the appropriate aforementioned licences must be 
gained.

 secure any other permissions required
There are a variety of other permissions that may be required dependent 
upon the location of the watercourse that will need to be secured.

Page 223

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management

Ordinary Watercourse
Enforcement Policy

Page 225

Agenda Item 8



Contents
1. Introduction 3

2. Legislation 3
2.1Section 21 - Enforcement of obligations to repair watercourses, bridges, 
etc. 3
2.2 Section 23 & 24 - Prohibition on obstructions etc. in watercourses. 4
2.3 Section 25 - Powers to require works for maintaining flow of watercourse. 4
2.4 Other legislation 4

3. Enforcement Policy 5
3.1 Others with Enforcement Powers 6

4. Links to the development management process 6

Appendices 7
Appendix A Section 21, 23 and 25 Land Drainage Act 1991 8

Page 226

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 3 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

1. Introduction
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 designated all county and 
unitary authorities, and thus Sefton Council, as ‘Lead Local Flood Authorities’ 
(LLFAs) and introduced a number of new duties in relation to flood investigation.
As the LLFA, Sefton Council is required to oversee and participate in the 
management of local flood risk, which includes the risk of flooding from surface 
water, groundwater and from ordinary watercourses. Ordinary watercourses include 
every river, stream, ditch, drain, cut, dyke, sluice, sewer (other than a public sewer) 
and passage through which water flows and which does not form part of a main river.

The aims of enforcement in flood risk management are to ensure the proper flow of 
water in a watercourse and over the floodplain; the control of water levels and the 
security of existing assets. To achieve these aims, enforcement action is used to 
rectify unlawful and damaging or potentially damaging work, always using a risk 
based approach. 
As a result of changes introduced by the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, 
there are three main situations in which Sefton Council, as LLFA, can execute its 
enforcement powers under Sections 21, 23, 24 and 25 of the Land Drainage Act 
1991 in relation to ordinary watercourses.

2. Legislation

On 6th April 2012, Schedule 2 (Sections 31, 32 and 33) of the FWMA amended the 
Land Drainage Act 1991 and transferred powers for the regulation of ordinary 
watercourses from the Environment Agency to the LLFA. 

The powers of the LLFA to undertake enforcement action relating to ordinary 
watercourses are set out in the Land Drainage Act 1991 in three key sections:

 Section 21: Enforcement of obligations to repair watercourses, bridges, etc.
 Section 23 & 24: Prohibition on obstructions etc. in watercourses.
 Section 25: Powers to require works for maintaining flow of watercourse.

2.1Section 21 - Enforcement of obligations to repair watercourses, bridges, 
etc.

Section 21 of the Land Drainage Act 1991, as amended by the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010, relates to person(s) who, before the 
commencement of the LDA (i.e. 1st December 1991) had an obligation to do 
work to repair and maintain a watercourse, bridge or drainage work, but fails to 
do so, the drainage board (either the LLFA or Internal Drainage Board) can 
serve notice on them requiring them to complete the works to fulfil that 
obligation. 

Page 227

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 4 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

A common law obligation to carry out works to remove an obstruction from a  
watercourse, arising out of the riparian ownership responsibilities referred to 
above, falls within the “obligation” referred to in Section 21, and can therefore 
be subject to enforcement under this section.

2.2Section 23 & 24 - Prohibition on obstructions etc. in watercourses.

Sections 23 and 24 of the Land Drainage Act 1991, as amended by the Flood 
and Water Management Act 2010, relate to enforcement action which may be 
undertaken where damaging or potentially damaging works on ordinary 
watercourses have been undertaken without the necessary consent. 
Enforcement action may also be taken where consented works have been 
undertaken in a manner contravening the consent. 

It should be noted, however, that these powers are permissive and are not a 
duty and as such the exercising of these powers is at the Council's discretion.

2.3Section 25 - Powers to require works for maintaining flow of watercourse.

Section 25 of the Land Drainage Act 1991, as amended by the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010, gives the Council permissive powers to ensure 
that appropriate maintenance is carried out by riparian landowners on ordinary 
watercourses. These powers can be exercised if it is deemed that a lack of 
maintenance or an alteration to a watercourse pose a flood risk.

If a landowner carries out actions that adversely impact on the flood risk to 
another landowner's property, Sefton Council has the right to serve a legal 
notice on the responsible party to carry out remedial work to resolve the issue. 

It should be noted, however, that these powers are permissive and are not a 
duty and as such the exercising of these powers is at Sefton Council's 
discretion.

2.4Other legislation
There are a number of other legislative requirements that may need to be 
complied with in undertaking enforcement and implementing notices. This could 
include:

 Habitat Regulations

 Wildlife & Countryside Act

 Highways Act

Page 228

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 5 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

3. Enforcement Policy 

The FWMA requires anyone wishing to alter an ordinary water course to obtain 
consent from the Council prior to undertaking the work.

Sefton Council will use its permissive powers as set out in Sections 21, 23, 24 and 
25 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 and amended by the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 to undertake enforcement action within available resources, 
by serving notice,  where it is in overriding public interest and efforts of negotiation 
have failed to resolve.

Sefton Council will prioritise enforcement action as set out in the following table:

Priority Likely consequence of flooding
1 Internal flooding to a dwelling or business premises

2 Flooding to highways defined as part of Sefton’s Key Route 
Network or critical infrastructure*.

3 Flooding to highways defined as classified roads or local 
distributor roads.

4 Flooding to outbuildings, gardens ,open space and farmland that 
is not on part of the functional floodplain

*Critical infrastructure refers to:

 Railway lines and stations;
 Police, ambulance and fire stations and command centres;
 Hospitals;
 Universities, colleges and schools;
 Local authority main offices;
 Residential institutions supporting vulnerable people

Where enforcement has not been taken, there is legislation available for those 
affected through a civil action process. 
The Public Health Act 1936, section 259, Nuisances in connection with water-
courses, ditches, ponds. 
This defines a statutory nuisance in relation to water as; any pond, pool, ditch, gutter 
or watercourse which is so foul or is choked or silted up as to obstruct or impede the 
proper flow of water and thereby to be prejudicial to health or cause a nuisance.
A Private nuisance case is concerned with protecting the rights of an occupier in 
respect of unreasonable interference with the enjoyment or use of his land. 

Page 229

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 6 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

For drainage issues relating to agricultural land, the First-tier Tribunal (Property 
Chamber) Agricultural Land and Drainage (AL&D) plays a role in settling certain 
kinds of disputes and issues relating to agricultural land and drainage in England.

3.1 Others with Enforcement Powers 

In addition to Sefton Council, in its role as LLFA, the following also have enforcement 
powers to ensure that:

 The Environment Agency and any Internal Drainage Board also have 
permissive powers under the Land Drainage Act (1991) to undertake works in 
watercourses and regulate the activities of riparian owners. 

 As the Highways Authority, Sefton Council also has powers under the 
Highways Act (1980) to ensure the public highway is effectively drained. 

 In its role as Local Planning Authority, Sefton Council has enforcement 
powers for some activities under Town and Country Planning Law. For 
example, where the installation of a drainage system is not as conditioned 
and agreed as part of the planning permission, enforcement action can be 
taken to address the failings.  

 United Utilities have powers under the Water Industry Act (1991) to ensure 
their assets are performing and do not pose a threat to flooding. 

4. Links to the development management process
There will some instances where sites for which planning permission, other 
permissions and pre-application advice has been sought include or are adjacent to 
ordinary watercourses or 8 metre buffers around them, or may initially involve 
culverting of the ordinary watercourses.  In such cases the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) would usually be consulted.  This would allow the LLFA to make 
comments on the planning applications and/or recommend that an “Informative” is 
added to the planning or other application Decision Notice to state that:

“Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek separate consent from 
the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority prior to works being undertaken, as 
set out in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Sefton Council’s 
position on consenting and enforcement is set out in its Ordinary Watercourse 
Culverting, Diverting, Enforcement and Flood Investigation Policies”. “Any 
changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek separate consent from the 
Council as Lead Local Flood Authority prior to works being undertaken, as set 
out in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Sefton Council’s position 
on consenting and enforcement is set out in its Ordinary Watercourse 
Culverting, Diverting, Enforcement and Flood Investigation Policies”. 

Page 230

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 7 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Page 231

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 8 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Appendices 
Appendix A Section 21, 23 and 25 Land Drainage Act 1991

Page 232

Agenda Item 8



Regeneration & Environment

Page 9 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE 
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Appendix A Section 21, 23 and 25 Land Drainage Act 1991

Section 21 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 states:

21. Enforcement of obligations to repair watercourses, bridges, etc.
1) This section applies to any obligation to which any person was subject, before the 

commencement of this Act, by reason of tenure, custom, prescription or 
otherwise, except an obligation under an enactment re-enacted in this Act or the 
Water Resources Act 1991. 

2) If any person:
(a)is liable, by reason of any obligation to which this section applies, to do 
any work in relation to any watercourse, bridge or drainage work (whether 
by way of repair, maintenance or otherwise); and .
(b)fails to do the work, 

the drainage board concerned may serve a notice on that person requiring him to 
do the necessary work with all reasonable and proper despatch.

3) Subject to section 107(2) of the Water Resources Act 1991, the powers conferred 
by this section shall not be exercisable in connection with a main river, the banks 
of such a river or any drainage works in connection with such a river. .

4) If any person fails, within seven days, to comply with a notice served on him 
under subsection (2) above by the drainage board concerned, the board may do 
all such things as are necessary for that purpose. .

5) Any expenses reasonably incurred, in the exercise of their powers under this 
section, by the drainage board concerned may be recovered from the person 
liable to repair. .

6) Subject to section 8 above, references in this section to the drainage board 
concerned— .

(a)in relation to any watercourse, bridge or drainage works in an internal 
drainage district, are references to the drainage board for that district; and, 
(b) in relation to any watercourse, bridge or drainage works in an area 
outside an internal drainage district, are references to the lead local flood 
authority for the area.

7) Lead local flood authority” has the meaning given by section 6 of the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010.”

Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 states:

23. Prohibition on obstructions etc. in watercourses.
1) No person shall:

(a) erect a culvert in an ordinary watercourse, or
(b) alter a culvert in a manner that would be likely to affect the flow of an 

Page 233

Agenda Item 8



Regeneration & Environment

Page 10 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE 
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

ordinary watercourse, 
without the consent in writing of the drainage board concerned. 

1A) Consent under this section may be given subject to reasonable conditions. 
1B) An internal drainage board or lead local flood authority must consult the 

Environment Agency before carrying out work within subsection (1)(a), (b) or (c) if 
the board or authority is “the drainage board concerned” for the purposes of this 
section. 

1C) The drainage board concerned must have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Environment Agency about the exercise of the board's functions under this 
section.

2) The drainage board concerned may require the payment of an application fee by 
a person who applies to them for their consent under this section; and the 
amount of the fee shall be determined in accordance with a prescribed charging 
scheme.

3) Where an application is made to the drainage board concerned for their consent 
under this section:

(a) the consent is not to be unreasonably withheld; and .
(b) if the board fail within two months after the relevant day to notify the 
applicant in writing of their determination with respect to the application, 
they shall be deemed to have consented. 

4) In subsection (3) above “the relevant day”, in relation to an application for a 
consent under this section, means whichever is the later of:

(a) the day on which the application is made; and .
(b) if at the time when the application is made an application fee is 
required to be paid, the day on which the liability to pay that fee is 
discharged. 

5) If any question arises under this section whether the consent of the drainage 
board concerned is unreasonably withheld, that question shall be referred to a 
single arbitrator to be agreed between the parties or, failing such agreement, to 
be appointed by the President of the Institution of Civil Engineers on the 
application of either party. 

6) Nothing in this section shall apply:
(a) to any works under the control of a navigation authority, harbour 
authority or conservancy authority; or 
(b) to any works carried out or maintained under or in pursuance of any 
Act or any order having the force of an Act. 

7) The power of the Ministers to make an order under subsection (2) above shall be 
exercisable by statutory instrument subject to annulment in pursuance of a 
resolution of either House of Parliament. 

7A) In subsection (2) above “ prescribed ” means specified in, or determined in 
accordance with, an order made by the Ministers; and any such order may make 
different provision for different cases, including different provision in relation to 

Page 234

Agenda Item 8



Regeneration & Environment

Page 11 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE 
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

different persons, circumstances or localities. 
8) Subject to section 8 above, references in this section and sections 24 and 25 

below to the drainage board concerned— .
(a) in relation to a watercourse in an internal drainage district, are 
references to the drainage board for that district; and .
(b) in relation to a watercourse in an area outside an internal drainage 
district, are references to the lead local flood authority for the area.

9) “Lead local flood authority” has the meaning given by section 6 of the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010.

Section 25 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 states:

25. Powers to require works for maintaining flow of watercourse.

1) Subject to section 26 below, where any ordinary watercourse is in such a 
condition that the proper flow of water is impeded, then, unless the condition is 
attributable to subsidence due to mining operations (including brine pumping), the 
drainage board or local authority concerned may, by notice served on a person 
falling within subsection (3) below, require that person to remedy that condition. .

2) For the purposes of this section in its application in relation to any watercourse— .
(a) the drainage board concerned is the drainage board for the internal 
drainage district in which the watercourse is situated; and .

(b) the local authority concerned is the local authority for the area where the 
land as respects which the powers under this section are exercisable is 
situated; .

but references in this section to the drainage board concerned shall, in 
relation to a watercourse which is not in an internal drainage district, be 
construed as references to the [Agency].

 
3) Subject to subsection (4) below, a notice under this section in relation to a 
watercourse may be served on— .

(a) any person having control of the part of the watercourse where any 
impediment occurs; or .

(b) any person owning or occupying land adjoining that part; or .

(c) any person to whose act or default the condition of the watercourse 
mentioned in subsection (1) above is due. .

4) No notice under this section requiring any person to carry out any work on land 
not owned or occupied by him shall be served without the consent of the owner and 
the occupier of the land, except in a case where it is not practicable, after reasonable 
inquiry, to ascertain the name and address of the owner or occupier. .

Page 235

Agenda Item 8



Regeneration & Environment

Page 12 of 12

ORDINARY WATERCOURSE 
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

5) A notice under this section shall indicate— .

(a) the nature of the works to be carried out and the period within which they 
are to be carried out; and .

(b) the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court and the period within which such 
an appeal may be brought under section 27 below. 

6) Subject to the right of appeal provided by section 27 below, if the person upon 
whom a notice is served under this section fails to carry out the works indicated by 
the notice within the period so indicated— .

(a) the drainage board or local authority concerned may themselves carry out 
the works and recover from that person the expenses reasonably incurred by 
them in doing so; and .

(b) without prejudice to their right to exercise that power, that person shall be 
guilty of an offence and liable, on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding 
level 4 on the standard scale. 

7) In proceedings by the drainage board or local authority concerned for the recovery 
of any expenses under subsection (6) above it shall not be open to the defendant to 
raise any question which he could not have raised on an appeal under section 27 
below. .

8) Nothing in this section shall affect the right of an owner or occupier to recover 
from the other, under the terms of any lease or other contract, the amount of any 
expenses incurred by him under this section or recovered from him by the drainage 
board or local authority concerned.

Page 236

Agenda Item 8



Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management

Flood Investigation Policy

Page 237

Agenda Item 8



Contents
1. Introduction 3

2. Legislative Requirements - Flood and Water Management Act 2010 4

3. Flood Investigation Policy 5
3.1 Section 19 Reporting Criteria 6

4. Undertaking a Flood Investigation 7
Stage 1: Flood Incident Data Capture 7
Stage 2: Flood Incident Review 7
Stage 3: Detailed Investigation 8
Stage 4: Publish Section 19 Report 8

5. Cross-Boundary Flood Investigations 9

6. Links to the development management process 9

Appendices 10
Appendix A – Key Route Network (Draft) 11
Appendix B – Flood Event Data Collection Sheet (example) 12

Page 238

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 3 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

1. Introduction
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 designated all county and 
unitary authorities, and thus Sefton Council, as ‘Lead Local Flood Authorities’ 
(LLFAs) and introduced a number of new duties in relation to flood investigation.
As the LLFA, the Council is required to oversee and participate in the management 
of local flood risk, which includes the risk of flooding from surface water, groundwater 
and from ordinary watercourses.
There are a number of ‘risk management authorities’ which are defined under Part 1, 
6(13) of the FWMA and this term refers to organisations who have responsibility for 
flood risk management. These include:

 LLFA - Sefton Council
 Environment Agency
 Water Companies (United Utilities)

This Flood Investigation Policy outlines Sefton Council’s approach to flood 
investigation and sets out the legal requirement to report on flood investigations 
under Section 19 the FWMA. It provides details on the criteria Sefton Council will 
apply in deciding whether or not a Section 19 Report is appropriate.
When flooding occurs it is often unclear what the source(s) of the flood water is and 
who has responsibility for the systems concerning that water. Under these 
circumstances it can be beneficial to undertake an investigation into the flooding to 
understand the source, mechanism and to identify any potential actions.  

Page 239

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 4 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

2. Legislative Requirements - Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

Sefton Council is only required to investigate floods where it meets the criteria under 
Section 19 of the FWMA. 

Section 19 of the FWMA 2010 states:

1. On becoming aware of a flood in its area, a lead local flood authority must, to the 
extent that it considers it necessary or appropriate, investigate—
(a) which risk management authorities have relevant flood risk management 

functions, and
(b) whether each of those risk management authorities has exercised, or is 

proposing to exercise, those functions in response to the flood.

2. Where an authority carries out an investigation under subsection (1) it must—
(a) publish the results of its investigation, and
(b) notify any relevant risk management authorities.

The FWMA is clear that Sefton Council’s responsibility for investigation only extends 
as far as establishing which of the risk management authorities has a flood risk 
management function and whether they have, or will be, exercising that function. It 
may be the responsibility of one of the other risk management authorities, or even 
the land or property owner themselves, to take action to resolve the issue.

The FWMA also allows Sefton Council, as the LLFA, to define ‘the extent that it 
considers it necessary or appropriate’, these have been set out in this flood 
investigation policy. 

Page 240

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 5 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

3. Flood Investigation Policy 

The FWMA requires anyone wishing to alter an ordinary water course to obtain 
consent from the Council prior to undertaking the work.

Sefton Council aims to investigate all occurrences of flooding within the borough 
based on the priority listing detailed in table 1, but always as resources allow. This is 
to support and develop the understanding of flood risk.
Where foul flooding is occurring an initial desktop or site visit will be undertaken but it 
is likely that the responsibility will rest with either an individual or group of properties 
and/or businesses: or the appropriate Water Company (United Utilities).
This policy has been developed to enable Sefton Council to focus resources 
effectively and to ensure flood incidents which have a significant impact take priority 
and are investigated appropriately.  Sefton Council reserves the right to undertake 
these investigations at its discretion and as resources allow. 

Table 1. Priority listing for investigating flood events
Priority Type of Flooding Incident

1 Internal flooding to the habitable space of a dwelling that affects 
the occupants’ ability to live in that space or business property 
that affects the ability to run the business from the flooded 
property.

2 Flooding as a result of a structural failure of a flood or coastal 
defence asset.

3 Flooding to highways defined as part of the Sefton’s Key Route 
Network (Appendix A) or critical infrastructure*.

4 Flooding to highways defined as classified roads, local distributor 
roads, that renders it totally impassable for a significant period (4 
hours or more)

5 Flooding to outbuildings, gardens, open space and farmland that 
is not on part of the functional floodplain

Policy Definitions 
*We will seek to work with the critical infrastructure owner or operator on their 
investigation. Critical infrastructure refers to:

 Railway lines and stations;
 Police, ambulance and fire stations and command centres;
 Hospitals;
 Universities, colleges and schools;
 Local authority main offices and;
 Residential institutions supporting vulnerable people

Page 241

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 6 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

Under these circumstances Sefton council will not be producing a publically available 
report on the flood event 

3.1 Section 19 Reporting Criteria
A report under Section 19 of the FMWA into the source, mechanism and cause of 
the flood event will only be considered ‘necessary or appropriate’ where there is 
ambiguity for responsibility and when one or more of the criteria set out in Table 2 is 
satisfied: 

Table 2. Criteria to establish need for a Section 19 report. 
a) Internal flooding* to five or more residential and/or commercial properties in 

close proximity** during one flood event, or
b) Internal flooding* to one or more properties on two or more occasions in the 

previous 5 years, or
c) Flooding has affected critical infrastructure*** that has a significant effect on 

the community for a period in excess of 3 hours from the onset of flooding

Policy Definitions 
*Internal flooding, refers to any habitable space inside a dwelling or internal space 
used for business/commercial purposes that is affected by flooding.
**Close proximity is where it is reasonable to assume that the affected properties 
were flooded from the same source or interaction of sources.
***We will seek to work with the critical infrastructure owner in the reporting under 
Section 19. Critical Infrastructure refers to:

 Railway lines and stations;
 Police, ambulance and fire stations and command centres;
 Hospitals;
 Universities, colleges and schools;
 Local authority main offices;
 Residential institutions supporting vulnerable people

Page 242

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 7 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

4. Undertaking a Flood Investigation 

Whilst  Sefton Council can administer the requirement for a flood investigation to be 
undertaken, it may be undertaken by a third party as instructed by Sefton Council. In 
determining the source, mechanism and cause of the flood event, the following 
actions may be taken as part of the investigation:
A Flood Investigation aims to determine a number of key facts about the flood event, 
including:

 The extent of the flooding; 
 The sources and mechanisms of flooding;
 The response of other Risk Management Authorities (RMA) during the 

event and the operation of their assets; and.
 What actions the RMAs have taken or intend to take in response to the 

flood.

Stage 1: Flood Incident Data Capture 

Once Sefton Council becomes aware of a flood in its area, a Flood Incident Data 
Capture will take place. 
One of the key tasks in investigating a flood incident is the ability to collect data 
about the incident in order to examine the situation and identify the cause(s) of the 
flood. Appendix B contains a template which acts as a summary sheet for the 
information which should be collected during a flood event.
This data collection will provide invaluable information to Sefton Council and relevant 
responsible risk management authorities to enable them to quickly and effectively 
respond to the flood cause wherever possible.  These data will also form the basis of 
any Section 19 report if triggered.

In determining these facts, Sefton Council may:

 Undertake a site visit to the property / area affected by the flooding;
 Meet with local residents / people affected by the flood incident; and
 Undertake a Land Registry search to determine property / land ownership 

details.

Stage 2: Flood Incident Review

The aim of this review is to provide a rapid analysis of the flooding incident, based on 
information that is readily available, in order to determine the response of Sefton 
Council.
The purpose of the Flood Incident Review is to establish:

 the likely cause of the flooding;

Page 243

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 8 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

 what was flooded; and 
 whether the flood event has met the criteria for a Section 19 Flood Report. 

The Flood Incident Review will be undertaken by Sefton Council officers, and where 
appropriate, in conjunction with Emergency Duty Coordinator, Head of Service, Civil 
Contingencies, and Elected Members either Ward Councillors or Portfolio Holder. 
Depending upon the outcome of the flood incident review the investigation may end 
at this point. This may be as a result of, but not limited to:

 the cause being identified and relevant organisation/asset owner is taking 
action; or  

 another Risk Management Authority (RMA) is undertaking its own 
investigation; or 

 the asset owner is undertaking its own investigation.
If further information is required or it has met the requirement for a Section 19 report 
then the investigation will proceed to stage 3.

Stage 3: Detailed Investigation 
Where further information is required to support the investigation Sefton Council, or 
instructed agent, may undertake further data and information gathering exercises 
and reviews as required. This could include:

 Meet with RMAs to share data, discuss responsibility and identify potential 
solutions;

 Carry out on-site investigation works such as CCTV surveys, dye testing, 
topographic surveys and excavations; and. 

 Obtain agreement from RMAs on timescales to resolve the incident.

Stage 4: Publish Section 19 Report 

When a Section 19 report is triggered, Sefton Council is required, under the FWMA, 
to:

 Inform relevant RMAs of the results of the investigation
 Publish results of the investigation on council website.

The Cabinet Member with the portfolio for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management will approve the report prior to publication. They will ensure that the 
process has been followed correctly and Section 19 of the FWMA, 2010 will be 
satisfied once the report is published.

Sefton Council will publish Section 19 Flood Investigation Reports on their Flood 
Risk Management webpage. 

Page 244

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 9 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

5. Cross-Boundary Flood Investigations
Where a cross-boundary flood event takes place, Sefton Council will work with the 
neighbouring LLFA(s) and local authorities to determine whether an investigation is 
necessary or appropriate and support the production of the report when required.

6. Links to the development management 
process
There will some instances where sites for which planning permission, other 
permissions and pre-application advice has been sought include or are adjacent to 
ordinary watercourses or 8 metre buffers around them, or may initially involve 
culverting of the ordinary watercourses.  In such cases the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) would usually be consulted.  This would allow the LLFA to make 
comments on the planning applications and/or recommend that an “Informative” is 
added to the planning or other application Decision Notice to state that:

“Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must seek separate consent from 
the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority prior to works being undertaken, as 
set out in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Sefton Council’s 
position on consenting and enforcement is set out in its Ordinary Watercourse 
Culverting, Diverting, Enforcement and Flood Investigation Policies”. 

Page 245

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 10 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

Appendices 

Appendix A – Key Route Network 
Appendix B – Flood Event Data Collection Sheet

Page 246

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 11 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

Appendix A – Key Route Network (Draft)

Page 247

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 12 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

Appendix B – Flood Event Data Collection Sheet (example)
LOCATION
Coordinates Area / Street Name CUSTOMER CONTACT 

REFERENCE NUMBER 

Start date: End date: Data collection date:

Start time: End time: Observer: 

Responsible Risk Management 
Authority (RMA)

Have RMA responded 
appropriately? Y / N

Maximum depth (m) History of flooding? 
Give dates if known Y / N      

SOURCE OF FLOODING ✓ CAUSE OF FLOODING ✓

Main River Drainage capacity exceeded 
Coast/Sea Mechanical failure
Public Sewer System Operational failure/ breach of defence
Ordinary Watercourse System ‘tide locked’ (i.e. drain cannot discharge due to high river level)
Highway Drainage Blockage of bridge Blockage in culvert/pipe
Surface Water Blockage in channel Blockage of screen
Groundwater
Other/unknown (give details)

Notes

Additional comments on the cause of flooding: 
(Give details of source (from), pathway(route) to  
receptor(end) description)

Is level survey required? (Mark high water level)  Y / N  Survey Date:

EFFECT

Properties flooded (residential) Y / N No. Internal: No. External:

Properties flooded (commercial) Y / N No. Internal: No. External:

Critical Infrastructure Affected (list) 
Y / N

Transport Links Affected (list)
(Railway lines and stations, highways and 
motorways)

Y / N 

Affected by Sewerage? Y / N

Other (list) Y / N

M
ax

 d
ep

th
 (m

)

MAP/SKETCH OF FLOOD
Continue overleaf if necessary

ACTION TAKEN: What and who by

ACTION REQUIRED / FURTHER 
INVESTIGATION: What (improve, maintain, 
enforce, inform…) and who by

OTHER INFORMATION / COMMENTS:

Page 248

Agenda Item 8



>> << 
Regeneration & Environment

Page 13 of 13

FLOOD INVESTIGATION POLICY

Page 249

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Council Date of Meeting:  20 April 2017

Subject: Capital Budget Update 2016/17 

Report of: Head of Corporate Resources Wards Affected: All

Is this a Key Decision? No  Is it included in the Forward Plan? 
Yes

Exempt/Confidential No

___________________________________________________________________

Purpose/Summary

To request Council to approve eight Section 106 schemes and add them to the 
Capital Programme.

Recommendation(s)

Council is recommended to give approval to the inclusion of the additional capital 
allocations, outlined in paragraph 2, in the Capital Programme.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives?
Corporate Objective Positive

Impact
Neutral
Impact

Negative
Impact

1 Creating a Learning Community 
2 Jobs and Prosperity 
3 Environmental Sustainability 
4 Health and Well-Being 
5 Children and Young People 
6 Creating Safe Communities 
7 Creating Inclusive Communities 
8 Improving the Quality of Council Services

and Strengthening Local Democracy


Reasons for the Recommendation:

To ensure additional schemes, financed from section 106 monies are included in the 
Capital Programme.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

i) 2016/17 Revenue Budget

None 

Page 251

Agenda Item 9



(B) Capital Costs

The report considers additional capital schemes to be financed from section 106 
monies and asks that they be added to the Capital Programme.

Implications: None

Legal: 

Human Resources None 

Equality
Equality Implication    

Equality Implications identified and mitigated

Equality Implication identified and risk remains

Impact on Service Delivery:
None.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Head of Corporate Resources is the author of the report (FD4602/17)

The Head of Regulation and Compliance has been consulted and has no comments 
on the report. (LD 3885/17)

Are there any other options available for consideration?
None.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council Meeting

Contact Officer: Stephan Van Arendsen
Tel: 0151 934 4082
Email: Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk

Background Papers: None


X

Page 252

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk


1. Introduction 
 

Cabinet meetings of 9th March 2017 and 6th April 2017 agreed a number of 
capital schemes, funded by Section 106 monies and requested they be referred 
to Council.  This reports requests Council to approve the inclusion of these 
schemes into the Capital Programme.

2. 2017/2018 Capital Programme

Council at its meeting on the 2nd March 2017 approved a number of capital 
schemes which fully utilise the following capital allocations.

£000’s
Schools Capital Allocation 4,208
Transport Allocation 2,044
Total New Starts 2017/2018 6,252

During the course of the financial year new schemes will be added to the 
Capital Programme and the section 106 schemes identified in this report are 
the first of these.

3. Further additions to the Capital Programme
 

Section 106 monies are contributing to identified projects in the following 
Wards; approval is needed to include them in the Capital Programme. Ward 
councillors have been involved in the process to agree where and how the 
monies should be spent, along with support from area co-ordinators. The 
following table identifies what resources have been agreed.   

        £
Agreed by Cabinet 9 March 2017
Blundellsands 30,000
Harington 2,750
Manor 28,457
Netherton and Orrell 16,200
Sudell 70,000
Agreed by Cabinet 6 April 2017
Derby 30,000
Harington 1,870
Litherland 73,859

Page 253

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Adult Social Care 
and Health)

Council

Date of Meeting: 21 March 2017

20 April 2017

Subject: Review of 
Orthopaedic Services 
- Issue of Substantial 
Reconfiguration 
Proposals

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Report of: Head of Regulation 
and Compliance

Is this a Key 
Decision?

No Is it included in the Forward Plan? No

Exempt/Confidential No 

Purpose/Summary

To submit to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Council information received 
with regard to the review of Orthopaedic Services which is provided by the Healthy 
Liverpool Programme, and to formally determine whether the proposals submitted by the 
Healthy Liverpool Programme constitute a substantial variation in services.

Recommendation(s)

The Committee is requested to determine whether or not the proposals submitted by the 
Healthy Liverpool Programme constitute a substantial variation in services and to submit 
a recommendation on the matter to the Council, for approval.

The Council is requested to endorse the decision made by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Adult Social Care and Health) and determine that the proposals submitted 
by the Healthy Liverpool Programme constitute a substantial variation in services and 
authorise officers to send a forma response to the consultation on substantial 
reconfiguration proposals.

Page 255

Agenda Item 10



How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives?

Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact

Neutral 
Impact

Negative 
Impact

1 Creating a Learning Community 

2 Jobs and Prosperity 

3 Environmental Sustainability 

4 Health and Well-Being 

5 Children and Young People 

6 Creating Safe Communities 

7 Creating Inclusive Communities 

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy



Reasons for the Recommendation:

The Healthy Liverpool Programme has submitted proposals for the future provision of 
services that could be deemed to constitute a substantial variation in services.

The Council’s Constitution requires full Council to formally respond to consultations by 
relevant service health providers on substantial reconfiguration proposals.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

The Committee and the Council need to determine whether the proposals submitted by 
The Healthy Liverpool Programme constitute a substantial variation or not.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs N/A

(B) Capital Costs N/A

Implications:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Financial

Legal          Section 30 of The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
                    Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013

                  Paragraph 3 (o) of Chapter 4 in the Council Constitution

Page 256

Agenda Item 10



Human Resources

Equality
1. No Equality Implication

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains

Impact of the Proposals on Service Delivery: 

N/A

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Head of Corporate Resources has no comments on this report because the contents of 
the report have no direct financial implications for the Council. (FD 4569/17).

The Head of Head of Regulation & Compliance has been consulted and has no 
comments on the report. (LD: No. 3852/17).

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council meeting.

Contact Officer:  Debbie Campbell
Tel: 0151 934 2254
Email: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection



Page 257

Agenda Item 10



1. Introduction

1.1 At its meeting held on 28 February 2017, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Adult Social Care and Health) received a document entitled “Review of 
Orthopaedic Services”, submitted by the Healthy Liverpool Programme, setting 
out the case for change for the Orthopaedics Service. The document can be 
viewed at the following link, item no. 5 refers:-

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=765&MId=86
12&Ver=4

1.2 Dr Chris Grant, Hospital Services Programme Director attended the meeting on 
28 February 2017 to present the case for change and confirmed that the preferred 
option would be presented to the Committee at its Special Meeting to consider the 
matter, to be held on 21 March 2017.

1.3 The proposals for the future provision of the service could be deemed to constitute 
a substantial variation in services and the Committee and the Council need to 
determine this.

2. Statutory Requirements and Joint Scrutiny Arrangements

2.1 The NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) places 
a statutory duty on commissioners and providers of NHS / health services to 
consult local authority health overview and scrutiny committees on any proposals 
for significant development or substantial variation/reconfiguration in health 
services.

2.2 Section 30 of The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 provides that where more than one local 
authority is consulted on proposals for significant development or substantial 
variation in health services, a joint overview and scrutiny committee may be 
established to comment on the proposals for change. Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, or their equivalent, at Liverpool City Council and Knowsely 
Metropolitan Borough Council will also be consulted on the proposals.

2.3 At its meeting on 3 June 2014, the Council approved the Protocol for the 
establishment of Joint Health Scrutiny Arrangements for Cheshire and Merseyside 
and a copy of the Protocol is attached for information at Appendix A.

2.4 At its meeting on 26 May 2016, the Cabinet appointed the following Members to 
serve on Outside Bodies for 2016/17:-

Number of 
Sefton 
Councillors

Sefton Council Representation 

Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee (where 3 or 
less local authorities 
request the scrutiny of a 
substantial variation to a 

3 Chair (Cllr Page) and Vice Chair (Cllr 
Dams) of the O & S Committee (Adult 
Social Care and Health) and one Lib 
Dem Member (Cllr Dawson)

Page 258

Agenda Item 10

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=765&MId=8612&Ver=4
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=765&MId=8612&Ver=4


service) (Lab 2 / Lib Dem1 / Con 0 / Ind 0)

Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee (where 4 or 
more local authorities 
request the scrutiny of a 
substantial variation to a 
service)

2 Chair (Cllr Page) and Vice Chair (Cllr 
Dams) of the O & S Committee (Adult 
Social Care and Health) 

3. Consideration of Substantial Variations

3.1 The term “substantial” is not defined in legislation. However, it is generally 
considered that a substantial change or variation to a health service is one that 
has a major impact on services experienced by patients and/or future patients. In 
considering whether a proposal is substantial, local authorities are encouraged to 
consider the following criteria, as produced within the “Overview and Scrutiny of 
Health – Guidance”, issued by the Department of Health in July 2003:-

 Changes in accessibility of services – any proposal which involves the 
withdrawal or change of patient or diagnostic facilities for one or more 
speciality from the same location.

 Impact on the wider community and other services – this could include 
economic impact, transport, regeneration issues.

 Patients affected – changes may affect the whole population, or a small 
group. If changes affect a small group, the proposal may still be regarded 
as substantial, particularly if patients need to continue accessing that 
service for many years.

 Methods of service delivery – altering the way a service is delivered may be 
a substantial change, e.g. moving a particular service into community 
settings rather than being entirely hospital based.

 Potential level of public interest – proposals that are likely to generate a 
significant level of public interest in view of their likely impact.

3.2 The Council agreed on 25 September 2014 that any final decisions on substantial 
variations in Sefton will ultimately be taken by the full Council and not by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Adult Social Care and Health). (Chapter 4 of 
the Constitution refers).

3.3 In the event that the Committee agrees that proposals do constitute a substantial 
variation, it will need to forward a recommendation on the matter to the Council, 
for approval.

3.4 The Council would then formally respond to the consultation on substantial 
reconfiguration proposals.

Page 259

Agenda Item 10



4. Additional Information

4.1 The report submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Adult Social Care 
and Health) by the Healthy Liverpool Programme is available to view via the 
following link:-

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2164&ID=2
164&RPID=14610269

4.2 At the Special Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Adult Social 
Care and Health) held on 21 March 2017, the Committee considered the matter 
and agreed that the proposals submitted by the Health Liverpool Programme 
constitute a substantial variation in terms of the Orthopaedic and Trauma service. 
The relevant Minutes from the meeting are attached at Appendix B

4.3 Both Liverpool and Knowsley Councils have now agreed that the proposals do 
constitute a substantial variation.

Page 260

Agenda Item 10

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2164&ID=2164&RPID=14610269
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2164&ID=2164&RPID=14610269


Appendix A

PROTOCOL FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR CHESHIRE AND MERSEYSIDE

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This protocol has been developed as a framework for the operation of joint 
health scrutiny arrangements across the local authorities of Cheshire and 
Merseyside.  It allows for:

 scrutiny of substantial developments and variations of the health service; 
and,

 discretionary scrutiny of local health services

1.2 The protocol provides a framework for health scrutiny arrangements which 
operate on a joint basis only.  Each constituent local authority should have its 
own local arrangements in place for carrying out health scrutiny activity 
individually.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 came 
into effect on 1 April 2013 revising existing legislation regarding health 
scrutiny.

2.2 In summary, the revised statutory framework authorises local authorities to:

 review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health service; and,

 consider consultations by a relevant NHS body or provider of NHS-funded 
services on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to the 
health service in the local authority’s area.

2.3 Ultimately the regulations place a requirement on relevant scrutiny 
arrangements to reach a view on whether they are satisfied that any proposal 
that is deemed to be a substantial development or variation is in the interests 
of the health service in that area, or instead, that the proposal should be 
referred to the Secretary of State for Health.  In instances where a proposal 
impacts on the residents of one local authority area exclusively, this 
responsibility lays with that authority’s health scrutiny arrangements alone. 

2.4 Where such proposals impact on more than one local authority area, each 
authority’s health scrutiny arrangements must consider whether the proposals 
constitute a substantial development or variation or not.  The regulations 
place a requirement on those local authorities that agree that a proposal is 
substantial to establish, in each instance, a joint overview and scrutiny 
committee for the purposes of considering it.  This protocol deals with the 
proposed operation of such arrangements for the local authorities of Cheshire 
and Merseyside.

Page 261

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

3. PURPOSE OF THE PROTOCOL

3.1 This protocol sets out the framework for the operation of joint scrutiny 
arrangements where:

a) an NHS body or health service provider consults with more than one local 
authority on any proposal it has under consideration, for a substantial 
development/variation of the health service; 

b) joint scrutiny activity is being carried out on a discretionary basis into the 
planning, provision and operation of the health service

3.2 The protocol covers the local authorities of Cheshire and Merseyside 
including:

 Cheshire East Council
 Cheshire West and Chester Council
 Halton Borough Council
 Knowsley Council
 Liverpool City Council
 St. Helens Metropolitan Borough Council
 Sefton Council
 Warrington Borough Council
 Wirral Borough Council

3.3 Whilst this protocol deals with arrangements within the boundaries of 
Cheshire and Merseyside, it is recognised that there may be occasions when 
consultations/discretionary activity may affect adjoining regions/ areas.  
Arrangements to deal with such circumstances would have to be determined 
and agreed separately, as and when appropriate. 

4. PRINCIPLES FOR JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY

4.1 The fundamental principle underpinning joint health scrutiny will be co-
operation and partnership with a mutual understanding of the following aims:

 To improve the health of local people and to tackle health inequalities;

 To represent the views of local people and ensure that these views are 
identified and integrated into local health service plans, services and 
commissioning;

 To scrutinise whether all parts of the community are able to access 
health services and whether the outcomes of health services are 
equally good for all sections of the community; and, 

 To work with NHS bodies and local health providers to ensure that their 
health services are planned and provided in the best interests of the 
communities they serve.

Page 262

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

5. SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENT/VARIATION TO SERVICES

5.1 Requirements to consult

5.1.1 All relevant NHS bodies and providers of NHS-funded services1 are required 
to consult local authorities when they have a proposal for a substantial 
development or substantial variation to the health service. 

5.1.2 A substantial development or variation is not defined in legislation. Guidance 
has suggested that the key feature is that it should involve a major impact on 
the services experienced by patients and/or future patients.

5.1.3 Where a substantial development or variation impacts on the residents within 
one local authority area boundary, only the relevant local authority health 
scrutiny function shall be consulted on the proposal.

5.1.4 Where a proposal impacts on residents across more than one local authority 
boundary, the NHS body/health service provider is obliged to consult all those 
authorities whose residents are affected by the proposals in order to 
determine whether the proposal represents a substantial development or 
variation.

5.1.5 Those authorities that agree that any such proposal does constitute a 
substantial development or variation are obliged to form a joint health 
overview and scrutiny committee for the purpose of formal consultation by the 
proposer of the development or variation.

5.1.6 Whilst each local authority must decide individually whether a proposal 
represents a substantial development/variation, it is only the statutory joint 
health scrutiny committee which can formally comment on the proposals if 
more than one authority agrees that the proposed change is “substantial”.

5.1.7 Determining that a proposal is not a substantial development/variation 
removes the ability of an individual local authority to comment formally on the 
proposal and exercise other powers, such as the power to refer to the 
Secretary of State. Once such decisions are made, the ongoing obligation on 
the proposer to consult formally on a proposal relates only to those authorities 
that have deemed the proposed change to be “substantial” and this must be 
done through the vehicle of the joint committee.  Furthermore the proposer 
will not be obliged to provide updates or report back on proposals to individual 
authorities that have not deemed them to be “substantial”.

1 This includes the NHS England, any Clinical Commissioning Group providing services to the 
residents of Cheshire and Merseyside, an NHS Trust, an NHS Foundation Trust and any other 
relevant provider of NHS funded services which provides health services to those residents, including 
public health.

Page 263

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

5.2 Process for considering proposals for a substantial 
development/variation

5.2.1 In consulting with the local authority in the first instance to determine whether 
the change is considered substantial, the NHS body/ provider of NHS-funded 
service is required to:

 Provide the proposed date by which it requires comments on the 
proposals

 Provide the proposed date by which it intends to make a final decision 
as to whether to implement the proposal

 Publish the dates specified above
 Inform the local authority if the dates change2

5.2.3 NHS bodies and local health service providers are not required to consult with 
local authorities where certain ‘emergency’ decisions have been taken. All 
exemptions to consult are set out within regulations.3 

5.2.4 In considering whether a proposal is substantial, all local authorities are 
encouraged to consider the following criteria:

 Changes in accessibility of services: any proposal which involves the 
withdrawal or change of patient or diagnostic facilities for one or more 
speciality from the same location.

 Impact on the wider community and other services: This could include 
economic impact, transport, regeneration issues. 

 Patients affected: changes may affect the whole population, or a small 
group. If changes affect a small group, the proposal may still be 
regarded as substantial, particularly if patients need to continue 
accessing that service for many years.

 Methods of service delivery: altering the way a service is delivered may 
be a substantial change, for example moving a particular service into 
community settings rather than being entirely hospital based.

 Potential level of public interest: proposals that are likely to generate a 
significant level of public interest in view of their likely impact. 

5.2.5. This criteria will assist in ensuring that there is a consistent approach applied 
by each authority in making their respective decisions on whether a proposal 
is “substantial” or not.  In making the decision, each authority will focus on 
how the proposals impacts on its own area/ residents.

2 Section 23 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013
3 Section 24 ibid

Page 264

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

6. OPERATION OF A STATUTORY JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

6.1 General

6.1.1 A joint health overview and scrutiny committee will be made up of each of the 
constituent local authorities that deem a proposal to be a substantial 
development or variation. This joint committee will be formally consulted on 
the proposal and have the opportunity to comment. It will also be able to refer 
to the Secretary of State for Health if any such proposal is not considered to 
be in the interests of the health service.

6.1.2 A decision as to whether the proposal is deemed substantial shall be taken 
within a reasonable timeframe and in accordance with any deadline set by the 
lead local authority, following consultation with the other participating 
authorities. 

6.2 Powers

6.2.1 In dealing with substantial development/variations, any statutory joint health 
overview and scrutiny committee that is established can:

 require relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to provide 
information to and attend before meetings of the committee to answer 
questions

 make comments on the subject proposal by a date provided by the 
NHS body/local health service provider

 make reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies/local 
health providers 

 require relevant NHS bodies/local health service providers to respond 
within a fixed timescale to reports or recommendations

 carry out further negotiations with the relevant NHS body where it is 
proposing not to agree to a substantial variation proposal; and

 where agreement cannot be reached, to notify the NHS body of the 
date by which it intends to make the formal referral to the Secretary of 
State

6.2.2 A joint health overview and scrutiny committee has the power to refer a 
proposal to the Secretary of State if:

 the committee is not satisfied that consultation with the relevant health 
scrutiny arrangements on any proposal has been adequate

 it is not satisfied that reasons for an ‘emergency’ decision that removes 
the need for formal consultation with health scrutiny are adequate

 it does not consider that the proposal would be in the interests of the 
health service in its area

6.2.3 Where a committee has made a recommendation to a NHS body/local health 
service provider regarding a proposal and the NHS body/provider disagrees 
with the recommendation, the local health service provider/NHS body is 

Page 265

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

required to inform the joint committee and attempt to enter into negotiation to 
try and reach an agreement. In this circumstance, a joint committee has the 
power to report to the Secretary of State if:

 relevant steps have been taken to try to reach agreement in relation to 
the subject of the recommendation, but agreement has not been 
reached within a reasonable period of time; or,

 There has been no attempt to reach agreement within a reasonable 
timeframe. 

6.2.4 Where a committee disagrees with a substantial variation and has either 
made comments (without recommendations) or chosen not to provide any 
comments, it can report to the Secretary of State only if it has:

 Informed the NHS body/local health service provider of its decision to 
disagree with the substantial variation and report to the Secretary of 
State; or,

 Provided indication to the NHS body/local health service provider of the 
date by which it intends to make a referral.

 6.2.5 In any circumstance where a committee disagrees with a proposal for a 
substantial variation, there will be an expectation that negotiations will be 
entered into with the NHS body/local health service provider in order to 
attempt to reach agreement.  

6.2.6 Where local authorities have agreed that the proposals represent substantial 
developments or variations to services and agreed to enter into joint 
arrangements, it is only the joint health overview and scrutiny committee 
which may exercise these powers. 

6.2.7 A statutory joint health overview and scrutiny committee established under the 
terms of this protocol may only exercise the powers set out in 6.2.1 to 6.2.3 
above in relation to the statutory consultation for which it was originally 
established.  Its existence is time-limited to the course of the specified 
consultation and it may not otherwise carry out any other activity. 

6.3 Membership 

6.3.1 Each participating local authority should ensure that those Councillors it 
nominates to a joint health overview and scrutiny committee reflect its own 
political balance.4 However, overall political balance requirements may be 
waived with the agreement of all participating local authorities. 

6.3.2 A joint committee will be composed of Councillors from each of the 
participating authorities within Cheshire and Merseyside in the following ways:

 where 4 or more local authorities deem the proposed change to be 
substantial, each authority will nominate 2 elected members

4 Localism Act 2011, Schedule 2 9FA, 6 (b)

Page 266

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

 where 3 or less local authorities deem the proposed change to be 
substantial, then each participating authority will nominate 3 elected 
members. 

(Note: In making their nominations, each participating authority will be 
asked to ensure that their representatives have the experience and 
expertise to contribute effectively to a health scrutiny process)

Local authorities who consider 
change to be ‘substantial’

No’ of elected members to be 
nominated from each authority

4 or more 2 members
3 or less 3 members

6.3.3 Each local authority will be obliged to nominate elected members through 
their own relevant internal processes and provide notification of those 
members to the lead local administrative authority at the earliest opportunity.

6.3.4 To avoid inordinate delays in the establishment of a relevant joint committee, 
it is suggested that constituent authorities arrange for delegated decision 
making arrangements to be put in place to deal with such nominations at the 
earliest opportunity. 

6.5 Quorum

6.5.1 The quorum of the meetings of a joint committee shall be one quarter of the 
full membership of any Joint Committee, subject to the quorum being, in each 
instance, no less than 3. 

6.5.2 There will be an expectation for there to be representation from each authority 
at a meeting of any joint committee established. The lead local authority will 
attempt to ensure that this representation is achieved.

6.6 Identifying a lead local authority

6.6.1 A lead local authority should be identified from one of the participating 
authorities to take the lead in terms of administering and organising a joint 
committee in relation to a specific proposal. 

6.6.2 Selection of a lead authority should, where possible, be chosen by mutual 
agreement by the participating authorities and take into account both capacity 
to service a joint health scrutiny committee and available resources. The 
application of the following criteria should also guide determination of the lead 
authority:

 The local authority within whose area the service being changed is based; 
or

 The local authority within whose area the lead commissioner or provider 
leading the consultation is based.

Page 267

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

6.6.3 Lead local authority support should include a specific contact point for 
communication regarding the administration of the joint committee.  There will 
be an obligation on the key lead authority officer to liaise appropriately with 
officers from each participating authority to ensure the smooth running of the 
joint committee.

6.6.4 Each participating local authority will have the discretion to provide whatever 
support it may deem appropriate to their own representative(s) to allow them 
to make a full contribution to the work of a joint committee.

6.7 Nomination of Chair/ Vice-Chair

The chair/ vice-chair of the joint health overview and scrutiny committee will 
be nominated and agreed at the committee’s first meeting.  It might be 
expected that consideration would be given to the chair being nominated from 
the representative(s) from the lead authority.

6.8 Meetings of a Joint Committee

6.8.1 At the first meeting of any joint committee established to consider a proposal 
for a substantial development or variation, the committee will also consider 
and agree:

 The joint committee’s terms of reference;
 The procedural rules for the operation of the joint committee;
 The process/ timeline for dealing formally with the consultation, 

including:

o the number of sessions required to consider the proposal; and,
o the date by which the joint committee will make a decision as to 

whether to refer the proposal to the Secretary of State for Health – 
which should be in advance of the proposed date by which the NHS 
body/service provider intends to make the decision.

6.8.2 All other meetings of the joint committee will be determined in line with the 
proposed approach for dealing with the consultation. Different approaches 
may be taken for each consultation and could include gathering evidence 
from:

 NHS bodies and local service providers;
 patients and the public;
 voluntary sector and community organisations; and
 NHS regulatory bodies.

6.9 Reports of a Joint Committee

6.9.1 A joint committee is entitled to produce a written report which may include 
recommendations. As a minimum, the report will include:

 An explanation of why the matter was reviewed or scrutinised

Page 268

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

 A summary of the evidence considered
 A list of the participants involved in the review
 An explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed or 

scrutinised

The lead authority will be responsible for the drafting of a report for 
consideration by the joint committee.

6.9.2 Reports shall be agreed by the majority of members of a joint committee and 
submitted to the relevant NHS body/health service provider or the Secretary 
of State as applicable. 

6.9.3 Where a member of a joint health scrutiny committee does not agree with the 
content of the committee’s report, they may produce a report setting out their 
findings and recommendations which will be attached as an appendix to the 
joint health scrutiny committee’s main report. 

7. DISCRETIONARY HEALTH SCRUTINY

7.1 More generally, the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the 2013 Health 
Scrutiny Regulations provide for local authority health scrutiny arrangements 
to scrutinise the planning, provision and operation of health services. 

7.2 In this respect, two or more local authorities may appoint a joint committee for 
the purposes of scrutinising the planning, provision and operation of health 
services which impact on a wider footprint than that of an individual authority’s 
area.

7.3 Any such committee will have the power to:

 require relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to provide 
information to and attend before meetings of the committee to answer 
questions

 make reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies/local 
health providers 

 require relevant NHS bodies/local health service providers to respond 
within a fixed timescale to reports or recommendations

7.4 A discretionary joint committee will not have the power to refer an issue to the 
Secretary of State for Health.

7.5 In establishing a joint committee for the purposes of discretionary joint 
scrutiny activity, the constituent local authorities should determine the 
committee’s role and remit. This should include consideration as to whether 
the committee operates as a standing arrangement for the purposes of 
considering all of the planning, provision and operation of health services 
within a particular area or whether it is being established for the purposes of 
considering the operation of one particular health service with a view to 
making recommendations for its improvement. In the case of the latter, the 
committee must disband once its specific scrutiny activity is complete. 

Page 269

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

7.6 In administering any such committee, the proposed approach identified in 
sections 6.3 – 6.9 (disregarding any power to refer to the Secretary of State) 
of this protocol should be followed, as appropriate.

8. CONCLUSION

8.1 The local authorities of Cheshire and Merseyside have adopted this protocol 
as a means of governing the operation of joint health scrutiny arrangements 
both mandatory and discretionary. The protocol is intended to support 
effective consultation with NHS bodies or local health service providers on 
any proposal for a substantial development of or variation in health services. 
The protocol also supports the establishment of a joint health overview and 
scrutiny committee where discretionary health scrutiny activity is deemed 
appropriate.

8.2 The protocol will be reviewed regularly, and at least on an annual basis to 
ensure that it complies with all current legislation and any guidance published 
by the Department of Health. 

Page 270

Agenda Item 10



Appendix B

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND 
HEALTH) - TUESDAY 21ST MARCH, 2017

57 A LIVERPOOL ORTHOPAEDIC AND TRAUMA SERVICE (LOTS) 
FEASIBILITY STUDY (FINAL DRAFT) 

Further to Minute No. 48 of 28 February 2017, the Committee considered 
the report submitted by the Healthy Liverpool Programme providing an 
overview of the process undertaken with regard to the Liverpool 
Orthopaedic and Trauma Service (LOTS) Feasibility Study; timelines; 
governance issues and risks relating to the proposed change of the 
trauma and orthopaedic service; and detailing the case for change and the 
preferred option.

At present the Trauma and Orthopaedic Services were delivered by both 
Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (AUH) and the Royal 
Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust. Following an 
options appraisal process the preferred option was Option 1 – a two-site 
option comprising both AUH and the Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen 
University Hospitals NHS Trust, with one site, AUH, for orthopaedic 
trauma and a separate site, the Royal, for elective procedures, and some 
Ear, Nose and Throat Services going to AUH from Broadgreen. Accident 
and Emergency Departments at both sites would continue to deliver 
trauma care, with AUH being the site for major trauma care.

The Feasibility Study was attached to the report.

Dr Chris Grant, Hospital Services Programme Director and Dr. Fiona 
Lemmens, Clinical Director for Hospital and Urgent Care, were in 
attendance from the Healthy Liverpool Programme to present the report 
and respond to questions posed by Members of the Committee.

Dr. Grant gave a presentation on the review of Orthopaedic Services that 
outlined the following:-

 Single Service, City-wide principles;
 Orthopaedic case for change;
 Options appraisal;
 The base case (current model);
 The considered options;
 The preferred option;
 Benefits of the preferred option;
 Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT);
 Public Consultation Plans; and
 Next Steps – timeframe.

Members of the Committee raised the following issues and a summary of 
the responses provided is outlined below:-

Page 271

Agenda Item 10



Appendix B

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND 
HEALTH) - TUESDAY 21ST MARCH, 2017

 Could the proposals potentially have major implications for the 
out-lying areas, such as Wirral and Southport?

There was acknowledgement that the proposals could have 
implications and impacts for out-lying areas and conversations were 
on-going with outlying service providers.

 What questions would be raised during the consultation 
process?

Specific questions had not been finalised and there was 
acknowledgement that there were potential pitfalls if questions were 
not carefully phrased.

 Is it Option 1 or nothing?
All the Options developed had been appraised and would continue 
to be considered. Clinicians considered that patient care would be 
compromised if the case for Option 1 was not presented as the 
preferred Option.

 Was there some acknowledgement that services from a single 
hospital site would be a better option?

A single hospital site might be preferable for hospital services but 
not necessarily for out-patients.

 Where were patients taken from the Southport and Formby 
area?

In the case of a major trauma, patients in the north of the Borough 
were taken to the Major Trauma Service at AUH.

 Would the proposals have a negative impact on the North West 
Regional Spinal Injuries Centre, based at Southport Hospital?

The Spinal Injuries Centre provided chronic care and not acute 
care. The proposals would have no impact on the Centre.

 Were clinical staffing levels adequate for the future, particularly 
in light of potential implications following Brexit?

There was acknowledgement that there were concerns regarding 
clinical staffing levels for the future. Staff were more likely to want to 
work within the better units and this provided an incentive to make 
the proposals work well.

 Of hospital admissions, what percentage represented 
orthopaedics?

Some 33% of the surgical workforce represented orthopaedics and 
trauma, making it the biggest surgical speciality. This provided a 
reason to make a good service even better.

 Would anything be moved from AUH as a consequence of the 
proposals?

Page 272

Agenda Item 10



Appendix B

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND 
HEALTH) - TUESDAY 21ST MARCH, 2017

Minor changes to services could be required as a result of 
implementation of the proposals.

 The abbreviations within the documents provided were 
confusing and made reading difficult to follow.

A glossary of terms could be included with any future information 
provided.

 In developing a centre of excellence requiring clinical staff with 
specialisms, what risks and responsibilities were associated with 
the outlying areas where specialism drains could occur?

Lessons had been learnt as a result of the major trauma centre at 
AUH as surrounding hospitals provided trauma units with a hub and 
spoke model in operation. In order to provide quality care, services 
had to work well across an area rather than provide pockets of 
mediocrity. This could result in patients travelling further to access 
good quality care.

 AUH was largely the hospital used by residents of south Sefton 
and Knowsley Boroughs. What were the likely impacts for 
patients having to access services at other sites?

A significant number of patients accessed services at AUH. Most 
routine care would continue to be provided at all hospital sites and 
the length of time for in-patient stays was reducing.

Members of the Committee acknowledged that the proposals could be 
perceived as having negative outcomes and that complex decisions 
regarding care services could have negative, as well as positive, impacts.

Committee Members agreed to reflect the concerns raised regarding the 
impact of the proposals on outlying areas within the Resolutions below.

RESOLVED:

That the Committee:-

(1) Notes the clinical and financial case for change and the content of 
the report for trauma and orthopaedic services;

(2) Approves the continuation of the proposal development towards 
patient and public engagement and formal consultation, leading to a 
decision regarding the future delivery of trauma and orthopaedic 
services;

(3) Determines whether the proposals for change represent a 
substantial variation of service, as set out under Minute No. 57b 
below; and

Page 273

Agenda Item 10



Appendix B

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND 
HEALTH) - TUESDAY 21ST MARCH, 2017

(4) Recognises:-

(a) that the changes proposed have substantial potential 
ramifications for services provided in other hospitals in the 
sub-region; and

(b) that the proponents of the changes understand these 
ramifications and will reflect this in their consultation 
processes.

Page 274

Agenda Item 10



Appendix B

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND 
HEALTH) - TUESDAY 21ST MARCH, 2017

57 B REVIEW OF ORTHOPAEDIC SERVICES - ISSUE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL RECONFIGURATION PROPOSALS 

Further to Minute No. 57a above, the Committee considered the report of 
the Head of Regulation and Compliance regarding the Liverpool 
Orthopaedic and Trauma Service (LOTS) Feasibility Study and requesting 
the Committee to formally determine whether the proposals submitted by 
the Healthy Liverpool Programme constituted a substantial variation in 
services or not.

The report indicated that there was a statutory requirement on providers of 
health services to consult local authority health overview and scrutiny 
committees on any proposals for significant development or substantial 
variation/reconfiguration in health services. Further to Minute No. 20 of 3 
June 2014, the Council had approved the Protocol for Establishment of 
Joint Health Scrutiny Arrangements for Cheshire and Merseyside and a 
copy of the Protocol was attached to the report at Appendix A. Guidance 
issued by the Department of Health on the consideration of substantial 
variations was outlined and further to Minute No. 42 (2) of 25 September 
2014, the Council had agreed that any final decision on substantial 
variations would be taken by the full Council.

A show of hands indicated that there was unanimous agreement by those 
Committee Members present that the proposals submitted by the Healthy 
Liverpool Programme, as outlined under Minute No. 57a above, did 
constitute a substantial variation in terms of the Orthopaedic and Trauma 
Service.

RESOLVED:

That this Committee considers that the proposals submitted by the Healthy 
Liverpool Programme constitute a substantial variation in terms of the 
Orthopaedic and Trauma Service and the Council be requested to endorse 
this decision.

Page 275

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Council Date of Meeting: 20 April 2017

Subject: Local Government Act 1972 – Section 85 - Attendance at Meetings 

Report of: Head of Regulation and Compliance Wards Affected: All

Is this a Key Decision?   No Is it included in the Forward Plan?  No

Exempt/Confidential       No 

Purpose/Summary

This report requests authority to approve and authorise the absence of Councillor Kevin 
Cluskey from attendance at Council and Committee Meetings pursuant to Section 85 of 
the Local Government Act 1972.

Recommendation(s)

That the current absence from all Council and Committee Meetings of Councillor Kevin 
Cluskey due to ill health be authorised and approved for the period until the scheduled 
meeting of the Council to be held on 16 November 2017, pursuant to Section 85 of the 
Local Government Act 1972.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives?

Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact

Neutral 
Impact

Negative 
Impact

1 Creating a Learning Community √

2 Jobs and Prosperity √

3 Environmental Sustainability √

4 Health and Well-Being √

5 Children and Young People √

6 Creating Safe Communities √

7 Creating Inclusive Communities √

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy

√

Reasons for the Recommendation:

To comply with the provisions of Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 277

Agenda Item 11



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs – Not applicable

(B) Capital Costs – Not applicable

Implications:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Legal – The effect of the legislation is contained within the contents of the report.

Human Resources – Not applicable

Equality
1. No Equality Implication

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains

Impact on Service Delivery:

None.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD4604/17) has been consulted and has no 
comments on the report.

The Head of Regulation and Compliance (LD 3887/17) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

Are there any other options available for consideration?

No
Implementation Date for the Decision

With immediate effect following the Council meeting

Contact Officer: Steve Pearce
Tel: 0151 934 2046
Email: steve.pearce@sefton.gov.uk

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

√

Page 278

Agenda Item 11



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that if an Elected Member 
fails to attend any Council or Committee Meeting for a period of six months, he or 
she ceases to be an Elected Member, unless the absence was approved by the 
Council before the expiry of the six month period.

1.2 Unfortunately Councillor Kevin Cluskey has not been able to attend any meeting 
for three months due to ill health and he will need further time to recuperate. He 
last attended a Council Meeting on 9 January 2017.

1.3 Members are requested to approve the absence of Councillor Kevin Cluskey from 
all Council or Committee Meetings for the period from the date of this meeting 
until the scheduled meeting of the Council to be held on 16 November 2017. 

Page 279

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Adoption of the Sefton Local Plan
	Enc. 1 for Adoption of the Sefton Local Plan
	Enc. 2 for Adoption of the Sefton Local Plan
	Enc. 3 for Adoption of the Sefton Local Plan

	8 Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Policies
	Enc. 1 for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Policies
	Enc. 2 for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Policies
	Enc. 3 for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Policies
	Enc. 4 for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Policies

	9 Capital Budget Update 2016/17
	10 Review of Orthopaedic Services - Issue of Substantial Reconfiguraion Proposals
	Enc. 1 for Review of Orthopaedic Services - Issue of Substantial Reconfiguration Proposals
	$$Minutes

	11 Local Government Act 1972 - Section 85 - Attendance at Meetings

